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1 Information on NBG




1.1 Information on NBG

National Bank of Greece S.A. was founded in 1841 and incorporated as a societe anonyme pursuant to Greek
law as published in the Greek Government Gazette No. 6 on 30 March 1841. Its current corporate form will
expire on 27 February 2053 but may be further extended by a resolution of the General Meeting of
Shareholders. The Bank is incorporated and domiciled in Greece and has been listed on the ATHEX since
1880. The Bank’s headquarters and its registered office are located at 86 Eolou Street, 10232 Athens, Greece.

In accordance with article 3 of its articles of association the Bank may carry out all forms of banking
business and related financial operations allowed banking plcs by Greek and EC law.

In its 164 years of operations, the Bank has expanded on its commercial banking business by entering into
related business areas. That expansion has produced the large, diversified financial services group that today
comprises the NBG Group. As part of its diversification, the Bank founded Ethniki Hellenic General
Insurance Company in 1891 and National Mortgage Bank of Greece S.A. (*“NMB”) in 1927. For a significant
period, the Bank, in addition to its commercial banking activities, was responsible for issuing currency in
Greece, until the establishment in 1927 of the Bank of Greece as the central bank. The Bank expanded its
business further when, in 1953, it merged with Bank of Athens S.A. In 1998, the Group merged NMB into
the Bank to enhance revenue generation, realize cost-saving efficiencies and provide more integrated
mortgage lending services to the Bank’s customers.

In 1999, NBG shares were launched on the New York Stock Exchange.

In 2000, the Bank extended its business activities into the markets of Bulgaria and the Former Yugoslav
Republic of Macedonia by acquiring majority holdings in United Bulgarian Bank (UBB) and Stopanska
Bank respectively.

In 2002, with a view to further advancing its strategic goals, the Bank merged (through absorption) with its
subsidiary ETEBA, as well as its French subsidiary NBG France.

In 2003, as part of its Group restructuring program, NBG absorbed its affiliated undertakings Hellenic Hotels
and Tourist Enterprises, Ethniki Real Estate & Tourist Co., and Olympias Tourism Hotels. Furthermore, in
October of the same year, NBG acquired Banca Romaneasca in Romania as part of its Balkans expansion
strategy.

The year 2004 saw a reshuftle in management, with the late Chairman and Governor of the Bank Theodoros
Karatzas being replaced by Takis Arapoglou. The new organization chart includes 10 General Divisions.

In 2005, a package of measures was adopted to improve corporate governance at the Bank and draw up a new
business plan. The business plan set out a clear and dynamic roadmap for the Group’s strategy over the
coming three years. The strategy aims at combining high returns with consistent strategic moves so as to
forge the NBG Group into the leading financial group in SE Europe, delivering high returns to its
shareholders. As part of its international strategy, the Bank signed agreements to sell its North American
subsidiaries National Bank of Greece (Canada) to Scotiabank and Atlantic Bank of New York to New York
Community Bank. This came as a result of the Bank’s decision to withdraw from mature markets where the
outlook for future expansion was limited and concentrate on growing its presence in markets such as SE
Europe where the growth margins are far greater and the Bank already enjoys a number of important
competitive advantages. Furthermore, NBG decided to absorb its subsidiary companies National Investment
Company (merger completed in December 2005) and National Real Estate so as to further strengthen the
Group’s structure in the context of the rapidly evolving domestic and international banking market. And in
early November 2005, the Bank signed a deal to acquire a majority shareholding (70%) in the Romanian
leasing business Eurial Leasing. In early 2006, the Group sold Astir Alexandroupolis, its hotel business in
northern Greece, as well as its Canadian subsidiary NBG Canada.




2 Overview of business activities




The Bank responds to the needs of its customers by offering a broad spectrum of banking products ranging
from traditional deposits, forex services and credit cards to cutting-edge deposit and investment products,
alternative modes of business financing, diverse mortgage and consumer products, mutual funds of all types,
and equity trading. It also offers and promotes automated systems for conducting transactions and payments
so as to enhance service and reduce waiting time for customers. The NBG Group’s activities for 2005 are
outlined below:

2.1 Retail banking

The Bank attaches great importance to growing its retail business. 2004 proved to be another high-
performing year for retail banking. The retail lending balance grew by 30% over the course of the year, from
€10 billion to €13.7 billion. This amounted to 57% of total Group lending and was a key component of
Group income and profitability. 2005 saw the Group’s retail lending outstanding grow by a further 26% to
€18.6 billion, with the result that retail lending now represents 61% of the total loan book.

2.1.1 Consumer credit

New products and services in the sphere of consumer credit, reintroduction of proven success products, and
the development of new systems and procedures have all aimed at meeting customer needs more effectively
and led, in 2005, to enhanced results at €2.6 billion, up 17.2% y-o-y. New consumer credit disbursements
amounted to €1.7 biltion, up 13% on 2004.

The Open Loan and Overdraft credit products posted strong performance, up 35% on the previous year.

In 2005, the Fast Line telephone service was launched with a view to updating the public on the Bank’s main
consumer credit products and enabling customers to submit loan applications by phone.

2.1.2  Credit cards

National Bank of Greece continued to grow its credit card activities dynamically, with the balance recording
growth of 7% in 2005, totaling €1.5 billion, and the number of new cards issued amounting to 210,000. The
number of POS terminals surpassed 60,000, while the level of transactions via partner businesses reached
€1,240 million, up 12.6% on 2004.

In 2005, the “go” Mastercard and VISA card were launched, accompanied by the customer loyalty
programme “go National”. Further, the Bank, which was the first in the country to implement chip
technology in a credit card, is now extending the technology to all its cards. This will enable the
implementation of complex customer loyalty programmes, while also reducing problems stemming from
fraudulent card use. Chip technology in the Bank’s credit cards can support implementation of the customer
loyalty reward programme and reinforce “go National” customer credit, generating instant financial and other
benefits for individuals and businesses.

2.1.3  Mortgage lending

Mortgage lending posted impressive performance in 2005. Disbursements were up 34% on 2004, surpassing
€3.5 billion, while housing loans outstanding at the end of 2005 were close to €11.5 billion, up 30% on the
previous year.

In 2005, impressive growth of 96% was recorded by the number of applications for housing loans, compared
with 38% in 2004. This development was aided by the offer of exemption from loan charges during the
second half of 2005.

2.1.4  Lending to professionals and small businesses

Lending to professionals and small businesses focused on the following in 2005:

. Promotion of the new Business MultiLoan, which essentially covers the entire range of a
company’s financing needs.




. Promotion of financing products under favorable terms to a variety of business categories,
such as restaurants, workshops, and tourist items.

As a result of these actions, the financing and leasing portfolio grew by 23%, reaching €2.15 billion. The
Bank expanded its customer base by 11%, with 4,230 new customers.

2.2 Business lending

Business lending includes lending to corporates and medium-sized enterprises, as well as shipping. At the
end of 2005, the Bank’s business lending portfolio had grown by 6% to €10.4 billion from €9.8 billion at the
end of 2004,

2.2.1 Corporate lending

The corporate loan book (including guarantees) amounted to €5.8 billion in 2005, up 12% y-o-y. Bonded
loans grew by an impressive 42%, part of which replaced more conventional forms of lending. The bulk of
the lending was absorbed by the services, energy and commercial sectors, while lending to construction
posted a significant decline.

At the same time, there was success in promoting a wide range of products and services to customers in the
corporate and retail banking sectors, such as leasing, factoring, insurance and investment products, private
banking services, credit cards and payments systems.

2.2.2  Lending to medium-sized businesses

In 2005, as in the previous two-year period, growth in lending to medium-sized enterprises was substantially
higher than growth in lending to other business categories, at around 14%. The loan balance moved up to
€3.5 billion from €3.2 billion in 2004.

The growth in lending balance went hand in hand with a significant increase in cross-selling to medium-sized
businesses, through offering comprehensive packages of services that served to increase turnover in other
business lines of the Bank and the Group, such as retail banking, investment banking, insurance and leasing,
all in line with a more integrated management of customer needs.

The growth in business was achieved as well by keeping new bad and doubtful debt to a minimum, both
thanks to cautious and prudential control of credit expansion and the upgraded management of loans in
arrears. '

2.2.3  Shipping credit

In 2003, the shipping balance stood at USS$1 billion. The number of vessels under 5 years old also increased,
thus resulting in an increase in the level of loans related to younger shipping, now 38% of the total shipping
book.

2.3  Asset management

NBG offers a broad range of deposit and investment products, and aims at upgrading the services it offers
and increasing customer satisfaction.

2.3.1 Deposits — investment products

Customer deposits of the Group stood at €43.4 billion at the end of 2005, up 10.3% on the previous year, if
discontinued activities are excluded from the figures. Savings and sight deposits grew by 9.1%, which is
particularly positive since this category of deposits gives a competitive edge in financing the Group’s
expansion, particularly in an environment of rising interest rates. Note that the key deposit categories of sight
and savings represent 74% of total deposits, and for the most part these are deposits of private individuals.




2.3.2  Mutual funds

The Group is active in fund management via its subsidiary Diethniki S.A., and runs a total of 35 Delos and
NBG SICAV funds, thereby providing investors with a broad choice of products in both the Greek and
leading international markets.

At 31 December 2005, total assets under management were down by 19% on the previous year due to
restructuring of Diethniki’s portfolio, with a shift from money market funds to higher-yielding forms of
investment, amounting to €6.9 billion compared with €8.5 billion a year earlier.

The past year saw a radical restructuring in Diethniki’s funds under management. The proportion of Bond
MFs grew substantially at the expense of Money Market MFs. This qualitative shift, besides promising
benefits for the Group’s profitability in the years ahead, is likely to substantially enhance customer retention.

2.3.3  Private banking

The Group’s private banking services provide top class services to high net worth customers through its
dedicated private banking units in Athens, Thessaloniki and London.

The Group’s private banking business grew at a rapid pace last year, with funds under management in 2005
growing to €1.7 billion, compared with €1.3 billion in 2004,

2.4 Investment banking

The Group’s investment banking business focuses on the following areas:

2.4.1 Treasury activities

The Group’s Treasury is active across a broad spectrum of capital market products and operations, including
bonds and securities, interbank placements in the international money and forex markets, and market-traded
and OTC financial derivatives. It supplies the branch network with value-added deposit products, and the
client base includes institutionals, large corporations, insurance funds and big private-sector investors.

The Bank holds a strong position in all the sectors in which it is active, both in Greece and on a Europe-wide
level, and has also achieved significant distinctions:

. For yet another year, according to Bank of Greece data, NBG ranked first among 19
primary dealers in government bonds traded through the Electronic Secondary Securities
Market.

. It participates as a general clearing member in the Frankfurt-based Eurex derivatives

exchange, the largest of its kind in the world.

. It participates in the ECB’s Money and Liquidity Working Group, which monitors the
liquidity situation in the European interbank market.

. It is also the only Greek bank to participate on the Euribor and EUREPO panels, the first of
which determines the benchmark rates for Euribor/EONIA on a daily basis, and the second
official rates for eurozone bond repos.

2.4.2 Brokerage

In 2005, the Greek stock market moved along a growth path, assisted by the more favourable macroeconomic
environment and improved fundamentals at most large-cap corporations, thus attracting international
institutional investors to the Greek market. '

The NBG Group grew its market share of equity trading to 12.9%, from 12% in 2004, due to the increased
interest shown by all categories of customers, particularly domestic and foreign institutionals.




2.4.3  Capital market operations and consulting services

As in the previous year, 2005 saw substantial changes in the modus operandi of the Greek capital market, as
a range of legislative measures and decisions were put into effect, with the implementation of various
European directives.

The stricter criteria for listing on the ATHEX, which came into effect in 2004, combined with the delayed
shift (towards the end of the year) in interest for small and mid cap stocks, served to hold company
enthusiasm for listing on the ATHEX at low levels. Thus, share offerings by private sector corporations
declined to 7, compared with 9 in 2004, while funds raised via the stock market declined by 8% to €81.9
million.

In the consulting services sector the Bank was very active. Provision of financial consulting services to the
public sector continued in 2005, covering the six major infrastructure projects currently under way in the
form of concession agreements (the Thessaloniki submarine road artery, the Maliakos-Kleidi section of the
Patras-Athens-Thessaloniki motorway, and other concession consortia for Greek highways). At the same
time, the Bank provides consulting services for the operational phase of the Attiki Highway and the Rio-
Antirio Bridge.

2.4.4  Venture capital

In 2005, in the sphere of the Group’s venture capital business, NBG International implemented a number of
structural changes, increasing its funds under management to €320 million. Its activities focused on three
main investment areas:

. the UK and western Europe
. Greece and SE Europe, and
. Technology

In 2005, our venture capital activities posted good performance. The UK Fund cashed in its first investments,
while it also carried out two new investments. The NBG Emerging Europe Fund completed its third and
largest liquidation of an investment, achieving high returns on its capital. The Technology Fund, having
established its position in Europe over the past years, made three new investments in 2005, while
performance is forecast to remain at similar strong levels in 2006. At the same time, the NBG Private Equity
Fund, in the context of restructuring in the Bank’s venture capital business, will be renamed NBG Southeast
Europe Fund and will focus on investments in the region of Greece and SE Europe.

2.4.5 Custodian services

The NBG Group is at the forefront of developments in custodian services on a pan-EU level. By centralizing
the business and operational functions of its custodian services, NBG is steadily strengthening the
competitiveness of its products and services, thereby maintaining its lead place in the domestic market. Also,
for the third consecutive year, Global Finance ranked it the number one custodian in Greece for foreign
investors.

2.5 International activities

At the end of 2005, the Group was active in 14 countries outside Greece via 324 banking units (including
NBG branches, subsidiaries, and representative offices) employing a total of 5,754 individuals.

Recognising the growth prospects presented by the region of SE Europe and steadily focusing its attention on
developing economies, the Bank decided in 2005 to withdraw from the US and Canadian markets. At the end
of the year, it had signed an agreement to sell its subsidiaries Atlantic Bank of New York and National Bank
of Greece (Canada) to New York Community Bank and Scotiabank respectively. The sale process for
National Bank of Greece (Canada) was completed in February 2006.




In 2005, the pre-tax profits stemming from the Group’s activities in SE Europe (Bulgaria, Romania,
FYROM, Albania and Serbia & Montenegro) grew by a spectacular 68% y-o0-y to €85 million. Likewise,
total lending topped €2 billion, up 58.1%, while deposits surpassed €1.8 billion, up 23%.

Expansion of its retail banking business is a cornerstone of the Bank’s strategy in the region of SE Europe,
where it aims to provide the full range of banking services.

Subsidiary National Bank of Greece (Cyprus) commenced restructuring of its business in 2005, offering a
voluntary early retirement package to its employees by which 53 staff retired. The restructuring is expected
to lead to a reduction in administrative expenses over the coming years.

In South Africa, the South African Bank of Athens (SABA) posted profits after a long period of losses, as a
result of efforts to strengthen its foreign exchange business and reduce operating costs.

The Bank’s network also includes branches in London and Egypt, while it runs representative offices in three
other countries (Turkey, Sweden and Australia).

2.6  Other activities of the Group

Alongside its core activities in banking the NBG Group holds a leading position in the insurance sector and
maintains a dynamic presence in the real estate and hotel services sectors via its specialized companies.

2.6.1 Insurance

The Group, via its subsidiaries Ethniki Hellenic General Insurance and NBG Bancassurance, offers a full
range of retail and business-to-business insurance products. In 2005, the Group held first position in the
Greek insurance market, with a market share of 15.2% in the damages sector, and 13.4% in the life sector
(provisional data). Ethniki Insurance’s business is conducted through 47 branches, 134 sales offices, 2,000
insurance agents, and 1,235 partner insurance agencies. Its products are also marketed via NBG’s branch
network.

The sales network, achieving strong productivity, contributed to growth in the overall production of
insurance premia by 7.4% in 2005, reaching €660 million compared with €615 million in 2004, while
impressive growth of 150% was posted by profits before tax, at €40 million.

Within the framework of the Group’s strategy to generate synergies, particular emphasis is placed on the
organisation and growth of Bancassurance business. Bancassurance provides the following insurance
products:

. Property insurance for real estate bought with a National Bank housing loan.
. Life and disability insurance for those who have taken out a housing loan.
. New investment-insurance products such as “Triple Jump” and “Pension Plus”.

QOutside Greece, the Group is active in the Cyprus insurance market via its subsidiary Ethniki Insurance
(Cyprus) Ltd, and in Romania via Garanta S.A. Recently Ethniki Insurance announced a joint venture with
AIG and UBB to launch business in Bulgaria.

2.6.2 Real estate and general warehouses

The NBG Group is active in the real estate sector via subsidiaries Ethniki Kefalaiou S.A. and National Real
Estate, which was merged with the Bank.

2.6.3 Hotel business

The NBG Group is also active in the tourism sector chiefly via Astir Palace Vouliagmenis S.A., which
operates a complex of three hotels (Arion, Nafsika and Aphrodite).




Following completion of the full renovation of the Arion and Nafsika hotels (an investment of almost €70
million), the complex now operates in line with international services and safety standards for luxury hotels.
Thus, the Astir Hotel complex, with all these improvements, the luxurious facilities, the conference
infrastructure and equipment, and its highly experienced and well-trained staff, ranks among the best luxury
hotels in the region.

The Group seeks to further develop and improve the complex in an effort to establish it as one of the most
desirable tourist destinations of the Mediterranean. To this end, in August 2005 the company’s management
decided to hold a tender to find an experienced private hotel manager to undertake the management of the
complex. The tender was assigned to financial consultant Bank of America, assisted by hotel consultant HVS
International. The process is currently under way.

Furthermore, the Group owns the Grand Summer Hotel Palace complex on the island of Rhodes, which is on
lease to a hotelier group.

2.6.4 IT services

Ethnodata and its subsidiary Ethnoplan provide IT services to National Bank of Greece and other companies
of the Group.

Ethnodata also provides technical support to various Group functions, such as the Dealing Room, NCS
(Custody), Ethnokarta and others, and has developed various applications for a number of NBG units.
Moreover, Ethnodata processes the payments of various pension funds and offers training services to the
Bank. It also provides services to non-Group parties, chiefly in the form of support services for the SAP
system.

2.7 New products and services

Information on the Group’s new products and services can be viewed on the Bank’s website at www.nbg.gr.

2.7.1  Mortgage lending

In 2005, within the context of its policy of providing modern, flexible and competitive products, the Bank
launched its low-start-up “Estia” housing loan, thereby extending its range of mortgage products for
customers. The key feature of the new product is the particularly low instalment payment of €320 a month
(for a loan of €100,000), since the borrower can pay off only the interest in the first 5 years (maximum) of
the loan term. Other important features are the very competitive interest rate (whether fixed or floating) on
the loan, and the loan term, which ranges from 5 to 40 years according to the customer’s needs. Furthermore,
low-cost insurance cover on the property is provided in partnership with Ethniki Insurance, while payment of
the outstanding loan is covered in the event of the death or severe disability of the borrower or the borrower’s
guarantor. This product was launched with a special offer until 31 December 2005: exemption from approval,
legal and technical fees.

2.7.2  Consumer Credit

In an effort to ensure fast quality service by phone, the Bank launched its Fast Line service to respond swiftly
to customer requests for information on consumer products and loans. Moreover, the personal loan “Student
Life” was launched to meet students’ increasing financial needs during the course of their studies. This loan
has the advantage of not requiring goods or services purchase documentation when applying. '

Further broadening and modernising its range of products and services, improving its image and enhancing
its presence in a competitive market, the Bank decided to introduce new pioneering credit card products. In
the interests of better services, the Bank has recently incorporated new chip technology into its credit cards
with the launch of the new “go” MasterCard and VISA card, and introducing its “go National” customer

loyalty program.
The key feature of the new “smart” chip technology credit cards is the microprocessor incorporated in the

card, which facilitates the management of information, allowing for the development of complex consumer
credit programs and reducing problems arising from fraudulent use of plastic cards and transactions.




Specifically, upon any transaction with “go” credit card via the network of select partner businesses in the
“go National” program, consumers secure instant gains corresponding to a percentage of the value of the
goods they have purchased, which is cashed in on their next purchase, regardless of which “go National”
partner business the next purchase is made at.

2.7.3  Deposit — Investment products

In seeking to broaden the range of investment options available to its customers, the Bank offers “capital
plus” deposit-investment products, both in euro and foreign exchange. “Capital plus” products are special
time deposits providing 100% guarantee of the initial capital at maturity, plus the possibility of higher returns
than those offered on simple deposit products, depending on the performance of the economic indices linked
to the investment.

Moreover, the Bank launched a modem investment product “NBG SYNESIS Growth Strategy II”, which
provides principal-guaranteed investment in the shares of the top 50 European companies, while allowing
investors to collect 103% of their principal at maturity, plus 50% of the aggregate performance of DJ
EUROSTOXX-50® over the term of the investment.

Lastly, during 2005, the Bank launched the new “Triple Jump” package, which combines investment,
guaranteed returns, and security. “Triple Jump” is an investment package designed to meet future needs for
funds, such as supplementary pension, children’s studies, and so on.

2.7.4  Bancassurance packages

In 2005, NBG launched the new “Triple Jump” package as part of its strategy to market investment and
savings bancassurance programs, by which the Bank aims to leverage the potential of its Group synergies.
The said package is an investment/insurance program, and is intended to generate guaranteed capital at
maturity. It is aimed at customers who wish to invest part of their savings for specified periods of time so as
to finance supplementary pension amounts, fund children’s studies, acquire assets, and so on. This
investment yields a guaranteed return of 2% per annum on the amount accumulated at maturity, while any net
return above and beyond this yield is paid to the customer on top of the guaranteed amount. At the same time,
it offers the customer life insurance at an amount equal to the initial investment, or double the initial
investment in the event of accident. If the investment is terminated before maturity, it can be collected at its
current value, but the guarantee is forfeited. At the beginning of 2006, the Bank launched “Pension Plus”, a
new retirement plan that provides the customer a guaranteed life monthly pension, through a single, one-off
payment. Accordingly, the customer selects the amount of guaranteed pension and the age of
commencement, and purchases the Plan through a one-off payment. In contrast to the usual insurance
programs purchased through periodical payments (premia), ‘“Pension Plus” offers two significant benefits: a)
minimal charges in the calculation of the one-off amount required for the purchase of the retirement plan, and
b) the maximum potential return, on the grounds that the investment of the entire amount paid is direct and
yields from the first moment. This means that apart from the guaranteed pension, the customer will receive
an additional pension stemming from the return on the invested sums.

2.7.5 Financing

The Bank launched its new cutting-edge “Business Multiloan — Growth X6” financing product aimed at
small businesses, which effectively meets financing needs for purchase or renovation of business
premises, purchase of equipment, company vehicle or public vehicle license, payment of franchise entry
fees, or for strengthening liquidity, on a medium to long-term basis.
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Group net profit after tax and minority interests grew to €727.4 million in 2005, up 100% vis-a-vis the 2004
results adjusted for the voluntary retirement programme. This performance is a landmark in the history of the
Group, and has propelled the return on average equity for 2005 to a record 28.6%, sixteen percentage points
higher than the previous year. This outstanding performance places the NBG Group at the forefront of Greek
and European banks in terms of profitability.

These top-class results reflect dynamic growth across all sources of income as well as the Group’s ongoing
restructuring efforts that have helped contain operating expenses.

All the Group’s income sources posted robust growth, pushing up core revenues by 17%, well beyond the
target level set in the Business Plan 2005-2007.

The key lever behind core income growth is interest income. Group net interest income in 2005 topped €1.6
billion, up 19.6% y-o-y. The upward trend in interest income was particularly marked in Q4:2005, when it
grew by no less than €430 million, or 5.6% g-0-q.

This development was due exclusively to the continued improvement in the Group’s asset mix and the robust
growth posted by the loan book, particularly in retail lending in Greece and SE Europe, as competition
generates a trend for further decline in margins across all forms of retail lending. The improved asset mix has
led to a steady increase in net interest margin, up 40 basis points, to 3.16 %, the highest level of recent years.

Net commission income grew by 9.6%, despite the adverse impact on intermediation commissions caused by
the strike action in June.

Retail commissions in particular grew by 20.8%, reflecting the surge in retail lending. Likewise, investment
banking commissions grew by 32.5%, reflecting strong capital market performance.

One of NBG’s key strategic goals is to strengthen its position in the mutual funds market, particularly high
value-added funds. 2005 was a landmark year in this respect. NBG succeeded in totally rebalancing its funds
under management, shifting the emphasis from money market funds to bond, balanced and equity funds.
Over €3 billion was reinvested in high value-added mutual funds, thus enhancing the Group’s market share in
these mutual fund categories by an impressive 10 percentage points, with the result that by the end of the
year, the Group’s market share stood at 21.4%.

The positive impact of the restructuring of the Group’s mutual fund portfolio is evident in the Q4:2005
results, where respective commissions presented growth of 75% g-o-q.

The Group’s insurance business posted substantial growth of 13% in 2005 to over €100 million. This reflects
restructuring in the Group’s insurance operations, principally at Ethniki Insurance, with more aggressive
marketing of insurance products towards the large customer base of NBG through the latter’s extensive
branch network. Effective exploitation of Group synergies and promotion of new products via the networks
of both the Bank and Ethniki Insurance are expected to generate strong results in the years ahead.

At 31 December 2005, total Group lending stood at €30.6 billion, up 18.4% y-o-y. Retail loans are providing
the driving force behind this growth. To illustrate, at 31 December, retail loans outstanding amounted to
€18.6 billion, up 26% y-0-y, as a result of which retail loans now epresent over 61% of the total loan book.

Mortgages posted spectacular growth of 31%, leading mortgages outstanding at the end of 2005 to over €11.8
billion, or 38.6% of total Group lending. Mortgage disbursements topped a record €3.5 billion in 2005, up
34% y-o-y. In the second half of the year, the Bank implemented a far-reaching sales programme aimed at
tapping the surge in demand for housing loans. Thus, in 2005, NBG’s market share of new mortgages rose
sharply to 26%. The sustained strong demand for mortgage packages in the first month of 2006 suggests that
growth will continue in the year ahead.

At 31 December 2005, consumer loans outstanding stood at €3.2 billion, up 23.7%. The revolving credit
facility product was a key component in this performance, as it posted annual growth of 35% and contributed
decisively to commissions generated by consumer credit, which grew by 80% y-o-y. Moreover, credit cards
outstanding grew by 6.3% to €1.5 billion.




This growth in credit card and consumer lending is especially encouraging in view of the credit discipline
that the Group has been applying as a strategic policy in this loan segment. The level of discipline is reflected
by the high level of rejections, ranging from 39% to 47%, depending on the type of loan.

Loans to small businesses with turnover below €2.5 million also posted satisfactory growth of around 20%,
with loans outstanding exceeding €2 billion at 31 December 2005. The Bank is also making strong progress
in its efforts to broaden lending to medium-sized businesses (with annual turnover of €2.5 to €50 million), as
loans in this line of business grew to over €3.2 billion, up 13%. Overall, during 2005 more than 3000 small
and medium-sized businesses were added to the Bank’s client portfolio confirming the importance given by
the Group to this line of business.

Non-performing loans declined to 4.7% of the aggregate loan book, compared with 5.3% at the end of 2004.
After provisions for bad and doubtful debt, net non-performing loans today account for just 1.1% of the total
loan book. The healthy growth in lending in recent years has been made possible by the application of state-
of-the-art controls and credit risk management throughout the Group.

Even while business across all its activities has posted robust growth, the Group’s restructuring program and
the resulting decline in operating costs are a key feature of its performance in 2005, marking it out from the
rest of the Greek banking sector.

Operating expenses in 2005 declined by 1.1%. This reflects the continued reduction in administrative
expenses by 1.6% and the containment of staff costs due to the voluntary retirement program pursued in
2004, the impact of which was gradually offset by wage increases during the year. This substantial reduction
in operating costs has been achieved during a period of intensive organic growth for the Group in Southeast
Europe, where related expenses grew by around 13% in 2005.

The significant growth in income coupled with the containment of operating expenses led to a further
improvement in the efficiency ratio, which stood at 54.2%, down 11.5 percentage points relative to 2004.

In line with the reorganization of the Group’s domestic activities, the General Meetings of Shareholders of
the Bank on 3 November 2005 and 3 February 2006 resulted in the following resolutions:

a) The merger through absorption of National Company of Portfolio Investments S.A. by the Bank was
decided upon, and in particular the relevant Draft Merger Agreement dated

2-6-2005, the individual and, in view of the absorption, combined pro-forma transformation balance sheet
and income statement of the Bank as at 31-5-2005, Emporiki Bank's valuation report on the faimess of the
share exchange ratio, the report by PriceWaterhouseCoopers certifying the book value of the Bank's fixed
assets as at the transformation date (31/5/2005) and the opinion on the fairness of the share exchange ratio
(i.e., 12 shares of the absorbed company for 1 share of the absorbing) as well as the Bank's Board of
Directors’ report on the Draft Merger Agreement were approved. In addition, the increase in share capital of
the Bank by €123,6 million in total through the issue of 5,023,534 new shares with a nominal value of €4.80,
to be distributed to the remaining shareholders, other than the absorbing Bank, of the absorbed National
Investment Company S.A. and an increase in the nominal value of existing shares through capitalization of
an equal amount of the share premium account from €4.50 to €4.80 were decided upon. It was also decided
that the new shares credited to the shareholders of the absorbed entity shall be entitled to a dividend from the
2005 profits of the absorbing entity. Pursuant to the above and following completion of the merger, the
Bank’s share capital amounted to €1.615.675.416 divided into 336.599.045 shares with a nominal value of
€4.80 each.

b) The merger through absorption of National Real Estate S.A. by the Bank was decided upon, and in
particular the relevant Draft Merger Agreement dated 13-10-2005, the individual and, in view of the
absorption, combined pro-forma transformation balance sheet and income statement of the Bank as at 31-7-
2005, the report by PriceWaterhouseCoopers certifying the book value of the Bank's assets as at the
transformation date (31/7/2005), the opinion on the fairness of the share exchange ratio (i.e., 15 shares of the
absorbed company for 2 shares of the absorbing) and the Bank's Board of Directors report on the Draft
Merger Agreement were approved. Moreover, the increase in the share capital of National Bank of Greece by
€80,6 million in total through the issue of 2,670,367 new shares with a nominal value of €5, to be distributed




to the remaining shareholders, other than the absorbing Bank, of the absorbed National Investment Company
S.A. and an increase in the nominal value of existing shares through the capitalization of an equal amount of
the share premium account from €4.80 to €5 were decided upon. It was also decided that the new shares
credited to the shareholders of the Absorbed company shall be entitled to a dividend from the 2005 profits of
the Bank. The completion of the merger will be final upon the registration of the Development Ministry’s
approval of the merger in the Companies Register. On completion of the merger, the Bank’s total number of
shares will increase by 2.670.367 shares which, added to existing shares (i.e. 336.599.043), will raise the total
number of the Bank’s shares to 339.269.412.

The NBG Group holds a commanding position in the banking market of Southeast Europe. Its total number
of branches in the region rose by 47 in 2005 to 257. The total number of employees now stands at 4,425
while the number of customers is now over 2.5 million. National Bank believes in the growth prospects of
the region and is therefore planning further expansion there. Indeed, the Bank intends to open a further 105
new branches during 2006.

Lending in Southeast Europe continued to grow at an impressive rate to over €2 billion at the end of the year,
up 58%, with retail lending posting spectacular 90% growth.

The steady growth in lending, particularly retail, in Southeast Europe led to marked growth in interest income
(up 40.7%) and commissions (up 22.9%) in 2005. Profit before tax in SE Europe soared to €85.2 million,
accounting for 9% of total Group profitability.

A key role in the SE Europe story was played by the surge in business in Bulgaria and Romania via the local
subsidiaries United Bulgarian Bank (UBB) and Banca Romaneasca (BR). UBB posted profit growth of 40%,
expanding its loan book by 37% to over €1 billion, comfortably outstripping average banking sector results in
Bulgaria. Leveraging the strong position of UBB, National Bank recently announced the launch of life and
general insurance companies in Bulgaria, in collaboration with Ethniki Insurance and the American
International Group (AIG). BR posted a strong improvement in earnings, more than doubling its loan book
and also improving its market share in retail and business lending.

In Romania, National Bank of Greece acquired a majority stake (70%) of the share capital of the Romanian
leasing company EURIAL Leasing, which operates in the car-leasing sector and is the primary lessor of
Peugeot cars in Romania, with total assets in excess of EUR 50 million. Furthermore, the NBG Group
proceeded with the acquisition of Alpha Insurance Romania, from Alpha Bank Group. Alpha Insurance
Romania will merge with GARANTA, Ethniki Insurance’s subsidiary in Romania, thus expanding the
Group’s presence in the Romanian market.

Savings and sight deposits grew by 9.1% in 2005 to over €32 billion. This development is particularly
encouraging in view of the significance of these types of deposit within an environment of rising interest
rates. National Bank’s large market share of these deposits gives it a strong competitive advantage since this
enables it to inject finance into its growth trajectory and invest in the Group in Greece and the wider region.

Time deposits posted very substantial growth of over 40% in 2005, chiefly due to the reduction in desirability
of other similar placements such as repos and money market mutual funds. Overall, Group deposits grew by
10% to over €43 billion.

Despite the substantial increase in lending, the rapid growth in deposits during 2005 meant that the liquidity
(i.e. loans-to-deposits) ratio remained low, at 70%.

The Group’s capital base strengthened yet further in 2005. The total capital adequacy ratio topped 15.2% at
the end of the year, while the Group’s core Tier-I capital adequacy ratio stood at 12.3%. The capital base
should be further strengthened with the finalisation of the sale of Atlantic Bank of New York and National
Bank of Greece (Canada) in early 2006.

The strengthening of the Group’s capital base from internal capital generation and the restructuring of its
geographical presence gives the Group a competitive edge for growth in both Greece and Southeast Europe.




Given these positive results, NBG’s management will propose to the AGM a dividend of €1 per share,
compared with a dividend (adjusted) of €0.58 per share for 2004. Based on the closing price of the share in
2005, this dividend represents a yield of around 2.8%.

In recognition of the key role played by the staff of NBG in achieving these results and wishing to reward
performance, NBG’s management will propose to the AGM a distribution of profit to Bank staff amounting
to €32 million. This represents an increase of 50% compared with the €21.5 million finally distributed in
2004, and corresponds to 12.3% of total annual net pay to Bank staff.

A further amount of €8 million will be distributed by the Group’s subsidiary companies in Greece and abroad
to their staff, thereby raising total distribution of profits to Group staff to €40 million, or 5.5% of Group net
profit.

Last, the Bank’s management will activate the Stock Options Program for the staff of the Bank and its
subsidiaries in line with the AGM’s approval of the previous year. The Programme allows management to
distribute up to two million shares to Group officers and staff on a strictly meritocratic basis. The Programme
aims at establishing a long-term link between officers’ pay and the Group’s performance ,and delivery of
value to our shareholders. For this reason the exercise of the stock option rights will for the most part be set
for future financial years, i.e. 2007 onwards.

The Chairman and C.E.O.
Takis Arapoglou




4 2005 Consolidated Financial Statements




NATIONAL BANK OF GREECE S.A.

Consolidated Financial Statements

31 December 2005

In accordance with

International Financial Reporting Standards

February 2006




Table of Contents

Note

S

Auditor’s Report

Consolidated income statement

Consolidated balance sheet

Consolidated statement of changes in equity
Consolidated cash flow statement

Notes to the consolidated financial statements:
General information

Summary of significant accounting policies:
2.1 Basis of presentation

2.2 Adoption of International Financial
Reporting Standards (IFRS)

2.3 Group Accounts

2.4 Foreign Currency translation

2.5 Regular way purchases and sales

2.6 Derivative financial instruments

2.7 Offsetting

2.8 Interest income and expense

2.9 Fee and commission income

2.10 Financial assets at fair value though P&L
2.11 Sale & repurchase agreements

2.12 Securities borrowing and lending

2.13 Investment securities

2.14 Loans & receivables

2.15 Impairment losses on loans & advances
2.16 Property & equipment

2.17 Investment property

2.18 Goodwill & other intangible assets
2.19 Insurance operations

2.20 Leases

2.21 Cash & cash equivalents

2.22 Provisions

2.23 Employee benefits

2.24 Income taxes

2.25 Borrowings

2.26 Share capital & treasury shares
2.27 Segment reporting

2.28 Assets and liabilities held for sale and
discontinued operations

2.29 Related party transactions

2.30 Fiduciary and trust activities

2.31 Earnings per share

Critical accounting policies, estimates &
judgments

Financial risk management

4.1 Credit risk

4.2 Market risk

4.3 Interest rate risk

4.4 Liquidity risk

4.5 Foreign exchange risk

4.6 Fair values of financial assets & liabilities
4.7 Capital adequacy & Credit ratings
Segment reporting

Page

~ A »n b

11
12
12
12
13
13
14
14
14
14
15
15
15
16
17
17
18
18

18

19
19
19
20
20
20

20

21

21
21

22

25
25
27

28

29
31
32
33
34

43
44

45

46
47
48

49

50
51
52
53

Net interest income

Net fee & commission income

Net premia from insurance contracts
Dividend income

Net trading income

Other operating income

Personnel expenses

Retirement benefit obligations
General & administrative expenses

Depreciation, amortisation and impairment
charges

Other operating expenses

Impairment losses on loans and advances
Tax expense

Earnings per share

Cash & balances with central banks
Treasury bills & other eligible bills

Due from banks (net)

Financial assets at fair value through P&L
Derivative financial instruments

Loans & advances to customers (net)
Investment securities

Investment property

Investments in associates

Goodwill & other intangible assets
Property & equipment

Deferred tax assets & liabilities
Insurance related assets & receivables
Other assets

Assets and liabilities held for sale and
discontinued operations

Due to banks

Due to customers

Debt securities in issue

Other borrowed funds

Insurance related reserves & liabilities
Other liabilities

Contingent liabilities & commitments

Share capital, share premium & treasury
shares
Reserves & retained earnings

Minority interest
Undated Tier I perpetual securities

Dividends per share
Cash & cash equivalents
Related party transactions

Acquisitions, disposals & other capital
transactions

Group consolidated companies
Post balance sheet events
Effects from transition to IFRS
Reclassifications

Page

39
39
39
39
40
40
40
41
45

45
45
45
46
46
46
47
47
47
48
49
50
51
52
53
54
54
54
55

56
56
56
57
57
59

60

61

62
62

63

63
63
64

65

68
70
71
77




Auditor’s Report

To the Shareholders of the NATIONAL BANK OF GREECE S.A.

We have audited the accompanying consolidated balance sheet of “National Bank of Greece S.A.” (the “Bank’)
and its subsidiaries (the “Group”) as of 31 December 2005 and the related consolidated statements of income,
changes in shareholders equity and cash flows for the year then ended. These financial statements are the
responsibility of the Bank's management. Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these financial
statements based on our audit.

We conducted our audit in accordance with the Greek Auditing Standards, which are based on the International
Standards on Auditing. Those Standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable
assurance about whether the consolidated financial statements are free of material misstatement. An audit
includes examining, on a test basis, evidence supporting the amounts and disclosures in the consolidated
financial statements. An audit also includes assessing the accounting principles used and significant estimates
made by management, evaluating the overall consolidated financial statement presentation as well as assessing
the consistency of the Board of Director’s report with the aforementioned financial statements. We believe that
our audit provides a reasonable basis for our opinion.

In our opinion, the aforementioned financial statements give a true and fair view of the financial position of the
Group, as of 31 December 2005, and of the results of its operations, its changes in shareholders equity and the
cash flows for the year then ended in accordance with the International Financial Reporting Standards that have
been adopted by the European Union and the Board of Director’s Report is consistent with the aforementioned
financial statements.

Without qualifying our opinion, we draw attention to Note 51-1 of the consolidated financial statements which
describes the basis of accounting for the merger of the Bank with National Real Estate Company.

Athens, 28 February 2006
Certified Public Accountant — Auditor

Nicolaos C. Sofianos
RN SOEL 12231

Deloitte.

Hadjipavlou Sofianos &
Cambanis S.A.
Assurance & Advisory Services
RN SOEL E120
250 - 254 Kifissias Ave.

GR - 152 31 Halandri
Athens
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Consolidated Income Statement

Year ended
€000°s e Note  31.12.2605 31.12.2004
Continuing Operations
Interest and similar INCOME ...........iviiiiiiiiiiii e 2.426.266 2.089.533
Interest expense and similar Charges .............cc.ccciimmmiiiii e (830.506) (755.737)
Net interestincome....................ooiiiin... S PP PP pee 6 1.595.760 1.333.796
Fee and COMMISSION IMCOME. .........ieiiiiiin e eeriin et e et e e e e e bae e s e erens 455.810 414.380
Fee and cOmMmMISSION EXPEIISE. ... ..ucuveimmiiiierreriiiiiiiiit e e e e (30.759) (26.525)
Net fee and commission income. ... 7 425.051 387.855
Earned premia net of reiNSUIANCE ..........c.ooiiiiiieiiiiiiiieeiiiie et 551.990 560.939
Net claims INCUITEA ... e, (451.609) (471.847)
Net premia from insurance contracts ......................cocooovii 8 100.381 89.092
Dividend INCOMIE. ......uuvniiiri et e 9 13.760 17.150
Net trading inCOME...........oooiiiiiiiii e 10 67.522 106.750
Net result from investment SECUTEs. ...........o..iiiiiiiiiiiiiiini e 26 127.679 880
Other Operating IMCOME. .......ceoiiriieeit e et e e e et e nia e een e 11 161.693 143.129
Total operating income....................... 2.491.846 2.078.652
Personnel XPenSES. ... ....uvviiiiieiiriiiii i e 12&13 (877.307) (995.972)
General & administrative €XPEISES .......c.ooviiiviiiimricimiiiiiieiieii e 14 (334.532) (329.965)
Depreciation, amortisation and impairment charges ...................ccoe 15 (114.551) (125.161)
Other OPerating EXPOISES. .. ... vietteereteert ettt a et eer e et e e 16 (39.808) (50.468)
Total operating eXPenses..............ocoooiviieriiiiiiiiiiiiiiii e (1.366.198) (1.501.566)
Impairment losses on loans and advances..................ovvvveriiniiiiii 17 (226.259) (173.843)
Share of profit 0f 8SSOCIALES...........ceviiriii i 28 43.700 25.154
Profit before tax...........ccccoiiiiiiiii e 943,089 428.397
TAX EXPEIISE ...\ nieeieieeeiceec ettt et et ce et a e e st 18 (221.157) (165.400)
Profit for the period from continuing operations.................................... 721.932 262.997
Discontinued operations
Profit for the period from discontinued operations................cccocvevvviiiiiiiiinnini 34 29.020 29.351
Profit for the period ................oooiriiiiiii 750.952 292.348
Attributable to:
MINOTIEY IIEEIESES ..oevtteietiii et ettt e e e e e e e e e e aeene 44 23.590 12.771
NBG equity shareholders .............c.coooviiiii 727.362 279.577
Earnings per share- Basic & Diluted from continuing & discontinued operations. .. 19 €2,08 € 0,83
Earnings per share- Basic & Diluted from continuing operations................c........ 19 €1,99 €0,74
‘ Athens, 28 February 2006
THE CHAIRMAN THE DEPUTY CHIEF THE CHIEF FINANCIAL THE CHIEF ACCOUNTANT
AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER EXECUTIVE OFFICER AND CHIEF OPERATIONS OFFICER
EFSTRATIOS-GEORGIOS IOANNIS G. PECHLIVANIDIS ANTHIMOS C. THOMOPOULOS IOANNIS P.
A. ARAPOGLOU KYRIAKOPOULOS

The notes on pages 8 to 77 form an integral part of these consolidated financial statements
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Consolidated Balance Sheet

€000’s Note 31.12.2008 31.12.2004
ASSETS
Cash and balances with central Banks............c...coiiiiiiiiiiiii e 20 2.431.287 1.145.042
Treasury bills and other eligible bills 21 177.023 150.400
Due from banks (NEL).........ouuviiiiiei o, 22 4.085.204 8.587.378
Financial assets at fair value through P&L............. 23 13.667.471 11.615.536
Derivative financial iINSTrUMENTS ...........coieiiiiiiiiii et ee e renaneens 24 309.030 -
Loans and advances to Customers (N€t).......c.oovvvierinnirerir e e e e 25 29.528.178 26.052.758
INVESTMENT SECUITLIES ....evtiiieiieriiatit bt ee e et e r et e e e et e e e e e 26 2.833.661 2.382.941
TIEVESTMENT PIOPEITY . .ovtteet it e ettt ettt e e e e e eeaas 27 126.506 123.742
INVEStMENES 111 BSSOCIALES . ...ovvvuieineeiit ettt e et e et e en e ee e eera e e eenen N 28 249.152 219.671
Goodwill & other intangible assets ...............oooiiiiiiiniiiii 29 65.911 72.763
Property & eqUEPIIENT .. c....uuw i e e r et e 30 1.885.713 1.959.636
Deferred taX ASSELS ... vt it ittt ittt eein e et ea e s e e e et e aens 31 217.417 75.022
Insurance related assets and receivables....... ..o 32 637.916 492.904
OBRET ASSELS ..oev ittt et et 33 1.479.888 1.609.584
Assets classified as held forsale..............o 34 2.732.203 -
TOtAl ASSELS ..ottt ietis ettt ee e ee et e e e e a e e e aens 60.426.560 54.487.377
LIABILITIES
DUE L0 DANKS .. .vo i e e e 35 5.060.850 6.413.741
Derivative financial inStUmeNts ..........uveieieiiie e e e e e 24 302.698 -
DUE 1O CUSLOIMIETS .. .ov.eeie e oo e e et e ittt bbbt e e en 36 43.350.120 40.865.176
Debt SECUTTHES 1M ASSUE L. .oit et e v e e e 37 175.297 63.448
Other borrowed fUndS ... e e 38 956.988 748.642
Insurance related reserves and liabilities .............ocoeiviieiiiiniiiiii 39 1.734.249 1.326.697
Deferred tax Habilities ..........ooieeieii e e 31 102.359 10.917
Retirement benefit obligations ...............ccoooiiiiiii 13 207.725 225.331
Other HabilIties ... ... ciiiiiii e et e 40 1.960.701 1.343.252
Liabilities classified as held forsale................. 34 2.259.165 -
Total Habilities ... e 56.110.152 50.997.204
SHAREHOLDERS' EQUITY
Share CapItal L. ..o e 42 1.696.347 1.492.090
Share Premium GCCOUNT ......iiii ittt e e 42 - 32393
Less: treasury Shares . ......oiieiiiine e e 42 (22.680) (210.128)
Reserves and retained @aImings ..........o..viiiiiaiiiininieieeraerearee et ee e 43 1.450.163 1.041.348
Equity attributable to NBG shareholders .................c...ccoooeiiiiiiicniiiiiiiiiieei 3.123.830 2.355.703
IMINOTILY INTETESE ...ttt et et e e et e vt e e e r e ar e 44 109.997 302.321
Undated tier T perpetual SECUTIHES. ... ccoutriiiii e 45 1.082.581 832.149
Total shareholders’ equity ... 4.316.408 3.490.173
Total equity and liabilities ... 60.426.560 54.487.377
Athens, 28 February 2006
THE CHAIRMAN THE DEPUTY CHIEF THE CHIEF FINANCIAL THE CHIEF ACCOUNTANT
AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER EXECUTIVE OFFICER AND CHIEF OPERATIONS OFFICER
EFSTRATIOS-GEORGIOS TOANNIS G. PECHLIVANIDIS ANTHIMOS C. THOMOPOULOS IOANNIS P.
A. ARAPOGLOU KYRIAKOPOULOS

The notes on pages 8 to 77 form an integral part of these consolidated financial statements
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Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity

Attributable to equity holders of the parent company

€000’s

Balance at 1 January 2004

Currency translation differences

Profit/(loss) recognised directly in equity
Net Profit/(loss) for the period

Total

Issue of share capital

Dividends to ordinary shareholders
Issue of preferred securities
Dividends to preferred securities

Acquisitions, disposals & share capital
increases of subsidiaries/associates

Purchases/ disposals of treasury shares &
preferred securities

Balance at 31 December 2004

Adoption of IAS 39 & IFRS 4

At 1 January 2005 restated

Movement in the available for sale

securities reserve, net of tax

Currency translation differences
Profit/(loss) recognised directly in equity
Net Profit/(loss) for the period

Total

Merger through absorption of subsidiaries
Issue of preferred securities

Dividends to preferred securities

Share capital issue costs

Dividends to ordinary shareholders

Acquisitions, disposals & share capital
increases of subsidiaries/associates

Purchases/ disposals of treasury shares &
preferred securities

Balance at 31 December 2005

Minority

Interest &

undated

Reserves & tier I
Share Share Treasury  Retained perpetual
capital premium  shares earnings Total securities Total

1.147.761 32393 (348.790) 1.324.023 2.155.387  692.579  2.847.966
- - - (6.699) (6.699) - (6.699)
- - - (6.699) (6.699) - (6.699)
- - - 279.577  279.577 12.771 292.348
272.878  272.878 12.771 285.649
344.329 - - (344.329) - - -
- - - (160.522) (160.522)  (10.173)  (170.695)
- - - (292) (292)  482.149 481.857
- - - (13.620) (13.620) - (13.620)
- - - (873) (873) (31.012) (31.885)
- - 138662 (35917)  102.745  (11.844) 90.901
1.492.090 32.393  (210.128) 1.041.348 2.355.703 1.134.470  3.490.173
- - - (110.761) (110.761)  (31.739)  (142.500)
1.492.090 32393  (210.128) 930.587 2.244.942 1.102.731  3.347.673
- - - (81.930) (81.930) (3.435) (85.365)
- - - (1.323) (1.323) 20.576 19.253
- - - (83.253) (83.253) 17.141 (66.112)
- - - 727.362  727.362 23.590 750.952
- - - 644.109  644.109 40.731 684.840
204.257 (32.393) - 37428  209.292 (209.292) -
- - - (3.423) (3.423)  230.000 226.577
- - - (45.999) (45.999) - (45.999)
- - - (1.065) (1.065) (312) a.377)
- - - (193.230) (193.230) - (193.230)
- - - (6.650) (6.650) 28.695 22,045
- - 187.448 88.406  275.854 25 275.879
1.696.347 - (22.680) 1.450.163 3.123.830 1.192.578  4.316.408

Detailed analysis of the changes in equity is presented in notes 42 to 45 of these financial statements

The notes on pages 8 to 77 form an integral part of these consolidated financial statements
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Consolidated Cash Flow Statement

€ 000’s
Cash flows from operating activities

Year ended

31.12.2005

31.12.2004

Profit for the period from continuing operations..................................

Adiustments for:

721.932) [ 262.997]

Non-cash items included in profit and other adjustments:........................... 172.620 228.942
Depreciation, amortisation & impairment on fixed assets & invest. property...... 114.550 125.161
Impairment losses on INVESIMENES. ..........c..oiiiiiiiiiiiiie e 664 346
Credit loss expense / (TECOVETY)........o.oiiiiiiiiiiiiii e 226.259 173.843
Equity income of as80CIateS. .. ..........coviiiiiiiiiiiiiniii e (43.700) (25.154)
Deferred tax expense / (Benefit) ........cocccviviiiiiiiiiiiiiiiieie et ree e 32.802 (671)
Dividend income from investment SECUrities.............covvveerinviiieiiiieieiiieennans (6.136 (5.968)
Net (profit) / loss on sale of fixed assets & investment property....................... (23.476) (37.389)
Net (income) / expense on iNVeStMent SECUIities. ..............ceereuiinreerriiinni, (128.343 (1.226)

Net (increase) / decrease in operating assets:..................c..ociiei e (4.274.620) (1.467.278)
Net due from / to banks........coccveeeiviiioeeeinn.. 616.377 (3.856.775)
Financial assets at fair value through P&L (3.786.769), 4.825.680
Net proceeds / (purchase) of treasury bills and other eligible bills..................... 1.443 (46.370)
Net derivative financial inSIUMENTS. ........c.ooviiniriiiiiiii e e (102.103) -
Net loans and advances to customers / due to CuUStomers.......c..oovceeeiieveviinneens (1.031.162) (2.441.082)
T @S LS. .1 vt etiieet e et et et e e et 27.594 51.269

Net increase / (decrease) in operating liabilities:...................................... 627.830 241.015
Other AEPOSILS. .. .vvvviiiiiiiitiiiti ettt e e 121.079 73.193
INCOmME taxXes Paid........ooovviiriiiini e (154.595) (170.284)
Other Habilities. .............ooiiiiiiiiet e e 661.346 338.106

Net cash flow from / (used in) operating activities from continuing operations ...... (2.752.238) (734.324)
Net cash flow from / (used in) operating activities from discontinued operations.... (348.793) (144.519)
Cash flows from investing activities
Acquisition of subsidiaries, net of cash acquired..................c.cooooii (12.470) (50.585)
Acquisitions / disposals of associates, net of cash....................... 806 (409)
Dividends received from investment securities & associates............................ 16.051 16.321
Net proceeds / (purchases) of fixed aSSets...........ccoooieiiimreriiniiieeri e, (71.521) (123.918)
Net proceeds / (purchases) of investment property..........coovvvveeeireiereerieninniinn 895 20.106
Net proceeds / (purchases) of investment securities - available forsale............. 483.149 (237.238)
Proceeds from redemption of investment securities - held to maturity............... (20.867) -
Net cash from / (used in) investing activities from continuing operations ............. 396.043 (375.723)
Net cash from / (used in) invesﬁng activities from discontinued operations ........... 129.993 52.685
Cash flows from financing activities
Proceeds from /(repayments of) borrowed funds and debt securities................. 301.468 (3.853)
Issuance of undated tier I perpetual securities............ccocoviiviiniiniinniieiieneenan, 230.000 482.149
Net sales /(purchases) of treasury shares...............cc.coo e, 275.856 102.745
MINOTIY INEETEST. ... ouutiiieieiii e eee e e et e e e et eeeae e 28.408 (53.029)
Dividends paid........coooviiierreieiiees s (193.230) (160.522)
Net cash from / (used in) financing activities from continuing operations ............. 642.502 367.490
Net cash from / (used in) financing activities from discontinued operations .......... - -
Effect of foreign exchange rate changes on cash and cash equivalents..................... 129.581 (116.487)
Net increase/(decrease) in cash and cash equivalents........................................ (1.802.912) (950.878)
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of period....................c...ecooeeii 4.930.173 5.881.051
Less: cash & cash equivalents at period end from discontinued operations............ (62.515) -
Cash and cash equivalents at end of period......................c..coo.in 3.064.746 4.930.173

The notes on pages 8 to 77 form an integral part of these consolidated financial statements
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

NOTE 1: General Information
National Bank of Greece S.A. (hereinafter the “Bank™) was founded in 1841 and has been listed on the Athens
Stock Exchange since 1880. The Bank has further listing in the New York Stock Exchange (since 1999), and in
other major European stock exchanges. The Bank’s headquarters are located at 86 Eolou street,
(Reg. 6062/06/B/86/01), tel.: (+30) 210 334 1000. By resolution of the Board of Directors the Bank can establish
branches, agencies and correspondence offices in Greece and abroad. In its 164 years of operations the Bank has
expanded on its commercial banking business by entering into related business areas. National Bank of Greece
and its subsidiaries (hereinafter the “Group™) provide a wide range of financial services including retail and
commercial banking, asset management, brokerage, investment banking, insurance and real estate on a global

level. The Group operates primarily in Greece, but also has operations in UK, SE Europe, Cyprus, Egypt, South
Africa and North America (discontinued).

The Board of Directors, following the Bank’s Annual General Meeting held on 17 May 2005, consists of the

following members:

Executive Members
Efstratios-Georgios (Takis) A. Arapoglou
Ioannis G. Pechlivanidis

Independent Non-Executive Members
George M. Athanasopoulos

John P. Panagopoulos

Ioannis C. Yiannidis

H.E. the Metropolitan of Ioannina Theoklitos
Stefanos C. Vavalidis

Dimitrios A. Daskalopoulos

Nikolaos D. Efthymiou

George Z. Lanaras

Stefanos G. Pantzopoulos

Constantinos D. Pilarinos

Drakoulis K. Fountoukakos-Kyriakakos

Ioannis Vartholomeos

Ploutarchos K. Sakellaris

Chairman—Chief Fxecutive Officer
Deputy Chief Executive Officer

Employees’ representative
Employees’ representative
Professor, University of Athens Law School

Member of the Board of Directors, European Bank for
Reconstruction & Development

Chairman and Marnaging Director, Delta S.A., Vice
Chairman, Federation of Greek Industrialists

Chairman, Association of Greek Shipowners

Shipowner

Business Consultant, former Certified Auditor

Economist, General Manager of Finances and Technical
Services, Church of Greece

Entrepreneur, Chairman of Athens Chamber of Commerce
and Industry

Professor, University of Piraeus, Governor of IKA (Social
Security Fund)

Professor, University of Athens, and Chairman, Council of
Economic Advisors.

These consolidated financial statements have been approved for issue by the Bank’s Board of Directors on
28 February 2006 and are subject to the approval of the Annual General Meeting of the Bank’s shareholders,

which will be held on 12 April 2006,
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NOTE 2: Summary of significant accounting policies

2.1 Basis of presentation

The consolidated financial statements of the Group (the “financial statements”) are prepared in accordance with
International Financial Reporting Standards and International Accounting Standards (collectively, IFRS), after
taking into consideration the provisions of IFRS 1 regarding first time adoption and are stated in Euro, rounded
to the nearest thousand (unless otherwise stated). The financial statements have been prepared under the
historical cost convention as modified by the revaluation of available for sale investment securities, financial
assets and liabilities at fair value through profit and loss and all derivative contracts measured at fair value.

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with generally accepted accounting principles requires the
use of estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities and disclosure of
contingent assets and liabilities at the date of the financial statements and the reported amounts of revenues and
expenses during the reporting period. Use of available information and application of judgment are inherent in
the formation of estimates in the following areas: valuation of OTC derivatives, unlisted securities, retirement
benefits obligation, insurance reserves, impairment of loans and receivables, open tax years and litigation. Actual
results in the future could differ from such estimates and the differences may be material to the financial
statements.

2.2 Adoption of International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS)

The Group adopts the requirements of IFRS for the first time for the purpose of preparing financial statements
for the year ending 31 December 2005. In accordance with the transitional provisions set out in IFRS 1 “First-
time Adoption of International Financial Reporting Standards” and other relevant standards, the Group has
applied IFRS in force and endorsed (or where there is reasonable expectation of endorsement) by the European
Union (EU) as of 31 December 2005 in its financial reporting with effect from 1 January 2004 with the
exception of the standards relating to financial instruments and insurance contracts (IAS 32, 39 and IFRS 4).

The Group has used the transitional provisions of IFRS 1 with respect to the aforementioned standards in
arriving at appropriate opening balances and therefore has not applied these standards to the 2004 comparatives.
The impact of these standards is reflected through further adjustments to shareholders’ equity as at 1 January
2005. In 2004 comparatives, financial instruments and insurance contracts are included using the respective
measurement bases and the disclosure requirements under Greek GAAP.

The impact of the transition to IFRS on the financial position and the comparatives as previously reported under
Greek generally accepted accounting principles (“Greek GAAP”) is summarised in Note 52.

Interpretations and amendments to published standards effective in 2005

The following amendments and interpretations to standards are mandatory for the Group’s accounting periods
beginning on or after 1 January 2005:

- IFRIC 2, “Members’ Shares in Co-operative Entities and Similar Instruments” (effective from 1 January 2005);
This interpretation is not relevant to the Group.

- SIC 12 (Amendment), “Consolidation - Special Purpose Entities” (effective from 1 January 2005);

- IAS 39 (Amendment), “Transition and Initial Recognition of Financial Assets and Financial Liabilities”
(effective from 1 January 2005).

Standards, interpretations and amendments to published standards that are not yet effective

Certain new standards, amendments and interpretations to existing standards have been published that are
mandatory for the Group’s accounting periods beginning on or after 1 January 2006 or later periods but which
the Group has not early adopted (unless otherwise stated), as follows:

- IAS 19 (Amendment), “Employee Benefits” (effective from 1 January 2006).

This amendment introduces the option of an alternative recognition approach for actuarial gains and losses. It
may impose additional recognition requirements for multi-employer plans where insufficient information is
available to apply defined benefit accounting. It also adds new disclosure requirements. As the Group does not
intend to change the accounting policy adopted for recognition of actuarial gains and losses and does not
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currently participate in any multi-employer plans, adoption of this amendment will only impact the format and
extent of disclosures presented in the accounts. The Group will apply this amendment from annual periods
beginning 1 January 2006.

- IAS 39 (Amendment), “Cash Flow Hedge Accounting of Forecast Intragroup Transactions” (effective from 1
January 2006). The amendment allows the foreign currency risk of a highly probable forecast intragroup
transaction to qualify as a hedged item in the consolidated financial statements, provided that: (a) the transaction
is denominated in a currency other than the functional currency of the entity entering into that transaction; and
(b) the foreign currency risk will affect consolidated profit or loss. This amendment will not have a significant
impact on the Group’s financial position, as the Group does not have any intragroup transactions that would
qualify as a hedged item in the consolidated financial statements as of 31 December 2005 and 2004,

- IAS 39 (Amendment), “The Fair Value Option” (effective from 1 January 2006). This amendment changes the
definition of financial instruments classified at fair value through profit or loss and restricts the ability to
designate financial instruments as part of this category. The Group has decided to apply this amendment for the
annual period beginning 1 January 2005 (early adoption).

- IAS 39 and IFRS 4 (Amendment), “Financial Guarantee Contracts” (effective from 1 January 2006). This
amendment requires issued financial guarantees, other than those previously asserted by the entity to be
insurance contracts, to be initially recognised at their fair value and subsequently measured at the higher of: (a)
the unamortised balance of the related fees received and deferred, and (b) the expenditure required to settle the
commitment at the balance sheet date. Management considered this amendment to IAS 39 and believes that it
will not have a significant impact on the Group’s financial position.

- IFRS 7, “Financial Instruments: Disclosures”, and a complementary amendment to IAS 1, “Presentation of
Financial Statements — Capital Disclosures” (effective from 1 January 2007). IFRS 7 introduces new disclosures
to improve the information about financial instruments. It requires the disclosure of qualitative and quantitative
information about exposure to risks arising from financial instruments, including specified minimum disclosures
about credit risk, liquidity risk and market risk, including sensitivity analysis to market risk. It replaces IAS 30,
“Disclosures in the Financial Statements of Banks and Similar Financial Institutions”, and disclosure
requirements in [AS 32, “Financial Instruments: Disclosure and Presentation”. It is applicable to all entities that
report under IFRS. The amendment to IAS 1 introduces disclosures about the level of an entity’s capital and how
it manages capital. The Group assessed the impact of IFRS 7 and the amendment to IAS 1 and concluded that the
main additional disclosures will be the sensitivity analysis to market risk and the capital disclosures required by
the amendment of IAS 1. The Group intends to apply IFRS 7 and the amendment to IAS 1 from annual periods
beginning 1 January 2007.

- IFRIC 4, “Determining whether an Arrangement contains a Lease™ (effective from 1 January 2006). IFRIC 4
requires the determination of whether an arrangement is or contains a lease to be based on the substance of the
arrangement. [t requires an assessment of whether: (a) fulfilment of the arrangement is dependent on the use of a
specific asset or assets (the asset); and (b) the arrangement conveys a right to use the asset. Management
assessed the impact of [FRIC 4 and concluded that this amendment will have a limited impact to the format and
extent of disclosures presented in the accounts on the Group’s operations.
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2.3 Group accounts

Business combinations; All acquisitions are accounted for using the purchase method of accounting as set out in
[FRS 3 from the date on which the Group effectively obtains control of the acquiree. The Group has incorporated
into its income statement the results of operations of the acquiree and has also recognised in the balance sheet the
assets and assumed the liabilities and contingent liabilities of the acquiree as well as any goodwill arising on the
acquisition. Acquisitions are accounted for at cost, being the aggregate of the fair values, at the date of exchange,
of assets given, liabilities incurred or assumed, and equity instruments issued by the acquirer, in exchange for the
control of the acquiree plus any costs directly attributable to the acquisition. For the allocation of the cost of
acquisition, all recognised assets and liabilities are measured at their fair values as at the date of acquisition and
any minority interests are stated at the minority’s proportion of the fair values of the assets and liabilities
recognised in accordance with IFRS 3. The Group has elected to use the exemption of paragraph 15 of IFRS 1
and did not restate past business combinations that occurred prior to the transition date.

The consolidated financial statements combine the financial statements of the Bank and all its subsidiaries,
including certain special purpose entities where appropriate.

Business combinations achieved in stages: When the Group obtains control over a subsidiary in successive
share purchases i.e. “step acquisition”, each significant transaction is accounted for separately and the
identifiable assets, liabilities and contingent liabilities acquired are stated at their fair value at the acquisition date
which is the date when the control is obtained.

As with an acquisition achieved in a single transaction, minority interest is measured at the minority’s proportion
of the net fair value of the identifiable assets, liabilities and contingent liabilities. Any share of the identifiable
assets, liabilities and contingent liabilities acquired in previous transactions is revalued. The revaluation is
calculated as the difference between the fair value of assets in excess of book values by the share portion
previously acquired. This adjustment is recorded directly in equity and does not constitute a change in
accounting policy.

Further acquisition after control is obtained: Changes in the parent’s ownership interest in a subsidiary after
control is obtained that do not result in a loss of control are accounted for as transactions between equity holders
in their capacity as equity holders. No gain or loss is recognised in income statement on such changes. The
carrying amount of the non-controlling interest is adjusted to reflect the change in the parent’s interest in the
subsidiary’s net assets. Any difference between the amount by which the non-controlling interest is so adjusted
and the fair value of the consideration paid or received, if any, is recognised directly in equity and attributed to
equity holders of the parent. (Ref: par 30A Exposure Draft of Proposed Amendments to IAS 27 Consolidated
and Separate Financial Statements). Legal mergers which involve transactions between entities under common
control are accounted for using the above method. As effective date of such transactions is considered the
transformation balance sheet date.

Subsidiary undertakings: Subsidiary undertakings, which are those companies in which the Group directly or
indirectly, has an interest of more than one half of the voting rights or otherwise has power to exercise control
over their financial and operating policies, have been fully consolidated. Subsidiaries are consolidated from the
date on which effective control is transferred to the Group and are no longer consolidated from the date that
control ceases. All intra-group transactions, balances and unrealised surpluses and deficits on transactions
between Group companies are eliminated on consolidation. Where necessary, accounting policies for
subsidiaries have been changed to ensure consistency with the policies adopted by the Group.

Associated undertakings: Investments in associates are accounted for by applying the equity method of
accounting. These are undertakings over which the Group has between 20% and 50% of the voting rights, and
over which the Group exercises significant influence, but which it does not control. Impairment charges are
recognised for other than temporary declines in value.

Under the equity method of accounting, the investment is initially recorded at cost, and is increased or decreased.
by the proportionate share of the affiliate’s profits or losses after the date of acquisition. Goodwill arising on the
acquisition of an associate is included in the cost of the investment (net of any accumulated impairment loss).
Dividends received from the associate during the year reduce the carrying value of the investments. Investments
in associates for which significant influence is intended to be temporary because such investments are acquired
and held exclusively with a view to their subsequent disposal within twelve months from their acquisition, are
recorded as assets held for sale. Unrealised gains and losses on transactions between the Group and its associated
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undertakings are eliminated to the extent of the Group’s interest in the associated undertaking. Where necessary,
the accounting policies used by the associate have been changed to ensure consistency with the policies adopted
by the Group.

2.4 Foreign currency translation

Items included in the financial statements of each entity of the Group are measured using the currency that best
reflects the economic substance of the underlying events and circumstances relevant to that entity (“the
functional currency”). The financial statements are presented in thousands of Euro (€), which is the functional
currency of the Bank.

Foreign currency transactions are translated into the functional currency at the exchange rates prevailing at the
dates of the transactions. Foreign exchange gains and losses resulting from the settlement of such transactions
and from the translation of monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies are recognised in
the income statement. Translation differences on debt securities and other monetary financial assets re-measured
at fair value are included in foreign exchange gains and losses. Translation differences on non-monetary
financial assets are a component of the change in their fair value. Depending on the classification of a non-
monetary financial asset, translation differences are either recognised in the income statement (applicable for
example for equity securities held for trading), or within shareholders’ equity, if non-monetary financial assets
are classified as available for sale investment securities.

When preparing the financial statements, assets and liabilities of foreign entities are translated at the exchange
rates prevailing at the balance sheet date, while income and expense items are translated at average rates for the
period. Differences resulting from the use of closing and average exchange rates and from revaluing a foreign
entity’s opening net asset balance at closing rate are recognised directly in foreign currency translation reserve
within shareholders’ equity. When a foreign entity is sold, such translation differences are recognised in the
income statement as part of the gain or loss on sale.

Goodwill and fair value adjustments arising on the acquisition of a foreign entity are treated as assets and
liabilities of the foreign entity and translated at the closing rate.

2.5 Regular way purchases and sales

In case of “regular way” purchases and sales of financial assets the Group uses “settlement date” accounting
apart from trading and investment securities and derivative financial instruments, which are recognised at “trade
date”.

2.6 Derivative financial instruments and hedging (Applicable for the Group from 1 January 2005)

Derivative financial instruments including foreign exchange contracts, forward rate agreements, currency and
interest rate swaps, interest rate futures, currency and interest rate options (both written and purchased) and other
derivative financial instruments are initially recognised in the balance sheet at cost and subsequently are re-
measured at their fair value. All derivatives are carried in assets when favourable to the Group and in liabilities
when unfavourable to the Group. Fair values are obtained from quoted market prices, dealer price quotations,
discounted cash flow models and options pricing models, as appropriate. Where the Group enters into derivative
instruments used for trading purposes, realised and unrealised gains and losses are recognised in trading income.

A derivative may be embedded in another financial instrument, known as “host contract”. In such combinations,
the derivative instrument is separated from the host contract and treated as a separate derivative, provided that its
risks and economic characteristics are not closely related to those of the host contract, the embedded derivative
actually meets the definition of a derivative and the host contract is not carried at fair value with unrealised gains
and losses reported in the income statement.

The Group also uses derivative instruments as part of its asset and liability management activities to manage
exposures to interest rate, foreign currency and credit risks, including exposures arising from forecast
transactions. The Group applies either fair value or cash flow hedge accounting when transactions meet the
specified criteria to obtain hedge accounting treatment. The Group’s criteria for a derivative instrument to be
accounted for as a hedge include:

- at inception of the hedge, there is formal designation and documentation of the hedging instrument, hedged
item, hedging objective, strategy and relationship;
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- the hedge is documented showing that it is expected to be highly effective in offsetting the risk in the hedged
item throughout the hedging period. A hedge is considered to be highly effective when the Group achieves
offsetting changes in fair value between 80 percent and 125 percent for the risk being hedged; and

- the hedge is highly effective on an ongoing basis.

2.6.1 Fair value hedges

For qualifying fair value hedges, the change in fair value of the hedging derivative is recognised in the income
statement along with the corresponding change in the fair value of the hedged asset or liability that is attributable
to that specific hedged risk. If the hedge relationship is terminated for reasons other than the de-recognition of
the hedged item, the difference between the carrying amount of the hedged item at that point and the value at
which it would have been carried had the hedge never existed (the “unamortised fair value adjustment”), is, in
the case of interest bearing financial instruments, amortised to the income statement over the remaining term of
the original hedge, while for non-interest bearing instruments that amount is immediately recognised in the
income statement. If the hedged instrument is derecognised, e.g. sold or repaid, the unamortised fair value
adjustment is recognised immediately in the income statement.

2.6.2 Cash flow hedges

Fair value gains or losses associated with the effective portion of a derivative designated as a cash flow hedge
are recognised initially in shareholders’ equity. When the cash flows that the derivative is hedging (including
cash flows from transactions that were only forecast when the derivative hedge was effected) materialize,
resulting in income or expense, then the associated gain or loss on the hedging derivative is simultaneously
transferred from shareholders’ equity to corresponding income or expense line item.

If a cash flow hedge for a forecast transaction is deemed to be no longer effective, or the hedge relationship is
terminated, the cumulative gain or loss on the hedging derivative previously reported in shareholders’ equity
remains in shareholders’ equity until the committed or forecast transaction occurs, at which point it is transferred
from shareholders’ equity to trading income.

Certain derivative instruments transacted as effective economic hedges under the Group’s risk management
positions, do not qualify for hedge accounting under the specific rules of IAS 39 and are therefore treated in the
same way as derivative instruments held for trading purposes, i.e. fair value gains and losses are recognised in
trading income.

Notwithstanding the above, transactions entered into before the date of transition to IFRS, shall not be
retrospectively designated as hedges.

2.7 Offsetting

Financial assets and liabilities are offset and the net amount is reported in the balance sheet when there is a
legally enforceable right to set off the recognised amounts and there is an intention to realize the asset and settle
the liability simultaneously or on a net basis.

2.8 Interest income and expense

Interest income and expense are recognised in the income statement for all interest bearing instruments on a time
proportion basis, taking account of the principal outstanding and using the effective interest rate method based
on the actual purchase price. Interest income includes coupons eamed on fixed income investment and trading
securities and accrued discount and premium on treasury bills and other discounted instruments.

The recognition of income on commercial and mortgage loans ceases when the recovery of principal and/or
interest becomes doubtful of collection, such as when overdue by more than 180 days, or when the borrower or
securities’ issuer defaults, if earlier than 180 days. Credit card loans, other non-secured personal credit lines and
certain consumer finance loans are placed on non-accrual basis no later than the date upon which they become
90 days delinquent. In all cases, loans must be placed on non-accrual at an earlier date, if collection of principal
and/or interest 1s considered doubtful. All interest accrued but not collected for loans that are placed on non-
accrual or written off is excluded from interest income until received.
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2.9 Fee and commission income

Fees and commissions are generally recognised on an accrual basis over the period the service is provided.
Commissions and fees arising from negotiating, or participating in the negotiation of a transaction for a third
party, such as acquisition of loans, equity shares or other securities or the purchase or sale of businesses, are
recognised upon completion of the underlying transaction.

2.10 Financial assets at fair value through profit and loss (Applicable for the Group from 1 January 2005)

All financial assets, acquired principally for the purpose of selling in the short term or if so designated by the
management, are classified under this category which has the following two sub-categories:

a) Trading securities

Trading securities are securities, which are either acquired for generating a profit from short-term fluctuations in
price or dealer’s margin, or are securities included in a portfolio in which a pattern of short-term profit making
exists.

Trading securities are initially recognised at cost and subsequently re-measured at fair value. The determination
of fair values of trading securities is based on quoted market prices, dealer price quotation and pricing models, as
appropriate. Gains and losses realised on disposal or redemption and unrealised gains and losses from changes in
the fair value of trading securities are included in net trading income. Interest earned whilst holding trading
securities is reported as interest income. Dividends received are separately reported and included in dividend
income. Trading securities may also include securities sold under sale and repurchase agreements.

All purchases and sales of trading securities that require delivery within the time frame established by regulation
or market convention (“regular way” purchases and sales) are recognised at trade date, which is the date that the
Group commits to purchase or sell the asset. Otherwise such transactions are treated as derivatives until
settlement occurs.

Trading securities held are not reclassified out of the respective category. Respectively, investment securities are
not reclassified into the trading securities category while they are held.

b) At fair value through profit or loss

Upon initial recognition the Group may designate any financial asset as at fair value through profit or loss except
for investments in equity instruments that do not have a quoted market price in an active market and whose fair
value cannot be reliably measured.

2.11 Sale and repurchase agreements

Securities sold subject to a linked repurchase agreement (‘Repos’) are retained in the financial statements as
trading or investment securities and the counterparty liability is included in amounts due to banks, due to
customers or other deposits, as appropriate. Securities purchased under agreement to resell (‘Reversed Repos’)
are recorded as due from other banks or loans and advances to customers, as appropriate. The difference between
sale and repurchase price is treated as interest and accrued over the life of Repos (or Reverse Repos) agreement
using the effective interest rate method.

2.12 Securities borrowing and lending (Applicable for the Group from 1 January 2005)

Securities borrowed and securities lent are recorded at the amount of cash collateral advanced or received, plus
accrued interest. Securities borrowed and securities received as collateral under securities lending transactions
are not recognised in the financial statements unless control of the contractual rights that comprise these
securities transferred is gained or sold to third parties, in which case the purchase and sale are recorded with the
gain or loss included in trading income. The obligation to return them is recorded at fair value as a trading
liability.

Respectively, securities lent and securities provided as collateral under securities borrowing transactions are not
derecognised from the financial statements unless control of the contractual rights that comprise these securities
transferred is relinquished.

The Group monitors the market value of the securities borrowed and lent on a regular basis and provides or
requests additional collateral in accordance with the underlying agreements. Fees and interest received or paid
are recorded as interest income or interest expense, on an accrual basis.
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2.13 Investment Secuvities (Applicable for the Group from 1 January 2005)

Investment securities are classified as either available for sale or held to maturity investment securities based on
management intention on purchase date. Investment securities are recognised at trade date, which is the date that
the Group commits to purchase or sell the asset. All other purchases and sales, which do not fall within market
convention are recognised as derivative forward transactions until settlement.

Available for sale investment securities are initially recorded at cost (including transaction costs) and
subsequently re-measured at fair value based on quoted bid prices in active markets, dealer price quotations or
discounted expected cash flows. Fair values for unquoted equity investments are determined by applying
recognised valuation techniques such as price/earnings or price/cash flow ratios, refined to reflect the specific
circumstances of the issuer. Unrealised gains and losses arising from changes in the fair value of available for
sale investment securities are reported in shareholders’ equity, net of taxes (where applicable), until such
investment is sold, collected or otherwise disposed of, or until such investment is determined to be impaired.
Available for sale investment securities may be sold in response to needs for liquidity or changes in interest
rates, foreign exchange rates or equity prices. When an available for sale investment security is disposed of or
impaired, the accumulated unrealised gain or loss included in shareholders’ equity is transferred to the income
statement for the period and reported as gains / losses from investment securities. Gains and losses on disposal
are determined using the moving average cost method.

Held to maturity investment securities consist of securities with fixed or determinable payments, which the
management has the positive intend and ability to hold to maturity. Held to maturity investment securities are
carried at amortised cost using the effective interest rate method, less any provision for impairment. Amortised
cost is calculated by taking into account any fees, points paid or received, transaction costs and any discount or
premium on acquisition.

An investment security is considered impaired if its carrying amount exceeds its recoverable amount and there is
objective evidence that the decline in price has reached a level that recovery of the cost value cannot be
reasonably expected within the foreseeable future. The amount of the impairment loss for financial assets carried
at amortised cost is calculated as the difference between the asset’s carrying amount and the present value of
expected future cash flows discounted at the financial instrument’s original effective interest rate. For quoted
financial assets re-measured to fair value the recoverable amount is the present value of expected future cash
flows discounted at the current market rate of interest for a similar financial asset whereas for unquoted financial
assets the recoverable amount is determined by applying recognised valuation techniques.

Interest earned whilst holding investment securities is reported as interest income. Dividends receivable are
included separately in dividend income, when a dividend is declared.

2.14 Loans and receivables (Applicable for the Group from 1 January 2005)

Loans originated by the Group include loans where money is provided directly to the borrower, other than those
that are originated with the intent to be sold (if any), in which case they are recorded as assets at fair value
through profit and loss, available for sale investment securities or as held to maturity, as appropriate.

Loans originated by the Group are recognised when cash is advanced to borrowers. They are initially recorded at
cost including any transaction costs, and are subsequently valued at amortised cost using the effective interest
rate method.

Interest on loans originated by the Group is included in interest income and is recognised on an accrual basis.
Fees and direct costs relating to a loan origination, financing or restructuring and to loan commitments are
treated as part of the cost of the transaction and are deferred and amortised to interest income over the life of the
loan using the effective interest rate method.

2.15 Impairment losses on loans and advances (Applicable for the Group from 1 January 2005)

A credit risk provision for loan impairment is established if there is objective evidence that the Group will be
unable to collect all amounts due on a claim according to the original contractual terms. A “claim” means a loan,
a commitment such as a letter of credit, guarantee or commitment to extent credit.
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A provision for loan impairment is reported as a reduction of the carrying amount of a claim on the balance
sheet, whereas for an off-balance sheet item such as a commitment, a provision for impairment loss is reported in
other liabilities. Additions to provisions for loans impairment are made through bad and doubtful debts expense.

The Group assesses whether objective evidence of impairment exists for loans that are considered individually
significant, i.e. all loans above €1 million, and collectively for loans that are not considered individually
significant. A loan is subject to impairment test when interest and/or capital is in arrears for a period over 90
days and/or such qualitative indications exist, at the assessment date, which demonstrate that the borrower will
not be able to meet his obligations. Usually such indications include but are not restricted to significant financial
difficulty, deterioration of credit rating, probability of bankruptcy or other financial reorganization procedures.

If there is objective evidence that an impairment loss on loans and receivables carried at amortised cost has been
incurred, the amount of the loss is measured as the difference between the loans’ carrying amount and the
present value of estimated future cash flows (excluding future credit losses that have not been incurred)
discounted at a) the loan’s original effective interest rate, if the loan bears a fixed interest rate, or b) current
effective interest rate, if the loan bears a variable interest rate.

The calculation of the present value of the estimated future cash flows of a collateralised loan reflects the cash
flows that may result from obtaining and selling the collateral, whether or not foreclosure is probable.

For the purposes of a collective evaluation of impairment, loans are grouped on the basis of similar credit risk
characteristics. Loans to corporates are grouped based on days in arrears, product type, economic sector, size of
business, collateral type and other relevant credit risk characteristics. Mortgages and retail loans are also grouped
based on days in arrears or product type. Those characteristics are relevant to the estimation of future cash flows
for pools of loans by being indicative of the debtors’ ability to pay all amounts due and together with historical
loss experience for loans with credit risk characteristics similar to those in the pool form the foundation of the
loan loss allowance computation. Historical loss experience is adjusted on the basis of current observable data to
reflect the effects of current conditions that did not affect the period on which the historical loss experience is
based and to remove the effects and conditions in the historical period that do not exist currently.

All impaired loans are reviewed and analysed at least annually and any subsequent changes to the amounts and
timing of the expected future cash flows compared with the prior estimates result in a change in the provision for
loans impairment and are charged or credited to impairment losses on loans and advances. The methodology and
assumptions used in estimating future cash flows are reviewed regularly by the Group to reduce any differences
between loss estimates and actual loss experience.

Subject to compliance with tax laws in each jurisdiction, a loan, which is deemed to be uncollectible or forgiven,
is written off against the related provision for loans impairment. Subsequent recoveries are credited to
impairment losses on loans and advances in the income statement. In the case of loans to borrowers in countries
where there is an increased risk of difficulties in servicing external debt, an assessment of the political and
economic situation is made, and additional country risk provisions are established if necessary.

2.16 Property and equipment

Property and equipment include land and buildings, leasehold improvements and transportation and other
equipment, held by the Group for use in the supply of services or for administrative purposes. Property and
equipment are initially recorded at cost, which includes all costs that are required to bring an asset into working
condition. In accordance with the transitional provisions set out in IFRS 1, the Group has adopted the carrying
values of all items of property and equipment on the date of transition under Greek GAAP as their deemed cost,
rather than either reverting to historical cost or carrying out a valuation at the date of transition.

Subsequent to initial recognition, property and equipment are stated at cost less accumulated depreciation and
accumulated impairment losses. Costs incurred subsequent to the acquisition of an asset, which is classified as
property and equipment are capitalised, only when it is probable that they will result in future economic benefits
to the Group beyond those originally anticipated for the asset, otherwise they are expensed as incurred. ‘

Depreciation of an item of property and equipment begins when it is available for use and ceases only when the
asset is derecognised. Therefore, the depreciation of an item of property and equipment that is retired from active
use and held for disposal does not cease unless it is fully depreciated. Property and equipment are depreciated on
a straight-line basis over their estimated useful lives as follows:
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Land No depreciation

Buildings used in operation Not exceeding 50 years
Buildings (other than those used in operation) Not exceeding 50 years
Leasehold improvements Residual lease term, not exceeding 10 years
Furniture and related equipment Not exceeding 12 years
Motor vehicles Not exceeding 10 years
Hardware and other equipment ’ Not exceeding 5 years

The Group periodically reviews land and buildings for impairment. Where the carrying amount on an asset is
greater than its estimated recoverable amount, it is written down immediately to its recoverable amount. Gains
and losses on disposal of property and equipment are determined by reference to their carrying amount and are
taken into account in determining operating profit.

Foreclosed assets, which consist of properties acquired through foreclosure in full or partial satisfaction of a
related loan, are initially measured at cost, which includes transaction costs, and reported under other assets.
After initial recognition foreclosed assets are re-measured at the lower of their carrying amount and fair value
less estimated costs to sell. Any gains or losses on liquidation of foreclosed assets are included in other operating
income.

2.17 Investment property

Investment property includes land and buildings, owned by the Group (or held through a leasing agreement,
either finance or operating) with the intention of earning rentals or for capital appreciation or both, and is
initially recorded at cost, which includes transaction costs. A property interest that is held by the Group under an
operating lease is classified and accounted for as investment property when a) the property would otherwise
meet the definition of an investment property or b) the operating lease is accounted for as if it were a finance
lease. In accordance with the transitional provisions set out in IFRS 1, the Group has adopted the carrying
amounts of all investment properties on the date of transition under Greek GAAP as their deemed cost rather
than carrying out a valuation at the date of transition.

Subsequent to initial recognition, investment property is stated at cost less accumulated depreciation and any
accumulated impairment losses.

Investment property is depreciated on a straight-line basis over its estimated useful life, which approximates the
useful life of similar assets included in property and equipment. Investment property is periodically reviewed for
impairment.

2.18 Goodwill and other intangible assets

Intangible assets include goodwill, computer software and other intangible assets that comprise of separately
identifiable intangible items arising from acquisitions.

Goodwill represents the excess of the cost of an acquisition over the fair value of the Group’s share of the net
assets of the acquired entity at the date of acquisition. Subsequent to initial recognition, goodwill is stated at cost
less accumulated impairment losses. Management tests goodwill for impairment annually, or more frequently if
events or changes in circumstances indicate that it might be impaired.

Notwithstanding the above, the Group has elected to use the exemption of paragraph 15 of IFRS 1 in respect of
past business combinations, which means that any goodwill recognised under previous GAAP as a reduction
from equity, has not been recognised in its opening IFRS balance sheet, rather is accounted for as an adjustment
to retained earnings. Furthermore, the Group shall not transfer goodwill to the income statement if in a future
date disposes of the subsidiary (or associate) or if the investment in the subsidiary (or associate) to which that
goodwill relates, becomes impaired. Any excess, as at the date of the exchange transaction, of the acquirer’s
interest in the fair values of the identifiable assets and liabilities acquired over the cost of the acquisition, should
be recognised as negative goodwill. Once it has been established that negative goodwill exists, the Group a)
reassess the identification and measurement of the acquiree’s identifiable assets, liabilities and contingent
liabilities and the measurement of the cost of the combination and b) recognizes immediately in the income
statement any profit or loss remaining after the reassessment.

Computer software includes costs that are directly associated with identifiable and unique software products
controlled by the Group that are anticipated to generate future economic benefits exceeding costs beyond one
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year. Expenditure, which enhances or extends the performance of computer software programs beyond their
original specifications is recognised as a capital improvement and added to the original cost of the software.
Computer software development costs recognised as assets, are amortised using the straight-line method over
their useful lives, not exceeding a period of 5 years.

Expenditure on starting up an operation or branch, training personnel, advertising and promotion and relocating
or reorganizing part or the entire Group is recognised as an expense when it is incurred.

At each balance sheet date, management reviews intangible assets and assesses whether there is any indication of
impairment. If such indications exist an analysis is performed to assess whether the carrying amount of
intangible assets is fully recoverable. A write-down is made if the carrying amount exceeds the recoverable
amount.

2.19 Insurance Operations

As of 1 January 2005, the Group allocates its insurance related products into insurance contracts and investment
contracts depending on the level of insurance risk inherent in the products in accordance with IFRS 4
(“Insurance contracts”). As permitted by IFRS 4, the Group accounts for its insurance contracts in accordance
with Greek accounting principles. Accordingly, overseas insurance liabilities are measured in accordance with
the accounting and legal requirements in the countries concerned and as permitted by IFRS 4.

Assets and liabilities relating to investment contracts are classified and measured as appropriate under IAS 39,
'Financial Instruments: Recognition and Measurement'. The Group assesses whether its recognised insurance
liabilities are adequate by applying a liability adequacy test (“LAT”), which meets the minimum requirements
set forth in IFRS 4, at the end of each reporting period. Additional liabilities resulting from the LAT increase the
carrying amount of insurance liabilities as determined in accordance with local laws and regulations and are
charged off to the income statement. As at | January, additional liabilities resulting from the first application of
the LAT were charged off to equity.

2.20 Leases

a. A Group company is the lessee

Leases where the Group has substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership of the asset are classified as
finance leases. Finance leases are capitalised at the inception of the lease at the lower of the fair value of the
leased property or the present value of the minimum lease payments. Each lease payment is allocated between
the liability and finance charges so as to achieve a constant rate on the finance balance outstanding. The
outstanding rental obligations, net of finance charges, are included in other liabilities. The interest element of the
finance cost is charged to the income statement over the lease period. All assets acquired under finance leases are
depreciated over the shorter of the useful life of the asset or the lease term.

Leases where a significant portion of the risks and rewards of ownership of the asset are retained by the lessor,
are classified as operating leases. The total payments made under operating leases (net of any incentives received
from the lessor) are charged to the income statement on a straight-line basis over the period of the lease. When
an operating lease is terminated before the lease period has expired, any payment required to be made to the
lessor by way of penalty is recognised as an expense in the period in which termination takes place.

b. A Group Company is the lessor

Finance leases: When assets are leased out under a finance lease, the present value of the minimum lease
payments is recognised as a receivable. Lease income is recognised over the term of the lease using the net
investment method (before tax), which reflects a constant periodic rate of return. Finance lease receivables are
included in loans and advances to customers.

Operating leases: Assets leased out under operating leases are included in the balance sheet based on the nature
of the asset. They are depreciated over their useful lives on a basis consistent with similar owned property.
Rental income (net of any incentives given to lessees) is recognised on a straight-line basis over the lease term.

2.21 Cash and cash equivalents

For the purposes of the cash flow statement, cash and cash equivalents comprise balances with less than 3
months maturity from the date of acquisition and consist of cash and balances with central banks, treasury bills
and other eligible bills, amounts due from other banks, investment securities and trading securities.
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2.22 Provisions

" Provisions are recognised when the Group has a present legal or constructive obligation as a result of past events,
it is probable that an outflow of resources embodying economic benefits will be required to settle the obligation,
and a reliable estimate of the amount of the obligation can be made.

2.23 Employee benefits

Group companies operate various retirement benefit plans in accordance with local conditions and practices in
their respective countries. Such plans are classified as pension plans or other post-retirement benefit plans.

2.23.1 Pension plans

a. Defined benefit plans

A defined benefit plan is a pension plan that defines an amount of pension benefit to be provided, usually as a
function of one or more factors such as age, years of service or compensation. For defined benefit plans, the
pension liability is the present value of the defined benefit obligation at the balance sheet date minus the fair
value of the plan assets, including any adjustments for unrecognised actuarial gains/losses and past service costs.
The Group follows the “corridor” approach of IAS 19 “Employee Benefits” according to which a certain amount
of actuarial gains and losses remains unrecognised and is amortised over the average remaining service lives of
the employees participating in the plan. The Group on the transition date to IFRS has elected to use the
exemption provided in paragraph 20 of IFRS 1 in respect of employee benefits and has recognised all cumulative
actuarial gains and losses from the inception of such plans until the date of transition to IFRS.

The defined benefit obligation is calculated by independent actuaries on an annual basis using the projected unit
credit method. The present value of the defined obligation is determined by the estimated future cash outflows
using interest rates of government securities, which have terms to maturity approximating the terms of the
related liability. Pension costs are charged or credited to the income statement over the service lives of the
related employees.

b. Defined contribution plans

A defined contribution plan is a pension plan under which the Group pays fixed contributions into a separate
entity (a fund) and will have no legal or constructive obligations to pay further contributions if the fund does not
hold sufficient assets to pay all employees’ benefits relating to employee service in the current and prior periods.
Group contributions to defined contribution plans are charged to the income statement in the year to which they
relate and are included in staff costs.

2.23.2 Other post-retivement benefit plans

Group employees participate in plans, which provide for various health benefits including post-retirement
healthcare benefits. Such plans are also classified as either defined contribution or defined benefit plans.
Obligations under other defined benefit post-retirement plans are valued annually by independent qualified
actuaries.

2.24 Income taxes

Income tax payable on profits, based on the applicable tax laws in each jurisdiction, is recognised as an expense
in the period in which profits arise.

Deferred income tax is fully provided, using the liability method, on all temporary differences arising between
the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities in the consolidated balance sheet and their amounts as measured for

tax purposes.

The principal temporary differences arise from insurance reserves, provisions for pensions and revaluation of
certain assets. Deferred tax assets relating to the unused tax losses carried forward are recognised to the extent
that it is probable that sufficient taxable profits will be available against which these losses can be utilised.
Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at the tax rates that are expected to apply to the period when the
asset is realised or the liability is settled, based on laws that have been enacted at the balance sheet date.

Deferred income tax is provided on temporary differences arising from investments in subsidiaries and

associates, except where the timing of the reversal of the temporary difference can be controlled by the Group
and it is probable that the difference will not reverse in the foreseeable future.
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Deferred tax asset is recognised for all deductible temporary differences arising from investments in subsidiaries,
branches and associates, and interests in joint ventures, to the extent that, it is probable that the temporary
difference will reverse in the foreseeable future and taxable profit will be available against which the temporary
difference can be utilised.

Deferred tax, related to fair value changes of available for sale investment securities and cash flow hedges,
which are charged or credited directly to sharcholders’ equity, is also credited or charged directly to
shareholders’ equity where applicable and is subsequently recognised in the income statement together with the
deferred gain or loss.

2.25 Borrowings

Borrowings are initially recognised at cost, which is the fair value of the consideration received (issue proceeds),
net of transaction costs incurred. Subsequent measurement is at amortised cost and any difference between net
proceeds and the redemption value is recognised in the income statement over the period of the borrowings using
the effective interest rate method.

2.26 Share capital and treasury shares

Share issue costs: Incremental external costs directly attributable to the issue of new shares, other than on a
business combination, are deducted from equity net of any related income taxes.

Dividends on ordinary shares: Dividends on ordinary shares are recognised as a liability in the period in which
they are approved by the Annual General Meeting of the Shareholders of the Bank and its subsidiaries.

Treasury shares: NBG shares held by the Group are classified as treasury shares and the consideration paid
including any attributable incremental external costs, net of income taxes, is deducted from total shareholders’
equity until they are cancelled, reissued or resold. Treasury shares do not reduce the number of shares issued but
affect the number of outstanding shares used in the calculation of earnings per share. Treasury shares held by the
Bank are not eligible to recetve cash dividends. Any difference between acquisition cost and ultimate proceeds
from subsequent resale (or reissue) of treasury shares is included in shareholders’ equity and is therefore not to
be considered a gain or loss to be included in the income statement.

2.27 Segment reporting

The Group is organised on a worldwide basis into six business segments and provides products or services that
are subject to risks and returns that are different from those of other business segments. This organizational
structure is the basis upon which the Group reports its primary segment information.

A geographical segment is engaged in providing products or services within a particular economic environment
that are subject to risks and returns that are different from those of segments operating in other economic
environments.

2.28 Assets and liabilities held for sale and discontinued operations

Assets (or disposal groups) are classified as held for sale if their carrying amount is recovered principally
through a sale transaction rather than through continuing use. Immediately before classification as held for sale,
the measurement of the assets (and all assets and liabilities in a disposal group) is effected in accordance with the
applicable IFRS’s. Upon initial classification as assets held for sale, they are measured at their lower of carrying
amount and fair value less costs to sell and are classified separately from other assets in the balance. sheet.
Offsetting of assets and liabilities is not permitted.

Impairment losses on initial classification as held for sale are included in profit or loss, even when there is a
revaluation. The same applies to gains and losses on subsequent remeasurement.

A discontinued operation is a component of the Group’s business that represents a separate major line of
business or geographical area of operations that has been disposed of or is classified as held for sale or is a
subsidiary acquired exclusively with a view to resale. Classification as discontinued operations occurs upon
disposal or when the operations meet the criteria to be classified as held for sale. Discontinued operations are
presented on the face of the income statement.
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The Group adopted [FRS 5 from 1 January 2005 prospectively in accordance with the standard’s provisions.

2.29 Related party transactions

Related parties include entities, which the Bank has the ability to exercise significant influence in making
financial and operating decisions. Related parties include, directors, their close relatives, companies owned or
controlled by them and companies over which they can influence the financial and operating policies. All
banking transactions entered into with related parties are made on substantially the same terms, including interest
rates and collateral, as those prevailing at the same time for comparable transactions with unrelated parties and
do not involve more than a normal amount of risk.

2.30 Fiduciary and trust activities

The Group provides fiduciary and trust services to individuals and other institutions, whereby it holds and
manages assets or invests funds received in various financial instruments at the direction of the customer. The
Group receives fee income for providing these services. Trust assets are not assets of the Group and are not
recognised in the financial statements. The Group is not exposed to any credit risk relating to such placements,
as it does not guarantee these investments.

2.31 Earnings per share

A basic earnings per share (EPS) ratio is calculated by dividing the net profit or loss for the period attributable to
ordinary shareholders by the weighted average number of ordinary shares outstanding during the period.

A diluted earnings per share ratio is computed using the same method as for basic EPS, but the determinants are
adjusted to reflect the potential dilution that could occur if convertible debt securities, options, warrants or other
contracts to issue ordinary shares were converted or exercised into ordinary shares.
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NOTE 3: Critical accounting policies, estimates & judgments

3.1 Critical accounting policies and estimates

The preparation of financial statements in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS)
requires management to make a number of judgments, estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amount
of assets, liabilities, income and expense in the Group’s Consolidated Financial Statements and accompanying
notes. The Group believes that the judgments, estimates and assumptions used in the preparation of the
Consolidated Financial Statements are appropriate given the factual circumstances as of 31 December 2005.

Various elements of the Group’s accounting policies, by their nature, are inherently subject to estimation
techniques, valuation assumptions and other subjective assessments. In particular, the Group has identified eight
accounting policies which, due to the judgments, estimates and assumptions inherent in those policies, and the
sensitivity of the financial statements to those judgments, estimates and assumptions, are critical to an
understanding of the financial statements.

Recognition and measurement of financial instruments at fair value

Assets and liabilities that are trading instruments are recorded at fair value on the balance sheet date, with
changes in fair value reflected in net trading income. For exchange traded financial instruments, fair value is
based on quoted market prices for the specific instrument. Where no active market exists, or where quoted prices
are not otherwise available, we determine fair value using a variety of valuation techniques. These include
present value methods, models based on observable input parameters, and models where some of the input
parameters are unobservable.

Valuation models are used primarily to value derivatives transacted in the over-the-counter market. All valuation
models are validated before they are used as a basis for financial reporting, and periodically reviewed thereafter,
by qualified personnel independent of the area that created the model. Wherever possible, we compare
valuations derived from models with quoted prices of similar financial instruments, and with actual values when
realised, in order to further validate and calibrate our models. A variety of factors are incorporated into our
models, including actual or estimated market prices and rates, such as time value and volatility, and market depth
and liquidity.

We apply our models consistently from one period to the next, ensuring comparability and continuity of
valuations over time, but estimating fair value inherently involves a significant degree of judgment. Management
therefore establishes valuation adjustments to cover the risks associated with the estimation of unobservable
input parameters and the assumptions within the models themselves.

Although a significant degree of judgment is, in some cases, required in establishing fair values, management
believes the fair values recorded in the balance sheet and the changes in fair values recorded in the income
statement are prudent and reflective of the underlying economics, based on the controls and procedural
safeguards we employ.

Fair value option

We adopted revised IAS 32 and revised IAS 39 at 1 January 2005. We have applied the exception provided in
IFRS 1 not to restate the comparative prior year. Revised [AS 39 permits an entity to designate any financial
asset or financial liability as held at fair value and to recognize fair value changes in profit and loss. We apply
the fair value option primarily to debt instruments in order to present more relevant information by eliminating
or significantly reducing measurement inconsistency (an “accounting mismatch”) that would otherwise arise
from measuring assets or liabilities or recognizing the gains and losses on a different basis.

Recognition of deferred Day 1 Profit and Loss

We have entered into transactions, some of which will mature after more than ten years, where we determine fair
value using valuation models for which not all inputs are market observable prices or rates. We initially
recognize a financial instrument at the transaction price, which is the best indicator of fair value, although the
value obtained from the relevant valuation model may differ. Such a difference between the transaction price and
the model value is commonly referred to as “Day 1 profit and loss”. In accordance with applicable accounting
literature, we do not recognize that initial difference, usually a gain, immediately in profit and loss. While
applicable accounting literature prohibits immediate recognition of Day 1 profit and loss, it does not address
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when it is appropriate to recognize Day 1 profit in the income statement. It also does not address subsequent
measurement of these instruments.

Our decisions regarding recognizing deferred Day 1 profit and loss are based on the principle of prudence and
are made after careful consideration of facts and circumstances to ensure we do not prematurely release a portion
of the deferred profit to income. For each transaction, we determine individually the appropriate method of
recognizing the Day 1 profit and loss amount in the income statement. Deferred Day 1 profit and loss is
amortised over the life of the transaction, deferred until fair value can be determined using market observable
inputs, or realised through settlement. In all instances, any unrecognised Day 1 profit and loss is immediately
released to income if fair value of the financial instrument in question can be determined either by using market
observable model inputs or by reference to a quoted price for the same product in an active market.

After entering into a transaction, we measure the financial instrument at fair value, adjusted for the deferred Day
1 profit and loss. Subsequent changes in fair value are recognised immediately in the income statement without
reversal of deferred Day 1 profits and losses.

Goodwill and Equity method investments

The Group regularly reviews goodwill and equity method investments for possible impairment indications. If the
impairment indicators are identified, the Group makes an assessment about whether the carrying amount of such
assets remains fully recoverable. When making this assessment the Group compares the carrying value to market
value, if available, or a fair value determined by a qualified evaluator or pricing model. Determination of a fair
value by a qualified evaluator or pricing model requires management to make assumptions and use estimates.

The Group believes that the assumptions and estimates used are reasonable and supportable in the existing
market environment and commensurate with the risk profile of the assets valued. However, different ones could
be used which would lead to different results.

Allowance for loan losses .

The amount of the allowance set aside for loan losses is based upon management’s ongoing assessments of the
probable estimated losses inherent in the loan portfolio. Assessments are conducted by members of management
responsible for various types of loans employing a methodology and guidelines which are continually monitored
and improved. This methodology has two primary components: specific allowances and collective allowances.
The Group assesses whether objective evidence of impairment exists for loans that are considered individually
significant, i.e. all loans above €1 million, and collectively for loans that are not considered individually
significant.

A loan is subject to impairment test when interest and/or capital is in arrears for a period over 90 days and/or
such qualitative indications exist, at the assessment date, which demonstrate that the borrower will not be able to
meet his obligations. Usually such indications include but are not restricted to significant financial difficulty,
deterioration of credit rating, probability of bankruptcy or other financial reorganization procedures.

The specific counterparty component applies to claims evaluated individually for impairment and is based upon
management’s best estimate of the present value of the cash flows which are expected to be received. In
estimating these cash flows, management makes judgments about a counterparty’s financial situation and the net
realizable value of any underlying collateral or guarantees in our favour. Each impaired asset is assessed on its
merits, and the workout strategy and estimate of cash flows considered recoverable are independently reviewed.

In assessing the need for collective loan loss allowances, management considers factors such as credit quality,
portfolio size, concentrations, and economic factors. In order to estimate the required allowance, we make
assumptions both to define the way we model inherent losses and to determine the required input parameters,
based on historical experience and current economic conditions.

The accuracy of the allowances and provisions we make depends on how well we estimate future cash flows for
specific counterparty allowances and provisions and the model assumptions and parameters used in determining
collective allowances. While this necessarily involves judgment, we believe that our allowances and provisions
are reasonable and supportable.

Allowances for loan losses made by our foreign subsidiaries are estimated by the subsidiary using similar criteria

as the Bank uses in Greece. As the process for determining the adequacy of the allowance requires subjective
and complex judgment by management about the effect of matters that are inherently uncertain, subsequent
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evaluations of the loan portfolio, in light of the factors then prevailing, may result in changes in the allowance
for loan losses.

Insurance reserves

Insurance reserves for life insurance operations (long-duration contracts) are estimated using approved actuarial
methods that include assumptions about future investment yields, mortality, expenses, options and guarantees,
morbidity and terminations. Insurance reserves for property and casualty insurance operations (short-duration
contracts) are determined using loss estimates, which rely on actuarial observations of loss experience for similar
historic events. Assumptions and observations of loss experience are periodically adjusted, with the support of
qualified actuaries, in order to reflect current conditions. Any additional future losses anticipated from the
revision of assumptions and estimations is charged to the income statement.

We continue to monitor potential for changes in loss estimates in order to ensure that our recorded reserves in
each reporting period reflect current conditions.

Net periodic benefit cost

The net periodic benefit cost is actuarially determined using assumed discount rates, assumed rates of
compensation increase and the expected return on plan assets. These assumptions are ultimately determined by
reviewing the Group’s salary increases each year. The expected long-term return on plan assets represents
management’s expectation of the average rate of earnings on the funds invested to provide for the benefits
included in the projected benefit obligation. To determine the expected long-term rate of return assumption the
Group and its advisors make forward-looking assumptions in the context of historical returns and volatilities for
each asset class as well as correlations among asset classes. The expected long-term rate of return assumption is
annually adjusted based on revised expectations of future investment performance of the overall capital markets,
as well as changes to local regulations affecting investment strategy.

Useful lives of depreciable assets

The Group’s management determines the estimated useful lives and related depreciation charges for its property
and other equipment. The Group’s estimate is based on the projected operating life cycle of its buildings and the
other depreciable assets such as furniture and other equipment, motor vehicles, hardware and other equipment.
Such estimates are not expected to change significantly, however, management modifies depreciation charge
rates wherever useful lives turn out to be different than previously estimated and it writes down or writes off
technically obsolete assets.

3.2 Critical accounting judgments

Held to maturity investments

The Group follows the IAS 39 guidance on classifying non-derivative financial assets with fixed or determinable
payments and fixed maturity as held-to-maturity. This classification is based on the Group’s evaluation of its
intention and ability to hold such investments to maturity.

Impairment of available-for-sale financial assets

The Group follows the guidance of IAS 39 on determining when an investment is other than temporarily
impaired. This determination requires judgment and the Group evaluates the duration and extent to which the
fair value of an investment is less than its cost; and the financial health of and near-term business outlook for the
investee, including factors such as industry and sector performance, changes in technology and operational and
financing cash flow.

Income taxes :

The Group is subject to income taxes in numerous jurisdictions. Significant judgement is required in determining
the worldwide provision for income taxes. There are many transactions and calculations for which the ultimate
tax determination is uncertain during the ordinary course of business. The Group recognises liabilities for
anticipated tax audit issues based on estimates of whether additional taxes will be due. Where the final tax
outcome of these matters is different from the amounts that were initially recorded, such differences will impact
the income tax and deferred tax provisions in the period in which such determination is made.
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NOTE 4: Financial risk management

4.1 Credit risk

The credit risk process is conducted separately by the Bank and each of its subsidiaries. The Group has
implemented systematic controls and monitoring of credit risk and market risk and has formed a Risk
Management Council to establish consistent risk management policies throughout the Group. Each of the credit
risk procedures established by the subsidiaries is coordinated by the Group Risk Management Division.

The Bank. The credit risk process for the Bank is managed centrally by the Group Risk Management Division,
which works closely with centralised underwriting units responsible for particular type of loans. Under the
Bank’s facility risk rating system, corporate exposures are grouped into eight risk classes. Low risk borrowers
are often offered more favourable terms, while loans to high-risk borrowers generally require third party
guarantees and additional collateral. The bank also uses a number of obligor rating systems, assigning a
borrower rating to each counterparty, whether large, medium corporate or small business. This rating is based
primarily upon quantitative criteria (mostly liquidity, profitability, capital structure and debt service ratios) as
well as qualitative factors such as management quality, reputation with customers and employees and company
standing. In addition, all Bank’s rating systems consider the borrower’s industry risk and its relative position
within its peer group.

The Bank’s credit exposure to each borrower is subject to a detailed risk review at least annually, or semi-
annually in case of high-risk borrowers, with all outstanding facilities being reviewed. Interim reviews are also
undertaken throughout the year and on an ongoing basis, following a late payment, if there are issues which may
affect the course of business of the borrower, or changes relevant to the borrower’s creditworthiness. In case of
term loans, exposures to borrowers engaged in start-up projects and those posing special risks as a result of
company or industry difficulties or otherwise, are generally subject to more frequent reviews. These reviews are
undertaken by the loan officers responsible for the customer and are monitored by the Group’s Risk
Management Unit. Credit reviews include consideration of the customer’s historical and projected business
performance, balance sheet strength and cash flow generation capability, together with relevant industry trends.
These matters are considered in relation to the size, structure and maturity of the Bank’s exposure to its client, in
conjunction with the nature of any security held. When the Bank determines, as a result of this process, that a
borrower poses a risk, it takes appropriate action to limit its exposure as well as to downgrade all outstanding
facilities of the borrower. For example, the Bank may increase its collateral level, reset the interest rate at a
higher level or decrease its facility line. In addition, credit officers responsible for the customer will intensify the
monitoring of other exposures. When the review process results in the migration of the facility into a higher risk
class, either the outstanding facility is restructured or future lending and renewals of existing lines are rejected.
With respect to the facility risk rating categorization, a coefficient Expected Loss analysis is applied to all
commercial and corporate loans and its results are taken into consideration during the formulation of the Bank’s
provisioning policy.

Trends in the loan portfolio, including business development, asset quality and provisions for bad and doubtful
debts, are reported regularly to the Board of Directors. The Bank also maintains an internal watch list of
commercial loans, whose principal and interest payments are in arrears for up to three months, and have not yet
been classified as non-performing loans. Credit officers responsible for customers on this watch list must take
action in order to prevent the relevant loans from becoming non-performing and must report monthly on their

progress.

With respect to mortgage loans, the underwriting process is centralised under the Mortgage Credit Division.
Centralised underwriting ensures segregation of duties and uniform enforcement of underwriting standards. Loan
security is typically in the form of a Mortgage Pre-notation on a property for 120% of the loan amount.
Maximum loan amount usually does not exceed the 75% of the market value, but this may infrequently evolve
up to 100% according to various factors and specific circumstances, which deal with the applicant’s credit
profile, type of ownership, location of the asset, type of the financed property etc.

For Personal Loans and Credit cards, the credit approval process is carried out through the use of bespoke credit
scorecards. Risk monitoring, among other analyses, includes vintages by period of disbursement, issuing
channel, and product type for various bad definitions, thus continuously insuring sufficient calculation of the
probability of default.
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The credit granting processes and procedures are centralised. The rational behind this organizational structure is
three-fold:

- To ensure correct application of credit policy

- To effectively channel the applications through the business pipeline, thus speeding up the decision making
process, while ensuring accuracy and consistency

- To effectively monitor the client information input process

Furthermore, through the development of models which estimate Probability of Default (PD) and Loss Given
Default (LGD) on a portfolio basis, . Risk Management is able to calculate, evaluate and monitor expected, and
unexpected losses for all portfolio asset classes and segments.

The recently established Retail Banking Collection Division carries the responsibility of monitoring and
collecting past due amounts of the entire retail portfolio. The Division’s objectives are mainly focused on
reducing loan portfolio delinquency rates, facilitating early awareness of defaulted loans, ensuring proactive
remedial management of defaulted loans and reducing costs, minimizing losses and increasing the retail business
portfolio overall profitability.

The Bank’s subsidiaries

United Bulgarian Bank(UBB). Outstanding business loans to large corporations are reviewed monthly by the
responsible credit officers and by UBB’s Credit Portfolio Review Committee, which is responsible for reviewing
general categories of risk and implementing risk guidelines. Loans to small to medium sized enterprises (SMEs)
are also reviewed on a monthly basis. All loans are reclassified monthly according to a risk assessment based on
a four-point risk-rating system. In addition, UBB’s auditors carry out a separate review of loans representing
approximately 70% of the loan portfolio on an annual basis. The review is focused on the largest and most
recently granted loans and a random sample of other loans. Interim reviews are undertaken during semi-annual
audit reviews. Reports related to the status of loans are submitted regularly to the Credit Committee by UBB’s
Credit Portfolio Review Committee. At least once a year, UBB’s executive management presents a full report on
the quality of UBB’s loan portfolio to its Board of Directors.

Stopanska Banka. Stopanska applies a five-point risk rating system for classifying loans. Loans are rated from A
to E, with E being the riskiest (i.e. non performing). Loans are classified depending mainly on the length of time
they have been in arrears. Loans in class A have been in arrears for less than 30 days, while those in class E have
been in arrears for over 365 days.

NBG Cyprus. NBG Cyprus has adopted the Bank’s risk rating system. A special Credit Provisions Committee
presents a report annually to NBG Cyprus’ Executive Credit Committee on the quality of the bank’s credit
portfolio.

Banca Romaneasca. Banca Romaneasca applies a five-point credit rating system. The credit category assigned to
a loan is determined by three factors: risk rating, debt service and initiation of legal proceedings and is re-
assessed on a monthly basis. A debtor’s financial performance and risk rating are measured by a combination of
quantitative and qualitative criteria, such as the debtor’s quantitative financial performance as well as his general
background. Banca Romaneasca evaluates these factors and, after receiving the client’s annual and semi-annual
financial statements, re-assesses risk rating twice a year (in April and August). The initiation of legal
proceedings results in automatically classifying the loan in the lowest credit category regardless its risk rating
and debt service factors.

The South African Bank of Athens (SABA). SABA focuses on working capital facilities and asset based finance
for small-to-medium sized enterprises and all facilities are reviewed on an annual basis in light of the most
recent financial statements for such corporate clients. During this review period SABA analyses the client’s
entire business and looks for opportunities to add value by either providing business advice or restructuring/
increasing facilities.

Geographical concentration of the Group’s loan portfolio and credit commitments is summarised in the
following table.
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'Geographical concentration of loan portfolio (net) and credit commitments
Loan portfolio Credit commitments
31.12.2005 31.12.2004 31.12.2005 31.12.2004
GIECE. ..ot 25.537.683 87% 21.361.590 82% 13.338.814 94% 10.715.206 85%
SEEurope.......cccccooooeivvivinin 2.681.630 9% 2.133.505 8% 482.805 5% 449.295 8%
West European Countries........... 1.246.687 4% 1.211.499 5% 150.159 1% 213.355 3%
United States and Canada*......... - - 1270479 5% - - 165.449 3%
South Africa..............cccoe 62.178 0% 75.685 0% 14.417 0% 46.477 1%
Total..................... 29,528.178 26.052.758 13.986.195 11.589.782 1%

(*) Discontinued operations

4.2 Market Risk

The Bank takes on exposure to market risk. Market risk is the risk of loss attributed to adverse changes in the
liquidity and market value of the Bank’s portfolio due to general and specific market movements, the most
significant of which are: interest rates, foreign exchange rates and equity prices.

Market risk is primarily incurred through the Bank’s trading portfolio, which mainly composes the respective
portfolio of the Group.

Since 2003, the Bank applies the “Value at Risk-(VaR)” model to estimate the market risk of positions held and
the maximum losses expected, based upon a number of assumptions for various changes in market conditions.
The Bank currently implements the VaR model, assuming a one-day holding period and utilizing a confidence
level of 99% taking into account the sum of all trading and available for sale (AFS) positions in all currencies. In
addition, the Bank aiming to accelerate the process of the determination and the maximum utilisation of its
results adopted within 2005 and applied the most advanced methodology of ‘Algorithmics’ company for
measuring market risk variables. It should be noted that Bank of Greece has also certified the aforementioned
methodology.

The Bank has established a framework of VaR limits in order to control and manage more efficiently the risks to
which it is exposed. These limits have been determined upon the worldwide best practices; they refer not only to
individual market risk variables such as interest rate risk, foreign exchange risk and equity risk but also to the
overall market risk and concern both, the trading and investment portfolio of the Bank. For 2005, the VaR
estimate for the Bank’s trading portfolio, moved between €2 million and €7,8 million with an average estimate
of €4,7 million.

The Bank in order to ensure the quality and reliability of the VaR estimates conducts a back-testing program for
both the trading and the investment portfolio. “Back-testing” compares the one-day VaR calculated on positions
at the close of each business day (theoretical gains / losses), with the actual gains / losses arising on those
positions on the next business day. It is noted that in a total of 251 working days of 2005, there were only 3 cases
representing 1,20% where the actual change in the value of the portfolios exceeded the VaR estimates.

Supplementary to the VaR model, the Bank on a monthly basis applies standard stress scenarios aiming to
approximate the gains or losses of both, the trading and investment portfolio, in cases of severe movements of
market risk variables, such as interest and foreign exchange rates and crises in equity, corporate and emerging
markets.
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4.3 Interest Rate Risk

For 2005, interest rate risk remained the most significant risk to which the Bank was exposed, due to the
worldwide fluctuations of interest rates. The principal source of interest rate risk exposure arises from the Bank’s
bond portfolio, which mainly consists of Greek government bonds, for which the Bank is the principal market
maker, in both the primary and the secondary markets. Its relatively large inventory facilitates its market-making
activity and the distribution of Greek government bonds to retail and institutional investors in Greece and
abroad. The Bank enters into futures contracts on medium-and long-term German government bonds in order to
provide an economic hedge of fixed interest rate exposure arising from its position in fixed-rate Greek
government bonds.

As a result of this economic hedging activity, fixed rate exposure is converted into a credit-spread exposure over
the yield of medium-and long-term German government bonds, which is characterised by moderate moves
resulting in lower volatility. As a secondary means of hedging the trading portfolio of Greek government bonds,
the Bank also uses the swap market to convert part of the fixed rate exposure to a floating rate exposure in order
to reduce earnings volatility in periods of volatile interest rates.

The Bank is also active in the interbank deposit market.

Interest sensitivity of Group’s assets and liabilities is summarised as follows:

At 31 December 2005

‘ Non

i Uptol 1to3 31012 interest v

ASSETS month months  months [ to5 yrs Over S yrs bearing Total
Cash and balances with central banks 1.544.004 5405  10.816 y 5474 865588 2.431.287
Treasury bills and other eligible bills 46344 7232 79.858 40072 3.517 - 177.023
Due from banks 1.473378  994.755 1.332.919 35374 46 248.732 4.085.204

Financial assets at fair value through P&L 385217

409.216 6.854.226 3.910.960 1.872.960 234.892 13.667.471

Loans and advances to customers (net) 18.433.563 2.230.189 6.182.311 1.516.189 977.298  188.628 29.528.178
Investment securities - available for sale 132.006 244.122  473.509 493715 890.505 578.937 2.812.794

- held to maturity 8.659 - 12208 - - - 20.867
Other assets 1.148.267 4749 12831 12491 394 3.792.801 4.971.533

Total assets (excl. assets held for sale) 23.171.438

3.895.668 14.958.678 6.008.801 3.750.194 5.909.578 57.694.357

Non
Uptol 1to3 3to 12 interest i
LIABILITIES month months  months  1to 5 yrs Over 5 yrs bearing Total
Due to banks 3.929.433 874376 215526  16.386 9.243  15.886 5.060.850
Due to customers 38.005.072 2.133.071 2.714.023 196.387 1.668 299.899 43.350.120
Debt securities in issue &
other borrowed funds 2.726  511.005 154.551 166.606 293.915 3.482 1.132.285
Other liabilities 713.088  24.751 3.594 264  4.956 3.561.079 4.307.732
Total liabilities (excl. liabilities held for
sale) 42.650.319 3.543.203 3.087.694 379.643 309.782 3.880.346 53.850.987
Total interest sensitivity gap (19.478.881)  352.46511.870.984 5.629.158 3.440.412 2.029.232 3.843.370
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_At 31 December 2004

i Non

1 Uptol 1t03 3to12 Over 5  interest

IASSETS month months  months  1to 5 yrs yrs bearing Total
Cash and balances with central banks 484.170 3.035 1.234 - 4.654 651.949 1.145.042
Treasury bills and other eligible bills 37.105  21.606  79.622 12.067 - - 150.400
Due from banks 6.186.867 1.831.144  444.062 819 184 124302 8.587.378

Financial assets at fair value through P&L 429.429 1.356.053 1.057.698 6.132.458 1.831.475 808.423 11.615.536
Loans and advances to customers (net) 4.609.32312.364.189 5.819.595 2.152.555 904.867 202.229 26.052.758
Investment securities - available for sale 8.419 477.579 103.617 463.817 1.079.979  249.530 2.382.941
Other assets 59.230 4.019 10.006 27.145 15553 4.437.369 4.553.322
Total assets (excl. assets held for sale) 11.814.54316.057.625 7.515.834 8.788.861 3.836.712 6.473.802 54.487.377

Non i

Uptot 1to3 3to 12 Over5  interest 1

JABILITIES month months  months [ to 5 yrs yTs$ bearing Total

Due to banks 4282209 509.475 1.088.893 328.206 66.462 138.496 6.413.741

Due to customers 32.585.063 2.822.630 1.651.819 205951 102.617 3.497.096 40.865.176

Debt securities in issue & 4.051 750.460 10.538 40.929 2.339 3.773  812.090
other borrowed funds

Other liabilities 397.497  239.400 55.093 188 1.388 2.212.631 2.906.197

Total liabilities (excl. liabilities held for 37.268.820 4.321.965 2.806.343 575.274 172.806 5.851.996 50.997.204
sale)

Total interest sensitivity gap (25.454.277)11.735.660 4.709.491 8.213.587 3.663.906

4.4 Liquidity risk

Liquidity risk is defined as the risk of a financial institution not to be able to meet its obligations as they become
due, because of lack of the required liquidity.

The Group’s principal sources of liquidity are its deposit base and, to a lesser extent, interbank borrowings. The
Bank operates a network of 567 branches in Greece, and its domestic customer deposit base accounts for 30% of
the Greek deposit market (savings and sight accounts) as of 31 December 2005. This provides the Bank with
sufficient euro and foreign currency liquidity to fund its operations and treasury positions. The Group also
derives liquidity from the results of its operations and disposals of securities and other assets. In recent years, the
Group has generally been in a position of excess liquidity due to its large domestic deposit base. Deposits have
funded the securities portfolio, loans to customers and reserve balances held at the central bank. Although the
Bank was required to deposit a high proportion of foreign currency with the central bank pursuant to reserve
requirements, the Group was able to fund foreign currency assets, including foreign currency loans to domestic
customers, through its foreign currency deposit base. The Group participates in the interbank deposit market
{denominated in euro and all major cwrrencies) and enters into foreign exchange forward transactions with
maturities up to a year. The net open positions carried are small and largely offset against the deposit base in the
respective currency.

Liquidity risk management seeks to ensure that, even under adverse conditions, the Group has access to the
funds necessary to cover customer needs, maturing liabilities and the capital requirements of the Group’s
operations. Liquidity risk arises in the general funding of the Group’s financing, trading and investment
activities and in the management of positions. This risk involves both the risk of unexpected increases in the cost
of funding the portfolio of assets at appropriate maturities and rates, and the risk of being unable to liquidate a
position in a timely manner on reasonable terms.
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The table below analyses the Group’s assets and liabilities into relevant maturity groupings according to the
remaining period at balance sheet date to the contractual maturity date.

At 31 December 2005

[ Uptol

i 1to3 3to 12
IASSETS month months months l1toSyrs  Over5yrs Total
Cash and balances with central banks 2.369.737 5.405 10.818 - 45327  2.431.287
Treasury bills and other eligible bills 46.344 7.231 79.859 40.072 3.517 177.023
Due from banks 1.743.051 992379  1.307.597 42.044 133 4.085.204
Financial assets at fair value through P&L 209.508 74.881 623703  4.449.347  8.310.032 13.667.471
Derivative financial instruments 50.547 7.002 31.596 39.971 179.914 309.030
Loans and advances to customers (net) 3.034.077 1.987.594 5292226 9.338.265 9.876.016 29.528.178
Investment securities - available for sale 91.216 63.268 94228 490.832  2.073.250 2.812.794

- held to maturity - - 20.867 - - 20.867
Other assets 1.454.724 467.905 34.349 67773 2.637.752 + 4.662.503
Total assets (excl. assets held for sale) 8.999.204  3.605.665 7.495.243 14.468.304 23.125.941 57.694.357
'LIABILITIES i
Due to banks 3.801.693 878.918 212.762 151.242 16235  5.060.850
Derivative financial instruments 29.749 9.940 31.082 51.660 180.267 302.698
Due to customers 37.887.643 2123956  2.696.792 639.733 1.996 43.350.120
Debt securities in issue &
Other borrowed funds - - 1.000 912.685 218.600 1.132.285
Other liabilities 640.572  1.367.014 599.563 2,671  1.395214  4.005.034
Total liabilities (excl. liabilities held for
sale) 42.359.657 4.379.828 3.541.199 1.757.991 1.812.312 53.850.987
Net liquidity gap (33.360.453)  (774.163)  3.954.044 12.710.313 21.313.629 3.843.370
At 31 December 2004

Uptol 1to3 3to 12 l
month months months 1to5yrs  OverS yrs Total

Total assets 11.512.76%  3.978.764  9.835.219 13.200.511 15.960.114 354.487.377
Total liabilities 40.661.120 2.998.840 3.465.868 2.343.084 1.528.292 50.997.204
Net liquidity gap (29.148.351) 979.924  6.369.351 10.857.427 14.431.822  3.490.173
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4.5 Foreign exchange risk

The Bank trades in all major currencies holding mainly short-term positions, which arise from and are used for
servicing its institutional, corporate, domestic and international clientele.

The Bank’s strategy is to hold minimal open foreign exchange risk but at a level sufficient to service its client
base. In this context, the non-euro denominated Eurobond positions are funded by customer and interbank
deposits in the respective currencies. The Bank’s open foreign exchange position is limited to the capital
contributed to the overseas operations (branches and subsidiaries) with the associated foreign exchange risk. In
addition, because non-euro denominated expenses are largely offset by non-euro denominated revenues, the
foreign exchange risk is low.

The Bank files standard foreign exchange position reports on a regular basis, which enables the Central Bank to
monitor its foreign exchange risk. VAR limits are set according to the guidelines of the Group’s Risk
Management Council and monitored by the Internal Audit Division. The Group’s exposure to foreign exchange
risk is as follows:

At 31 December 2005

ASSETS EURO USD  GBP _ JPY  CHF _ Other  Total |
Cash and balances with central banks 2.159.550 37.500  11.970 192 1.138  220.937 2.431.287
Treasury bills and other eligible bills 63.052 - - - - 108971  177.023
Due from banks (net) 3.171.050  561.194  147.909 5987 43728 155336 4.085.204
Financial assets at FV through P&L 13.500.084  124.921 - - - 42.46613.667.471
Derivative financial instruments 244.965 51417 487 4.325 2332 5.504  309.030
Loans and advances to customers (net)  26.828.367 1.018.796 127.003 16957 126.871 1.410.18429.528.178
Investment securities - available for sale 2.324.655 90.025 100.877  268.580 - 28657 2.812.79%4

- held to maturity 20.867 - - - - - 20.867
Investment property 121.590 165 - - - 4751  126.506
Investments in associates 248.900 - - - - 252 249.152
Goodwill & other intangible assets 47.171 2.246 246 - - 16.248 65.911
Property & equipment 1.717.674 10 82.429 - - 85600 1.885.713
Other assets, including insurance 1.798.303 111,601  334.950  34.515 608 55244 2.335.221

Total assets (excl. assets held for sale) 52.251.228 1.997.875 805.871 330.556 174.677 2.134.15057.694.357

LIABILITIES ]
Due to banks 4574888  281.503  49.503 8 7.124  147.824 5.060.850
Derivative financial instruments 177.266 68.702 1.777 53299 258 1.396  302.698
Due to customers 35.848.273 3.915.153 444368 370.113  45.762 2.726.451 43.350.120
Debt securities in issue &

Other borrowed funds 844.692 5.831 - 215983 30 65.749 1.132.285
Other liabilities including insurance 3.293.965  96.584 221467  51.807 2.469 131.017 3.797.309
Retirement benefit obligations 188.691 - - - - 19.034  207.725
Total liabilities (excl. liabilities held for

sale) 44.927.775 4.367.773  717.115  691.210  55.643 3.091.471 53.850.987
Net on balance sheet position 7.323.453 (2.369.898)  88.756 (360.654)  119.035 (957.322) 3.843.370

At 31 December 2004
| EURO USD GBP JPY CHF Other Total

Total assets 45.051.928 5.642.093 963.757 366.762 317.988 2.144.849 54487377
Total liabilities 40.262.698 6284387 908.505 563.398  80.284 2.897.932 50.997.204
Net on balance sheet position 4.789.230 (642.294) 55252 (196.636) 237.704 (753.083) 3.490.173
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4.6 Fair values of financial assets and liabilities

Management uses its best judgment in estimating the fair value of the Group’s unlisted financial instruments
(OTC), however, there are inherent weaknesses in any estimation technique. Due to a wide range of valuation
techniques and the degree of subjectivity used in making the estimates, comparisons between the Group’s
disclosures and those of other companies may not be meaningful.

31 December 2005

31 December 2004

—

| Carrying Carrying :
[Financial assets amount Fair value | amount Fair value

Cash and balances with central banks 2.431.287 2.431.287 1.145.042 1.145.042
Treasury bills and other eligible bills 177.023 177.023 150.400 150.435
Due from banks 4.085.204 4,063.244 8.587.378 8.587.551
Loans and advances to customers (net) 29.528.178 30.188.757 26.052.758 26.745.148
Investment securities - held to maturity 20.867 20.867 - -

Carrying & Carrying

[Financial liabilities amount Fair value amount Fair value

Due to banks 5.060.850 5.063.434 6.413.741 6.412.691
Due to customers 43.350.120  43.348.501 40.865.176 40.866.890
Debt securities in issue 175.297 177.363 63.448 64.100
Other borrowed funds 956.988 972.898 748.642 748.642
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4.7 Capital adequacy and Credit ratings

The Bank is subject to various regulatory capital requirements administered by the central bank. Quantitative
measures established by regulation to ensure capital adequacy require the Bank to maintain minimum amounts
and ratios determined on a risk-weighted basis, capital (as defined) to assets, certain off-balance sheet items, and
the notional credit equivalent arising from the total capital requirements against market risk, of at least §8%. At
least half of the required capital must consist of *“Tier I’’ capital (as defined), and the rest of ““Tier II’” capital
(as defined). The framework applicable to Greek banks conforms to European Union requirements, in particular
the Own Funds, the Solvency Ratio and the Capital Adequacy Directives. However, under the relevant European
legislation, supervisory authorities of the member-states have some discretion in determining whether to include
particular instruments as capital guidelines and to assign different weights, within a prescribed range, to various
categories of assets.

Capital adequacy (amounts in € million)

Capital: 31.12.2005
Upper Tier L capital.........oooiii e e 2.844
Lower Tier [ capital....... oo e 1.083
DIEAUCHIONS ...ttt ettt (72)
Tier I capital 3.855
Upper Tier IT capital ... e (49)
Lower Tier IT CAPITAL ....o.viiiiiiiiieiii ettt 965
DEAUCTIONS. . ..v.o i et e ettt e et e (14)
Total capital ... e 4.757,

IRisk weighted assets:
On Balance sheet (investment Book) ..o 27.864
Off Balance sheet (investment BOOK) ................cocoiii e, 2.083
Trading POITFOTIO .....ciiii i 1.360
Total risk weighted assets ..................oc i 31.307
IRatios:
0T et e e 8,85%
EEr Lo, 12,31%
Total BIS . 15,19%

As at 31 December 2005, in accordance with IFRS and the rules of Bank of Greece (BoG) the capital base of the
NBG Group was €4.757 million. Therefore the capital base surplus, over the 8% of risk-weighted assets required
by the BoG rules was €2.252 million.

Credit Ratings

The table below sets forth the credit ratings that have been assigned to the Bank by Moody’s Investors Service
Limited (referred to below as ‘“Moody’s’"), Standard and Poor’s Rating Services (referred to below as ‘Standard
and Poor’s’”), Fitch Ratings Ltd. (referred to below as *‘Fitch’’) and Capital Intelligence Ltd. (referred below as
(Capital Intelligence). All credit ratings have been recently affirmed and/or upgraded.

Financial Outlock
Rating Agency Long term Short term strength/

individual
IMOOAY™S. ..ot A2 P-1 C Stable
Standard & Poor’s..............cc.coooviiiiiiii BBB-+ A-2 - Positive
FIECh. . A- F2 B/C Stable
Capital Intelligence. ... A Al A Stable
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NOTE 5: Segment reporting
NBG Group manages its business through the following business segments:

e  Retail banking
Retail banking includes all individuals (retail banking customers) of the Bank, professionals, small-medium
and small sized companies (companies with annual turnover of up to 2,5 million euros). The Group,
through its extended network of branches, offers to its retail customers a number of types of deposit and
investment products as well as a wide range of traditional services and products.

e Corporate & Investment banking
Corporate & Investment banking includes lending to all large and medium-sized companies, shipping
finance and investment banking activities. The Group offers its corporate customers a wide range of
products and services, including financial and investment advisory services, deposit accounts, loans
(denominated in both euro and foreign currency), foreign exchange and trade service activities.

¢ Global Markets and Asset management
Global Markets and Asset management includes all treasury activities, private banking, asset management
(mutual funds and closed end funds), custody services and brokerage.

e Insurance
The Group offers a wide range of insurance products through its subsidiary company, Ethniki Hellenic
General Insurance Company.

e International
The Group’s international banking activities include a wide range of traditional commercial banking
services, such as extensions of commercial and retail credit, trade financing, foreign exchange and taking of
deposits. In addition, the Group offers shipping finance, investment banking and brokerage services
through certain of its foreign branches and subsidiaries. Included in this segment are the assets and
liabilities classified as held for sale of Atlantic Bank and NBG Canada.

e  Other
Includes proprietary real estate management, hotel and warehousing business as well as unallocated income
and expense of the Group (interest expense of subordinate debt, loans to NBG personnel etc)

NBG Group is also diversified and organised on a worldwide basis into the following geographical regions:
SE Europe (includes Bulgaria, FYROM, Romania, Serbia-Montenegro and Albania), European Union (includes
UK, Netherlands, Luxembourg and Cyprus), Africa (includes Egypt and S. Africa) and North America (includes
United States and Canada as discontinued operations). Segment income and expenses include transfers between
business segments and transfers between geographical regions. Such transfers are conducted at arm’s length.
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Breakdown by business segment

Corporate & Global markets

Retail  Investment & Asset Inter-

Banking  Banking Management Insurance national  Other Group
At 31 December 2005 7
Continuing Operations
Net interest income ....................... 1.138.543 211.057 169.991 25471  176.790 (126.092)  1.595.760
Net fee & commission income......... 190.790 64.483 96.058 4330 65499  3.891  425.051
Other ...ooviiiiie 54.614  (23.693) 161.108 150.505  33.834  94.667 471.035
Total operating income................ 1.383.947 251.847 427.157 180306 276.123 (27.534) 2.491.846
Direct COStS.........oooiiiii (566.052) (45.812) (57.155) (138.153) (186.341) (59.960) (1.053.473)
Allocated costs & provisions........... (402.711)  (56.839) (19.885) - (44.401) (15.148) (538.984)
Share of profit of associates 43.700 43.700
Profit before tax ......................... 415.184 149.196 350.117  42.153  45.381 (58.942) 943.089
Taxes ...c.oooooiviiiiiiin (134.613)  (49.415) (74.326) (16.329) (998) 54.524 (221.157)
Profit for the period from
continuing operations................... 280.571 99.781 275.791 25.824 44.383 (4.418) 721.932
Discontinued operations
Profit for the period from
discontinued operations.................. - - - - 25.020 - 29.020
Profit for the period................... 280.571 99.781 275.791 25.824 73403  (4.418) 750.952
Minority interest .............ccovveneeen - - (14.273)  (5.598) (4.578) 859 (23.590)
Profit attributable to NBG
shareholders................................ 280.571 99.781 261.518 20.226 68.825  (3.559) 727.362
Segment assets............. e 19.172.829  9.970.533 19.241.066 2.062.391 7.039.749 2.939.992  60.426.560
Segment liabilities ... 37.973.657  634.115 6.958.987 1.611.671 6.381.251 2.550.471 _56.110.152
Other Segment items
Depreciation, amortisation &
impairment charges........................ 29.843 1.162 4.158 9368 35287 34.733 114.551
Provision for loans impairment & :
advances...........coeiiiieeniiii 164.262 22.095 - - 34.674 5.228 226.259
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Breakdown by business segment

7C61:p707rate & Gllol‘azillﬂmarkets

Retail  Investment & Asset Inter-

Banking Banking Management Insurance national  Other Group
At 31 December 2004 - B
Continuing Operations
Net interest income ....................... 957.924  173.410 149819 20371 122.605 (90.333) 1.333.796
Net fee & commission income......... 192.092 54.149 89.598  (1.002)  59.370 (6.352) 387.855
Other ..., 66406  (22.795) 66.741 103.199  34.730 108.720 357.001
Total operating income ................ 1.216.422 204.764 306.158 122,568 216.705 12.035 2,078.652
Direct Costs ... (566.621)  (59.605) (71.375) (166.974) (139.477) (170.704) (1.174.756)
Allocated costs & provisions ........... (301.373)  (112.889) (19.584) - (53.439) (13.368)  (500.653)
Share of profit of associates 25154 25154
Profit before tax ....................... 348.428 32.270 215.200 (44.406)  23.789 (146.884) 428.397
Taxes ..o (123.907)  (11.779) (56.463)  (9.256) 787 35218  (165.400)
Profit for the period from
continuing operations................... 224.521 20.491 158.737  (53.662)  24.576 (111.666) 262.997
Discontinued operations
Profit for the period from
discontinued operations.................. - - - - 29.351 - 29.351
Profit for the period..................... 224.521 20.491 158.737 (53.662)  53.927 (111.666) 292.348
Minority interest...........c.c.eeevveereenn (22.600) 12982 (2.801) (353) (12.771)
Profit attributable to NBG
shareholders.............................. 224.521 20.491 136.137 (40.680)  51.126 (112.019) 279.577
Segment assets................con 16.626.346  9.515.531 17.919.127 1.653.473 6.198.405 2.574.495 54.487.377
Segment
liabilities......................... 33.076.776 387.189 9.033.946 1.482.997 7.077.781 (61.484) 50.997.205
Other Segment items
Depreciation, amortisation &
impairment charges........................ 36.205 2273 6.083 9.823 20.831 49.946 125.161
Provision for loans impairment &
AdVANCES......cvvviireiiii e 55.238 72.511 - - 44945 1.149 173.843

page 36 out of 77




Breakdown by location

At 31 December 2605
Continuing Operations
Net interest income ...................c.cceeennn.

Totalincome .......................................
Direct COStS ...iviiiii

Allocated provisions for loans impairment
and advances...........c....coiei i
Share of profits of associates

Profit Before Tax ................................

Profit for the period from continuing
operations............c....cccooviiii

Profit for the period from discontinued
OPETatioNS. ......oiiiiieriiiiieiee e

Profit for the period.............................
Minority interest .................covvvveeeeeennn,
Profit attributable to NBG shareholders

Assets by location.............o.o.ooeeeiinin.

Total assets...........oocooiiiiiiiiiiiiiiei

Other items

Capital expenditure..................ccccooeeennen,
Depreciation, amortisation &

impairment charges..................ccoooeeeieinne
Provision for loans impairment &
adVvances ........c.ccovviiiiiiii

Total N. America
European Continuing  Discontinued
Greece SE Europe Union Africa operations operations
1.424.711 153.726 12.293 5.030 1.595.760 91.275
341.325 54.254 26.289 3.183 425.051 11.206
(183.846) 25.000 630.129 (248) 471.035 10.905
1.582.190 232.980 668.711 7.965 . - 2.491.846 113.386
(645.936) (124.781)  (587.508) (7.973) (1.366.198) (70.112)
(189.355) (22.959) (13.865) (80) (226.259) 4.506
43.700 - - - 43.700 -
790.599 85.240 67.337 (87) 943.089 47.780
(189.681) (11.395) (19.909) (172) (221.157) (18.760)
600.918 73.845 47.428 (259) 721.932 -
- - - - 29.020
600.918 73.845 47.428 (259) 750.952
(10.926) (4.577) (8.087) (23.590)
589.992 69.268 39.341 (259) 727.362
46,192.919 3.124.597 8.224.320 152.521 57.694.357 2.732.203
60.426.560
105.453 16.976 66 805 123.300 2.106
96.910 17.102 91 448 114.551 7.576
190.725 36.525 (1.07D) 80 226.259 (4.506)

page 37 out of 77




Breakdown by location

Total N. America

European Continuing  Discontinued
Greece SE Europe Union Africa operations operations
At 31 December 2004 = S )
Continuing Operations
Net interest income ..............ccovvveevnnnenn. 1.174.435 109.278 45.984 4.099 1.333.796 91.498
Net fee & commission income................. 319.473 44.142 21.288 2.952 387.855 16.834
Other ..o _(108.077) 32.133 432.434 511 357.001 6.351
Totalincome ... 1.385.831 185.553 499.706 7.562 2.078.652 114.683
Direct Costs ......coiviiiiiiniini (911.674) (110.347)  (471.106) (8.439) (1.501.566) (67.806)
Allocated provisions for loans impairment
and advances.................cc e _(133.588) (24.355) (15.656) (244) (173.843) 1.393
Share of profits of associates 25.154 25.154
Profit Before Tax ............................ 365.723 50.851 12.944 (1.120) 428.397 48.270
TAXES ..ooerecerii e (151.777) (10.230) (3.393) (165.400) (18.919)
Profit for the period from continuing
OPerations...................ccccciiiiiinenn e 213.946 40.621 9.551 (1.120) 262.997
Profit for the period from discontinued
OPCTATIONS. ...ceveiiiiiiiicerceeeaae e e - - - - 29.351
Profit for the period............................. 213.946 40.621 9.551 (1.120) 292.348
Minority interest .........coceoiveieineiennin (6.201) (2.805) (3.765) (12.771)
Profit attributable to NBG shareholders 207.745 37.816 5.786 (1.120) 279.577
Assets by location................oo 41.997.928 2.350.926 7.358.603 114.338 51.821.795  2.665.582
Total assets 54.487.377
Other items
Capital expenditure...............c..coeiennnn 146.430 11.811 36 420 158.697 8.101
Depreciation, amortisation &
impairment charges........................ 106.898 17.112 102 1.049 125.161 8.093
Provision for loans impairment &
AAVANCES.....ccvveviniiiiniiie e 134.223 38.860 516 244 173.843 1.393
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NOTE 6: Net interest income 31.12.2005 31.12.2004
Interest earned on:
Amounts due from banks ... 309.920 282.927
SECUIILIES ... eeieie et et e 380.915 490.325
Loans and advances to CUSTOIMETS ..........ccoooiiiiieitii e 1.726.288 1.304.194
Other interest Carning @SSELS ......oviiriiriiieiiti ittt 9.143 12.087
Interest and similar income ... 2.426.266 2.089.533
Interest payable on:
Amounts due to banks ... (257.546) (268.249)
Amounts due t0 CUSIOIMETS ........c.oviiiiiiiiiiiri ittt ee e e erinraee e (532.566) (450.139)
Debt Securities IN I8S1E. ...........iiiiiii e (3.113) (2.225)
Other borrowed funds ..., (27.311) (24.381)
Other interest paying Liabilities ...t (9.970) (10.743)
Interest expense and similar charges................................. (830.506) (755.737)
Net interest iNCOME. .....................ccoooiiiiiiii i e 1.595.760 1.333.796
NOTE 7: Net fee and commission income 31.12.2005 31.12.2004
Custody, brokerage & investment banking ................ccccoocoiiiiiiiiii e 66.535 50.216
Retail 1ending fEes ..........oooiiiiii e 105.885 87.679
Corporate 1ending f8eS ...t 76.147 65.541
Banking fees & similar charges ............c.coociiiiiiiiiio e 137.248 142.288
Fund management fes ..o 39.236 42.131
TOLAL ..o s 425.051 387.855
NOTE 8: Net premia from insurance contracts 31.12.2005 31.12.2004
Written Premia net of reinSurance. ..o 542.178 519.888
Less: change in unearned premium IESEIVE. .. ........oivvierreriiiieieiiiiie oo (9.968) 29.677
Paid claims, net Of TEINSUIANCE. ... ....ocooiiiiiiiiieii it (286.030) (312.699)
Change in INSUTANCE TESETVES .......o.cuiiiieiaiiiiaitiiiisresieeaatiaseeriesennieassaeaaeesaeeaenen (95.923) (93.238)
INEt COMMIMISSIONS ..vveviiiieiit ettt ettt et e e et (64.238) (65.909)
Other (incl. valuation of unit-linked)......................ooooiiii e 14.362 11.373
Net premia from insurance contracts ..o, 100.381 89.092
NOTE 9: Dividend income 31.12.2005 31.12_2004“;
TTading SECUITLIES. ... .ooiiieiee e e 7.624 11.068
Available for sale SECUTTHES...............ooiiiiiiiii e, 6.136 5.968
Other PartiCIPatiONS. ... .......iiiiiiiiiiei et - 114
TOta] ..o e 13.760 17.150
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NOTE 10: Net trading income 31.12.2005 31.12.2004
Foreign eXChange ..............oooiiiiiiii e 42811 21.303
Interest rate MSIIUIMEIIES. . .....ooviviiiiiier e et e et e e e e et e e st e e e e eans (42.404) 29.572
EQUILY SECUITEIES. ......uiiiiiiiieeii ettt et 67.115 55.875
TOtAL ..o e 67.522 106.750
NOTE 11: Other operating income 31.12.2005 31.12.2004
Non-banking income:

Real estate gains & rentals ... 36.158 51.364

HOEl INCOME ...t e 24.303 25.038

Warehouse 8 ........oiiiiiii e 13.210 15.670
Total non-banking income ... 73.671 92.072
Private equity: Group share in investee entities and results from disposals............. 64.258 12.387
Other INCOIMIE. ..ottt 23.764 38.670
TOAL ..o et 161.693 143.129
NOTE 12: Personnel expenses 31.12.2005 31.12.2004
Wages and SALATIES .......c..veveieriorrioriecei e et 547.685 548.426
Social security costs & defined contribution plans...............ccccoocnii 225.208 220.028
Pension costs: defined benefit plans (Note 13).......c.occooiiiiiiiiiiiii 29.267 41.766
Other staff related benefits. ... 75.147 185.752
TOCAL ..ottt 877.307 995.972

The average number of employees employed by the Group during the year ended 31 December 2005
was 21.718 (2004: 21.415).

Other staff and related benefits include the cost of various voluntary retirement programs implemented by the
Group in 2005 and 2004,

Bonuses to employees are accrued for in the period the related service is provided. During 2005, bonuses of
€4.200 were paid to employees which should have been provided for in 2004. For this reason, “other staff related
benefits” of 2004 were restated to €185.752 from €181.552 as previously reported. Profit attributable to
shareholders and retained earnings of the Group for the year ended 31 December 2004 were restated accordingly.
EPS for the same year-end has also been restated to €0,83 from €0,84 as previously reported. In addition, certain
reclassifications were made to conform to the current presentation.

As previously

As restated reported
For the period 1 January to 31 December 2004
Personnel eXPenses. ........ooiviiiiiiii et 995.972 991.772*
Profit for the Period..............ociiiiii e 292.348 296.548
Profit attributable to NBG equity holders 279.577 . 283.777
As at 31 December 2004
Other Habilities.............ooi e 1.343.252 1.339.052*
Reserves and retained €arnings.............cccooeiiiiiiiiiiiic e 1.041.348 1.045.548

(*) Adjusted to reflect continuing operations only
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NOTE 13: Retirement benefit obligations

I. Defined Contribution Plans

National Bank of Greece Pension Plan

The Bank’s employees’ Pension Plan provides for defined contributions to be made by the Bank at a rate of
26,5% of the employee’s salary, for employees who joined any social security fund prior to 1.1.1993. The
‘corresponding rate for employees insured by any social security fund after that date is 13,33%. Employee
contributions are 11% of the employee’s salary, for employees insured by any social security fund prior to
1.1.1993. The corresponding rate for employees insured by any social security fund after that date is 6,67%.

National Bank of Greece Auxiliary Pension Plan

The Bank’s employees’ Auxiliary Pension Plan provides for defined contributions to be made by the Bank at a
rate of 9% of the employee’s salary. Employees contribute at a rate of 3,5% of their salary. Benefits paid are
determined by years of service with the Bank and the employee’s final pensionable pay.

Ethniki Hellenic General Insurance Company Benefit Plan

The Group’s insurance company contributes to a benefit plan (“T.A.P.E.”), which provides for a monthly
pension. The benefit structure, as relates to the pension, is similar to that provided under the Bank’s pension
plan. Accrued benefits are also paid on an earlier date in the event of death or disability.

Other Defined Contribution Pension Plans
The Group makes contributions to other foreign defined contribution pension plans.

Defined contribution health plans

Contributions by the Bank to the National Bank of Greece Health Plan (T.Y.P.E.T.) amount to 6,25% of
employees’ salaries. Employees’ contributions amount to 2,5% of their salaries. Additional contributions are
paid for insured members of the employees’ families and amount up to 2% for three or more protected members
(spouse that does not work and children), and are increased further in the event that the insured spouse is
employed or that members of the paternal family are also insured. Contributions of retired employees amount to
4% of their pensions and additional contributions equal to those paid by employees in service, are paid for other
insured members of their families. T.Y.P.E.T. offers health benefits to employees before and afier their
retirement, and to insured members of their families.

Ethniki Hellenic General Insurance Company Benefit Plan, in addition to pension benefits also offers health
benefits to employees and to insured members of their families.

The total contributions paid to defined contribution plans for 2005 and 2004 were €161,4 million and €160,9
million respectively.

I1. Plans that the Bank does not contribute to

National Bank of Greece Personnel Self-Insurance Plan

The Group does not pay contributions to the aforementioned plan. National Bank of Greece has granted a loan
to the plan, the outstanding balance of which as at 31 December 2005 was €68 million maturing in 2020 and
bearing interest at three-month Euribor and was fully collateralised

page 41 out of 77




II1. Defined Benefit Plans

The Bank and certain of its subsidiaries sponsor defined benefit plans for their employees. The plans vary in
their specific features, but most are contributory, final pay and accumulated years of service-based defined
benefit plans. The funding policies vary slightly but typically include employee and employer defined monthly

contributions. Some companies within the Group also provide termination indemnities.

Net periodic costs for these defined benefit plans include the following components which are recognised in the

income statement for the periods ended:

31.12.2005 31.12.2004
CUITENE SEIVICE COSE ..veviiiiiiiiitii ittt et e e e e e et e et e et ee e e 11.623 11.421
Interest cost 0N OBIIZALION ....oooiiiiiiiiiiii e 17.730 16.928
Expected return on plan 8SSetS..........coooiiiiiiiiiiiiiiieie e (7.521) (6.907)
Amortisation of unrecognised actuarial [0SSeS. ..........cc..ooviiiiviierieiiiiiie e 563 -
Amortisation of unrecognised prior SEIViCe COSt.......cc.oeviiiiiiiiiiniiiniie e, 53 -
Loss due to curtailment or settlement...............oooeeeiiiiiirciieee e 5.131 19.359
Other J0SSBS. ..o oot 1.688 965
Pension costs — defined benefit plans ... 29.267 41.766
The aggregated funding status recognised in the consolidated balance sheet is reconciled below:
31.12.2005 31.12.2004
Present value of funded obligations.................cooeiiiiiii 315.889 328.049
Fair value of plan assets ..o (141.170) (156.266)
174.719 171.783
Present value of unfunded obligations ... 56.220 72.088
Unrecognised actuarial l0SSes...........oiiiiiiiiiiiii (22.467) (20.624)
Unrecognised Prior SEIVICE COSL. ...oeiiiiiiriiiiiiitiitti ettt e (747) (800)
Net Liability in balance sheet .........................cii 207.725 222.447
Movement in net liability:
31.12.2005 31.12.2004
Net liability at the beginning of the period ............ccc.oocciiiiiiiiii 222.447 212.987
Less: Discontinued Operations...........cc.cooevvviiieiiieiiiiei e, (852) -
Actual contributions paid by the Group ..o (11.039) (17.341)
Benefits paid directly.........cooooo i, (32.370) (16.790)
Total expense recognised in the income statement...............oceeveivincinieerininn, 29.267 41.766
Discontinued OPerations..........cci..ioiiiiiiiie oo - 1.630
Foreign exchange rate changes ... 272 195
Net Liability in balance sheet ..., 207.725 222.447
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Reconciliation of defined benefit obligation:
31.12.2005 31.12.2004

Defined benefit obligation at the beginning of the period ....................ccce, 400.137 348.074

Less: Discontinued Operations............ccc..oooiiviiiniiiinie e (26.923) -
CUITENT SEIVICE COSE ...vviiviiiiiiti e et et i ettt ee et e e e 11.623 11.421

Discontinued Operations............co.oooviiiciieiiii e - - 1.961
Interest COSt 0N OBLIZAION. ......ooooiiii e 17.730 16.928

Discontinued Operations...........ccccocoicriiriiiiice it - 1.569
Employee CONtribUtioNS ..........ooocoiiiiiiii e 6.451 5.601
Benefits paid from the Fund..................cooooii (42.016) (30.312)
Benefits paid directly by the Group.........occoorviiiiniiriiie e, (20.964) (16.790)
BXPOISES. ..o, - (10)
Adjustments for disposals and other.................o.ooovoi 1.722 964
Termination / additional payments or expenses/ (Gains) ...................ocoeerniennn, (8.652) 19.359
Past service cost arising over the last period...............cccoociiiiii - 800
Actuarial [OSS ...t 32.705 41.989
Foreign exchange rate differences. ..o 296 (1.417)
Defined benefit obligation at end of period ... 372.109 400.137

Reconciliation of plan assets:
31.12.2005 31.12.2004

Market value at the beginning of the period ............c..ocooeiiiii 156.266 135.087

Less: Discontinued Operations. ..........co.oooivivieeoviiniiieise e (24.612) -
Expected return on plan @ssets.............ccooiviiiiiiiei e 7.521 6.907

Discontinued Operations.............o.coiviiiiiriii it - 2.096
Company CONLLIDULIONS ....c..ooiviiiiiiii e, 11.039 17.341
Employee CONtribULIONS .....c.c...oviiieiioiit et 6.451 5.601
Fund Benefits ... (42.016) (30.312)
B X P EIISES. .ot - (10)

Discontinued OPETAIONS..........uvitiiiiieiitieeii ittt et - 197)
ASSEE AN 7 (LOSS) .ooiiiiiiiii e 26.521 21.365
Foreign exchange rate differences.................ccocociinin i - (1.612)
Fair value of plan assets at end of period ... 141.170 156.266

The actual return on plan assets for the year ended 31 December 2005 was €34.043 (2004: €27.928).

The weighted average assumptions used to determine the net periodic pension costs for the years ended 31
December 2005 and 31 December 2004 are:

2005 2004
DHSCOUNT TALE ...ooiiiiiiiii it 4,4% 5,2%
Expected return on plan @sSets .............cocooeiiiiiiiiiiii e 6,6% 6,3%
Rate of compensation INCTEASE .............ccoeiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiieee e, 4,1% 4,1%
Pension INCTEASE ..o e e 2,2% 2,3%
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Post-retirement Defined Benefit Plans other than pensions

Atlantic Bank of New York and NBG Canada sponsored other post retirement benefit plans other than pensions,
which provided for health benefits. As both Atlantic Bank of New York and NBG Canada are classified as assets

held for sale, no group company sponsors other post retirement benefit plans.

The aggregated funding status for other post-retirement defined benefit plans recognised in the consolidated

balance sheet is reconciled below as follows:

31.12.2005 31.12.2004
Present value of unfunded obligations ..............ccccovciiii - 2.434
Unrecognised actuarial Sains ...........ovviviiiiiiiiiir e - 450
TOCAL oo - 2.884
Movement in net liability:
31.12.2005 31.12.2004
Net liability at the beginning of the period ... 2.884 2.896
Less: Discontinued operations.............cc.ooovvciiiieiiiie e (2.884) -
Benefits paid directly.. ..o - (60)
Total expense recognised in the income statement..............c.o.ooceeiiiiiiiiiniieeennnn - -
Discontinued OPerations............c.ccoeviiriiiiieiiiiiiii e - 215
Foreign exchange rate differences............cc..oocooiiiiiiniiiiiniiin s - (167)
Net Liability in balance sheet ....................oooi i - 2.884
Reconciliation of defined benefit obligation:
31.12.2005 31.12.2004
Defined benefit obligation at the beginning of the period ... 2.434 2.896
Less: Discontinued Operations............covouvieiriviiriieroiieieeiiiieraeeiiniiaee e, (2.434) -
CUITENE SEIVICE COSE ..0iviieiiiitit ettt ettt a s - -
Discontinued operations - 68
Interest cost 0N OBLIZATION. ........ooiiiviiiiii et - -
Discontinued OPErationS. . ... ...uvviriivireeiarie et eeceneena e nniicer e cereeraaere - 147
Benefits paid directly by the GIoup..........co.cooiiiiicii - (60)
ACtuarial 10SS .ooiiiiiiiii i e - (450)
Foreign exchange rate differences...................cccooiiii - (167)
Defined benefit obligation at end of period ...l - 2.434

The weighted average assumptions used to determine the net periodic pension costs for the years ended 31

December 2005 and 31 December 2004 were:

2005 2004

DISCOUNE TALE ..ottt ittt e, 5,8% 5.9%

Rate of compensation iNCTEASE ...........ooocviieriiiiiii et 1,4% 1,3%
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NOTE 14: General & administrative expenses 31.12.2005 31.12.2004
DULIES AN TAXES. ...ttt 35.961 34.369
Utilities and rentals............c..cooiiiiiiii e 146.071 140.019
Other admiNISIrative EXPEIISES. ... ..o oot iiiiei ettt et 152.500 155.577
TOtAl ..o 334.532 329.965
NOTE 15: Depreciation, amortisation and impairment charges 31.12.2005 31.12.2004
Investment property (INOE 27} ..ottt 3.158 2.811
Goodwill & other intangible assets (NOte 29)......ooooiiiiiiiici e 23.102 29.772
Property & equipment (Note 30)...........oocoviiiiiiiiiiii e 88.291 92.578
Otal 114.551 125.161
NOTE 16: Other operating expenses 31.12.2005 31.12.2004
Maintenance and other related eXpenses............ooooeviiviiiiiiniii e 9.859 5.283
Other provision Charges................ooioiiiie e e 2.088 6.185
OBT e e 27.861 39.000
TOLAL oo e, 39.808 50.468
NOTE 17: Impairment losses on loans and advances 31.12.2005 31.12.2004
Due from banks (INOTE 22)......cooiiiiieioe oo, 5 (38)
Loans and advances to customers (NOt€ 25)........ccoveirveiiiiiiiiieiee e, 226.254 173.881
TOUAL ..o 226.259 173.843
NOTE 18: Tax expense 31122005 31.12.2004
CUITENL EAX ..o e e e e 188.355 166.070
Deferred tax (INOte 31)...coviiiiiii e 32.802 (670)
TOCAL ..o e 221.157 165.400
Profitbefore tax ... e 943.089 428.397
Tax calculated based on the current tax rate of 32% (2004: 35%)......c.....coocenne. 301.788 149.939
Effect of tax rate reduction (5%) due to merger activity...................ccccoooiieiinin, (36.375) -
Effect of different tax rates in other COuUntries................cooooeevniieiioiinie e (5.863) (21.182)
Income not Subject to tAXAtION. ... ...ttt (97.842) (25.902)
Expenses not deductible for tax purposes. ...........ccocooiiiiiiiiiici e 43.306 58.040
Utilisation of previously unrecognised tax 10SSes.............cccoceeveiioiiiiiei e, (1.323) -
Tax differenCes......oooii i e 17.466 4.505
Income tax eXPemSe.......c.....ooiiiiiiiii e 221.157 165.400
Effective tax rate for the period............co.c.ooiii i 23% 39%

The domestic corporate tax rate for 2005 is 32% and for 2006 will be 27%. However, the Bank’s statutory tax
rate is reduced by 5% for 2005 and 2006 as a result of the merger with the National Investment Company.
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NOTE 19: Earnings per share 31.12.2005 31.12.2004

Net profit attributable to equity holders of the parent .........................c.c.ococoe. 727.362 279.577
Less: dividends paid to preferred Securities...............c..ccoooooovoviiioioeeereeoee, (45.999) (13.620)
Net profit attributable to NBG ordinary shareholders..............................cc...... 681.363 265.957
Weighted average number of ordinary shares outstanding.......................cccoeo.... 327.292.080  321.038.567
Earnings per share basic and diluted from continuing and

discontinued operations ... €2,08 €0,83

The weighted average number of ordinary shares outstanding has been adjusted with a number of 5.023.534 new
shares issued in relation to National Investment Company merger and a number of 2.670.367 shares to be issued
in relation to National Real Estate merger, from May 2005 and July 2005 respectively, according to the relevant
General Meeting of the Shareholders’ decisions. These new shares are also entitled to participate in the profit
distribution of 2005.

Eamings per share from continuing operations are €1,99 per share (2004: €0,74).

NOTE 20: Cash and balances with central banks 31.12.2005 31.12.2004
Cashin hand..........cooiiiii e 612.713 565.213
Balances with central banks.................coooii it 1.818.574 579.829
TOAL ..o e 2.431.287 1.145.042

The Bank is required to maintain a current account with the Bank of Greece to facilitate interbank transactions
with the central bank, its member banks, and other financial institutions through the Trans-European Automated
Real-Time Gross Settlement Express Transfer system (TARGET).

The central bank is the primary regulator of depository institutions in Greece. The central bank requires all banks
established in Greece to maintain deposits with the central bank equal to 2% of total customer deposits as these
are defined by the European Central Bank (“ECB”). From 1 January 2001 these deposits bear interest at the
refinancing rate as set by the ECB (2,25% at 31 December 2005).

NOTE 21: Treasury bills and other eligible bills 31.12.2005 31.12.2004
Treasury DILLS ..o 129.841 137.963
Other eligible BIllS ...ttt 47.182 12.437
TOLAl oo 177.023 150.400
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NOTE 22: Due from banks (net) 31122005 31.12.2004

Sight deposits wWith Banks ...............cooiiiiiiii e 284.906 210.596
Time deposits With BanKs ...............ccocoiiiiiiiiii e 1.133.082 4.513.044
Securities purchased under agreements to resell ...........ccccoeviiiiiii 2.495.733 3.822.832
Other .....coocoviiiiii e F PP PSR SRR OS 171.962 41.379

4.085.683 8.587.851
Less: Allowance for losses on amounts due from banks .................cocee i (479) (473)
TOTAL ..ot 4.085.204 8.587.378

Movement in allowance for losses on amounts due from banks:

Balance at 1 JANUATY ..ot e 473 511
Non-utilised provision of prior years ..........ccccociiiiiiiiiiiiii - (38)
Provision for impairment..............oooo ittt 5 -
Foreign exchange differences...............c.ococoiiiii 1 -
Balance at 31 December ... 479 473

:NOTE 23: Financial assets at fair value through P&L 31.12.2005 31.12.2004*

Assets at fair value through profitandloss..................................ooinn 5.104.757 -
Trading Securities

Government BONGS. ........coocooiiiiiiiii e 7.965.644 9.506.045
Other public sector DONdS ..........occoiiiiiii e 12.555 48.971
Other debt SECUTIHIES ......couviiiiiei e e 349.723 1.547.567
EQUIty SECUTTHIES ...t e, 233.613 233.353
Mutual funds UIILS ..........coooriiiiiii e e 1.179 279.600
TOtal .o 13.667.471 11.615.536

(*) Prior to adopting IAS 39, financial assets were accounted for and reported under local GAAP provisions. See note 52.

NOTE 24: Derivative financial instruments 31.12.2005
Contract/notional Fair values
amount Assets Liabilities
Derivatives held for trading:
Interest rate derivatives - OTC.........c.coccoiiiiiiniiiiici, 25.229.010 216.515 260.730
Foreign exchange derivatives..............c.c.ocooinniii 6.187.045 57.484 25.496
Other types of derivatives ... 233.613 2.817 4.657
Interest rate derivatives - Exchange traded ..................... 12.695.204 32.214 11.815
Total ... 44.344.872 309.030 302.698
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NOTE 25: Loans & advances tb customers (net)

31.12.2005 31.12.2004
MOTEZAZES .. oeieiiiie ettt ettt 11.820.277 9.194.202
CONSUMET 108118 ... e 3.238.495 2.639.241
Credit CATAS ..o e 1.535.989 1.445.433
Small Business 1ending .........ccccooieiiimiiiii e 2.040.700 1.694.700
Retail lending ... 18.635.461 14.973.576
Corporate 1endINg .........oviieiiiiiii i 11.978.675 12.155.322
TOTAL ... 30.614.136 27.128.898
Less: Allowance for impairment on loans & advances to customers....................... (1.085.958)  (1.076.140)
TOtA ..o e e 29.528.178 26.052.758
Movement in allowance for impairment on loans and advances:
Balance at 1 JANUATY ... 1.076.140 976.614
TAS 39 adjustMments ........oooiiiiiiiiieiie e 32.688 -
Balance at 1 January asrestated ..........................cccocii 1.108.828 976.614
Less: allowance from discontinued Operations............ccc....ovvveeriiviiinieee e (15.654) -
Increase / (decrease) from subsidiaries acquired / disposed............cccccvviniiinn 147 -
Provision for loans impairment — discontinued operations................cc.cccocrriinienns - (1.393)
Provision for loans impairment — continuing 0perations..............cc..oocceeerivrrerernin. 226.254 173.881
Loans WITtten Off ...t (247.119) (73.084)
AMOUNES TECOVETEA ....o.iiiiiiiiiii et 7.059 2.031
Foreign exchange differences ...............ccoo oo, 6.443 (1.909)
Balance at 31 December ...............cooooiiiiiiiii i 1.085.958 1.076.140
Loans and advances to customers include finance lease receivables:

31.12.2005 31.12.2004
Not later than 1 Year...........cooiiiiiii i e 216.750 117.779
Later than 1 year but not later than 5 years..............c.cco oo 362.925 233.307
Later than 5 Years. ... ...ocooiiiiii i 181.191 155.635

760.866 506.721
Unearned future finance income on finance leases...............c.....ooovvieevee e e (121.658) (59.745)
Net investment in finance leases............................i 639.208 446.976
The net investment in finance leases may be analysed as follows:
Not later than 1 Year. ..o e e 186.015 99.972
Later than 1 year but not later than 5 years..............cc.cccooiiiiiiiiii i 304.134 203.396
Later than 5 YEAIS. ... ..oooi it e 149.059 143.608
639.208 446.976
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NOTE 26: Investment securities

Available-for-sale investment securities:

Greek Government bonds ...t
Debt securities issued by other governments and public entities ..................
Corporate bonds incorporated in Greece ............coccooeiviiviiiiniiiii s e,
Corporate bonds incorporated outside GIeece ...........ccccoieviniiieiiin e,
Debt securities issued by Greek financial institutions ......................oocvee e
Debt securities issued by foreign financial institutions ...l
Mortgage backed SECUTIHIES ........c.ioies ciiiiiee i e
Other debt inStrumMents 1SSUES ...........cc.o. cooviiiieeee e et
Debt securities ...
EQUItY SECUTHIES .....vei it et
Mutual funds UNIS ........ooooriiiiii e
Provision for impairment ...
Total available-for-sale investment securities............................................

Held-to-maturity investment securities (at amortised cost):
Corporate bonds incorporated in Greece .............coocooveeiiiiiiiii i,
Total held-to-maturity investment securities ...

Total iInvestment SECUTTIeS. ..ot e

Net result from investment securities consists of:

Net gain on disposal of available-for-sale investments.....................o..ooe
Impairment charges on available-for-sale investments..............................
TOtal ...

The movement of investment securities may be summarised as follows:

Investment securities - available for sale

Balance at 1 January 2005...............oo i
- IAS 39 adjustments & reclassifications..............c.coocoeiiiiiiii
- Discontinued Operations.......................cocoiviooiocie oo
- Foreign exchange differences on monetary assets..................cccoee e,
- Additions within the period ...
- Disposals (sale and redemption) within the period .................c..oocviiinn
- Gains / (losses) from changes in fair value ...

Balance at 31 December 2005....................coooiiiiiii

Investment securities - held to maturity

Balance at 1 January 2005,
-Additions within the period ...
-Disposals (sale and redemption) within the period.......................
-Amortisation of premiums and diSCoOUNts...............cooceeiiniiiiiii

Balance at 31 December 2008, ... ..

20.867

31.12.2005 31.12.2004*
973.438 303.567
531.053 372.734
206.914 280.293
239.830 240.738

43.546 157.971
239.076 7.249

- 746.592

- 706
2.233.857  2.109.850
198.464 155.915
385.938 123.248
(5.465) (6.072)
2.812.794  2.382.941
20.867 -
20.867 -
2.833.661  2.382.941

31.12.2005 31.12.2004*

128.343 1.226

(664) (346)

127.679 880
2.382.941
2.050.732
(1.192.543)
19.682
3.982.553
(4.485.384)
54.813
2.812.794
41.734
(20.753)
(114)

(*) Prior to adopting IAS 39, investment securities were accounted for and reported under local GAAP provisions. See note 52.
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NOTE 27: Investment property

Cost Land ‘ Buildings Total
At1January 2004, 59.070 90.465 149.535
Foreign exchange differences............................... 12 (22) (10)
Transters.....c.coooiiiiiiiie i - 225 225
AddItIoNS........ooooiiii 402 62 464
Disposals and write offs...............c..ocoiiinn, (3.852) (4.496) (8.348)
At 31 December 2004.....................c..occoiiinn. 55.632 86.234 141.866

Accumulated depreciation & impairment

AtlJanuary 2004..........................cc - (16.641) (16.641)
Foreign exchange differences...............cccoccooeiiin - 4 4
Disposals and write offs...........ccooooiin - 1.324 1.324
Depreciation charge for the period......................... - (2.811) (2.811)
At 31 December 2004...............c.ccooviiiiies - (18.124) (18.124)
Net book amount at 31 December 2004..................... 55.632 68.110 123.742
Cost Land Buildings Total
Atl1 January 2005, 55.632 86.234 141.866
Foreign exchange differences..................c.cc.ooo 6 67 73
Acquisition of subsidiary.............cocoooininienn 3.408 1.853 5.261
Transters......cccoooeiiiiiee e, 212 1.477 1.689
AddItIONS. ... - 1.480 1.480
Disposals and write offs............co..coooiiiiii (402) (434) (856)
At 31 December 2005....................coooeeiiiiin, 58.856 90.657 149.513

Accumulated depreciation & impairment

At1 January 2005, - (18.124) (18.124)
Foreign exchange differences..............cc..ccccoivnnn - (12) (12)
Acquisition of subsidiary...............ccoeiiviieinnn, - (1.702) (1.762)
Transfers...........cooviviiii - (94) 94)
Disposals and write offs.................ocooviiin, - 83 83
Depreciation charge for the period........................ - (2.744) (2.744)
Impairment charge............ccccocociiiin i, : (414) (414)
At 31 December 2005..................i - (23.007) (23.007)
Net book amount at 31 December 2005..................... 58.856 67.650 126.506
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31.12.2004

NOTE 28: Investments in associates 31.12.2005

At 1 January: 219.671 199.786
AdItIONS. ..o 2.079 6.841
DiSpOSals/transfers........c....iiiiiite e (6.284) (1.871)
Share of results (After taX). ..o 43.700 25.154
DIVIdends. ... (10.014) (10.239)
At31 December................ooooii e 249.152 219.671

The Group’s associates are as follows:

Name of associate % of participation
31.12.2005
Social Securities Funds Management 40,00%
Phosphate Fertilizers Industry S.A 24.23%
Larco S.A. 36,43%
Siemens Industrial S.A 30,00%
Eviop Tempo S.A. 21,21%
Teiresias S.A 39,34%
Hellenic Countryside S.A. 20,23%
AGET Heracles Cement Co. S.A 26,00%
Pella S.A 20,89%
Planet S.A 31,72%
AGRIS S.A. 29,34%
Kariera S.A. 35,00%
Zymi S.A. 32,00%

The group’s investment in associates for the year ended 31 December 2005 was €249.152 (2004: €219.761)

while its share of associates’ profits, net of tax in 2005, was €43.700 (2004: €25.154).

During 2005 the Bank sold all of its holding in LYKOS PAPERLESS SOLUTIONS SA for the amount of €982
and also sold 271.123 shares of EVIOP TEMPO SA for the amount of €854 decreasing its participation to

21,21% from 28,28%.

The fair value of investment in AGET Heracles Cement Co S.A based on 31 December 2005 stock price was

€184,8 million (2004: 167,8 million)

All associates are incorporated in Greece.
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NOTE 29: Goodwill & other intangible assets

Cost Goodwill Software Other Total

At1 January 2004 2.468 183.804 27.321 213.593
Effect of IAS29.......ooiiiiiiiiiiie - 29 - 29
Acquisition of subsidiaries....................... 13.409 - - 13.409
Foreign exchange differences.................... - 237 (1.255) (1.018)
Transfers........c.cocviviiiiiniie - 4.382 (4.562) (180)
AddItions...........coovvvii - 12.358 3.165 15.523
Disposals.........ccoiiiviciiiie (219) (670) (2.862) (3.751)
At 31 December 2004............................... 15.658 200.140 21.807 237.605

Accumulated amortisation and impairment

At1 January2004......................... - (132.368) (2.833) (135.201)
Foreign exchange differences................ - (121) 274 153
Transfers..........cccccooeiiiiii - 166 (237) (71)
Disposals........cccvoiiiiiiiii - 670 2.725 3.395
Amortisation charge for the period:
- Continuing operations - (28.354) (1.418) 29.772)
- Discontinued operations - - (3.346) (3.346)
At 31 December 2004.............................. - (160.007) (4.835) (164.842)
Net book amount at 31 December 2004......... 15.658 40.133 16.972 72.763
Cost Goodwill Software Other Total
At 1 January 2005.............coooiiiiinin, 15.658 200.140 21.807 237.605
Discontinued operations........................... - (267) (16.003) (16.270)
Acquisition of subsidiaries...................... 8.790 11 - 8.801
Foreign exchange differences.................... 1 357 207 565
Transfers...........oooccviiiiniiiii (38) 1.029 (2.530) (1.539)
AdAItions.........cc.oooiiiiii e - 13.720 6.869 20.589
Disposals........c.oooeieiiiiiii e (26) (1.330) (29) (1.385)
At 31 December 2005.......................... 24.385 213.660 10.321 248.366
Accumulated amortisation and impairment
At1 January 2005............ocooooiiiiiiin - (160.007) (4.835) (164.842)
Discontinued operations.................cccc....... - . 134 2918 3.052
Foreign exchange differences................... - (214) 9 (205)
Transfers........ccooiiviii e, - 1.199 163 1.362
DisSposals........coeooieiiiieiiie e - 1.251 29 1.280
Amortisation charge for the period............ - (22.294) (808) (23.102)
At 31 December 2005............................ - (179.931) (2.524) (182.455)
Net book amount at 31 December 2005......... 24.385 33.729 7.797 | 65.911
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NOTE 30: Property & equipment

Vehicles & Leaschold Assets under

Cost Land Buildings equipment improvements construction Total
At 1 January 2004................ 1.030.384  860.009  519.112 58.051 57.538  2.525.094
Effect of [AS29..........ccooe - 295 130 - 5 430
Foreign exchange differences.. (98) (2.473) (831) (380) (138) (3.920)
Acquisition of subsidiaries...... - - 69.555 - - 69.555
Transfers............cccccooeinin, (108) 48.889 13.526 227 (55.544) 6.990
Additions..........ooooeiii 3 18.371 52.160 8.344 72.396 151.274
Disposals and write offs......... {(1.866) (7.273)  (14.240) (2.263) (7.318) (32.956)
At 31 December 2004........... 1.028.315 917.818  639.412 63.979 66.943  2.716.467
Accumulated depreciation and impairment
At 1 January 2004................ (16) (265.381) (365.909) (43.318) - (674.624)
Effect of IAS29..........coe - (72) (76) - - (148)
Foreign exchange differences.. - 436 735 372 - 1.543
Acquisition of subsidiaries..... - - 129 - - 129
Transfers............c.cc.covivnennn, - 230 (2.803) 145 - (2.428)
Disposals and write offs......... - 2.493 12.086 1.441 - 16.020
Charge for the period:
- Continuing operations - (26.118)  (61.949) (4.511) - (92.578)
- Discontinued operations - (978) (3.467) (300) - (4.745)
At 31 December 2004........... (16) (289.390) (421.254) (46.171) - (756.831)
Net book amount at 31.12.2004... 1.028.299  628.428  218.158 17.808 66.943  1.959.636
Cost
At 1 January 2005................ 1.028.315  917.818  639.412 63.979 66.943  2.716.467
Discontinued operations.......... (2.955) (39.113) (24.979) (6.112) (51) (73.210)
Foreign exchange differences. 289 1.558 788 368 53 3.056
Acquisition of subsidiaries...... - 67 20.404 - - 20471
Transfers.......c..ccooooviieiinns, (10.898) 16.036 6.651 3.083 (29.215) (14.343)
Additions............oc.oo oo, 3.619 25.843 34.287 5.019 33.943 102.711
Disposals and write offs......... (6.640) (15.852) (41.910) (559) - (64.961)
At 31 December 2005........... 1.011.730  906.357  634.653 65.778 71.673  2.690.191
Accumulated depreciation and impairment
At 1 January 2005............. (16) (289.390) (421.254) (46.171) - (756.831)
Discontinued operations......... - 7.551 17.929 5.315 - 30.795
Foreign exchange differences. - (108) (539) (151) - (798)
Acquisition of subsidiaries..... - (8) - - - t)]
Transfers..............cc..ooeniann - 151 (128) (1.371) - (1.348)
Disposals and write offs........ - 5.673 6.316 14 - 12.003
Charge for the period.......... - (26.956)  (56.250) (5.085) - (88.291)
At 31 December 2005............ (16) (303.087) (453.926) (47.449) - (804.478)
Net book amount at 31.12.2005... 1.011.714  603.270  180.727 18.329 71.673  1.885.713
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NOTE 31: Deferred tax assets & liabilities 31.12.2005 31.12.2004

Deferred tax assets:

Securities and deTiVAIVES ...........ccoooviiiiiiiieei e 108.092 -
Tangible and intangible aSSEtS ...........ooiiiiiirii e 12.404 19.389
Pension and other post retirement benefits ... 20.758 24.874
INSUTANCE FESEIVES......oiiiiviieiieiti et oo, 49.039 -
Other temporary differeniCes ..........ocviiiiiiiiii e 27.124 30.759
Deferred tax @sSets. ...........cooiiiiiiiiii i e 217.417 75.022
Deferred tax liabilities: 31.12.2005 31.12.2004
Securities and deriVatIVES ............ccccviiiiii i e 76.720 252
Tangible and Intangible assets ............cccoviiiiiiiii i 15.533 4.937
Other temporary JIffereNCeS .........cooiiiiiiiii e 10.106 5.728
Deferred tax liabilities. ............................cc e, 102.359 10.917
Deferred tax charge in the income statement; 31.12.2005 31.12.2004
Securities and derivatiVes .............c.coiiiiiii e, 1.851 15
Tangible and intangible aSSets ...........ccooiiiiii i (6.543) 8.372
Pension and other post retirement benefits ... (3.604) (8.056)
Other temporary differences .............o.cooiiiiiioiiiiic e (24.506) 339
Deferred tax charge in the income statement-continuing operations................ (32.802) 670
Deferred tax charge in the income statement-discontinued operations.................... (327) 1.346
Deferred tax through equity ... 84.082 (3.756)
Net deferred tax movement .................ccoe i 50.953 (1.740)
NOTE 32: Insurance related assets & receivables 31.12.2005 31.12.2004
Investments on behalf of policyholders who bear the investment risk

(Uit HNKEA).....oiiiiii e 320.396 251.506
Insurance business receivables...........cooiviiiieiiiiiiiiei e 182.272 172.446
Amounts receivable from TEINSUIETS. ............oooiiiiiiiiiiiiiir e 78.821 13.944
Reinsurance business receivables...........c..oooveiiiiiiiii e 1.314 1.318
Deferred acquisition costs (DAC) ........oviiiiiiii e 55.113 53.690
TOtal oo, 637.916 492.904
NOTE 33: Other assets 31.12.2005 31.12.2004
Accrued interest and COMMUISSIONS .........coocoviviiiiiiiiiir et ee e 591.806 577.867
Tax prepayments and other recoverable taxes ............c.ocvieiiiniiiiii e 163.491 200.215
Private equity: iNVESIEES SSELS ......cviov.vivieiieisiiiecieier et 112.661 98.099
Trade reCeIVADIES ....ccoivii it 88.923 38.523
Assets acquired through foreclosure proceedings ... 100.209 92.084
Prepaid BXPONSES . .o..uiiiiie i e s 27.508 13.881
ONET e e 395.290 588.915
Total OtRHer ASSEtS ... ... oottt e e 1.479.888 1.609.584
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NOTE 34: Assets and liabilities held for sale and discontinued operations

The Group’s North America segment is presented as held for sale following signing of respective agreements for
the sale of the two subsidiaries comprising this segment, namely Atlantic Bank of New York (ABNY) and NBG
Canada, to Community Bank of New York and Scotia Bank respectively. NBG Canada was sold in February

2006 while sale of ABNY is expected by the end of June 2006.

The results of the operations for the years ended 31 December 2005 and 31 December 2004 have been

reclassified under profit from discontinued operations and are summarised as follows:

Discontinued operations 31.12.2005 31.12.2004
NEt INETESt INCOIMIE. ... .ottt ettt ettt cens et 91.275 91.498
Net fee and cOMMISSION INCOIME. ... c.oivieiiiiriti ittt ettt ee e 11.206 16.834
Net trading iMCOME..........oooiiiiiii e 2.402 2.035
Other Operating INCOIME. ............oiiii it e e 8.504 4316
Personnel eXpenses................ooi e (40.065) (38.112)
General & administrative EXPENSES............cc..ioviiiiiiiiiierini e (22.396) (21.526)
Depreciation, amortisation and impairment charges...................cccccooo v, (7.576) (8.093)
Other OPerating EXPEIISES. ... ...c.oiiiiiiieiii ettt (76) (75)
Impairment losses on loans and advances...................ccooviiiiiiioi 4.506 1.393
Profit before tax..................ociiiiiii 47.780 48.270
TAX BXPEIISE. ......eeiieiiii ittt ettt (18.760) (18.919)
Profit for the period from discontinued operations.........................cccce 29.020 29.351

The proceeds from the disposal will exceed the net carrying amount of the relevant assets and liabilities and
accordingly, no impairment loss has been recognised upon classification of these operations as held for sale. The
classes of assets and liabilities comprising the disposal group classified as held for sale are as follows:

Assets classified as held for sale 31.12.2005
Cash and balances with central banks..................coocoiveir e, 40.990
Due from banks (NEt) .........ooiiiiiii oo 35.663
Loans and advances to customers (MEt) ............ooceiiiivrianiiiiiiaeo e, 1.444.732
INVeStment SECULTLIES ...........c..oiiiiii i 1.064.138
Goodwill & other intangible 8SSets..........ccoocviiiiiiiiiieeiiiie e 11.920
Property & eQUIPITIENt ...................coovvieieeeeeeeeeee oo seeee e es e, 42.733
Deferred taX @SSES. .. ..oo..iiii e e, 16.230
Other assets ................ e e e e 75.797
TOtAl ASSELS ......oooii 2.732.203

Liabilities classified as held for sale

DU to DANKS .....oovviiiiiit i 580.357
DUE 10 CUSTOMETS .ovvveeeeeieiiee e e 1.651.595
Deferred tax HabIlItIes. ..ot e 7.192
Other Habilities ..o e 20.021
Total Habilities ..................... i e, 2.259.165
Net assets of disposal group ... 473.038
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NOTE 35: Due to banks 31.12.2005 31.12.2004
Demand deposits due to credit inStitutions ............c.oooveiiiiieieiiie e 121.574 161.104
Time deposits due to credit INSHIUONS .....c.c..o.ooiieiivii e 170.220 807.569
Interbank deposits and amounts due to ECB..........c...o.oooii oo 2.142.931 726.733
Amounts due to Central Bank ...................o.cooiiiiiiii 21.154 6.204
Securities sold under agreements to repurchase .................oooeioieee 2.479.469 4.520.195
OMRET . e 125.502 191.936
Total due to bankKs ..., 5.060.850 6.413.741
NOTE 36: Due to customers 31.12.2005 31.12.2004
Deposits:
Individuals. .....oooii i e e 35.470.034 32.649.188
L0y o103 21 L U O U T ORI PRURURRRRRPIN 5.142.454 3.895.902
Government and @ZENCIES .............ccivvviiiiiierie e, 2.116.339 1.901.095
Total dePOSItS ....... ..o e e 42.728.828 38.446.185
Securities sold to customers under agreements to repurchase.............c..ccceooveee.. 247.348 2.161.675
Other dUE tO CUSLOMETS .....oiviiiiiiie et aeae e ras b 373.944 257.316
Amounts due t0 CUSTOIMETS........................ccceociiiiirieiee i 43.350.120  40.865.176
L)
NOTE 37: Debt securities in issue 7 Ir':;re“ 31122005 31122004
Mortgage DONAS.........oeiiiiiiii e 7% 20.295 20.451
Bonds ISSUE.......oooiiiiiiiii e 8% - 5.940
Corporate bonds — fixed rate..............c.coociiiiiiiii 3% 140.223 -
Corporate bonds- floating rate...............cc.c.oovviiiiiieiiiii 4% 2.999 -
O ReT. . 11.780 37.057
Total 175.297 63.448

In July 2004, United Bulgarian Bank (UBB) issued a 5 years fixed rate bond of BGN 40 million (31/12/2005:
€20,3 million) The bond carries interest at 7%, is traded in the Bulgarian Stock Exchange and is collateralised
with mortgage loans.

In July 2005, UBB issued a 3 years fixed rate bond of BGN 80 million (31/12/2005: €40,2 million). The bond
carries interest at 3,25% and is traded in the Bulgarian Stock Exchange.

In September 2005, UBB issued 3 years fixed rate notes of Principal Amount €100 million. The notes are traded
in London Stock Exchange and their interest coupon is 2,75%.

In September 2005, INTERLEASE AUTO EAD, a wholly owned subsidiary of INTERLEASE, issued 3
ordinary, floating interest bearing, secured corporate bonds of €1 miilion each. The maturity dates are: 1/9/20086,
1/9/2007 and 1/9/2008. The bonds carry interest at 6 months EURIBOR + 185bps and the first interest payment
is due on 1/3/2006. These bonds were initially subscribed by Raiffeisen Bank and are secondary traded in the
Bulgarian Stock Exchange.
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NOTE 38: Other borrowed funds 31.12.2005 31.12.2004

FiXed rate MOtES. ..ot 215.983 -
FLOAtINE TALE THOTES. ....ovvivtieioitie et et e et ettt e ettt e et e s 741.005 748.642
TOtaAL .. 956.988 748.642

In June 2002, NBG Finance plc, a wholly owned subsidiary of the Bank, issued € 750 million Subordinated
Callable Floating Rate Notes guaranteed on a subordinated basis by the Bank due in June 2012. The notes are
redeemable at the option of the Bank in or after June 2007. The notes carry interest at EURIBOR plus 80 bps to
June 2007 and EURIBOR plus 210 bps thereafter, which is paid quarterly. The subordinated loan is carried at
amortised cost. The commissions and other costs related to the issuance of those notes are amortised as interest
expense on a constant yield basis over the period from the placement to the first redemption option.

In June 2005, NBG Finance plc, a wholly owned subsidiary of the Bank, issued JPY30 billion Subordinated
Callable Floating Rate Notes guaranteed on a subordinated basis by the Bank due in June 2035. The notes may
be redeemed at the option of the Bank in or after June 2015. The notes carry fixed rate interest of 2,755% which
is payable semi-annually in arrears. The subordinated loan is carried at amortised cost.

The commissions and other costs related to the issuance of those notes are amortised as interest expense on
constant yield basis over the period from the placement to the first redemption option.

NOTE 39: Insurance related reserves & liabilities 31.12.2005 31.12.2004

Insurance reserves

Life
MathematiCal TESETVE. ........coiiiiiiii it 688.668 639.041
Outstanding claims FESEIVE . .........ooiuirriiriiiie it 33.943 29.694
OHRET . . 7.063 7.562
Property and Casualty
Uneamned Premia reSEIVE. ... .. vvi i ittt 146.800 122.049
Outstanding claims TESETVE...........ociiiiiiiiii e, 339.574 236.887
OBheT. .. 684 435
Insurance provisions for policies where the holders bear the investment risk
(Unit linked) 320.396 251.507
Total INSUTANce FeSEIVES.........o.ooiiiiiiiieiiiiie e 1.537.128 1.287.175
Other Insurance liabilities
Liabilities relating to deposit administration funds (DAF)..............cc.occci 141.393 -
Amounts payable to brokers, agents and sales partners...................c.ocooooo 37.980 28.552
Amounts payable t0 TEINSUIES . ...........ooiiiiiiiiiiiee et 16.772 10.703
Liabilities arising from reinsurance operations.................ccoccooeeiieoccrieincncnnee 976 267
Total insurance related reserves & liabilities ... 1.734.249 1.326.697

Liabilities relating to deposit administration funds (DAF) of €146,9million as at 31 December 2004 are included
in the Mathematical reserve.

As of 1 January 2005, with the adoption of IFRS 4 “Insurance Contracts”, the Group performs a liability
adequacy test at the end of each reporting period to assess the adequacy of its insurance liabilities, which are
estimated according to the provisions of local insurance law.

As at 1 January 2003, additional liabilities of €173 million for life business (hospitalization riders) and €53

million for property and casualty business (motor branch) increased the carrying amounts of insurance reserves
and were charged-off to equity. The after tax effect on Group retained earnings was €169,5 million.
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The process followed for the liability adequacy test performed as at 31 December 2005 and the results of this test
are set out below:

a. Life business
Life business was disaggregated into four main groups:
i. Individual traditional policies (whole life, endowment, pure endowment, term, with profit pension plans):

The test was based on an analysis of the sensitivity of liabilities to changes in mortality, interest rates and
expenses for the remaining term of insurance contracts. No additional liabilities resulted from the above process.

ii. Unit-linked contracts

Analysis considered both risks associated to basic parameters {mortality, interest rates) and risks associated to
guaranteed returns at the end of the contract terms. No additional liabilities resulted from the above process.

iii. Pension benefit programs which stem from Deposit Administration Funds (“DAF ")

The process followed was similar to that of individual traditional policies (the only difference being that
expenses were not a factor). The test produced a liability that exceeded reserves calculated according to local law
by €2.8 million, with a corresponding increase in insurance reserves. The net effect on profit for the year was
€2,1 million.

iv. Hospitalisation riders

The test was based on assumptions for future lapses, premiums increase, medical inflation and expenses
increase.

Conditions prevailing as at 1 January 2005, were not significantly different to those prevailing as at 31
December 20035, resulting in the additional liability of €173 million as at the beginning of the year remaining
unchanged as at the end of the year.

b. Property and Casualty business

As regards the motor branch, historical data was examined on a per claim basis for each accident year from 2000
up to and including 2005. Claims were split into three main categories: motor TPL — property damage, motor
TPL — human injury and motor own vehicle damage. Individual human injury claims exceeding €250 were
examined separately. Projections of paid claims, incurred claims and average incurred claims were performed for
each group, with expenses being taken into account.

The process took into account the increase in reserves for specific claim files, which resulted from revising
outstanding claims on a case per case basis, in accordance with local insurance law, during 2005. The outcome
was that a larger part of the total liability estimated with the liability adequacy test was covered by the reserves
estimated in accordance to local law, hence rendering the additional liability lower than the additional liability as
at 1 January 2005. Therefore, even though total reserves of property and casualty business increased during the
vear ended 2005, additional reserves resulting from the liability adequacy amounted to €20,4 million compared
to €53 million as at 1 January 2005.
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NOTE 40: Other liabilities

Accrued interest and COMMUISSIONS ...........ccooviiiiiiiiiiieioe e
Creditors and SUPPLIETS ..........oooiiiiiii e
Amounts due to GOVErnment ageNCIES ...........coooiiiiiriirireiaei e eeeesiereaee e e
Private equity: liabilities of investee entities ...............coccoovvieeeioioiieii e

Other provisions..........

Taxes payable - other than iNCOME tAXES .......ccooviviiiiiiiiiiie e

Current tax liabilities ..

The movement of other provisions may be summarised as follows:

Balance at 1 January

Acquisition of subsidiaries.............cccooiiiiiii
Foreign exchange differences..............ccoooiviiiiiii
Provisions charged to income statement during the year..............................ooe
Non-utilised provisions reversed ..............ccooviiieiiiiiiiiieic e
Provisions utilised during the year ...,

Balance 31 December

31.12.2004

31.12.2005
285.790 196.681
247.074 277.112
357.166 240.268
192.874 157.895
43.103 53.789
53.171 53.858
177.302 150.328
45.581 52.961
47.948 58.137
13.108 13.503
497.583 88.720
1.960.701  1.343.252
31.12.2005 31.12.2004
53.789 44.213
100 3.053
12 79
2.368 10.588
(1.388) (347)
(11.778) (3.797)
43.103 53.789
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NOTE 41: Contingent liabilities and commitments

a. Legal proceedings

The Group is a defendant in certain claims and legal actions arising in the ordinary course of business. In the
opinion of management, after consultation with legal counsel, the ultimate disposition of these matters is not
expected to have a material adverse effect on the consolidated financial position of the Group.

b. Pending Tax audits

The tax authorities have not yet audited all subsidiaries for certain financial years and accordingly their tax
obligations for those years may not be considered final. Additional taxes and penalties may be imposed as a
result of such tax audits; although the amount cannot be determined at present, it is not expected to have a
material effect on Group’s net assets. The Bank has been audited by the tax authorities up to 2004 inclusive.

¢. Capital Commitments

In the normal course of business, the Group enters into a number of contractual commitments on behalf of its
customers and is a party to financial instruments with off-balance sheet risk to meet the financing needs of its
customers. These contractual commitments consist of commitments to extend credit, commercial letters of credit
and standby letters of credit and guarantees. Commitments to extend credit are agreements to lend to a customer
as long as there is no violation of the conditions established in the contract. Commercial letters of credit ensure
payment by a bank to a third party for a customer’s foreign or domestic trade transactions, generally to finance a
commercial contract for the shipment of goods. Standby letters of credit and financial guarantees are conditional
commitments issued by the Group to guarantee the performance of a customer to a third party. All of these
arrangements are related to the normal lending activities of the Group. The Group’s exposure to credit loss in the
event of non-performance by the other party to the financial instrument for commitments to extend credit and
commercial and standby letters of credit is represented by the contractual notional amount of those instruments.
The Group uses the same credit policies in making commitments and conditional obligations as it does for on-
balance-sheet instruments.

31.12.2005 31.12.2004

Commitments to extend credits .........c...oovriiiiiiii e 11.101.650 9.309.410
Commercial letters of credit ..ot 152911 336.032
Standby letters of credit and financial guarantees written................cccoovviini, 2.731.634 1.944.340
TOUAL ...t 13.986.195 11.589.782
d. Assets pledged 31.12.2005 31.12.2004
Assets pledged as collaterals...........c.ioiiiorii i 1.585.916 1.340.309
e. Operating lease commitments 31.12.2005 31.12.2004
No later than 1 YEaT.............cooooiiiiiiiiiice e 23.398 23.639
Later than 1 year and no later than 5 years.............cocoveiiiniini 65.215 69.136
Later than 5 YEars......cooviiiiiiiiiit e 69.826 60.316

158.439 153.091
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NOTE 42: Share capital, share premium and treasury shares

Share capital No of shares €°000s
At1January 2004...........ooi 255.058.085 1.147.761
Capitalisation of fixed asset revaluation T€SEIVe............cccoeviiiiviiiiniceiein 76.517.426 344.329
At31 December 2004.................... e 331.575.511 1.492.090

Merger through absorption of subsidiaries:
Share capital authorised, issued and fully paid on merger with National

Investment COMPAIY ......oooiiiiiiei ittt 5.023.534 123.585
Share capital authorised and fully paid, to be issued upon completion of merger

with National Real EState ................occoociiiiiiinii e 2.670.367 80.672
At 31 December 2005................cooiiiii 339.269.412 1.696.347

The total number of authorised, issued and fully paid ordinary shares as at 31 December 2005 was 336.599.045
(2004: 331.575.511) with a nominal value of €4,80 per share. Upon completion of the merger with National Real
Estate, the Bank’s total number of shares will increase by 2.670.367 shares and the nominal value of the shares
will increase to €5 per share through the legal capitalisation of share premium and reserves, which was given
effect as of 31 July 2005, the effective date of the legal merger.

Share Premium 31.12.2005 31.12.2004
AL T JANUATY ..ot e et s 32.393 32.393
Merger through absorption of National Investment............c..ccocccoiiniiine 13.100 -
Merger through absorption of National Real Estate.................ccoeo i, (45.493) -
At 31 December ... - 32.393
Treasury Shares No of shares €°000s
At1January 2004, 10.693.878 348.790
Purchases of treasury Shares..................coooiiiiii 4.938.274 44475
Sales of treasury Shares .......ccc.ii i (6.230.254) (183.137)
At31December 2004, ...t 9.401.898 210.128
Purchases of treasury Shares................c.cooiiiiiiiiiiii i 1.543.523 32.933
Sales of treasury shares ... (10.251.461)  {220.381)
At 31 December 2005, ...t 693.960 22.680

The Bank has in place a programme to purchase up to 5.000.000 own shares, at a price of no less than €5,00 and
no more than €37,00 per share between | January and 15 May 2006. This purchase will be carried out by virtue
of BoD resolution of 29 December 2005, in implementation of the resolution of the Annual General Meeting of
Shareholders of 17 May 2005 regarding the purchase, by 15 May 2006, of own shares up to an amount equal to
5% of total stock, including stock owned by the Bank from time to time, in accordance with article 16, par. 5 of
Companies' Act 2190/1920. At 31 December 2005, the Bank and certain subsidiaries held 693.960 NBG shares
as part of their investment activity representing 0,20% of the issued share capital (2004: 9.401.898, representing
2,84% of the issued share capital).

Stock Option Program: On 22 June 2005, at a General Meeting of Sharcholders, a stock options program (the
Program) was approved for the executive members of the Board of Directors (BoD), management and staff of
the Group. The Program shall last for five years and expire in 2010. The Bank’s BoD may decide to grant the
options one-off or in parts at any time at its discretion. The maximum number of shares to issue under the
Program shall be 2,5 million. The strike price shall be within the range of € 4,50 to 70% of the average price
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thereof within the time period from 1 January of the year the options are granted until the date they are first
exercised. All other details of the Program shall be decided by the BoD at a later date.

NOTE 43: Reserves & Retained Earnings 31.12.2005 31.12.2004
SHATULOTY TESEIVE ... ettt ittt ettt ettt ettt ettt 252.594 207.770
Available for sale SECUIItIes TESEIVE ........oviiiiiiiiiiiciii e, 42.215 -
Currency translation differences reServe ............cccoivieiiiiiin e 17.803 (4.460)
Other reserves and retained €armings ............oooovervoimieriaiin e eeni e 1.137.551 838.038
Total reserves and retained earnings .......................ocii 1.450.163 1.041.348

Before paying dividends, the Bank, in accordance with its Articles of Association and Greek corporate law
(codified law 2190/20) must allocate between 5% & 20% of its net profits to the statutory reserve until this
reserve equals at least one-half of the Bank’s share capital. Tax exempt reserves of €928 million are included in
other reserves and retained earnings and represent profits made on the sale of shares, property, bonds and other
similar assets taxed at special rates such as interest earned on treasury bills and bonds. These reserves are fully
taxed upon distribution.

The movement in the available for sale securities reserve may be summarised as follows:

Avallabl o sl ecoriisrserve C Conmaig Dbt Tol
At 1 January 2005 - - -
TAS 39 adjuStMEntS. ......o.oeeiiiiiiie et 132.770 (8.140) 124.630
Net gains / (losses) from changes in fair value of AFS investments ........ 51.942 (9.549) 42.393
Net (gains) / losses transferred to income statement .................c.ccoeevn (125.472) - (125.472)
Impairment losses on AFS investments..............ccoceeioniviiiicicin, 664 664
At 31 December 2005, 59.904 (17.689) 42.215

The movement in the currency translation differences reserve may be summarised as follows:

Currency translation differencesj r}eﬁsérve ) ‘ 31.12.2005 31.12.2004
AL JANMUATY ..o e (4.460) -
Currency translation differences arising during the year......................cc 22.263 (4.460)
At 31 DeCeIDer . ......oooiiiiiiiiiii e 17.803 (4.460)
NOTE 44: Minority Interest 31.12.2005 31.12.2004
Balanceat 1 January ... 302.321 342.579
TAS 39 adjUSHMEIIES. .....oeiitiiiiii e (31.739) -
Balance at 1 January as restated.........................cci 270.582 342.579
AcQUISItIONS /AISPOSALS.......oiiiiiiiitit e 28.695 (31.012)
Merger through absorption of subsidiaries..............cccoeviiiiii (209.292) -
Share of net profit of subsidiaries.................cocoiiiiiiii 23.590 12.771
Dividends of PriOT YEAr. ........cooiiiiiiiiiiie it - (10.173)
Exchange differences...........c...oooiiii 144 -
OHRET. ...t (3.722) (11.844)
Balance 31 December ..., 109.997 302.321
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NOTE 45: Undated Tier I perpetual securities 31.12.2005 31.12.2004

Innovative preferred SECUTTHIES. ... ...c.iiiiiiiieiiie et 350.000 350.000
Non-innovative preferred seCUrities. .............ooooiiiiiieie e 732.581 482.149
Undated Tier I perpetual securities......................coiiniiic e, 1.082.581 832.149

Innovative preferred securities:

In July 2003, NBG Funding Ltd, a wholly owned subsidiary of the Bank, issued € 350 million Series A Floating
Rate Non — Cumulative Non Voting Preferred Securities guaranteed on a subordinated basis by the Bank. The
securities are perpetual and may be redeemed by NBG Funding, in whole but not in part in July 2013 or on any
dividend date falling thereafter subject to the consent of the Bank. The preferred dividend rate is the three-month
EURIBOR plus 175 bps until 11 July 2013 and EURIBOR plus 275 bps thereafter, which is paid quarterly.

Non- innovative preferred securities:

In November 2004, NBG Funding Ltd issued € 350 million Series B and USD 180 million Series C Constant
Maturity Swap (“CMS”) Linked Subordinate Callable Notes. The notes are perpetual and may be redeemed by
NBG Funding, in whole but not in part in November 2014 or any dividend date falling thereafter subject to the
consent of the Bank. The preferred dividend rate for series B is 6,25% the first year and then is determined as the
10 year EUR CMS mid swap rate plus 12,5bps reset every six months and capped at 8% paid semi-annually and
for series C is 6,75% the first year and then is determined as the 10 year USD CMS mid swap rate plus 12,5bps
reset every six months and capped at 8,5% paid semi-annually.

In February 2005, NBG Funding Ltd issued € 230 million Series D Constant Maturity Swap (“CMS”) Linked
Subordinate Callable Notes. The notes are perpetual and may be redeemed by NBG Funding, in whole but not in
part on 16 February 2015 or any dividend date falling thereafter subject to the consent of the Bank. The preferred
dividend rate for series D is 6% until 16 February 2010 and thereafter is determined as the difference of 10-year
EUR CMS mid swap rate minus the 2-year mid swap rate multiplied by four subject to a minimum rate of 3,25%
and capped at 10% paid annually.

The proceeds of the instruments issued by NBG Funding were lent to NBG Finance through Eurobond issues
and ultimately lent to the Bank under loan agreements with the same terms as each one of the instruments
referred to above but with a 30 year maturity.

NOTE 46: Dividend per share

On 17 May 2005, at the Annual General Meeting of the Shareholders of the Bank, the shareholders approved the
distribution of a cash dividend in the amount of €0,60 per share (2004: €0,65). The Board of Directors, following
the approval of these Financial Statements will propose to the Bank’s Annual General Meeting to be held on 12
April 2006, the distribution of a €1 dividend to ordinary shareholders.

NOTE 47: Cash and cash equivalents 31.12.2005 31.12.2004

For the purposes of the cash flow statement, cash and cash equivalent consist of the following balances with less
than three months maturity from the acquisition date.

Cash and balances with central banks ... 1.323.340 714.260
Treasury DillS ... e 28.066 -
DUe from DANKS .....ooeiiii e, 1.705.231 4.215.173
Investment SECUMTLIES ... e, 8.109 740
Total cash and cash equivalents ...................cccoooooi 3.064.746 4.930.173
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NOTE 48: Related —parfy transactions
The nature of the related party relationships for those related parties with whom the Group entered into
significant transactions or had significant balances outstanding at 31 December 2005 and 31 December 2004 are

presented below. Transactions were entered into with related parties during the course of business at market
rates.

a. Transactions with management

The Group entered into banking transactions with members of the Board of Directors and General Managers of
the Bank and members of management of other Group companies, in the normal course of business. The list of
the members of the Board of Directors is shown under Note 1 General Information. Loans, deposits and letters of
guarantee amounted to €1.510, €5.102 and €4 respectively. Total compensation including salaries and other
short-term benefits, post employment and other long-term benefits, termination benefits and share based
payments amounted to €14.489 (2004: €12.811).

b. Other related party transactions

Transactions between the Bank and its subsidiaries, which are related parties of the Bank have been eliminated
on consolidation and are not disclosed in this note. Details of transaction between the Group and associated
companies are disclosed below.

Transactions with associated companies 31.12.2005 31.12.2004
Assets. S A - B '

Loans and advances tO CUSTOIMIETS. ......... vttt ot e e 41.520 36.939
Liabilities

DU £ CUSTOIMIETS. ... oot e eee ettt ettt ettt ettt 35.839 45.660
Letters of GUAraNtee. ..........ooiiiiiiiii e 58.448 29.328

Income Statement
Interest and COMMISSION INCOIME ...\ ..iiiunniiiiiieiee et e ettt s e e ee et eae e 4.477 2.669
Interest and COMMISSION EXPENSE .....ecotvvviiiriieieiiiaeiieneitie et 5.120 3.497
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NOTE 49: Acquisitions, disposals and other capital transactions

1.

Acquisitions and disposals

National Investment Company, a 46,42% subsidiary of the Bank, increased its share capital on April 25
2005 by issuing 39.614.400 new shares. The Bank participated in the share capital increase of National
Investment Company and as a result increased its participation interest by 9,27%. During the first quarter
of 2005, the Bank also acquired 0,83% of the shares of National Investment Company, thus increased in
total its participation interest to 56,52% prior to merger through absorption.

During the year ended 31 December 2005, the Bank increased its participation interest in the share capital
of a) Banca Romaneasca S.A, b) Ethniki Hellenic General Insurance, ¢) Astir Palace Vouliagmenis S.A and
d) Ethnoplan S.A, by acquiring an additional 6,28%, 0,65%, 1,31%, and 3,00% respectively of the share
capital of the aforementioned companies. The total participation interest of the Group in these companies is
disclosed in note 50.

On 3 August 2005, the Bank covered in full the share capital increase of its subsidiary Astir
Alexandroupolis S.A for the amount of €1,04 million maintaining its 100% stake. Total consideration was
satisfied by cash.

Ethniki Ktimatikis Ekmetalefsis A.E, a 100% owned subsidiary of the Bank, is included in the consolidated
financial statements of the Group as from 31 March 2005. Prior that date, the company was under
liquidation and its name was Elliniki Viomichania Metallikon Epiplon EVME.

In September 2005, the Bank established NBG International Holdings BV in Netherlands as 100%
subsidiary which was included for the first time in the interim consolidated financial statements of the
Group as at 30 September 2005.

In October 2005, the Bank’s subsidiary Ethniki Hellenic General Insurance, signed an agreement for the
acquisition of the 100% of Alpha Insurance Romania and the 95% of the Alpha Insurance Brokerage, from
the Alpha Bank Group. The acquisition of Alpha Insurance Brokerage concluded within 2005 while that of
Alpha Insurance Romania in the first months of 2006.

The net assets acquired amount to €0,362 million and the consideration paid reached the amount of €2,45
million resulting in goodwill of €2,088 million.

In October 20035, the Bank announced the signing of the agreement for the sale of its subsidiary Atlantic
Bank of New York to New York Community Bancorp, Inc. the holding company for New York
Community Bank. The consideration to be received is USD 400 million payable in cash.

In November 2005, the Bank announced the signing of the agreement for the sale of its subsidiary National
Bank of Greece (Canada) to Scotiabank.

In November 2005, the Bank signed an agreement for the acquisition of a majority stake (70%) of the share
capital of the Romanian leasing company EURIAL Leasing. The acquisition was concluded on 29
December 2005. The acquired company did not contribute operating income to the Group for the period
from 1 January to 31 December 2005.

page 65 out of 77




The details of the fair value of the assets and liabilities acquired and goodwill arising are as follows:

o _,, . 31.12.2005
Cash and cash equivalents 4
Due from other banks 1.885
Loans and advances to customers 50915
Investment property 145
Intangible assets 10
Deferred tax assets 124
Other assets 601
Due to other banks (44.850)
Due to customers (237)
Other liabilities (6.103)
Deferred tax liabilities 67)
Total net assets 2.427
Group’s share on net identifiable assets (70%) 1.698
Goodwill 6.702
Total purchase consideration paid (discharged by cash) 8.400
Cost of acquisition 8.400
Less: Cash and cash equivalents in subsidiary acquired 4)
Cash outflow on acquisition 8.396

The goodwill is attributable to the high profitability of the acquired business and the significant growth expected

to arise in the Romanian leasing market.

2. Mergers through absorption

National Bank of Greece and National Investment Company
Following the announcement of the Boards of Directors of National Bank of Greece (the “Bank™) and National
Investment Company in June 2005 regarding the proposed merger through absorption of the latter by the former,
the Bank’s second repeat General Meeting of its Shareholders held on 3 November 2005 passed the following

resolutions:

a. The merger through absorption of National Investment Company S.A. by the Bank, and specifically

approved:

i the relevant Draft Merger Agreement (dated 2/6/2005),

ii.  the individual and, in view of the absorption, combined pro-forma transformation balance sheet

and income statement of the Bank as at 31/5/2005,

iil. Emporiki Bank’s valuation report as to the fairess and reasonableness of the share exchange

ratio,

iv.  PricewaterhouseCoopers chartered auditors’ reports certifying the book value of the Bank’s fixed
agsets as at the transformation date (31/5/2003),
\Z the fairness and reasonableness of the share exchange ratio (i.e. 12 shares of the absorbed

company to 1 share of the absorbing), and
vi. the Bank’s BoD report on the Draft Merger Agreement.

b. Cancellation, pursuant to Companies’ Act 2190/1920, of National Investment Company’s shares owned by

the absorbing Bank.

c. Increase in the share capital of the Bank by €123,6 million approximately in total through
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1. the issue of 5.023.534 new shares of nominal value of €4,80 to be distributed to the remaining
shareholders, other than the absorbing Bank, of the absorbed National Investment Company S.A.,
and

il.  an increase in the nominal value of the existing shares by equivalent capitalisation of the share
premium account from €4,50 to €4,30.

National Investment Company was struck form the register of Societe Anonymes on 13 December 2005 and
subsequently delisted on 28 December 2005.

Pursuant to the above and following completion of the merger, the Bank’s share capital amounted to
€1.615.675.416 divided into 336.599.045 common registered shares of a nominal value of €4,80 each.

3. Sale of own shares
In October 2005, National Bank of Greece ("NBG") and Ethniki Kefaleou announced the successful sale of
9.169.970 shares of NBG via an accelerated book build to international and domestic institutional investors via a

private placement. The final offering price was fixed at €32,90 per share. In addition, during the period
insignificant amounts of own shares were disposed by other subsidiaries.
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NOTE 50: Group éonsolidated companies

Name . Country ?f % Participation

incorporation 31.12.2005 31.12.2004
National Investment Company Greece - 46,42%
National Securities S.A Greece 100,00% 100,00%
Ethniki Kefalaiou S.A Greece 100,00% 100,00%
Diethniki Mutual Fund Management Greece 100,00% 100,00%
National Management & Organization Co Greece 100,00% 100,00%
Ethniki Leasing S.A Greece 100,00% 100,00%
National Mutual Fund Management Greece 100,00% 100,00%
NBG Venture Capital S.A Greece 100,00% 100,00%
National Development of Northern Greece S.A Greece - 65,00%
NBG Balkan Fund Ltd. Cyprus 100,00% 100,00%
NBG Greek Fund Ltd. Cyprus 100,00% 100,00%
ETEBA Emerging Markets Fund Ltd. Cyprus ) 100,00% 100,00%
ETEBA Estate Fund Ltd Cyprus 100,00% 100,00%
ETEBA Venture Capital Management Ltd Cyprus 100,00% 100,00%
NBG Bancassurance S.A. Greece 100,00% 100,00%
Atlantic Bank of N.Y. U.S.A. 100,00% 100,00%
NBG Canada Canada 100,00% 100,00%
S.AB.A. : S. Africa 99,50% 99.47%
NBG Cyprus Ltd Cyprus 100,00% 100,00%
National Securities Co (Cyprus Ltd) Cyprus 100,00% 100,00%
NBG Management Services Ltd. Cyprus 100,00% 100,00%
Stopanska Banka A.D. FYROM 71,20% 71,20%
United Bulgarian Bank (UBB) Bulgaria 99,91% 99,91%
NBG International Ltd United Kingdom 100,00% 100,00%
NBGI Inc. (NY) US.A. 100,00% 100,00%
NBG Private Equity Ltd. United Kingdom 100,00% 100,00%
NBG Finance plc United Kingdom 100,00% 100,00%
Interlease A.D. (Sofia) Bulgaria 87,50% 87,50%
ETEBA Bulgaria A.D. Bulgaria 100,00% 100,00%
ETEBA Romania S.A Romania ) 100,00% 100,00%
ETEBA Advisory SRL Romania 100,00% 100,00%
NBGI Jersey Limited United Kingdom - 100,00%
NBG Luxembourg Holding S.A. Luxembourg 100,00% 100,00%
NBG Lux Finance Holding S.A. Luxembourg 100,00% 100,00%
National Real Estate Greece - 79,60%
Innovative Ventures S.A (I-Ven) Greece 100,00% 100,00%
NBG Funding Ltd United Kingdom 100,00% 100,00%
Banca Romaneasca S.A Romania 97,14% 90,87%
Ethniki Hellenic General Insurance Greece 76,65% 76,00%
ASTIR Palace Vouliagmenis S.A Greece 78,06% 76,75%
ASTIR Alexandroupolis S.A Greece 100,00% 100,00%
Grand Hotel Summer Palace S.A Greece 100,00% 100,00%
NBG Training Center S.A Greece 100,00% 100,00%
Ethnodata S.A. Greece 100,00% 100,00%
KADMOZ S.A. Greece 100,00% 100,00%
DIONYSOS S.A Greece 99,91% 79,52%
EKTENEPOL Construction Company Greece 100,00% 79,606/;
Mortgage, Touristic PROTYPOS S.A Greece 100,00% 79,60%

page 68 out of 77




TNOTEV 50: Group consolidated cbiﬁpanies (continued...)

Name _ Country ?f % Participation

incorporation 31.12.2005 31.12.2004
Hellenic Touristic Constructions Greece 77,76% 61,90%
Ethnoplan S.A Greece 100,00% 97,00%
Ethniki Ktimatikis Ekmetalefsis A.E Greece 100,00% -
NBG I Private Equity Funds United Kingdom 100,00% 100,00%
NBG International Holdings BV Netherlands 100,00% -
Eurial Leasing SRL Romania 70,00% -
Ethniki Insurance (Cyprus) Ltd Cyprus 79,19% 78,64%
Ethniki General Insurance (Cyprus) Ltd Cyprus 79,19% 78,64%
Icr;:;l;;tnacgi(einsurance Hellenic-Romanian Company Romania 7149% 63.48%
Audatex Hellas SA Greece 53,65% 53.21%
Alpha Insurance Brokerage SA Greece 72,82% -
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NOTE 51: Post balance sheet events '

1. Mergers through absorption

National Bank of Greece and National Real Estate

The Boards of Directors of the Bank and National Real Estate, further to their decisions (dated 29/7/2005)
regarding the merger of the two companies through absorption of the latter by the Bank, proposed to the General
Meetings of their Shareholders the following share exchange ratio: 2 shares of the absorbing National Bank for
15 shares of the absorbed National Real Estate. Approval by regulatory authorities to initiate the merger
procedures was obtained in October 2005 (Greek Government Gazette issue 11146/21.10.2005).
PricewaterhouseCoopers and KPMG were engaged as auditors to certify the book value of National Bank of
Greece's and National Real Estate's assets respectively, as at the transformation balance sheet date (31/7/2005)
and opine on the fairness of the share swap ratio. PricewaterhouseCoopers and KPMG issued their faimess
opinion on the share swap ratio.

On 3 February 2006, the second repeat General Meeting of the Bank’s Shareholders approved the above merger
under the terms proposed by the Board of Directors and the merger is considered to have been consummated on
that date, with the effect from 31 July 2005, the date of transformation balance sheet in accordance with
prevailing Greek law. Accordingly the assets and liabilities of National Real Estate have been incorporated in the
financial statements of the Bank for the year ended 31 December 2005.

On completion of the merger and cancellation of National Real Estate shares owned by National Bank, the
Bank’s total number of shares will increase by 2.670.367 shares which, added to existing shares (i.e.
336.599.045), will raise the total number of the Bank’s shares to 339.269.412.

2. Acquisitions & Disposals

1. In January 2006, following its Board of Directors decision on 20 December 2005, the Bank participated
in the share capital increase of its subsidiary Banca Romaneasca for 109.802.021 out of 126.000.000 new
shares amounting to RON 219,6 million (equivalent €63m), with the option to cover in full the share
capital increase up to the amount of RON 252 million (equivalent €70 million).

2. In January 2006, the Bank concluded the sale of its subsidiary ASTIR Alexandroupolis. The total
consideration received was €6,53 million.

3. In February 2006, the Bank announced the conclusion of the agreement for the sale of its subsidiary
National Bank of Greece (Canada) to Scotiabank. The total consideration received was CAD 71,3 million
(equivalent €52 million).

4. On 15 February 2006, National Insurance completed the acquisition of 100% of the share capital of Alpha
Insurance Romania for a consideration of €2,7 million. The acquisition was funded by the company’s
own capital.

5. On 22 February 2006, Group companies National Insurance and United Bulgarian Bank, agreed with
American International Group Inc (“AIG”) to jointly establish a Life insurance Company and a Property
and Casualty insurance company in Bulgaria. National Insurance and United Bulgarian Bank will each
hold 30% of the share capital of the two new companies, with the remaining 40% to be held by American
Life Insurance Company (“ALICO”) and AIG Central Europe & CIS Insurance Holdings Corporation,
which will also exercise the management of the new companies. The authorized share capital was set for
the Life insurance company to BGN 6 million (equivalent €3,1 million), and for the Property and
Casualty insurance company to BGN 5,4 million (equivalent €2,8 million).
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NOTE 52: Effects from transition to IFRS

Reconcﬂlatlon of Eqmty Greek GAAP to IFRS
€000s 31122004 31.12.2003
Total shareholders’ equity, as previously reported under Greek GAAP ............... 2.522.088 2.431.217
Transition adjustments due to adoption of IFRS:
Defined benefit plans: recognition of unfunded deficits I (180.810) (163.843)
Loans fees deferral (effective interest rat€) ..............ccoeiivieeininiiennnn, BUTOOTO ¢ (39.413) (23.748)
Re-measurement of fixed assets and intangibles ..............cccoovvierieeireinienne e 1 (29.885) (3.089)
SECUrities TEVAIUATION ...........eeieiiieiiiier ittt et et ee e ene e X (31.160) (83.234)
Recognition of tax related ProviSions ............cccooeiivieiiie st e e XII (15.832) (32.056)
Leasing - Government grants: re-measurement of B/S item ...............c..oocoev e, VI (9.363) (9.564)
VII (13.094) (7.155)
IX 215.041 198.784
23.942 7.862
Total adjustments ........................... [T (80.574) (116.043)
Recognition of minority interest on sub51d1ar1es not consolidated X1 )
UNAEr GIeek GAAP............ooviiiiioi et 216.510 182.791
Hybrid SECUITHES ...ooiviiii e VIII 832.149 350.000
Total shareholders' equity, per IFRS ... 3.490.173 2.847.965
Reconciliation of consolidated income statement under Greek GAAP and IFRS
for the year ended 31.12.2004 - e S
eos T e " sLa2200
Net profit reported under Greek GAAP ... .................... Grreeeeeeens 409.199
Adjustments due to adoption of IFRS:
Defined benefit plans: recognition of unfunded deficits I (16.967)
Loans fees deferral (effective interest rate) ...........ccooeeiviieiiiiinrieeiiiiie e eei e, i (15.665)
Re-measurement/ de-recognition of intangibles ..............c..uviiviiriiiiiiiiiniiniieaesrerecereeeeen 111 (11.528)
Re-measurement of tangible @SSETS. ... .covveiiiiieiiet e eeetiaiee e et e e e eeaa mn 22213
Charge off compound interest on loans and similar provisions. ..............coc.o.oveeiieeiiriniennns Vi (19.903)
Gains on disposal of treasury Shares.............cccooiiiiiiii i XIIT (65.040)
Effect from consolidation on new entities under IFRS ...........ccccooiriiiiiin X1 3.909
Recognition of dividends on Tier I perpetual securities directly in equity .........c.c..ooooeiireeinn X1 17.327
Profit diStriDULION ...ttt XV (17.924)
L8141 U PR P TP PPTPP (13.273)
Total AdJUSTIMEIIES .......ooiiii et et e e et et et e e r s (116.851)
Net profit reported under IFRS ... 292.348
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Consolidated Balance Sheet as at 1 January 2005 (Adoption of IAS 32, 39 & IFRS 4)

€000’s

ASSETS

Cash and balances with Banks & Due from banks............
INVESTMENTS. .. .oeue vt XIIT
Loans & advances to Customers............c.coovvuiiveniinnnnnins

Fixed @SSeL8....iiivr e e
Derivative financial instruments....................ccoocceeiiiinn XIII
Other 8SSELS. ... v iveeieiieieiir et re et ee e e aeaes X1V
Total assets..........ccoovviiiiiiiiiii e

LIABILITIES

Duetobanks...........c.ooooeviiiiiiiiiiii e
Derivative financial instruments...................cooevveeninn, X111
Due to customers. .......oovveiiviieiieece e

Retirement benefit obligations..................cccoovvviiinnnnn
Insurance..............coo X1V
Other Habilities ........cvuvviiiirriiiiieiieee e XV

Total liabilities ..................oveiviiii e

SHAREHOLDERS' EQUITY

Share capital & share premium............c.ccocoiiineiniennernnn.

Less: treasury shares.............ccccoeeeiiieiiiniiiiiininn i

AFS TESEIVE. ..o X1
Other reserves & retained earnings................ccccvvereveen XIILXTV
Equity attributable to NBG shareholders...................

Minority Interest & Undated Tier I securities .................

Total shareholders' equity ............................
Total equity and liabilities ...................................

IAS 32,39,
IFRS 4

31.12.2004 Adjustments/ 1.1.2005
Reclassifications o
9.732.420 - 9.732.420
14.148.877 349.208 14.498.085
26.052.758 (32.688) 26.020.070
2.156.141° - 2.156.141
- 191.378 191.378
2.397.181 233.737 2.630.918
54.487.377 741.635 55.229.012
6.413.741 - 6.413.741
- 287.402 287.402
40.865.176 - 40.865.176
161.244 72.286 233.530
225.331 - 225.331
1.326.697 226.000 1.552.697
2.005.015 298.447 2.303.462
50.997.204 884.135 51.881.339
1.524.483 - 1.524.483
(210.128) - (210.128)
- 124.692 124.692
1.041.348 (235.453) 805.895
2.355.703 (110.761) 2.244.942
1.134.470 (31.739) 1.102.731
3.490.173 (142.500) 3.347.673
54.487.377 741.635 §5.229.012
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Consolidated Income Statement under Greek GAAP and IFRS for the year ended 31.12.2004

€000’s

Interest and similar income .................coccini
Interest expense and similar charges ............................

Net Interest income.......................ccoviiinniininnn., 11, VIII
Fee and commission income. ............c....vevvvviiniiniinninin

Fee and commission expense.................ccccoeerivnieniiiininn,

Net Fee and commission income................................ II
Earned premia net of reinsurance ..............cc..cooevvvvnnnnnnn,

Net claims incurred ...........coooooiiii

Net premia from insurance contracts ........................ X1
Dividend InCome. ...........cooiviiiiiiiiiii X1
Net trading inCoOme..............ooooiiiiiniiiii s IV, X1
Net result from investment securities.............cccccvvueennni.

Other operating iNCOME. ............ccoviiiiiriiiineieiiiiiinieeaen, XI
Total operating income..............................
Personnel eXpenses.............ovovvviviiiiiciiiniiniine I
General & Administrative eXpenses .................ccceeeevn.... X1
Depreciation and amortisation charges ........................... ,X
Other operating eXpenses.........c..ocovvvveeiirreeriereernaroinienn. I
Total operating expenses.................cc..c.ceeveeviinrrininen,
Impairment losses on loans and advances........................ VI, VII
Share of profit of associates...............cccccevivviiiiiiiiiiiniin
Profitbeforetax.......................n

TaX EXPONSE ....vneeeiiiiii i \%
Net Profit...............c.cciiii

Net Profit attributable to:

Minority ItErests .........ooovereiviieeieiiee s XI

NBG ordinary shareholders ..............ccoccoococeinnniiininn,

“IFRS
(continuing
and GrGAAP Variation
discontinued
__._.operations) BN e
2.222.769 2.627.797 (405.028)
(797.476) (1.209.034) 411.558
1.425.293 1.418.763 6.530
431.693 474.745 (43.052)
(27.003) (76.931) 49.928
404.690 397.814 6.876
560.939 - 560.939
(471.847) - (471.847)
89.092 - 89.092
18.381 17.036 1.345
108.785 120.642 (11.857)
1.087 - 1.087
146.007 88.775 57.232
2.193.335 2.043.030 150.305
(1.034.084) (866.294) (167.790)
(351.491) (298.018) (53.473)
(133.254) (128.667) (4.587)
(50.543) (27.401) (23.142)
(1.569.372) (1.320.380) (248.992)
(172.450) (177.869) 5.419
25.154 . 32.197 (7.043)
476.667 576.978 (100.311)
(184.319) (167.779) (16.540)
292.348 409.199 (116.851)
12.771 22.832 (10.061)
279.577 386.367 (106.790)
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Consolidated Balance Sheet under Greek GAAP and IFRS as at 31.12.2004

€000’s IFRS GrGAAP Variation
ASSETS

Cash and balances with central banks............................. 1.145.042 1.123.434 21.608
Treasury bills and other eligible bills................c..c...oo 150.400 150.415 (13)
Due from banks (net)........ccoooeeiiiiiiiiiiii 8.587.378 8.797.016 (209.638)
Financial assets at fair value through P&L....................... 11.615.536 13.307.228 (1.691.692)
Loans and advances to customers (net) ...........ccc...ooooovee VII 26.052.758 26.312.445 (259.687)
Investment securities - available for sale ......................... 2.382.941 - 2.382.941
Investment Property ..........ccocooiiiiiiieniiiini e X 125.905 - 125.905
Investments in asSOCIALES. ..........ooveeviiieiiniiiiiieane e X1 218.759 945.322 (726.563)
Goodwill & other intangible assets ................c..c...c.... III, XI 73.675 113.837 (40.162)
Property & equipment ..........c..cccoeeieiiinnini i 111, XTI 1.959.636 1.165.060 794.576
Deferred tax assets .............coooviiiiiiiioiiiiii e X1 75.022 - 75.022
Insurance related assets and receivables ......................... XI 492.904 - 492.904
OLher aSSEES ....o.ovviveiiiieeie et XI 1.607.421 962.437 644.984
Total aSSets .........ccoooooiiiiiiiiinii e 54.487.377 52.877.194 1.610.183
LIABILITIES

Due tobanks ...ooooviviiiiiiiiii 6.413.741 6.415.083 (1.342)
Due to CuStOMErs ....ovvvvve e 40.865.176 40.808.585 56.591
Debt securities i iSSUS .. ..oooovviviieiiircierinrieniiec e 63.448 55.493 7.955
Other borrowed funds ............oco i VIII 748.642 1.582.149 (833.507)
Insurance related reserves and liabilities ......................... X1 1.326.697 - 1.326.697
Current tax Habilities ..........ccoooiiiiiiiiiiiinii e A% 150.328 - 150.328
Deferred tax liabilities ...........c.ooeeiiiiiniinriiiiii e X11 10.917 - 10.917
Retirement benefit obligations ....................c.co I 225.331 - 225331
Other labilities .......coooiviriieiie e 1.192.924 1.493.796 (300.872)
Total liabilities ....................... 50.997.204 50.355.106 642.098
SHAREHOLDERS' EQUITY

Share capital ..........coooooiiiiiiii 1.492.090 1.492.090 -
Share premium account ...........ccooeviirriiniiiiiniiiniiinnaeeas 32.393 32.393 -
Less: treasury shares ..........c..oooiiiiiniiiiiiinnei i v (210.128) (205.482) (4.646)
Reserves and retained earnings ............cccooeeeveeeniiiiennn VI, IX 1.041.348 1.078.818 (37.470)
Equity attributable to NBG shareholders .................... 2.355.703 2.397.819 (42.116)
Minority INterest .........oveeeiieiiiiieii e e X1 302.321 124.269 178.052
Undated Tier I perpetual securities ...............ccccoceiveeeeen. VIII 832.149 - 832.149
Total shareholders' equity .................................. 3.490.173 2.522.088 968.085
Total equity and liabilities ....................................... 54.487.377 52.877.194 1.610.183
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Anditor’s report

To the Shareholders of the NATIONAL BANK OF GREECE S.A.

We have audited the accompanying balance sheet of “National Bank of Greece S.A.” (the “Bank’) as of 31
December 2005 and the related statements of income, changes in shareholders equity and cash flows for the year
then ended. These financial statements are the responsibility of the Bank's management. Our responsibility is to
express an opinion on these financial statements based on our audit.

We conducted our audit in accordance with the Greek Auditing Standards, which are based on the International
Standards on Auditing. Those Standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable
assurance about whether the financial statements are free of material misstatement. An audit includes examining,
on a test basis, evidence supporting the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements. An audit also
includes assessing the accounting principles used and significant estimates made by management, evaluating the
overall financial statement presentation as well as assessing the consistency of the Board of Director’s report
with the financial statements. We believe that our audit provides a reasonable basis for our opinion.

In our opinion, the aforementioned financial statements give a true and fair view of the financial position of the
Bank as of 31 December 2005, and of the results of its operations, its changes in shareholders equity and the
cash flows for the year then ended in accordance with the International Financial Reporting Standards that have
been adopted by the European Union and the Board of Director’s Report is consistent with the aforementioned
financial statements.

Without qualifying our opinion, we draw attention to Note 39 of the financial statements which describes the
basis of accounting for the merger of the Bank with National Real Estate Company SA.

Athens, 28 February 2006

Certified Public Accountant — Auditor

Nicolaos C. Sofianos

RN SOEL 12231

Deloitte.

Hadjipavlou Sofianes &
Cambanis S.A.
Assurance & Advisory Services

250 - 254 Kifissias Ave.

GR - 152 31 Halandri
Athens
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Income Statement

€000’s . Note  31.12.2005
Interest and SImMilar INCOME ...........covvviiivi e e 2.153.971
Interest expense and similar charges (818.197)
Net interest income 6 1.335.774
Fee and commission iNCOMIE. ............voiviiereit et 298.729
Fee and cOmMmMISSION EXPENSe. .......o.evuvumieiiiiir et e et (57.756)
Net fee and commission income 7 240.973
Dividend iNCOME. ...t 8 47.455
Net trading inComME/08S........iivivi ittt v ee e e 9 11.035
Net result from investment SeCUrities.............ccoeeviviiieiiiiieieiieinens 102.689
Other operating INCOME. ............oooimi et 10 31.060
Total operating income 1.768.986
Personnel eXPeNSES. ... ..uiiviiiii ettt 11 (657.640)
General & administrative expenses ............... 13 (212.431)
Depreciation and amortization charges 14 (72.146)
Other OpPErating EXPENSES.......ccc. vuvierirrieeiiertieierr e iitieerraereae e 15 (12.481)
Total operating expenses (954.698)
Impairment losses on loans and advances.................c..ccoociiin e (191.421)
Profit before tax 622.867
TAX EXPEIISE ... eivteiitiiii et e e et e et et e e e eea et et et 16 (148.553)
Net Profit 474.314
Earnings per share
BaSIC ottt 36 €1.42
Athens, 28 February 2006
THE CHAIRMAN THE DEPUTY CHIEF THE CHIEF FINANCIAL
AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER EXECUTIVE OFFICER AND CHIEF OPERATIONS OFFICER
EFSTRATIOS-GEORGIOS IOANNIS G. PECHLIVANIDIS ANTHIMOS C. THOMOPOULOS

A. ARAPOGLOU

 From1 January to

31.12.2004

1.871.114
(712.699)

1.158.415

286.910
(57.080)

229.830

80.102
73.877

(352)
44.949

1.586.821

(791.119)
(208.884)
(79.720)
(22272)

(1.101.995)

(137.679)

347.147

(112.246)

234.901

€0.71

THE CHIEF ACCOUNTANT

IOANNIS P.
KYRIAKOPOULOS

The notes on pages 9 to 57 are an integral part of these financials statements
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:Balance Sheet

€ 000’s Note 31.12.2005 31.12.2004
ASSETS
Cash and balances with central banks.........................ooocciieiiiiiiennnn 17 1.848.223 817.612
Treasury bills and other eligible bills.................coooiiiiein i - 86.078 118.674
Due from banks. .......coooioiiiiii e 18 4.142.623 8.322.507
Financial assets at fair value through P&L..............oooociniininn 19 13.409.663 11.293.119
Derivative financial inStruments .................ccoooiiiiiiiiiiie e 20 283.500 -
Loans and advances to customers (Ne)...............ceeieviirinrieriiiiiniiiinnnns 21 27.178.715 23.096.956
Investment securities - available forsale ......................cciiiii 22 2.153.682 339.648
-held to maturity ... 22 43.781 -
INVEStMENt PrOPEILY ...ivviiit i et e e - 416 414
Investments in subsidiaries.............o..ooioviiiii 23 1.398.070 1.528.646
Investments in @SSOCIAES. .. ...uv.eiiviirieiit e i e e e e e s e e e eeen 23 278.025 280.593
Intangible @assets ... .24 33.878 28.717
Property & eqQUIPIMENt ........ooooiviiiiiiii e 25 1.142.738 1.060.862
Deferred taX aSSELS ...ooivu it e e e 26 148.759 41.156
ORET ASSEES ..uiiiitiiii ettt 27 1.111.303 1.218.530
Assets classified as held forsale............ccoooiiiiiiinii 23 19.476 -
Total assets 53.278.930 48.147.434
LIABILITIES
Dueto banks ......c.ooivviiiiei e 28 4.986.420 5.748.858
Derivative financial inStruments ....................cooooiiviiiieiiiiin e e 20 303.422 -
Due to CUSIOMETS ...t e 29 41.060.200 37.174.565
Other borrowed funds.. .........coooviiiiiii 30 2.024.051 1.582.149
Other Iabilities ........cooooviiiii 31 1.644.542 864.402
Current tax Habilities ...t 31 139.375 108.872
Deferred tax liabilities ..............oooiiiiiii e 26 85.575 4.348
Retirement benefit obligations .................ccooiiiiii e 12 62.856 40.967
Total liabilities 50.306.441 45.524.161
SHAREHOLDERS' EQUITY
Share capital .........oooiiiiiiii e, 32 1.696.347 1.492.090
Share Premitm aCCOUNE .. ... ..vuvriiiiritaeeieeeee et eeeet et e - - 32.393
Less: treasury shares ........cooooiiiiiiiiii e 32 (1.085) (29.518)
Reserves and retained €arnings .............coooveiiiiiiiiiiniiiii e 33 1.277.227 1.128.308
Equity attributable to NBG shareholders 2.972.489 2.623.273
Total liabilities and equity 53.278.930  48.147.434
Athens, 28 February 2006
THE CHAIRMAN THE DEPUTY CHIEF THE CHIEF FINANCIAL THE CHIEF ACCOUNTANT
AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER EXECUTIVE OFFICER AND CHIEF OPERATIONS OFFICER
EFSTRATIOS-GEORGIOS IOANNIS G. PECHLIVANIDIS ANTHIMOS C. THOMOPOULOS IOANNIS P.
A. ARAPOGLOU KYRIAKOPOULOS

The notes on pages S to 57 are an integral part of these financials statements
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'Statiekmenti df Changés 1n Equlty

Reserves &
Share Share Treasury  Retained
€000 capital premium _ shares earnings Total

Movement in equity from 01.01 to 31.12.2004

Balance at 1 January 2004 1.147.761 32.393 (283) 1.403.520  2.583.391
Issue of share capital............ooooii i, 344.329 - - (344.329) -
Profit/(loss) for the period.............oooviiiiiii . - - - 234,901 234.901
Purchases of treasury shares............cccooovieeiiiiiiennn, - - (29.518) - (29.518)
Sales of treasury shares...............ccocoviiiiiiii e, 283 283
Dividends........cooviiiiiiiiii - - - (165.784) (165.784)
Balance at 31 December 2004 1.492.090 32393  (29.518) 1.128.308  2.623.273
Adoption of TAS 39, ... 2.696 2.696
At 1 January 2005 IFRS restated 1.492.090 32393 (29.518) 1.131.004  2.625.969
Movement in equity from 01.01 to 31.12.2005

Movement in the AFS reserve..........cocoevevnenennene.. - - - (64.014) (64.014)
Merger through absorption of subsidiaries................. 204.257 (32.393) (11.442) (89.142) 71.280
Profit/(loss) for the period...................coo - - - 474.314 474.314
Purchases of treasury shares.................ccoeviiinn. - - (10.179) - (10.179)
Sales of treasury shares...............cooevviiiiiiiinnenn.., 50.054 23.153 73,207
DIVIERAS. ..o - - - (197.958)  (197.958)
Currency translation differences............................ - - - (130) (130)
Balance at 31 December 2005 1.696.347 - (1.085) 1277227  2.972.489

The notes on pages 9 to 57 are an integral part of these financials statements
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Cash Flow Statement

€000 ' o  Note 31122005  31.12.2004
Cash flows from operating activities
Net profit 474314 234.901
Adjustments for:
Non-cash items included in net profit and other adjustments: 114.865 126.362
Depreciation, amortisation & impairment on fixed assets 72.146] 79.720
Credit loss expense / (recovery) 191.655 142.088
Deferred tax expense / (benefit) 10.145 (1.106)
Dividend income from investment securities (42.126) (756.300)
Net (profit) / loss on sale of fixed assets (14.266) (19.392
Net realised (gains) / losses on available for sale securities (102.689) 352
Net (increase) / decrease in operating assets: (4.045.126) (1.602.743)
Net due to/ from banks 855.021] (4.136.019)
Trading securities (4.573.758) 4.773.793
Net proceeds/ (purchase) of treasury bills and other eligible bills 32.560 (43.657)
Net derivative financial instruments (42.136) A
Net loans and advances to customers / due from customers (404.323))  (2.316.262)
Other assets 87.510 119.402
Net increase / (decrease) in operating liabilities: 689.149 31.841
Other deposits (181) (10)
Income taxes paid ‘ (108.115) (114.873)
Other liabilities 797.445 146.724
Net cash flow from / (used in) operating activities (2.766.798)  (1.209.639)
Cash flows from investing activities
Acquisition of subsidiaries (net of cash acquired) (12.548) (30.796
Amounts paid for share capital increase of subsidiaries (259.010) (3.158)
Dividends received from investment securities 42.126 75.300
Purchase/disposal of fixed assets (43.064) (57.819)
il;te stx;?l:let:;i?n/ Si‘tl)r;z?;:ii sof investment securities — Available for sale 924 492 23 346
Maturity of investment securities — held to maturity 43.700 .
Proceeds from sale of other securities 1.764 -
Net cash from / (used in) investing activities 712.509 6.873
Cash flows from financing activities
Proceeds from /(repayments of) borrowed funds and debt securities 441.903 469.407
Net sales /(purchases) of treasury shares ] 63.028 (29.235
Dividends paid (197.958)  (165.784)
Net cash from / (used in) financing activities 306.973 274.388
fect of exchange rate changes on cash and cash equivalents 114.078 (111.275)
Net increase/(decrease) in cash and cash equivalents - (1.633.238)  (1.039.653)
Cash and cash equivalents of absorbed entities 9.293 -
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of period 4.270.439 5.310.092
Cash and cash equivalents at end of period 35 2.646.494 4.270.439

page 8 out of 54




Notes to the Financial Statements

NOTE 1: General Information
National Bank of Greece S.A. (hereinafter the “Bank™) was founded in 1841 and has been listed on the Athens
Stock Exchange since 1880. The Bank has a further listing in the New York Stock Exchange (since 1999), and in
other major European stock exchanges. The Bank’s headquarters are located at 86 Eolou street, (Reg.
6062/06/B/86/01), tel.: (+30) 210 334 1000. By resolution of the Board of Directors the Bank can establish
branches, agencies and correspondence offices in Greece and abroad. In its 165 years of operations the Bank has
expanded on its commercial banking business by entering into related business areas. National Bank of Greece
provides a wide range of financial services including retail and commercial banking, asset management,
brokerage, investment banking, and bank assurance services. The Bank is also diversified and organized on a
worldwide basis into South Eastern Europe, European Union and Africa. The Bank is managed by the Board of
Directors, which has fifteen members.

The Board of Directors, following the Bank’s Annual General Meeting held on 17 May 2005, consists of the
following members:

Executive Members
Efstratios-Georgios (Takis) A. Arapoglou
Toannis G. Pechlivanidis

Chairman—Chief Executive Officer
Deputy Chief Executive Officer

Independent Non-Executive Members

George M. Athanasopoulos Employees’ representative

John P. Panagopoulos

Ioannis C. Yiannidis

H.E. the Metropolitan of loannina Theoklitos
Stefanos C. Vavalidis

Dimitrios A. Daskalopoulos
Nikolaos D. Efthymiou
George Z. Lanaras

Stefanos G. Pantzopoulos

Constantinos D. Pilarinos

Drakoulis K. Fountoukakos-Kyriakakos

Employees’ representative
Professor, University of Athens Law School

Member of the Board of Directors, European Bank for
Reconstruction & Development

Chairman and Managing Director, Delta S.A., Vice
Chairman, Federation of Greek Industrialists

Chairman, Association of Greek Shipowners

Shipowner

Business consultant, former certified auditor

Economist, General Manager of Finances and Technical
Services, Church of Greece

Entrepreneur, Chairman of Athens Chamber of Commerce

and Industry

Professor, University of Piraeus, Governor of IKA (Social
Security Fund)

Professor, University of Athens, and Chairman, Council of
Economic Advisors.

Toannis Vartholomeos

Ploutarchos K. Sakellaris

These financial statements (hereinafter the “Financial Statements™) have been approved for issue by the Bank’s
Board of Directors on 28th February 2006.
The Financial Statements are subject to the approval of the Annual General Meeting of the Bank’s shareholders.
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NOTE 2: Summary of significant accounting policies

2.1 Basis of presentation

The financial statements of the Bank (the “financial statements™) are prepared in accordance with International
Financial Reporting Standards and International Accounting Standards (collectively, IFRS) after taking into
consideration the provisions of IFRS 1 regarding first time adoption and are stated in Euro, rounded to the
nearest thousand (unless otherwise stated). The financial statements have been prepared under the historical cost
convention as modified by the revaluation of available for sale investment securities, financial assets and
liabilities held for trading and all derivative contracts measured at fair value.

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with generally accepted accounting principles requires the
use of estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities and disclosure of
contingent assets and liabilities at the date of the financial statements and the reported amounts of revenues and
expenses during the reporting period. Use of available information and application of judgment are inherent in
the formation of estimates in the following areas: valuation of OTC derivatives, unlisted securities, retirement
benefits obligation, impairment of loans and receivables, open tax years and litigation. Actual results in the
future could differ from such estimates and the differences may be material to the financial statements.

2.2 Adoption of International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS)

The Bank adopts the requirements of IFRS for the first time for the purpose of preparing financial statements for
the year ending 31st December 2005. In accordance with the transitional provisions set out in IFRS 1 “First-time
Adoption of International Financial Reporting Standards” and other relevant standards, the Bank has applied
IFRS expected in force and endorsed (or where there is reasonable expectation of endorsement) by the European
Union (EU) as of 31st December 2005 in its financial reporting with effect from 1st January 2004 with the
exception of the standards relating to financial instruments (IAS 32, 39).

The Bank has used the transitional provisions of IFRS 1 with respect to the aforementioned standards in arriving
at appropriate opening balances and therefore has not applied these standards to the 2004 comparatives. The
impact of these standards is reflected through further adjustments to shareholders’ equity as at 1st January 2005.
In 2004 comparatives, financial instruments are included using the respective measurement bases and the
disclosure requirements under Greek GAAP.

The impact of the transition to IFRS on the financial position and the comparatives as previously reported under
Greek generally accepted accounting principles (“Greek GAAP”) is summarised in Note 42.

Interpretations and amendments to published standards effective in 2005
The following amendments and interpretations to standards are mandatory for the Bank’s accounting periods

beginning on or after 1 January 2005:

- IFRIC 2, Members’ Shares in Co-operative Entities and Similar Instruments (effective from 1 January 2005);

- SIC 12 {(Amendment), Consolidation — Special Purpose Entities (effective from 1 January 2005);

- IAS 39 (Amendment), Transition and Initial Recognition of Financial Assets and Financial Liabilities (effective
from 1 January 2005).

Standards, interpretations and amendments to published standards that are not yet effective

The Bank has decided to apply the following amendment for the annual period beginning 1 January 2005 (early
adoption):

-IAS 39 (Amendment), The Fair Value Option (effective from 1 January 2006). This amendment changes the
definition of financial instruments classified at fair value through profit or loss and restricts the ability to
designate financial instruments as part of this category.

Certain new standards, amendments and interpretations to existing standards have been published that are
mandatory for the Bank’s accounting periods beginning on or after 1 January 2006 or later periods but which the
Bank has not early adopted, as follows:

- IAS 19 (Amendment), Employee Benefits (effective from 1 January 2006).
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This amendment introduces the option of an altemative recognition approach for actuarial gains and losses. It
may impose additional recognition requirements for multi-employer plans where insufficient information is
available to apply defined benefit accounting. It also adds new disclosure requirements. As the Bank does not
intend to change the accounting policy adopted for recognition of actuarial gains and losses and does not
participate in any multi-employer plans, adoption of this amendment will only impact the format and extent of
disclosures presented in the accounts. The Bank will apply this amendment from annual periods beginning 1
January 2006.

- IAS 39 (Amendment), Cash Flow Hedge Accounting of Forecast Intragroup Transactions (effective from 1
January 2006). The amendment allows the foreign currency risk of a highly probable forecast intragroup
transaction to qualify as a hedged item in the financial statements, provided that: (a) the transaction is
denominated in a currency other than the functional currency of the entity entering into that transaction; and (b)
This amendment is not relevant to the Bank’s operations, as the Bank does not have any intragroup transactions
that would qualify as a hedged item in the financial statements as of 31 December 20035 and 2004.

- IAS 39 and IFRS 4 (Amendment), Financial Guarantee Contracts (effective from 1 January 2006). This
amendment requires issued financial guarantees, other than those previously asserted by the entity to be
insurance contracts, to be initially recognised at their fair value and subsequently measured at the higher of: (a)
the unamortised balance of the related fees received and deferred, and (b) the expenditure required to settle the
commitment at the balance sheet date. Management considered this amendment to IAS 39 and concluded that it
will not have a significant impact on the Bank’s financial position.

- IFRS 7, Financial Instruments: Disclosures, and a complementary amendment to IAS 1, Presentation of
Financial Statements — Capital Disclosures (effective from 1 January 2007). IFRS 7 introduces new disclosures
to improve the information about financial instruments. It requires the disclosure of qualitative and quantitative
information about exposure to risks arising from financial instruments, including specified minimum disclosures
about credit risk, liquidity risk and market risk, including sensitivity analysis to market risk. It replaces IAS 30,
Disclosures in the Financial Statements of Banks and Similar Financial Institutions, and disclosure requirements
in [AS 32, Financial Instraments: Disclosure and Presentation. It is applicable to all entities that report under
IFRS. The amendment to IAS 1 introduces disclosures about the level of an entity’s capital and how it manages
capital. The Bank assessed the impact of IFRS 7 and the amendment to IAS 1 and concluded that the main
additional disclosures will be the sensitivity analysis to market risk and the capital disclosures required by the
amendment of IAS 1. The Bank intends to apply IFRS 7 and the amendment to IAS 1 from annual periods
beginning 1 January 2007.

- IFRIC 4, Determining whether an Arrangement contains a Lease (effective from 1 January 2006). IFRIC 4
requires the determination of whether an arrangement is or contains a lease to be based on the substance of the
arrangement. It requires an assessment of whether: (a) fulfilment of the arrangement is dependent on the use of a
specific asset or assets (the asset); and (b) the arrangement conveys a right to use the asset. Management
assessed the impact of IFRIC 4 and concluded that this amendment will have a limited impact to the format and
extent of disclosures presented in the accounts on the Bank’s operations.

2.3 Foreign currency translation

Items included in the financial statements of each entity of the Bank are measured using the currency that best
reflects the economic substance of the underlying events and circumstances relevant to that entity (“the
functional currency”). The financial statements are presented in thousands of Euro (€), which is the functional
currency of the Bank.

Foreign currency transactions are translated into the functional currency at the exchange rates prevailing at the
dates of the transactions Foreign exchange gains and losses resulting from the settlement of such transactions
and from the translation of monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies are recognized in
the income statement. Translation differences on debt securities and other monetary financial assets re-measured
at fair value are included in foreign exchange gains and losses. Translation differences on non-monetary
financial assets are a component of the change in their fair value. Depending on the classification of a non-
monetary financial asset, translation differences are either recognized in the income statement (applicable for
example for equity securities held for trading), or within shareholders’ equity, if non-monetary financial assets
are classified as available for sale investment securities.
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2.4 Regular way purchases and sales

In case of “regular way” purchases and sales of financial assets the Bank uses “settlement date” accounting apart
from trading and investment securities and derivative financial instruments, which are recognized at “trade date”.

2.5 Derivative financial instruments and hedging (Applicable for the Bank from January 1, 2005)

Derivative financial instruments including foreign exchange contracts, forward rate agreements, currency and
interest rate swaps, interest rate futures, currency and interest rate options (both written and purchased) and other
derivative financial instruments are initially recognized in the balance sheet at cost and subsequently are re-
measured at their fair value. All derivatives are carried in assets when favourable to the Bank and in liabilities
when unfavourable to the Bank. Fair values are obtained from quoted market prices, dealer price quotations,
discounted cash flow models and options pricing models, as appropriate. Where the Bank enters into derivative
instruments used for trading purposes, realized and unrealised gains and losses are recognized in trading income.

A derivative may be embedded in another financial instrument, known as “host contract”. In such combinations,
the derivative instrument is separated from the host contract and treated as a separate dertvative, provided that its
risks and economic characteristics are not closely related to those of the host contract, the embedded derivative
actually meets the definition of a derivative and the host contract is not carried at fair value with unrealised gains
and losses reported in the income statement.

The Bank also uses derivative instruments as part of its asset and liability management activities to manage
exposures to interest rate, foreign currency and credit risks, including exposures arising from forecast
transactions. The Bank applies either fair value or cash flow hedge accounting when transactions meet the
specified criteria to obtain hedge accounting treatment. The Bank’s criteria for a derivative instrument to be
accounted for as a hedge include: ‘

= at inception of the hedge, there is formal designation and documentation of the hedging instrument, hedged
item, hedging objective, strategy and relationship;

» the hedge is documented showing that it is expected to be highly effective in offsetting the risk in the
hedged item throughout the hedging period. A hedge is considered to be highly effective when the Bank
achieves offsetting changes in fair value between 80 percent and 125 percent for the risk being hedged; and

= the hedge is highly effective on an ongoing basis.
2.5.1 Fair value hedges

For qualifying fair value hedges, the change in fair value of the hedging derivative is recognized in the income
statement along with the corresponding change in the fair value of the hedged asset or liability that is attributable
to that specific hedged risk. If the hedge relationship is terminated for reasons other than the de-recognition of
the hedged item, the difference between the carrying amount of the hedged item at that point and the value at
which it would have been carried had the hedge never existed (the “unamortised fair value adjustment”), is, in
the case of interest bearing financial instruments, amortized to the income statement over the remaining term of
the original hedge, while for non-interest bearing instruments that amount is immediately recognized in the
income statement. If the hedged instrument is derecognised, e.g. sold or repaid, the unamortised fair value
adjustment is recognized immediately in the income statement.

2.5.2 Cash flow hedges

Fair value gains or losses associated with the effective portion of a derivative designated as a cash flow hedge
are recognized initially in shareholders’ equity. When the cash flows that the derivative is hedging (including
cash flows from transactions that were only forecast when the derivative hedge was effected) materialize,
resulting in income or expense, then the associated gain or loss on the hedging derivative is simultaneously
transferred from shareholders’ equity to corresponding income or expense line item.

If a cash flow hedge for a forecast transaction is deemed to be no longer effective, or the hedge relationship is
terminated, the cumulative gain or loss .on the hedging derivative previously reported in shareholders’ equity
remains in shareholders’ equity until the committed or forecast transaction occurs, at which point it is transferred
from shareholders’ equity to trading income.
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Certain derivative instruments transacted as effective economic hedges under the Bank’s risk management
positions, do not qualify for hedge accounting under the specific rules of IAS 39 and are therefore treated in the
same way as derivative instruments held for trading purposes, i.e. fair value gains and losses are recognized in
trading income.

Notwithstanding the above, transactions entered into before the date of transition to IFRS, shall not be
retrospectively designated as hedges.

2.6 Offsetting

Financial assets and liabilities are offset and the net amount is reported in the balance sheet when there is a
legally enforceable right to set off the recognized amounts and there is an intention to realize the asset and settle
the liability simultaneously or on a net basis.

2.7 Interest income and expense

Interest income and expense are recognized in the income statement for all interest bearing instruments on a time
proportion basis, taking account of the principal outstanding and using the effective interest rate method based
on the actual purchase price. Interest income includes coupons earned on fixed income investment and trading
securities and accrued discount and premium on treasury bills and other discounted instruments.

The recognition of income on commercial and mortgage loans ceases when the recovery of principal and/or
interest becomes doubtful of collection, such as when overdue by more than 180 days, or when the borrower or
securities’ issuer defaults, if earlier than 180 days. Credit card loans, other non-secured personal credit lines and
certain consumer finance loans are placed on non-accrual basis no later than the date upon which they become
90 days delinquent. In all cases, loans must be placed on non-accrual at an earlier date, if collection of principal
and/or interest is considered doubtful. All interest accrued but not collected for loans that are placed on non-
accrual or written off is excluded from interest income until received.

2.8 Fee and commission income

Fees and commissions are generally recognized on an accrual basis over the period the service is provided.
Commissions and fees arising from negotiating, or participating in the negotiation of a transaction for a third
party, such as acquisition of loans, equity shares or other securities or the purchase or sale of businesses, are
recognized upon completion of the underlying transaction.

2.9 Financial assets and financial liabilities at fair value through profit and loss
(Applicable for the Bank from January 1, 2005)

All financial assets, acquired principally for the purpose of selling in the short term or if so designated by the
management, are classified under this category which has the following two sub-categories:

a) Trading securities

Trading securities are securities, which are either acquired for generating a profit from short-term fluctuations in
price or dealer’s margin, or are securities included in a portfolio in which a pattern of short-term profit taking
exists.

Trading securities are initially recognized at cost and subsequently re-measured at fair value. The determination
of fair values of trading securities is based on quoted market prices, dealer price quotation and pricing models, as
appropriate. Gains and losses realized on disposal or redemption and unrealised gains and losses from changes in
the fair value of trading securities are included in net trading income. Interest earned whilst holding trading
securities is reported as interest income. Dividends received are separately reported and included in dividend
income. Trading securities may also include securities sold under sale and repurchase agreements.

All purchases and sales of trading securities that require delivery within the time frame established by regulation
or market convention (“regular way” purchases and sales) are recognized at trade date, which is the date that the
Bank commits to purchase or sell the asset. Otherwise such transactions are treated as derivatives until settlement
occurs.

Trading securities held are not reclassified out of the respective category. Respectively, investment securities are
not reclassified into the trading securities category while they are held.
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b) At fair value through profit or loss

Upon initial recognition the Bank may designate any financial asset as at fair value through profit or loss except
for investments in equity instruments that do not have a quoted market price in an active market and whose fair
value cannot be reliably measured.

The Bank has also designated certain financial liabilities as at fair value through profit and loss with fair value
changes reported under net trading income.

2.10 Sale and repurchase agreements

Securities sold subject to a linked repurchase agreement (‘Repos’) are retained in the financial statements as
trading or investment securities and the counterparty liability is included in amounts due to banks, due to
customers or other deposits, as appropriate. Securities purchased under agreement to resell (‘Reversed Repos”)
are recorded as due from other banks or loans and advances to customers, as appropriate. The difference between
sale and repurchase price is treated as interest and accrued over the life of Repos (or Reverse Repos) agreement
using the effective interest rate method.

2.11 Securities borrowing and lending
(Applicable for the Bank from January 1, 2005)

Securities borrowed and securities lent are recorded at the amount of cash collateral advanced or received, plus
accrued interest. Securities borrowed and securities received as collateral under securities lending transactions
are not recognized in the financial statements unless control of the contractual rights that comprise these
securities transferred is gained or sold to third parties, in which case the purchase and sale are recorded with the
gain or loss included in trading income. The obligation to return them is recorded at fair value as a trading
liability.

Respectively, securities lent and securities provided as collateral under securities borrowing transactions are not
derecognised from the financial statements unless control of the contractual rights that comprise these securities
transferred is relinquished.

The Bank monitors the market value of the securities borrowed and lent on a regular basis and provides or
requests additional collateral in accordance with the underlying agreements. Fees and interest received or paid
are recorded as interest income or interest expense, on an accrual basis.

2.12 Investment Securities
(Applicable for the Bank from January 1, 2005)

Investment securities are classified as either available for sale or held to maturity investment securities based on
management intention on purchase date. Investment securities are recognized at trade date, which is the date that
the Bank commiits to purchase or sell the asset.

Available for sale investment securities are initially recorded at cost (including transaction costs) and
subsequently re-measured at fair value based on quoted bid prices in active markets, dealer price quotations or
discounted expected cash flows. Fair values for unquoted equity investments are determined by applying
recognized valuation techniques such as price/earnings or price/cash flow ratios, refined to reflect the specific
circumstances of the issuer. Unrealised gains and losses arising from changes in the fair value of available for
sale investment securities are reported in shareholders’ equity, net of taxes (where applicable), until such
investment is sold, collected or otherwise disposed of, or until such investment is determined to be impaired.
Available for sale investment securities may be sold in response to needs for liquidity or changes in interest
rates, foreign exchange rates or equity prices. When an available for sale investment security is disposed of or
impaired, the accumulated unrealised gain or loss included in shareholders’ equity is transferred to the income
statement for the period and reported as gains / losses from investment securities. Gains and losses on disposal
are determined using the moving average cost method.

Held to maturity investment securities consist of securities with fixed or determinable payments, which the

management has the positive intend .and ability to hold to maturity. Held to maturity investment securities are
carried at amortized cost using the effective interest rate method, less any provision for impairment. Amortized
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cost is calculated by taking into account any fees, points paid or received, transaction costs and any discount or
premium on acquisition.

An investment security is considered impaired if its carrying amount exceeds its recoverable amount and there is
objective evidence that the decline in price has reached a level that recovery of the cost value cannot be
reasonably expected within the foreseeable future. The amount of the impairment loss for financial assets carried
at amortized cost is calculated as the difference between the asset’s carrying amount and the present vaiue of
expected future cash flows discounted at the financial instrument’s original effective interest rate. For quoted
financial assets re-measured to fair value the recoverable amount is the present value of expected future cash
flows discounted at the current market rate of interest for a similar financial asset whereas for unquoted financial
assets the recoverable amount is determined by applying recognized valuation techniques.

Interest earned whilst holding investment securities is reported as interest income. Dividends receivable are
included separately in dividend income, when a dividend is declared.

2.13 Loans and receivables
(Applicable for the Bank from January 1, 2005)

Loans originated by the Bank include loans where money is provided directly to the borrower, other than those
that are originated with the intent to be sold (if any), in which case they are recorded as assets at fair value
through profit and loss, available for sale investment securities or as held to maturity, as appropriate.

Loans originated by the Bank are recognized when cash is advanced to borrowers. They are initially recorded at
cost including any transaction costs, and are subsequently valued at amortized cost using the effective interest
rate method.

Interest on loans originated by the Bank is included in interest income and is recognized on an accrual basis.
Fees and direct costs relating to a loan origination, financing or restructuring and to loan commitments are
treated as part of the cost of the transaction and are deferred and amortized to interest income over the life of the
loan using the effective interest rate method.

2.14 Impairment losses on loans and advances
(Applicable for the Bank from January 1, 2005)

A credit risk provision for loan impairment is established if there is objective evidence that the Bank will be
unable to collect all amounts due on a claim according to the original contractual terms. A “claim” means a Joan,
a commitment such as a letter of credit, guarantee or commitment to extent credit.

A provision for loan impairment is reported as a reduction of the carrying amount of a claim on the balance
sheet, whereas for an off-balance sheet item such as a commitment, a provision for impairment loss is reported in
other liabilities. Additions to provisions for loans impairment are made through bad and doubtful debts expense.

The Bank assesses whether objective evidence of impairment exists for loans that are considered individually
significant, i.e. all loans above €1 million, and collectively for loans that are not considered individually
significant. A loan is subject to impairment test when interest and/or capital is in arrears for a period over 90
days and/or such qualitative indications exist, at the assessment date, which demonstrate that the borrower will
not be able to meet his obligations. Usually such indications include but are not restricted to significant financial
difficulty, deterioration of credit rating, probability of bankruptcy or other financial reorganization procedures.

If there is objective evidence that an impairment loss on loans and receivables carried at amortized cost has been
incurred, the amount of the loss is measured as the difference between the loans’ carrying amount and the
present value of estimated future cash flows (excluding future credit losses that have not been incurred)
discounted at a) the loan’s original effective interest rate, if the loan bears a fixed interest rate, or b) current
effective interest rate, if the loan bears a variable interest rate.

The calculation of the present value of the estimated future cash flows of a collateralised loan reflects the cash
flows that may result from obtaining and selling the collateral, whether or not foreclosure is probable.
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For the purposes of a collective evaluation of impairment, loans are grouped on the basis of similar credit risk
characteristics. Loans to corporates are grouped based on days in arrears, product type, economic sector, size of
business, collateral type and other relevant credit risk characteristics. Mortgages and retail loans are also grouped
based on days in arrears or product type. Those characteristics are relevant to the estimation of future cash flows
for pools of loans by being indicative of the debtors’ ability to pay all amounts due and together with historical
loss experience for loans with credit risk characteristics similar to those in the pool form the foundation of the
loan loss allowance computation. Historical loss experience is adjusted on the basis of current observable data to
reflect the effects of current conditions that did not affect the period on which the historical loss experience is
based and to remove the effects and conditions in the historical period that do not exist currently.

All impaired loans are reviewed and analysed at least annually and any subsequent changes to the amounts and
timing of the expected future cash flows compared to the prior estimates result in a change in the provision for
loans impairment and are charged or credited to impairment losses on loans and advances. The methodology and
assumptions used in estimating future cash flows are reviewed regularly by the Bank to reduce any differences
between loss estimates and actual loss experience.

Subject to compliance with tax law in each jurisdiction, a loan, which is deemed to be uncollectible or forgiven,
is written off against the related provision for loans impairment. Subsequent recoveries are credited to
impairment losses on loans and advances in the income statement. In the case of loans to borrowers in countries
where there is an increased risk of difficulties in servicing external debt, an assessment of the political and
economic situation is made, and additional country risk provisions are established if necessary.

2.15 Property and equipment

Property and equipment include land and buildings, leasehold improvements and transportation and other
equipment, held by the Bank for use in the supply of services or for administrative purposes. Property and
equipment are initially recorded at cost, which includes all costs that are required to bring an asset into working
condition. In accordance with the transitional provisions set out in IFRS 1, the Bank has adopted the carrying
values of all items of property and equipment on the date of transition under Greek GAAP as their deemed cost,
rather than either reverting to historical cost or carrying out a valuation at the date of transition.

Subsequent to initial recognition, property and equipment are stated at cost less accumulated depreciation and
accumulated impairment losses. Costs incuwrred subsequent to the acquisition of an asset, which is classified as
property and equipment are capitalized, only when it is probable that they will result in future economic benefits
to the Bank beyond those originally anticipated for the asset, otherwise they are expensed as incurred.

Depreciation of an item of property and equipment begins when it is available for use and ceases only when the
asset is derecognised. Therefore, the depreciation of an item of property and equipment that is retired from active
use and held for disposal does not cease unless it is fully depreciated. Property and equipment are depreciated on
a straight-line basis over their estimated useful lives as follows:

Land. ... No depreciation

Buildings used in 0peration..............coovvvviiiiiiiiniieiii Not exceeding 50 years

Buildings (other than those used in operation)..................... Not exceeding 50 years

Leasehold improvements...........cooovvveiieniinininiiiniinn Residual lease term, not exceeding 10 years
Furniture and related equipment.............c.coeviiiiiieinnonn. Not exceeding 12 years

Motor vehicles............coooiiiii Not exceeding 10 years

Hardware and other equipment.................ccoiiiiinnnnn.e. Not exceeding 5 years

The Bank periodically reviews land and buildings for impairment. Where the carrying amount on an asset is
greater than its estimated recoverable amount, it is written down immediately to its recoverable amount. Gains
and losses on disposal of property and equipment are determined by reference to their carrying amount and are
taken into account in determining operating profit.

Foreclosed assets, which consist of properties acquired through foreclosure in full or partial satisfaction of a
related loan, are initially measured at cost, which includes transaction costs, and reported under other assets.
After initial recognition foreclosed assets are re-measured at the lower of their carrying amount and fair value
less estimated costs to sell. Any gains or losses on liquidation of foreclosed assets are included in other operating
income.
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2.16 Investment property

Investment property includes land and buildings, owned by the Bank with the intention of earning rentals or for
capital appreciation or both, and is initially recorded at cost, which includes transaction costs. A property interest
that is held by the Bank under an operating lease is classified and accounted for as investment property when a)
the property would otherwise meet the definition of an investment property or b) the operating lease is accounted
for as if it were a finance lease. In accordance with the transitional provisions set out in IFRS 1, the Bank has
adopted the carrying amounts of all investment properties on the date of transition under Greek GAAP as their
deemed cost rather than carrying out a valuation at the date of transition.

Subsequent to initial recognition, investment property is stated at cost less accumulated depreciation and any
accumulated impairment losses.

Investment property is depreciated on a straight-line basis over its estimated useful life, which approximates the
useful life of similar assets included in property and equipment. Investment property is periodically reviewed for
impairment.

2.17 Intangible assets

Intangible assets include computer software and other separately identifiable intangible assets.

Computer software includes costs that are directly associated with identifiable and unique software products
controlled by the Bank that are anticipated to generate future economic benefits exceeding costs beyond one
year. Expenditure, which enhances or extends the performance of computer sofiware programs beyond their
original specifications is recognized as a capital improvement and added to the original cost of the software.
Computer software development costs recognized as assets, are amortized using the straight-line method over
their useful lives, not exceeding a period of 5 years.

Expenditure on starting up an operation or branch, training personnel, advertising and promotion and relocating
or reorganizing part or the entire Bank is recognized as an expense when it is incurred.

At each balance sheet date, management reviews intangible assets and assesses whether there is any indication of
impairment. If such indications exist an analysis is performed to assess whether the carrying amount of
intangible assets is fully recoverable. A write-down is made if the carrying amount exceeds the recoverable
amount.

2.18 Leases
a. The Bank is the lessee

Leases where the Bank has substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership of the asset are classified as
finance leases. Finance leases are capitalized at the inception of the lease at the lower of the fair value of the
leased property or the present value of the minimum lease payments. Each lease payment is allocated between
the liability and finance charges so as to achieve a constant rate on the finance balance outstanding. The
outstanding rental obligations, net of finance charges, are included in other liabilities. The interest element of the
finance cost is charged to the income statement over the lease period. All assets acquired under finance leases are
depreciated over the shorter of the useful life of the asset or the lease term.

Leases where a significant portion of the risks and rewards of ownership of the asset are retained by the lessor,
are classified as operating leases. The total payments made under operating leases (net of any incentives received
from the lessor) are charged to the income statement on a straight-line basis over the period of the lease. When
an operating lease is terminated before the lease period has expired, any payment required to be made to the
lessor by way of penalty is recognized as an expense in the period in which termination takes place.

b. The Bank is the lessor

Finance leases: When assets are leased out under a finance lease, the present value of the minimum lease
payments is recognized as a receivable. Lease income is recognized over the term of the lease using the net
investment method (before tax), which reflects a constant periodic rate of return. Finance lease receivables are
included in loans and advances to customers.
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Operating leases: Assets leased out under operating leases are included in the balance sheet based on the nature
of the asset. They are depreciated over their useful lives on a basis consistent with similar owned property.
Rental income (net of any incentives given to lessees) is recognized on a straight-line basis over the lease term.

2.19 Cash and cash equivalents

For the purposes of the cash flow statement, cash and cash equivalents comprise balances with less than 3
months maturity from the date of acquisition and consist of cash and balances with central banks, treasury bills
and other eligible bills, amounts due from other banks, investment securities and trading securities.

2.20 Provisions

Provisions are recognized when the Bank has a present legal or constructive obligation as a result of past events,
it is probable that an outflow of resources embodying economic benefits will be required to settle the obligation,
and a reliable estimate of the amount of the obligation can be made.

2.21 Employee benefits
The Bank operates various retirement benefit plans. Such plans are classified as pension plans.
2.21.1 Pension plans

a. Defined benefit plans

A defined benefit plan is a pension plan that defines an amount of pension benefit to be provided, usually as a
function of one or more factors such as age, years of service or compensation. For defined benefit plans, the
pension liability is the present value of the defined benefit obligation at the balance sheet date minus the fair
value of the plan assets, including any adjustments for unrecognised actuarial gains/losses and past service costs.
The Bank follows the “corridor” approach of 1AS 19 “Employee Benefits” according to which a certain amount
of actuarial gains and losses remains unrecognised and is amortized over the average remaining service lives of
the employees participating in the plan. The Bank on the transition date to IFRS has elected to use the exemption
provided in paragraph 20 of IFRS 1 in respect of employee benefits and has recognized all cumulative actuarial
gains and losses from the inception of such plans until the date of transition to [FRS.

The defined benefit obligation is calculated by independent actuaries on an annual basis using the projected unit
credit method. The present value of the defined obligation is determined by the estimated future cash outflows
using interest rates of government securities, which have terms to maturity approximating the terms of the
related liability. Pension costs are charged or credited to the income statement over the service lives of the
related employees.

b. Defined contribution plans

A defined contribution plan is a pension plan under which the Bank pays fixed contributions into a separate
entity (a fund) and will have no legal or constructive obligations to pay further contributions if the fund does not
hold sufficient assets to pay all employees’ benefits relating to employee service in the current and prior periods.
Bank contributions to defined contribution plans are charged to the income statement in the year to which they
relate and are included in staff costs.

2.22 Income taxes

Income tax payable on profits is recognized as an expense in the period in which profits arise.

Deferred income tax is fully provided, using the liability method, on all temporary differences arising between
the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities in the balance sheet and their amounts as measured for tax
purposes.

The principal temporary differences arise from provisions for pensions and revaluation of certain assets..

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at the tax rates that are expected to apply to the period when the
asset is realized or the liability is settled, based on laws that have been enacted at the balance sheet date.

Deferred income tax is provided on temporary differences arising from investments in subsidiaries and

associates, except where the timing of the reversal of the temporary difference can be controlled by the Bank and
it is probable that the difference will not reverse in the foreseeable future.
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Deferred tax asset is recognized for all deductible temporary differences arising from branches to the extent that,
it is probable that the temporary difference will reverse in the foreseeable future and taxable profit will be
available against which the temporary difference can be utilized.

Deferred tax, related to fair value changes of available for sale investment securities and cash flow hedges,
which are charged or credited directly to shareholders’ equity, is also credited or charged directly to
shareholders’ equity where applicable and is subsequently recognized in the income statement together with the
deferred gain or loss.

2.23 Borrowings

Borrowings are initially recognized at cost, which is the fair value of the consideration received (issue proceeds),
net of transaction costs incurred. Subsequent measurement is at amortized cost and any difference between net
proceeds and the redemption value is recognized in the income statement over the period of the borrowings using
the effective interest rate method.

2.24 Share capital and treasury shares

Share issue costs: Incremental external costs directly attributable to the issue of new shares, other than on a
business combination, are deducted from equity net of any related income taxes.

Dividends on ordinary shares: Dividends on ordinary shares are recognized as a liability in the period in which
they are approved by the Annual General Meeting of the Shareholders of the Bank.

Treasury shares: NBG shares held by the Bank are classified as treasury shares and the consideration paid
including any attributable incremental external costs, net of income taxes, is deducted from total shareholders’
equity until they are cancelled, reissued or resold. Treasury shares do not reduce the number of shares issued but
affect the number of outstanding shares used in the calculation of earnings per share. Treasury shares held by the
Bank, are not eligible to receive cash dividends. Any difference between acquisition cost and uitimate proceeds
from subsequent resale (or reissue) of treasury shares is included in shareholders’ equity and is therefore not to
be considered a gain or loss to be included in the income statement.

2.25 Segment reporting

The Bank is organized into five business segments and provides products or services that are subject to risks and
returns that are different from those of other business segments. This organizational structure is the basis upon
which the Bank reports its primary segment information.

2.26 Assets and Liabilities held for sale

Assets and liabilities (or disposal groups) are classified as held for sale if their carrying amount is recovered
principally through a sale transaction rather than through continuing use. Immediately before classification as
held for sale, the measurement of the assets (and all assets and liabilities in a disposal group) is effected in
accordance with the applicable IFRS’s. Upon initial classification as assets held for sale, they are measured at
their lower of carrying amount and fair value less costs to sell and are classified separately from other assets in
the balance sheet. Offsetting of assets and liabilities is not permitted.

Impairment losses on initial classification as held for sale are included in profit or loss, even when there is a
revaluation. The same applies to gains and losses on subsequent remeasurement.

A discontinued operation is a component of the Bank’s business that represents a separate major line of business
that has been disposed of or is classified as held for sale or is a subsidiary acquired exclusively with a view to
resale. Classification as a discontinued operations occurs upon disposal or when the operations meets the criteria
to be classified as held for sale. Discontinued operations are presented on the face of the income statement.

The Bank adopted TFRS 5 from January 2005 prospectively in accordance with the standard’s provisions.

2.27 Related parties transactions

Related parties include entities, which the Bank has the ability to control or exercise significant influence in
making financial and operating decisions. Related parties include, directors, their close relatives, companies
owned or controlled by them and companies over which they can influence the financial and operating policies.
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All banking transactions entered into with related parties are made on substantially the same terms, including
interest rates and collateral, as those prevailing at the same time for comparable transactions with unrelated
parties and do not involve more than a normal amount of risk.

2.28 Fiduciary and trust activities

The Bank provides fiduciary and trust services to individuals and other institutions, whereby it holds and
manages assets or invests funds received in various financial instruments at the direction of the customer. The
Bank receives fee income for providing these services. Trust assets are not assets of the Bank and are not
recognized in the financial statements. The Bank is not exposed to any credit risk relating to such placements, as
it does not guarantee these investments.

2.29 Earnings per share
A basic earnings per share (EPS) ratio is calculated by dividing the net profit or loss for the period attributable to

ordinary shareholders by the weighted average number of ordinary shares outstanding during the period.

A diluted earnings per share ratio is computed using the same method as for basic EPS, but the determinants are
adjusted to reflect the potential dilution that could occur if convertible debt securities, options, warrants or other
contracts to issue ordinary shares were converted or exercised into ordinary shares.
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NOTE 3: Critical accounting policies, estimates & judgments

The preparation of financial statements in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS)
requires management to make a number of judgments, estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amount
of assets, liabilities, income and expense in the Financial Statements and accompanying notes. The Bank
believes that the judgments, estimates and assumptions used in the preparation of the Financial Statements are
appropriate given the factual circumstances as of 31 December 2005.

Various elements of the Bank’s accounting policies, by their nature, are inherently subject to estimation
techniques, valuation assumptions and other subjective assessments. In particular, the Bank has identified
accounting policies which, due to the judgments, estimates and assumptions inherent in those policies, and the
sensitivity of the financial statements to those judgments, estimates and assumptions, are critical to an
understanding of the financial statements.

Recognition and measurement of financial instruments at fair value

Assets and liabilities that are trading instruments are recorded at fair value on the balance sheet date, with
changes in fair value reflected in net trading income. For exchange traded financial instruments, fair value is
based on quoted market prices for the specific instrument. Where no active market exists, or where quoted prices
are not otherwise available, we determine fair value using a variety of valuation techniques. These include
present value methods, models based on observable input parameters, and models where some of the input
parameters are unobservable.

Valuation models are used primarily to value derivatives transacted in the over-the-counter market. All valuation
models are validated before they are used as a basis for financial reporting, and periodically reviewed thereafter,
by qualified personnel independent of the area that created the model. Wherever possible, we compare
valuations derived from models with quoted prices of similar financial instruments, and with actual values when
realized, in order to further validate and calibrate our models. A variety of factors are incorporated into our
models, including actual or estimated market prices and rates, such as time value and volatility, and market depth
and liquidity.

We apply our models consistently from one period to the next, ensuring comparability and continuity of
valuations over time, but estimating fair value inherently involves a significant degree of judgment. Management
therefore establishes valuation adjustments to cover the risks associated with the estimation of unobservable
input parameters and the assumptions within the models themselves.

Although a significant degree of judgment is, in some cases, required in establishing fair values, management
believes the fair values recorded in the balance sheet and the changes in fair values recorded in the income
statement are prudent and reflective of the underlying economics, based on the controls and procedural
safeguards we employ.

Fair value option

We adopted revised IAS 32 and revised IAS 39 at 1 January 2005. We have applied the exception provided in
IFRS 1 not to restate the comparative prior year. Revised [AS 39 permits an entity to designate any financial
asset or financial liability as held at fair value and to recognize fair value changes in profit and loss. We apply
the fair value option primarily to debt instruments in order to present more relevant information by eliminating
or significantly reducing a measurement inconsistency (an accounting mismatch) that would otherwise arise
from measuring assets or liabilities or recognizing the gains and losses on different bases. .

Recognition of deferred Day 1 Profit and Loss

We have entered into transactions, some of which will mature after more than ten years, where we determine fair
value using valuation models for which not all inputs are market observable prices or rates. We initially
recognize a financial instrument at the transaction price, which is the best indicator of fair value, although the
value obtained from the relevant valuation model may differ. Such a difference between the transaction price and
the model value is commonly referred to as “Day 1 profit and loss”. In accordance with applicable accounting
literature, we do not recognize that initial difference, usually a gain, immediately in profit and loss. While
applicable accounting literature prohibits immediate recognition of Day 1 profit and loss, it does not address
when it is appropriate to recognize Day 1 profit in the income statement. It also does not address subsequent
measurement of these instruments.
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Our decisions regarding recognizing deferred Day 1 profit and loss are based on the principle of prudence and
are made after careful consideration of facts and circumstances to ensure we do not prematurely release a portion
of the deferred profit to income. For each transaction, we determine individually the appropriate method of
recognizing the Day 1 profit and loss amount in the income statement. Deferred Day 1 profit and loss is
amortized over the life of the transaction, deferred until fair value can be determined using market observable
inputs, or realized through settlement. In all instances, any unrecognized Day 1 profit and loss is immediately
released to income if fair value of the financial instrument in question can be determined either by using market
observable model inputs or by reference to a quoted price for the same product in an active market.

After entering into a transaction, we measure the financial instrument at fair value, adjusted for the deferred Day
1 profit and loss. Subsequent changes in fair value are recognized immediately in the income statement without
reversal of deferred Day 1 profits and losses.

Investments in subsidiaries and associates.

The Bank regularly reviews investments in subsidiaries and associates for possible impairment indications. If the
impairment indicators are identified, the Bank makes an assessment about whether the carrying amount of such
investments remains fully recoverable. When making this assessment the Bank compares the carrying value to
market value, if available, or a fair value determined by a qualified evaluator or pricing model. Determination of
a fair value by a qualified evaluator or pricing model requires management to make assumptions and use
estimates.

The Bank believes that the assumptions and estimates used are reasonable and supportable in the existing market
environment and commensurate with the risk profile of the assets valued. However, different ones could be used
which would lead to different results.

Allowance for loan losses

The amount of the allowance set aside for loan losses is based upon management’s ongoing assessments of the
probable estimated losses inherent in the loan portfolio. Assessments are conducted by members of management
responsible for various types of loans employing a methodology and guidelines which are continually monitored
and improved. This methodology has two primary components: specific allowances and collective allowances.
The Bank assesses whether objective evidence of impairment exists for loans that are considered individually
significant, i.e. all loans above €1 million, and collectively for loans that are not considered individually
significant.

A loan is subject to impairment test when interest and/or capital is in arrears for a period over 90 days and/or
such qualitative indications exist, at the assessment date, which demonstrate that the borrower will not be able to
meet his obligations. Usually such indications include but are not restricted to significant financial difficulty,
deterioration of credit rating, probability of bankruptcy or other financial reorganization procedures.

The specific counterparty component applies to claims evaluated individually for impairment and is based upon
management’s best estimate of the present value of the cash flows which are expected to be received. In
estimating these cash flows, management makes judgments about a counterparty’s financial situation and the net
realizable value of any underlying collateral or guarantees in our favour. Each impaired asset is assessed on its
merits, and the workout strategy and estimate of cash flows considered recoverable are independently reviewed.

In assessing the need for collective loan loss allowances, management considers factors such as credit quality,
portfolio size, concentrations, and economic factors. In order to estimate the required allowance, we make
assumptions both to define the way we model inherent losses and to determine the required input parameters,
based on historical experience and current economic conditions.

The accuracy of the allowances and provisions we make depends on how well we estimate future cash flows for
specific counterparty allowances and provisions and the model assumptions and parameters used in determining
collective allowances. While this necessarily involves judgment, we believe that our allowances and provisions
are reasonable and supportable.

Net periodic benefit cost

The net periodic benefit cost is actuarially determined using assumed discount rates, assumed rates of
compensation increase and the expected return on plan assets. These assumptions are ultimately determined by
reviewing the Bank’s salary increases each year. The expected long-term return on plan assets represents
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management’s expectation of the average rate of eamings on the funds invested to provide for the benefits
included in the projected benefit obligation. To determine the expected long term rate of return assumption the
Bank and its advisors make forward-looking assumptions in the context of historical returns and volatilities for
each asset class as well as correlations among asset classes. The expected long-term rate of return assumption is
annually adjusted based on revised expectations of future investment performance of the overall capital markets,
as well as changes to local regulations affecting investment strategy.

Critical accounting judgements

Useful lives of depreciable assets

The management of the Bank determines the estimated useful lives and related depreciation charges for its
property and other equipment. The Bank’s estimate is based on the projected operating life cycle of its buildings
and the other depreciable assets such as furniture and other equipment, motor vehicles, hardware and other
equipment and it could not change significantly. However, management will change the depreciation charge
where useful lives are turned to be different than previously estimated lives or it will write down or write off
technically obsolete assets.

Held to maturity investments

The Bank follows the IAS 39 guidance of on classifying non-derivative financial assets with fixed or
determinable payments and fixed maturity as held-to-maturity. This classification is based on the Bank’s
evaluation of its intention and ability to hold such investment to maturity.

Impairment of available-for-sale financial assets

The Bank follows the guidance of IAS 39 on determining when an investment is other than temporarily
impaired. This determination requires judgment and the Bank evaluates the duration and extent to which the fair
value of an investment is less than its cost; and the financial health of and near-term business outlook for the
investee, including factors such as industry and sector performance, changes in technology and operational and
financing cash flow.

Income taxes

The Bank is subject to income taxes in numerous jurisdictions. Significant judgement is required in determining
the worldwide provision for income taxes. There are many transactions and calculations for which the ultimate
tax determination is uncertain during the ordinary course of business. The Bank recognises liabilities for
anticipated tax audit issues based on estimates of whether additional taxes will be due. Where the final tax
outcome of these matters is different from the amounts that were initially recorded, such differences will impact
the income tax and deferred tax provisions in the period in which such determination is made.
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NOTE 4: Financial risk management

4.1 Credit risk

The credit risk process for the Bank is managed centrally by the Group Risk Management Division, which works
closely with centralized underwriting units responsible for particular type of loans. Under the Bank’s facility risk
rating system, corporate exposures are grouped into eight risk classes. Low risk borrowers are often offered more
favourable terms, while loans to high risk borrowers generally require third party guarantees and additional
collateral. The bank also uses a number of obligor rating systems, assigning a borrower rating to each
counterparty, whether large, medium corporate or small business. This rating is based primarily upon
quantitative criteria {mostly liquidity, profitability, capital structure and debt service ratios) as well as qualitative
factors such as management quality, reputation with customers and employees and company standing. In
addition, all Bank’s rating systems consider the borrower’s industry risk and its relative position within its peer

group.

The Bank’s credit exposure to each borrower is subject to a detailed risk review at least annually, or semi-
annually in case of high-risk borrowers, with all outstanding facilities being reviewed. Interim reviews are also
undertaken throughout the year and on an ongoing basis, following a late payment, if there are issues which may
affect the course of business of the borrower, or changes relevant to the borrower’s creditworthiness. In case of
term loans, exposures to borrowers engaged in start-up projects and those posing special risks as a result of
company or industry difficulties or otherwise, are generally subject to more frequent reviews. These reviews are
undertaken by the loan officers responsible for the customer and are monitored by the Group’s Risk
Management Unit. Credit reviews include consideration of the customer’s historical and projected business
performance, balance sheet strength and cash flow generation capability, together with relevant industry trends.
These matters are considered in relation to the size, structure and maturity of the Bank’s exposure to its client, in
conjunction with the nature of any security held. When the Bank determines, as a result of this process, that a
borrower poses a risk, it takes appropriate action to limit its exposure as well as to downgrade all outstanding
facilities of the borrower. For example, the Bank may increase its collateral level, reset the interest rate at a
higher level or decrease its facility line. In addition, credit officers responsible for the customer will intensify the
monitoring of other exposures. When the review process results in the migration of the facility into a higher risk
class, either the outstanding facility is restructured or future lending and renewals of existing lines are rejected.
With respect to the facility risk rating categorization, a coefficient Expected Loss analysis is applied to all
commercial and corporate loans and its results are taken into consideration during the formulation of the Bank’s
provisioning policy.

Trends in the loan portfolio, including business development, asset quality and provisions for bad and doubtful
debts, are reported regularly to the Board of Directors. The Bank also maintains an internal watch list of
commercial loans, whose principal and interest payments are in arrears for up to three months, and have not yet
been classified as non performing loans. Credit officers responsible for customers on this watch list must take
action in order to prevent the relevant loans from becoming non-performing and must report monthly on their
progress.

With respect to mortgage loans, the underwriting process is centralized under the Mortgage Credit Division.
Centralised underwriting ensures segregation of duties and uniform enforcement of underwriting standards. Loan
security is typically in the form of a Mortgage Pre-notation on a property for 120% of the loan amount.
Maximum loan amount usually does not exceed the 75% of the market value, but this may infrequently evolve
up to 100% according to various factors and specific circumstances, which deal with the applicant’s credit
profile, type of ownership, location of the asset, type of the financed property etc.

For Personal Loans and Credit cards, the credit approval process is carried out through the use of bespoke credit
scorecards. Risk monitoring, among other analyses, includes vintages by period of disbursement, issuing
channel, and product type for various bad definitions, thus continuously insuring sufficient calculation of the
probability of default.

The credit granting processes and procedures are centralized. The rational behind this organizational structure is
three-fold:

- To ensure correct application of credit policy

- To effectively channel the applications though the business pipeline, thus speeding up the decision making
process, while ensuring accuracy and consistency
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- To effectively monitor the client information input process

Furthermore, through the development of models which estimate Probability of Default (PD) and Loss Given
Default (LGD) on a portfolio basis, Risk Management is able to calculate, evaluate and monitor expected, and
unexpected losses for all portfolio asset classes and segments.

The recently established Retail Banking Collection Division carries the responsibility of monitoring and
collecting past due amounts of the entire retail portfolio. The Division’s objectives are mainly focused on
reducing loan portfolio delinquency rates, facilitating early awareness of defaulted loans, ensuring proactive
remedial management of defaulted loans and reducing costs, minimizing losses and increasing the retail business
portfolio overall profitability.

Geographical distribution of assets and liabilities is set out below:

31122005 31.12.2005 31.12.2005 31.12.2005 31.12.2005

Total Total Credit Capital
Description Assets  Liabilities Commitments Revenues expenditure
Greece 49.443.269 46.704.245 12.953.650 2.456.186 62.746
SE Europe (Balkans, Cyprus and Egypt) 378.448 332.704 41472 26.666 -
West European countries 3.437480 3.269.182 145.874 162.086 -
United States and Canada 257 159 - 1 -
South Africa - 25 - - -
Subtotal §3.259.454 50.306.315 13.140.996 2.644.939 62.746
Unallocated assets / liabilities 19.476 63 - - -
Total assets / liabilities 53.278.930 50.306.378 - - -

31.12.2004 31.12.2004 _ 31.12.2004  31.12.2004 31.12.2004

Total Total Credit Capital
Description Assets  Liabilities Commitments Revenues expenditure
Greece 44.086.747 41.989.548 4.874.970 2.157.895 51.637
SE Europe (Balkans, Cyprus and Egypt) 448.138  262.454 78.969 30.771 -
West European countries 3.553.470 3.268.981 212.441 165.448 -
United States and Canada 19.206 2.941 0 442 -
South Africa 39.873 237 26.032 2.041 -
Total assets / liabilities 48.147.434 45.524.161 5192412 2.356.597 51.637

Geographical concentration of loan portfolio (net) is set out below:

31.12.2005 %  31.12.2004 %

Description
Greece 25.665.317 94% 21.546.977 94%
SE Europe (Balkans, Cyprus and Egypt) 266.854 1% 310812 1%
West European countries 1.246.544 5% 1211442 5%
United States and Canada - 0% 10.000 0%
South Africa - 0% 17.725 0%
27.178.715 23.096.956
4.2 Market Risk

The Bank takes on exposure to market risk. Market risk is the risk of loss attributed to adverse changes in the
liquidity and market value of the Bank’s portfolio due to general and specific market movements, the most
significant of which are: interest rates, foreign exchange rates and equity prices.

Market risk is primarily incurred through the Bank’s trading portfolio, which mainly composes the respective
portfolio of the Bank.
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Since 2003, the Bank applies the “Value at Risk-(VaR)” model to estimate the market risk of positions held and
the maximum losses expected, based upon a number of assumptions for various changes in market conditions.
The Bank currently implements the VaR model, assuming a one-day holding period and utilizing a confidence
level of 99% taking into account the sum of all our trading and available for sale (AFS) positions in all
currencies. In addition, the Bank aiming to accelerate the process of the determination and the maximum
utilization of its results adopted within 2005 and applied the most advanced methodology of ‘Algorithmics’
company for measuring market risk variables. It is noted that Bank of Greece has also certified the
aforementioned methodology.

The Bank has established a framework of VaR limits in order to control and manage more efficiently the risks to
which it is exposed. These limits have been determined upon the worldwide best practices; they refer not only to
individual market risk variables such as interest rate risk, foreign exchange risk and equity risk but also to the
overall market risk and concern both, the trading and investment portfolio of the Bank. For 2005, the VaR
estimate for the Bank’s trading portfolio, moved between € 2.0 million and € 7.8 million with an average
estimate of € 4.7 million.

The Bank in order to ensure the quality and reliability of the VaR estimates conducts a back-testing program for
both the trading and the investment portfolio. “Back-testing” compares the one-day VaR calculated on positions
at the close of each business day (theoretical gains / losses), with the actual gains / losses arising on those
positions on the next business day. It is noted that in a total of 251 working days of 2005, there were only 3 cases
representing 1,20% where the actual change in the value of the portfolio exceeded the VaR estimates.

Supplementary to the VaR model, the Bank on a monthly basis applies standard stress scenarios aiming to
approximate the gains or losses of both, the trading and investment portfolio, in cases of severe movements of
market risk variables, such as interest and foreign exchange rates and crises in equity, corporate and emerging
markets.

Interest Rate Risk

For 20035, interest rate risk remained the most significant risk to which the Bank was exposed, due to the
worldwide fluctuations of the interest rates. The principal source of interest rate risk exposure arises from the
Bank’s bond portfolio, which mainly consists of Greek government bonds, for which the Bank is the principal
market maker, in both the primary and the secondary markets. Its relatively large inventory facilitates its market-
making activity and the distribution of Greek government bonds to retail and institutional investors in Greece
and abroad. The Bank enters into futures contracts on medium-and long-term German government bonds in
order to provide an economic hedge of fixed interest rate exposure arising from its position in fixed-rate Greek
government bonds.

As a result of this economic hedging activity, fixed rate exposure is converted into a credit-spread exposure over
the yield of medium-and long-term German government bonds, which is characterised by moderate moves
resulting in lower volatility. As a secondary means of hedging the trading portfolio of Greek government bonds,
the Bank also uses the swap market to convert part of the fixed rate exposure to a floating rate exposure in order
to reduce earnings volatility in periods of volatile interest rates.

The Bank is also active in the interbank deposit market.

Interest rate risk of assets and liabilities is set out below:
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Non
Uptol 1to3 3to 12 Over 5  interest Total
month months months 1 to 5 yrs yrs bearing 31.12.2005

Assets
Cash and balances with central banks 1.286.430 1.384 - - 5474 554935 1.848.223
Treasury bills and other eligible bills 17.400 5.278 63.400 - - - 86.078
Due from banks 1.325.326 987.613 1.313.508 305.142 - 211.034  4.142.623
Financial assets at fair value through
P&L 363.294 315786 6.826.281 3.878.158 1.806.220  219.924 13.409.663

Loans and advances to customers (net) 16313454 2.027.002 6321.864 1292484 1.092.775 131.136 27.178.715

Investment securities-available for sale

* 49.064 211.253 404,759 370.717 779.975 1.735.984  3.551.752
- held to maturity 8.659 - 35.120 - - - 43.779
Other 1.063.678 302 4.809 830 - 1.929.002  2.998.621
Assets held for sale - - - - - 19.476 19.476
Total assets 20.427.305 3.548.618 14.969.741 5.847.331 3.684.444 4.801.491 53.278.930
Liabilities
Due to banks 3.866.717 902.086 186.106 16.386 9.243 5.882  4.986.420
Due to customers 36.423.742 1.959.507 2.177.757 192.203 1.567 305.424 41.060.200
Other borrowed funds 350.000 988.444 685.607 - - - 2.024.051
Other 732.787 24.747 3.171 328 208 1475035 2235740
Total liabilities 41.373.246 3.874.784 3.052.641 208.589 10.810 1.786.341 50.306.411
Total interest sensitivity gap (20.945.941) (326.166) 11.917.100 5.638.742 3.673.634 3.015.150 2.972.519

* amounts include investments in subsidiaries

"~ Non
Uptol 1to3 3to12 interest Total
month months months 1toSyrs OverSyrs bearing 31.12.2004
Total assets 10.403.123 14312490 7467263 7.586.409 2645132 5.733.017 48.147.434
Total liabilities 35.805.741 2.811.574 2.762.061 91.058 22210 4.031.517 45.524.161
Total interest sensitivity gap (25.402.618) 11.500.916 4.705.202  7.495351  2.622.922 1.701.500 2.623.273

4.3 Liquidity risk
Liquidity risk is defined as the risk of a financial institution not to be able to meet its obligations as they become
due, because of lack of the required liquidity.

The Bank’s principal sources of liquidity are its deposit base and, to a lesser extent, interbank borrowings. The
Bank operates a network of 567 branches in Greece, and its domestic customer deposit base accounts for 30% of
the Greek deposit market (savings and sight accounts) as of 31 December 2005. This provides the Bank with
sufficient euro and foreign currency liquidity to fund its operations and treasury positions. The Bank also derives
liquidity from the results of its operations and disposals of securities and other assets. In recent years, the Bank
has generally been in a position of excess liquidity due to its large domestic deposit base. Deposits have funded
the securities portfolio, loans to customers and reserve balances held at the central bank. Although the Bank was
required to deposit a high proportion of foreign currency with the central bank pursuant to reserve requirements,
the Bank was able to fund foreign currency assets, including foreign currency loans to domestic customers,
through its foreign currency deposit base. The Bank participates in the interbank deposit market (denominated in
euro and all major currencies) and enters into foreign exchange forward transactions with maturities up to a year.
The net open positions carried are small and largely offset against the deposit base in the respective currency.

Liquidity risk management seeks to ensure that, even under adverse conditions, the Bank has access to the funds

necessary to cover customer needs, maturing liabilities and the capital requirements of the Bank’s operations.
Liquidity risk arises in the general funding of the Bank’s financing, trading and investment activities and in the
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management of positions. This risk involves both the risk of unexpected increases in the cost of funding the
portfolio of assets at appropriate maturities and rates, and the risk of being unable to liquidate a position in a
timely manner on reasonable terms.

The Risk Management Council monitors differences in maturities between assets and liabilities by analyzing
funding requirements based on various assumptions, including conditions that might have an adverse impact on
the ability of the Bank to liquidate investment and trading positions and its ability to access the capital markets.

The table below analyses the Bank’s assets and liabilities into relevant maturity groupings according to the
remaining period at balance sheet date to the contractual maturity date.

B o 7 B ) 31.12.2005
Subject Uptol 1to3 3to12
Assets to notice  month months months 1toSyrs Over5yrs Total
Cash and balances with central banks ~ 573.941  1.267.290 1.384 - - 5.608  1.848.223
Treasury bills and other eligible bills - 17.400 5277 63.401 - . 86.078
Due from banks 7992 1521323 986262 1315285 311761 - 4142623
Financial assets-fair value through P&L 164 201.842 74.881 623703 4.362.047  8.147.026 13.409.663
Derivative financial instruments - 49.541 6.992 31.595 39.971 155.401 283.500
Loans and advances to customers (net) 7323 2403364 1861336 5.032.615 8229.047 9645030 27.178.715
Investment securities -available for sale* R 45.352 50.099 85.177 425.695 2945429  3.551.752
- held to maturity - - - 20.869 10.912 12.000 43.781
Other 110.687 920.591 140.027 19.066 1.777 1.522.971 2.715.119
Assets held for sale R } R _ - 19.476 19.476
Total assets 700.107  6.426.703 3126258 7.191.711 13.381.210 22.452.941 53.278.930
Liabilities i
Due to banks 5584  3.744.973 881268  273.925 71.376 9.294 49864120
Derivative financial instruments - 20.718 9.931 31.081 52.426 180.266 303.422
Due to customers 51229 36.727.717 1.878.649 2.174.391 226.319 1.895 41.060.200
Other orrowed funds - - - - 750000  1274.051  2.024.051
Other 2324 511958 1181310  145.256 2.140 89.360 1932348
Total liabilities 59.137 41.014.366 3.951.158 2.624.653 1.102.261 1.554.866 50.306.441
Net liquidity gap 640.970 (34.587.663) (824.900 (4.567.056) (12.278.949) 20.898.076  2.972.489
* amounts include investments in subsidiaries
31.12.2004
Subjectto  Uptol 1to3 3to12
notice month months months 1toeSyrs Over5yrs Total
Total assets : 2.384.216 8.354.735 3.685.848 8.732.149 11.543.477 13.447.009 48.147.434
Total liabilities 226408 26753568  2.112.813 2341861 13209482  880.029 45.524.161
Net liquidity gap 2.157.808 (18.398.833) 1.573.035  6.390.288 (1.666.005) 12.566.980 ' 2.623.273

4.4 Foreign exchange risk
The Bank trades in all major currencies holding mainly short-term positions, which arise from and are used for
servicing its institutional, corporate, domestic and international clientele.

The Bank’s strategy is to hold minimal open foreign exchange risk but at a level sufficient to service its client
base. In this context, the non-euro denominated Eurobond positions are funded by customer and interbank
deposits in the respective currencies. The Bank’s open foreign exchange position is limited to the capital
contributed to the overseas operations (branches and subsidiaries) with the associated foreign exchange risk. In
addition, because non-euro denominated expenses are largely offset by non-euro denominated revenues, the
foreign exchange risk is low.
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The Bank files standard foreign exchange position reports on a regular basis, which enables the Central Bank to
monitor its foreign exchange risk. VAR limits are set according to the guidelines of the Group’s Risk
Management Council and monitored by the Internal Audit Division. The Bank’s exposure to foreign exchange

risk is as follows:

Assets

Cash and balances with central banks
Treasury bills and other eligible bills
Due from banks (net)

Financial assets - fair value through P&L

Derivative financial instruments
Loans and advances to customers (net)
Investment in subsidiaries

Investment securities -available for sale *

- held to maturity
Investment property
Investments in associates
Intangible assets
Property & equipment
Other assets, including tax assets
Assets held for sale
Total assets

Liabilities
Due to banks
Derivative financial instruments
Due to customers
Other borrowed funds
Other liabilities including tax liabilities
Retirement benefit obligations
Total liabilities
Net on balance sheet position

* amounts include investments in subsidiaries

Total assets

Total liabilities

Net on balance sheet position
Credit commitments

31.12.2005
EURO  USD GBP  JPY CHF  Other Total
1818888 15348 1688 138 450 11711 1.848.223
68.052 ; ; . - 18.026 86.078
3470728 442162 92572 6158 47.060 83.943  4.142.623
13311039 91.617 ; ; - 7007 13.409.663
220443 51392 487 4325 2332 4521 283.500
25869232 949.236 179.499  16.532 117200 47.016  27.178.715
2749.141 353370 131553 268.580 . 49108 3.551.752
40.968 ; . . . 2813 43781
; 165 ; . . 251 416
278.025 ; N ; . - 278.025
28.907 2246 237 ; . 2488 33.878
1.114.910 2 24135 ; - 3691 1142738
19.476 19.476
989.124  107.055 125333 34511 572 3467 1.260.062
50.178.334 1.874.148 543.657 330244 167.614 184.933  53.278.930

EURO USD GBP JPY CHF Other Total
4546214 304074  70.846 130 7050  58.106  4.986.420
178.082  68.628 1777 53299 258 1378 303.422
35.487.466 3.632.987 387.927 371264 39.163 1.141.393  41.060.200
1663.154 144914 - 215983 ; - 2.024.051
1647986 94479 13563 51808 2465  59.191  1.869.492
62.856 - - } : - 62.856
43.585.758 4245082 474113 692.484 48936 1.260.068  50.306.441
6.373.699 (2.232.489)  81.391 (362.240) 118.678 (1.006.550)  2.972.489
31.12.2004

EURO USD GBP JPY CHF Other Total
43.389.520 3.166.620 779.810 369.066 275475 166934  48.147.434
39.081.823 3.996.433 728434 567778 74319 1.075374  45.524.161
4307706 (829.813) 51376 (198.712) 201156 (908.440)  2.623.273
5.147.098 » - - - 45314  5.192.412
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4.5 Fair values of financial assets and liabilities

Financial assets

Treasury bills and other eligible bills
Due from other banks

Loans and advances to customers (net)
Investment securities - available for sale
Investment securities - held to maturity
Investment property

Investments in associates

Intangible assets

Property, plant and equipment

Financial liabilities

Due to other banks
Due to customers
Other borrowed funds

4.6 Capital adequacy and Credit ratings

31.12.2005
Carrying
amount Fair value
86.078 86.078
4.142.623 4.137.762
27.178.715  27.835.917
3.551.752 3.551.752
43.781 43.781
416 835
278.025 278.025
33.878 33.878
1.142.738 1.142.738
Carrying
amount Fair value
4.986.420 4.988.785
41.060.200 41.056.289
2.024.051 2.024.051

31.12.2004
Carrying
amount Fair value
118.674 118.708
8.322.507 8.322.508
23.096.956  23.496.806
1.868.294 1.882.196
414 472
280.593 280.593
28.715 28.715
1.060.862 1.060.862
Carrying
amount Fair value
5.748.858 5.748.130
37.174.565 37.174.039
1.582.149 1.582.148

The Bank is subject to various regulatory capital requirements administered by the central bank. Quantitative
measures established by regulation to ensure capital adequacy require the Bank to maintain minimum amounts
and ratios determined on a risk-weighted basis, capital (as defined) to assets, certain off-balance sheet items, and
the notional credit equivalent arising from the total capital requirements against market risk, of at least 8%. At
least half of the required capital must consist of ““Tier I'* capital (as defined), and the rest of ““Tier II’* capital
(as defined). The framework applicable to Greek banks conforms to European Union requirements, in particular
the Own Funds, the Solvency Ratio and the Capital Adequacy Directives. However, under the relevant European
legislation, supervisory authorities of the member-states have some discretion in determining whether to include
particular instruments as capital guidelines and to assign different weights, within a prescribed range, to various

categories of assets.
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Capital adequacy (amounts in € million)

Capital: 31.12.2005
Upper Tier T eapital.......ooooii e et 2.560
Lower Tier Teapital.. ... e -
DeAUCLIONS ...ooiiii et (34)
Tier I capital 2.526
Upper Tier IT capital ... e 1.089
Lower Tier IL Capital ......cocooiiiiiiiii i e 966
DIEAUCHIONS. ...\t (6)
TOtAl CAPILAL ..ottt et 4.575
Risk weighted assets:

On Balance sheet (investment book) ..........c.ccooiriiiiiii e 24.339

Off Balance sheet (investment BOOK) ...........ooiiieiiiiiii e 1.868
Trading POrtfOlI0 ....ooiiiiiii e e 999
Total risk weighted assets ... 27.206
Ratios:

Core & TIET L. e 9.28%
TOtAl BIS Lottt 16.82%

As at 31 December 2005, in accordance with IFRS and the rules of the Bank for International Settlements (BIS),
the capital base of the NBG was €4.575 million. Therefore the capital base surplus, over the 8% of risk-weighted
assets required by the BIS rules was €2.399 million.

Credit Ratings
The table below sets forth the credit ratings that have been assigned to the Bank by Moody’s Investors Services

Limited (referred to below as ‘“Moody’s’’), Standard and Poor’s Rating Services (referred to below as ‘Standard
and Poor’s’’), Fitch Ratings Ltd. (referred to below as ‘‘Fitch’’) and Capital Intelligence Ltd. (referred below as

(Capital Intelligence). All credit ratings have been recently affirmed and/or upgraded.

Financial Outlook
Rating Agency Long term Short term strength/

individual
Moody’s *.. ..o A2 P-1 C Stable
Standard & Poor’s.........cccoeviiiiii BBB+ A-2 - Positive
Fitch * . .., A- F2 B/C Stable
Capital Intelligence............occcoooiiiiiiiiiiiin. A Al A Stable

(*) Affirmed or upgraded in December 2005
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NOTE 5: Segment reporting
The Bank manages its business through the following business segments:

Retail Banking

Retail banking includes all individuals (retail banking customers) of the Bank, professionals, small-medium and
small sized companies (companies with annual turnover of up to € 2,5 million). The Bank, through its extended
network of branches, offers to its retail customers a number of types of deposit and investment products as well
as a wide range of traditional services and products.

Corporate & Investment banking

Corporate & Investment banking includes lending to all large and medium-sized companies, shipping finance
and investment banking activities. The Bank offers its corporate customers a wide range of products and
services, including financial and investment advisory services, deposit accounts, loans (denominated in both euro
and foreign currency), foreign exchange and trade service activities.

Global Markets and Asset management

Global Markets and Asset management includes all treasury activities, private banking, asset management
(mutual funds and closed end funds), custody services and brokerage.

International

The Bank’s international banking activities include a wide range of traditional commercial banking services,
such as extensions of commercial and retail credit, trade financing, and foreign exchange.

Other

Includes proprietary real estate management, hotel and warehousing business as well as unallocated income and
expense of the Bank (interest expense of subordinate debt, loans to Bank personnel etc)
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Breakdown by business segment

Corporate & Global markets Inter-

Retail  Investment & Asset national
‘000 EURO Banking Banking Management activies Other Total
From 1 January to 31.12.2005 )
Net interest income ...............oooooiiiiininninn 1.138.516 200.848 169.361 (1.480) (171.471) 1.335.774
Net fee & commission income............cc.c..... 132.193 51.844 52.083  2.299 2.554 240.973
Other operating income (1) ...........ccoocerne. 53.526  (24.535) 94.208  7.213 61.827 192.239
Total operating income ........................... 1.324.235  228.157 315.652  8.032 (107.090) 1.768.986
DIrect COSES....vvviviiiiiiiii (508.389) (34.306) (36.876) (31.693) (30.708)  (641.972)
Allocated costs & provisions.................o.... (402.711) (55.989) (19.885) (10.413) (15.149)  (504.147)
Profit Before Tax .............c..ccoons 413.135 137.862 258.891 (34.074) (152.947) 622.867
Taxes ... (132.203)  (44.116) (54317)  10.904 71.179  (148.553)
Profit After Tax...... 280.932 93.746 204.574 (23.170) (81.768) 474.314
Other items:
Depreciation and amortization (2)................. (20.064) (1.037) (3.707) (2.999) (25.628) (53.435)
PrOVISIONS. ... ivvieteriii e ce e (164.262) (21.245) - (686) (5.228)  (191.421)

(1) includes allocated income and expenses.
(2) Line items exclude cost center deprecation included under allocated costs & provisions amounting to approximately € 18 711.

Segment assets as at 31.12.2005.................... 19.151.373  9.912.008  18.591.372 857.720 4.766.457 53.278.930

Segment liabilities & equity as at 31.12.2005  38.867.759  1.466.238 6.577.3791.147.058  5.220.496 53.278.930
From 1 January to 31.12.2004

Net interest income ... 957.958 166.867 148.736 (20.315) (94.831) 1.158.415
Net fee & commission income...................... 133.666 47.466 46.613  8.535 (6.450) 229.830
Other operating income (1) ... 65.057  (23.710) 17.200 16.219 123.810 198.576
Total operating income .......................... 1.156.681 190.623 212.549  4.439 22529  1.586.821
DIrect COSES ...oviviiririiniiiiii (513.272)  (50.489) (48.860) (19.429) (143.135) (775.185)
Allocated costs & provisions ................c....... (301.373) (112.274) (19.584) (17.988) (13.270)  (464.489)
Profit Before Tax ... 342.036 27.860 144.105 (32.978) (133.876) 347.147
Taxes ..o (119.712) (9.751) (41.161) 11542 46.836  (112.246)
Profit After Tax 222.324 18.109 102.944 (21.436) (87.040) 234.901

(1) includes allocated income and expenses
Other items:

Depreciation and amortization (2).................. (24.184) (2.143) (5.505) (2.670) (21.887) (56.389)
LOAN PrOVISIONS. c...v.vveveereeerereseeeresn (55.238)  (71.896) - (9.494) (1.051)  (137.679)

(1) includes allocated income and expenses.
(2) Line items exclude cost center deprecation included under allocated costs & provisions amounting to approximately €23 331.

Segment assets as at 31.12.2004............ 16.603.350 9.470.182  17.179.8001.228.376 3.665.726 48.147.434
Segment liabilities & equity as at 31.12.2004. 33.636.151 1.130.575 8.874.8012.250.363  2.255.544 48.147.434
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NOTE 6: Net Interest Income 31.12.2005 31.12.2004

Interest earned on:

Amounts due from banks ..., 302.342 264.466
S BCUTTHICS L oo oo 345.087 438.144
Loans and advances to CustOmers ...................coiioiiiiiiiiieeiiiee e 1.496.921 1.157.523
Other Interest BAIMING ASSELS ...........ccooviiiiiieeiiier et 9.621 10.981
Interest and similar income ... 2.153.971 1.871.114

Interest payable on:

Amounts due to banks ... (240.621) (297.049)
Amounts due t0 CUSTOIMETS ...............ooviiiiiiiiiiiiieee e (491.907) (413.203)
Debt SeCUrities IN ISSUC. ........iiiiviiiiiiiiii et ee e - -
Other borrowed funds ..o (83.242) -
Other interest paying labilities ................oco v (2.427) (2.447)
Interest expense and similar charges........................cccociin (818.197) (712.699)
TOtal. ... 1.335.774 1.158.415
NOTE 7: Net Fee and Commission Income 31.12.2005 31.12.2004
Custody, brokerage & investment banking .................c.coooeiiiiiiiie 24.473 22.667
Retail 1oan fees ...........oooooiiiiiii e 24.430 20.146
Corporate lending fEes ...........cooooo it 69.202 59.044
Banking fees & similar charges ... 101.504 109.347
Fund management fees ...t e 21.364 18.626
Total ..o, 240.973 229.830
NOTE 8: Dividend Income 31.12.2005 31.12.2004
Trading SECUITHES. .. .. oottt et 5.329 4.802
Avatlable for sale SeCUTTHIEs.................oiii i 3.626 4.797
NBG Group SECULIIES. ... .ovviieiiiie e 28.585 60.258
Other SECUTTLIES. ...t e 9915 10.245
Total oo 47.458 80.102
NOTE 9: Net Trading Income / Loss 31.12.2005 31.12.2004
Foreign exchange ... 10.373 22.715
Fixed iNCOmMe SECUTTHIES. .......o.ooiiiii i (49.175) 24.730
EQUILIES ©. oo e, 49.837 26.432
TOtal ..o 11.035 73.877
NOTE 10: Other Operating Income 31.12.2005 31.12.2004
Real estate gains & rentals ... 23.411 26.297
Other IMCOME. ..ot 7.649 18.652
TOtal ..o 31.060 44,949

page 34 out of 54




D R e~

NOTE 11: Personnel Expenses ' 31.12.2005 31.12.2004

Wages and Salaries ............cooiiiiiiii i, : 415.431 422.098
Social security costs & defined contribution plans.................occcooviiiin 186.485 192.203
Pension costs: defined benefit plans ..o 4.986 4.648
Other staff related benefits.............cccoooi i 50.738 172.170
TOLAL ..ot e 657.640 791.119

The average number of employees employed by the Bank during the period to 31 December 2005 was 13.743
(2004: 13.294).

Other staff and related benefits include the cost of various voluntary retirement programs implemented by the
Bank in 2005 and 2004.

Bonuses to employees are accrued for in the period the related service is provided. During 2005, bonuses of
amount €1.424 were paid to employees which should have been provided for in 2004. For this reason, the “other
staff related benefits” of 2004 were restated to €172.170 from €170.746. The profit attributable to shareholders
and retained earnings for the year ended 31 December 2004 were restated accordingly. EPS for the same year-
end has also been restated to €0,71 from €0,70.
Prior to
As restated restatement

For the period 1 January to 31 December 2004
Personnel eXPenses. .......ooi it 791.119 789.695
Profit for the period..... ...t e 234901 233.477

NOTE 12: Retirement benefit obligations

Defined Contribution Plans

National Bank of Greece Pension Plan

The Bank’s employees’ Pension Plan provides for defined contributions to be made by the Bank at a rate of
26,50% of the employee’s salary, for employees who joined any social security fund prior to 1.1.1993. The
corresponding rate for employees insured by any social security fund after that date is 13,33%. Employee
contributions are 11% of the employee’s salary, for employees insured by any social security fund prior to
1.1.1993. The corresponding rate for employees insured by any social security fund after that date is 6,67%.
Plan contributions are determined by years of service with the Bank and the employee’s final salary level.

National Bank of Greece Auxiliary Pension Plan

The Bank’s employees’ Auxiliary Pension Plan provides for defined contributions to be made by the Bank at a
rate of 9% of the employee’s salary. Employees contribute at a rate of 3,50% of their salary. Benefits paid are
determined by years of service with the Bank and the employee’s final pensionable pay.

Defined contribution health plans

Contributions by the Bank to the National Bank of Greece Health Plan (T.Y.P.E.T.) amount to 6,25% of
employees’ salaries. Employees’ contributions amount to 2,50% of their salaries. Additional contributions are
paid for insured members of the employees’ families and amount up to 2% for three or more protected members
(spouse that does not work and children), and are increased further in the event that the insured spouse is
employed or that members of the paternal family are also insured. Contributions of retired employees amount to
4% of their pensions and additional contributions equal to those paid by employees in service, are paid for other
insured members of their families. T.Y.P.E.T. offers health benefits to employees before and after their
retirement, and to insured members of their families.

The total contributions paid to defined contribution plans for 2005 and 2004 were €149.4 million and €149.6
million respectively.
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Plans without Bank’s contribution

Personnel Self-Insurance Plan
The Bank does not pay contributions to the aforementioned plan. The Bank has granted a loan to the plan the
year-end balance of which amounts to € 68 million.

Defined Benefit Plans

Youth account benefit plan

The Bank sponsors a Youth account benefit plan under which children of current and former employees are
entitled to a lump sum benefit at age 25 if their parents have chosen to make contributions. The benefit is 25%
of 1,65 of the parents’ basic monthly pay for every year of contributory service. Under the rules of the plan
benefits are paid under several circumstances.

Net periodic costs for defined benefit plans sponsored by the Bank include the following components, which are
recognised in the income statement for the periods ended:

31.12.2005 31.12.2004

CUITENE SEIVICE COSE +.vuvttte ettt ettt et ettt e e et et e e e eneeanens 3.565 3.068
Interest cost 0N ObLGALION .....vtiniiii i 6.267 4.661
Expected return on plan assets........cvuviriureriieii e (4.726) (3.081)
TOtal. .o e 5.106 4.648

The aggregated funding status recognized in the balance sheet is reconciled below:
31.12.2005 31.12.2004

Present value of un funded obligations...............ooociiiiiiiii i 141.277 98.994
Fair value of plan assets ........coooviiiiiiiiic (101.678) (64.597)

39.599 34.397
Present value of unfunded obligations ..........ccoooiiiiiiiiiiiii i 3.142 -
Unrecognized actuarial ains..........ccovvviiiiiiiiiiiior e 20.115 6.570
Net Liability / (Asset) in balancesheet ............................... 62.856 40.967

Movement in net lability:
31.12.2005 31.12.2004

Net liability at the beginning of the year ... 40.967 40.744
Merger of subSIdiaries. ... ....cveuiii i 21.811 -
Actual contributions paid by the Company..............coooiiiiiiiiiiiiiinc e (4.615) (4.425)
Benefits paid directly.......cooooiii i (413) -
Total expense recognised in the income statement...............cocoeeeviiininienninn.. 5.106 4.648
Net Liability / (Asset) in balancesheet ............................. 62.856 40.967

Reconciliation of defined benefit obligation:
: 31.12.2005 31.12.2004
Defined benefit obligation at the beginning of the year .............................. 98.994 92.463

Merger of SubSIAIArIEs .. ..vvuie i 30.871 -
CUITENT SEIVICE COST . entntti ittt ettt e e et ana e s 3.565 3.068
Interest cost 0N ObLIGALION. ......vieii i 6.267 4.661
Employee COmribULIONS ......vviei it 4.664 3.543
Benefits paid fromthe Fund.............coooi (12.446) (16.907)
Benefits paid directly by the Company...............ooiiiiiiiiiiiiiii e (413) -
ACtUATIAL LOSS .ottt 12.917 12.166
Defined benefit obligation atend of year ..........................coo 144,419 98.994
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Recongiliation of plan assets:

Market value at the beginning of the year ......................
Merger of subsidiaries. .. .....o.ooiiinii i
Expected return on plan assets..........coooveiiiieeieiiniine e,
Company contributions ............vvvrveviiiiiiiiie e
Employee contributions ............ccooeiiiiiiiiiiiiii
Fund Benefits ......ooovieiii e
Asset gain / (10SS) ...oouiii i
Fair value of plan assetsatend of year ..................................

31122005  31.12.2004
64.597 51.719
8.345 -
4726 3.081
4615 4425
4.664 3.543
(12.446) (16.907)
27.177 18.736
101.678 64.597

The weighted average assumptions used to determine the net periodic pension costs for the years ended 31

December 2005 and 31 December 2004 are:

DISCOUNT TALE .....utiininii it
Expected return on plan assets ..........coocoiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiie,
Rate of compensation INCrease ............o.ccocoiiiiiiiiniiineeeninin..
Pension INCIEASE ... .uvitire ettt

The actual return on plan assets for the year ended 31 December 2005 was €31.904 (2004: €21.817).

NOTE 13: General & administrative expenses

NOTE 14: Depreciation and ameortisation charges

INVESTMENE PrOPEITY...ccoiiiiiiiiiii ittt
INtan@ible aSSELS........coooiiiiiiiii e e
Property & eqUipmMent.............oooiiiiiiiiii o,

NOTE 15: Other operating expenses

Loss on fixed asset disposals............ccooviviniiiiiiniiii
Maintenance and other related expenses..............c.cccooceecieiiinnn,
Other provision Charges...........cocvvivio i,

NOTE 16: Tax expense

CUITENE EAX ..evtiiitt it ee et
Deferred taX ..ot
Prior Year tAXeS..... ..ot
ONET LAXES. oo

2005 2004
4,25% 5,00%
6,50% 6,50%
4,00% 4,00%
2,50% 2,50%

31.12.2005 31.12.2004
26.344 23.310
109.322 117.879
76.765 67.695
212.431 208.884
31.12.2005 31.12.2004
17 15

13.056 17.833
59.073 61.872
72.146 79.720
31.12.2005 31.12.2004
2.702 351
6.235 4.610

234 4.408

3.310 12.903
12.481 22272
31.12.2005 31.12.2004
122317 104.368
10.145 (1.106)
12.490 4.505
3.601 4.479
148.553 112.246
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Profit before tax. ... ... e 622.867 347.147

Current tax rate 27% 35%
Income tax based on current tax rate (168.174) 121.501
Income not subject t0 tAXatioN. .. ......iiiiii i 36.613 43.031
Expenses not deductible for tax purposes............c.cooooiiviiiii (16.992) (42.286)
Income tax exXpense ... (148.553) (112.246)
Effective taxrate ..........cooeiiiiiiiinnnn. 23.84% 32.33%
NOTE 17: Cash and balances with Central Bank 31.12.2005 31.12.2004
Cashin hand...........ccooiiiiiiiii e 514.513 480.786
Balances with Central Bank.................cccooooiiiii 1.333.710 336.826
TOtal e 1.848.223 817.612

The Bank is required to maintain a current account with the Bank of Greece (BoG) to facilitate interbank
transactions with the Central Bank, its member banks, and other financial institutions through the Trans-
European Automated Real-Time Gross Settlement Express Transfer system (TARGET).

BoG requires all banks established in Greece to maintain deposits with BoG equal to 2% of total customer
deposits as these are defined by the European Central Bank (“ECB”). As of January 1, 2001 these deposits bear
interest at the refinancing rate as set by the ECB. (2,25% at 31 December 2005).

NOTE 18: Due from banks 31.12.2005 31.12.2004
Sight deposits with banks ... 262.042 104.068
Time deposits with banks ... 1.346.163 4.590.346
Securities purchased under agreements toresell ... 2.352.637 3.621.608
OBRBT ...t 181.781 6.485
TOtAL ... s 4.142.623 8.322.507
NOTE 19: Financial assets at fair value through P&L 31.12.2005 31.12.2004
Government bonds and other sovereign obligations..................................... 12.964.294 9.433.073
Other public sector bonds ...............coccoii i 12.556 48.972
Other debt SECUITHIES ...t 216.583 1.528.902
EQUItY SECUTIIES .....eoiviiii i 216.230 65.185
Mutual funds UNTES ..o - 216.987
TORAL .. 13.409.663 11.293.119
NOTE 20: Derivative financial instruments (assets / liabilities) 31.12.2005
‘ Contract/
Notional Amount Fair values

Assets Liabilities
Derivatives held for trading:
Interest rate derivatives —OTC............coooiiiiiinnn. 24.258.944 192.003 (261.495)
Foreign exchange derivatives..............c...coocooenii, 6.083.427 56.467 (25.454)
Other types of derivatives .............ccccer e 233.613 2.816 (4.658)
Interest rate derivatives - Exchange traded .................. 12.695.203 32.214 (11.815)
Total ..o 43.271.187 283.500 (303.422)
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NOTE 21: Loans & advances to customers (net)

MOTEZAZES ...

Consumer 1OANS ............cocviiiiiiiie e
Credit cards .....ooooovvi
Entrepreneur’s lending..................oooocoi

Small Business lending

Movement in allowance for impairment on loans and advances:

Balance at 1 January ..o,

Balance at 1 January (as restated)..........................
Provision for loan impairment .............ocoovveriiees e,
Loans written off ...
Amounts recovered............o.oii
Foreign exchange differences .................cccooviiiiveii e,

Balance at 31 December 2005

NOTE 22: Investment securities

Available-for-sale investment securities:

Greek Government bonds ...........o...cooiiiiiiii

Debt securities issued by other governments and public entities

Corporate bonds incorporated in Greece .............cocooveeviniennnn
Corporate bonds incorporated outside Greece ............c..............
Debt securities issued by Greek financial institutions ................
Debt securities issued by foreign financial institutions ..............
Other debt instruments iSSUES ........ccoeee veviiiieiniii e
Debt securities ..o
Equity securities ...
Mutual funds units ...
Provision for impairment ...................oooeee SUTUURUUTRRUR
Total available-for-sale investment securities.....................

Held-to-maturity investment securities (at amortized cost):

Corporate bonds incorporated in Greece .............ccovveeinnriennn,

NBG Group corporate bonds..........c.ocveiiiiiiniiiiineanans

Total held-to-maturity investment securities .......................

Total investment securities.................ccc.ocoovivve i

Retaillending ...
Corporate 1ending ...........cccoiiiiiciiiiiin i

TAS 39 adjustments .........coooiviiiiiiiiice e

31.12.2005 31.12.2004
11.494.578 8.838.687
2.652.424 2.254.079
1.468.940 1.416.820
1.490.600 1.228.700
542.477 466.000
17.649.019 14.204.286
10.450.928 9.828.399
28.099.947 24.032.685
(921.232) (935.729)
27.178.715 23.096.956
935.729 859.335
17.106 -
952.835 859.335
191.421 137.679
(235.470) (59.845)
7.059 -
5.387 (1.440)
921,232 935.729
31.12.2005 31.12.2004
865.364 -
303.588 24
206.914 265.704
239.830 -
43.546 -
156.527 -
- 9.531
1.815.769 275.259
92.482 64.482
246.255 -
(824) (93)
2.153.682 339.648
20.867 -
22.914 -
43.781 -
2.197.463 339.648
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NOTE 23: Investments in subsidiaries and associates and assets classified as held for sale

Interest Interest

Country (%) 31.12.2005 (%) 31.12.2004
Investments in subsidiaries
National Company of Portfolio Investment SA Greece - - 4641 95.839
National Securities SA Greece 100.00 18.170 100.00 18.170
Ethniki Kefalaiou Management of Assets & Liabilities ~Greece 100.00 3.326 100.00 3.326
Diethniki Mutual Fund Management SA Greece 81.00 11.029 81.00 11.029
National Management & Organisation Company SA Greece 100.00 23.328 100.00 23.328
Ethniki Leasing SA Greece 93.33 29.055 93.33 29.055
Ethniki Mutual Funds SA Greece 100.00 1.175 100.00 1.175
Northern Greece Ethniki Anaptiksiaki SA Greece - - 65.00 4.068
NBG Balkan Fund Ltd Cyprus 100.00 500 100.00 500
NBG Greek Fund Ltd Cyprus 100.00 15.000 100.00 15.000
ETEBA Emerging Markets Fund Ltd Cyprus 100.00 147 100.00 147
ETEBA Estate Fund Ltd Cyprus 100.00 147 100.00 147
ETEBA Venture Capital Management Company Ltd Cyprus 100.00 18 100.00 18
NBG Bancassurance SA Greece 99.70 300 99.70 300
Atlantic Bank of New York USA - - 100.00 50.916
National Bank of Greece (Canada) Canada - - 100.00 16.338
The South African Bank of Athens Ltd S. Affica 91.41 16.070 91.42 14.874
National Bank of Greece (Cyprus) Ltd Cyprus 100.00 40.105 100.00 39.655
NBG Management Services Ltd Cyprus 100.00 959 100.00 948
Stopanska Bank AD Fyrom 71.19 72.010 71.19 72.010
United Bulgarian Bank Ad Bulgaria 99.91 239.076 99.91 239.076
NBG International Ltd UK 100.00 10.215 100.00 9.928
NBG Finance Plc UK 100.00 73 100.00 71
Interlease AD Bulgaria 87.50 1.086 87.50 941
ETEBA Bulgaria AD Bulgaria 92.00 551 92.00 546
ETEBA Romania SA Romania 100.00 919 100.00 879
NBG Luxembourg Holding SA Luxembourg 94.67 71 94.67 71
NBG Luxfinance Holding SA . Luxembourg 94.67 71 64.67 71
National Real Estate SA Greece - - 79.59 357.643
NBG Funding Ltd UK 100.00 10 100.00 10
Banca Romaneasca SA Romania 97.14 69.507 90.87 33.719
Ethniki General Insurance SA Greece 76.65 379.153 76.00 278.177
Astir Palace Vouliagmenis SA Greece 78.06 195.806 76.75 192.930
Astir Alexandroupolis SA Greece 100.00 5.055 100 4.017
Grand Hotel Summer Palace SA Greece 100.00 5.781 100.00 5.781
NBG Training Centre SA Greece 98.00 115 98.00 115
Ethnodata SA Greece 98.41 6.062 98.41 6.062
Kadmos SA Greece 99.99 1.716 99.99 1.716
Dionysos SA _ Greece 99.90 36.470 - -
Ektenepol Construction Company SA Greece 100.00 47.947 - -
Mortgage Tourist Protypos SA Greece 100.00 79.950 - -
Hellenic Tourist Construction SA Greece 77.76 19.871 - -
Ethiki Agricultural Operations SA ) Greece 100.00 19 - -
NBG International Holdings BV Holland 100.00 58.807 - -
Eurial Leasing SRL Romania 70.00 8.400 -

1.398.070 1.528.646
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31.12.2005 31.12.2004
Investments in associates
AGET Heracles Greece 26.00 216.344 26.00 216.344
Phosphate Fertilisers Industries SA Greece 24.23 40.189 24.23 40.189
Lakro Metalourgical Company SA Greece 36.43 4.352 36.43 4352
SIEMENS Teleindustrial SA Greece 30.00 9.973 30.00 9.973
Eviop Tempo SA Greece 21.21 2.438 28.28 3.251
Banking Information Systems ‘TEIRESIAS” SA Greece 39.34 354 39.34 354
Hellenic Export Company SA Greece - - 25.00 59
Hellenic Countrysides SA Greece 20.23 340 20.23 340
Social Securities Fund Management SA Greece 40.00 470 40.00 470
Lykos Paperless Solutions SA Greece - - 30.00 905
Hellenic Spinning Mills of Pella SA Greece 14,95 - 20.89 791
Planet Ernst &Young SA Greece 31.72 3.565 31.72 3.565
278.025 280.593
Assets classified as held for sale
National Bank of Greece (Canada) Canada 100.00 19.476 - -
. 19.476 -
The movement of investment securities is summarized below:
Investment securities Held to  Available
maturity for sale
Balance at 1 January 2005.................cooii e - 1.868.294
- Foreign exchange differences on monetary assets..................cc.ccoovvrvunrenn.n. 81 36.933
- Additions within the period ..o 66.265 1.522.089
- Disposals (sale and redemption) within the period .................................... (22.565) (2.030.224)
- Premiumdiscount amortisation - (11.186)
- Gains / (losses) from changes in fair value.........................c - 4,176
-IAS 39 adjustment & reclassifications - 2.181.146
Balance at 31 December 2005.....................ccooooiiiiiiiie e 43.781  3.571.228

Investments securities available for sale as analysed above include the cost of the subsidiary NBG Canada which

has been classified as held for sale.

NOTE 24: Intangible assets

Goodwill Software Other Total

Cost

At 1.1.2004 1 129.770 2.782 132.553
Additions, disposals and write-offs 37 7.802 12.893 20.732
At 31.12.2004 38 137.572 15.675 153.285
Accumulated amortization and impairment

At 1.1.2004 (107.091) (607) (107.698)
Additions, disposals and write-offs - 646 318 964
Amortization charge for the period - - (16.670) (1.164) (17.834)
At 31.12.2004 - (123.115) (1.453) (124.568)
Net book amount at 31.12.2004 38 14.457 14.222 28.717
Cost

At 1.1.2005 38 137.572 15.675 153.285
Additions, disposals and write-offs (38) 5.877 10.605 16.444
At 31.12.2005 - 143.449 26.280 169.729
Accumulated amortization and impairment

At 1.1.2005 - (123.115) (1.453) (124.568)
Additions, disposals and write-offs - 1.600 173 1.773
Amortization charge for the period - (10.481) (2.575) (13.056)
At 31.12.2005 - (131.996) (3.855) (135.851)
Net book amount at 31.12.2005 - 11.453 22.425 33.878
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NOTE 25: Property & equipment
Land Buildings Vehicles & Leasehold Assets under Total

Cost . . .

equipment improvements construction
At 1.1.2004 566.416 593.088 341.422 44.389 16.734 1.562.049
Additions,
disposals and write-offs (3.247) 11.163 20.078 5.568 3.800 37.362
Exchange differences - - - - 3 3
At 31.12.2004 563.169 604.251 361.500 49,957 20.537 1.599414

Accumulated depreciation
and impairment

At 1.1.2004 (204.171) (248.906) -+ (33.091) - (486.168)
Additions,

disposals & write-offs - 1.296 7.016 1.175 - 9.487
Depreciation charge

for the period - (18.594) (39.217) (4.060) - (61.871)
At 31.12.2004 (221.469)  (281.107) (35.976) - 538.552
Net book amount at 31.12.2004 563.169 382.782 80.394 13.981 20.537 1.060.862
At 1.1.2005 563.169 604.251 361.501 45.957 20.537 1.599.415
Additions,

disposals and write-offs 54.814 57.158 21.545 5.632 8.565 147.714
Exchange differences 58 926 74 64 (1D 1.111
At 31.12.2005 618.041 662.335 383.120 55.653 29.091 1.748.240

Accumulated depreciation
and impairment

At 1.1.2005 - (221.469) (281.107) (35.976) - (538.552)
Additions,

disposals & write-offs - (6.227) (264) (1.387) - (7.878)
Depreciation charge

for the period - (19.453) (35.297) (4.322) - (59.072)
At 31.12.2005 - (247.149)  (316.668) (41.685) - (605.502)
Net book amount at 31.12.2005 618.041 415,186 66.452 13.968 29.091 1.142.738
NOTE 26: Deferred tax assets & liabilities 31.12.2005 31.12.2004

Deferred tax assets:

Securities and derivatiVes ...........cccoiuiiiiiis s 108.036 -
Tangible and intangible assets ......................... SOOI 9.303 10.109
Pension and other post retirement benefits ... 15.120 10.147
Other temporary differences ..o 16.300 20.900
Deferred tax assets. ..ottt 148.759 41.156
Deferred tax liabilities:

Securities and dETIVALIVES ........ccoiiiiiiiiiiii e s 76.575 -
Tangible and intangible assets ...........ccocciiiiiii i 8.178 4.348
Other temporary differences ...........ccoooviiiieiii 822 -
Deferred tax liabilities. ... 85.575 4.348
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Deferred tax chai‘ge in the income statement:

Securities and derivatives ...
Loans and advances t0 CUSIOMETS. ... ..uuuuieiit ettt e e ea i eeiaaee
Tangible and intangible @SSELS ... .....c..iiiiiiiiiiiiir e
Pension and other post retirement benefits ...
Effect of mergers through absorption..............ccoooiiiiiiiici
Other temporary differences ...
Deferred tax charge in the income statement-.........................cen,
Deferred tax through equity ...
Net deferred tax MOVEMENt ...............oooooiiiiii e

NOTE 27: Other assets

Accrued interest and COMIMISSIONS ........oooiiirriiiiiiiii e
Tax prepayments and other recoverable taxes ............ccccoviiiiiiii
Trade receivables .. ...

NOTE 28: Due to banks

Demand deposits due to credit inStIULIONS .. .....covvieiviciiiinii e
Time deposits due to credit INStITUHONS ..ottt
Interbank deposits and amounts due to ECB............ccooiiiiiviii
Amounts due to Central Bank ...

NOTE 29: Due to customers

Deposits:

INdIvIAUALS. ..o e e

COTPOTALES. ..o ettt ettt et e e e et e e en e e

Government and @ZEeNCIES ...........ocieiiriiiiiieii e
Total deposits ...

Securities sold to customers under agreements to
repurchase.................c......

Other dUe t0 CUSEOIMIETS .......ooiiiiieee e

Amounts due to customers. .................c.c.....

NOTE 30: Other borrowed funds

*  NBG Finance ple, a wholly owned subsidiary of the Bank, issued:

31.12.2005 31.12.2004
1853 .
(4.619) ;
(4.962) 2347
(412) (4.031)
4.924 ;
(2.003) 2.790
(5.219) 1.106
31.595 :
26.376 1.106
31.12.2005 31.12.2004
508.324 542,076
136.013 175.567
12.179 12.791
86.527 76.249
14.950 9.641
353.310 402.206
1111303 1.218.530
31.12.2005 31.12.2004
87.945 157.906
284.457 800.449
2.099.226 721.840
5.158 4.765
2479265  4.023.229
30.369 40.669
4.986.420  5.748.858
31.12.2005 31.12.2004
33.937.922  30.281.674
4404633  2.750.302
2047622 1.728.840
40.390.177  34.760.816
300.023  2.168.797
370.000 244.951
41.060.200  37.174.565

a) In June 2002, € 750 million callable subordinated floating rate notes guaranteed on subordinated basis the
Bank due in June 2012. The notes are redeemable at the option of the Bank in or after June 2007. The
notes carry interest at EURIBOR plus 80 bps to June 2007 and EURIBOR plus 210 bps thereafter, which
is paid quarterly. The subordinated loan is carried at amortized cost. The commissions and other costs
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b)

a)

b)

¢)

related to the issuance of those notes are amortized as interest expense on a constant yield basis over the
period from the placement to the first redemption option.

In June 2005, JPY 30 billion (€ 224 000) callable subordinated fixed rate notes guaranteed on a
subordinated basis by the Bank due in June 2035. The notes may be redeemed at the option of the Bank in
or after June 2015. The notes carry fixed rate interest of 2,755% which is payable semi-annually in
arrears. The subordinated loan is carried at amortized cost. The commissions and other costs related to the
issuance of those notes are amortized as interest expense on constant yield basis over the period from the
placement to the first redemption option.

The proceeds of the above Notes issued by NBG Finance are lent to the Bank under loan agreements with
the same terms as each one of the Notes referred to above.

NBG Funding Ltd, a wholly owned subsidiary of the Bank, issued:

In July 2003, € 350 million Series A Floating Rate Non — Cumulative Non Voting Preferred Securities. The
notes carry interest at the 3-month EURIBOR plus 175 bps up until July 11, 2013 and EURIBOR plus 275

bps thereafter, which is paid quarterly.

In November 2004, € 350 million Series B and USD 180 million Series C Constant Maturity Swap
(“CMS”) Linked Subordinated Callable Notes guaranteed on a subordinate basis by the Bank. The notes are
perpetual and may be redeemed by NBG Funding, in whole but not in part in November 2014 or any
dividend date falling thereafter subject to the consent of the Bank. The preferred dividend rate for series B
1s 6,25% the first year and then is determined as the 10 year EUR CMS mid swap rate plus 12,5bps reset
every six months and capped at 8% and for series C is 6,75% the first year and then is determined as the 10
year USD CMS mid swap rate plus12,5 bps reset every six months and capped at 8,5% paid semi-anually.

In February 2005, € 230 million Series D Constant Maturity Swap (“CMS”) Linked Subordinated Callable
Notes guaranteed on a subordinate basis by the Bank. The notes are perpetual and may be redeemed by
NBG Funding, in whole but not in part on 16 February 2015, or any dividend date falling thereafter subject
to the consent of the Bank. The preferred dividend rate for series D is 6,00% until 16 February 2010, and
thereafter determined as the difference of 10-year CMS mid swap rate minus 2-year mid swap rate
multiplied by four on annual basis capped at 10% and floored at 3,25%.

The proceeds of the instruments issued by NBG Funding were lent to NBG Finance through Eurobond issues
and ultimately lent to the Bank under loan agreements with the same terms as each one of the instruments
referred to above but with a 30 year maturity.

NOTE 31: Other liabilities 31.12.2005 31.12.2004
Accrued interest and COMIMISSIONS ..........oovveiiieiiee et 288.218 186.188
Creditors and SUPPLIETS ........cc.oiiiiiiiiii e 173.531 243.762
Amounts due to gOVEINMENt AZENCIES ......c.ooovviiriiiriiriis e e e 409.426 113.814
Other PrOVISIONS. .....iov ittt 32.959 32.263
Taxes payable - other than income taxes ... 22.188 28.572
Accrued expenses and deferred income ... 30.361 33.678
Payroll related acCrUals ..........o.oceiiiimiiiiiirii e 38.773 35.781
Dividends payable ..........ooovviieiiii e, 12.698 12.734
OBRET .., 636.388 177.610
Other liabilities .................ccoi 1.644.542 864.402
Current tax Habilities ............ocoivoiiiiiie e, 139.375 108.872
Total..............cciii e e 1.783.917 973.274
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The movement of other provisions may be summarised as follows:

31.12.2005 31.12.2004

Balance at beginning of period.......................... 32.263 29.440
Foreign exchange differences.........c..oooooviniiiii e, 457 (44)
Provisions charged to income statement during the period.....................oc 239 4.409
Provisions utilised during the period ..................ooooiinii - (1.542)
Balance at period end................... 32.959 32.263

NOTE 32: Share capital, share premium and treasury shares

The total number of authorised, issued and fully paid ordinary shares as at 31 December 2005 was 336.599.045
(31.12.2004: 331.575.511) with a nominal value of €4,80 (2004: €4,50) per share. The increase is owed to the
merger through absorption of National Investment Company S.A. Following the completion of the merger
through absorption of National Real Estate S.A. the Bank’s share capital will consist of 339.269.412 shares with
a nominal value of €5,00 per share. The computation is based on Annual General Meeting decisions regarding
the absorption of National Investment Company S.A and National Real Estate S.A. dated 31 May 2005 and 31
July 2005 respectively.

The weighted average number of shares for 2005 and 2004 was 334.360.105 and 331.166.119 respectively.
- Earnings per share for 2005 and 2004 was €1,42 and €0,71 respectively.

The Bank has in place a programme to purchase up to 5.000.000 own shares, at a price of no less than €5,00 and
no more than €37,00 per share between 1 January and 15 May 2006. This purchase will be carried out by virtue
of BoD resolution of 29 December 2005, in implementation of the resolution of the Annual General Meeting of
Shareholders of 17 May 2005 regarding the purchase by the Bank, by 15 May 2006, of own shares up to an
amount equal to 5% of total stock, including stock owned by the Bank from time to time, in accordance with
article 16, par. 5 of Companies' Act 2190/1920.

Pursuant to the aforementioned, the Bank bought 35.000 shares (0.01%) between 1 September and 31 December
2005 at an average purchase price of €30,99 per share.

Treasury Shares ) , o No of shares €°000s
At1January 2004, ... 7.697 283
Purchases of treasury Shares.................cccooiiiiini e 1.449.614 29.235
At31December 2004 .............oooiiiii e 1.457.311 29.518
Purchases of freasury Shares..............cccovviiiiiiiiiiii ' 370.000 10.179
Sales of treasury shares ...........c..coo i (1.792.311) (38.612)
At31 December 2005, ..o 35.000 1.085

Stock Option Program: On June 22, 2005 at a General Meeting of Sharcholders a stock options program (the
Program) was approved for the executive members of the Board of Directors (BoD), management and staff of
the Bank. The Program shall last for five years and expire in 2010. The Bank’s BoD may decide to grant the
options one-off or in parts at any time at its discretion. The maximum number of shares to issue under the
Program shall be 2,5 million. The strike price shall be within the range of € 4,50 to 70% of the average price
thereof within the time period from 1 January of the year the options are granted until the date they are first
exercised. All other details of the Program shall be decided by the BoD at a later date.
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NOTE 33: Reserves & Retained Earnings 31.12.2005 31.12.2004

SHATIIOTY TESETVE ...viiiiii et 212.652 189.628
Revaluation reserve- available for sale securities ....................ccoov 41.139 -

Revaluation reserve - fixed asSets ........oooooiiiiiis i e - 27.984
Non-taxable 1eSeIVesS ..o e, 646.394 550.604
TaAXEA TESEIVE .. oo i it e e 80.269 78.464
Other 21 -
TOtaAl FESEIVES. ... e e 980.475 846.680
Retained GaIMINES .......coocviviiiiiot et et e e 296.752 281.628
TOtal o 1.277.227  1.128.308

Tax exempt reserves represent profits made on the sale of shares, property, bonds and other similar assets as well
as income taxed at special rates such as interest earned on treasury bills and bonds, which are not distributed.
These reserves are fully taxed upon distribution.

The movement of AFS securities is analyzed as follows.

At 1 January 2005 -
TAS 39 adJUSTMENLS. ...t e e ... 105,153
Net gains / (losses) from changes in fair value of AFS iInvestments .............cc.ococoiiiiiiii 38.675
Net (gains) / losses transferred to iNCOME StALCMEIIE .........ovivviiiiiieiieiee e (102.689)
At31 December 2005, ... e 41.139

NOTE 34: Dividends per share

On 17 May 2005 at the annual General Meeting of the Shareholders of the Bank, the shareholders approved a
dividend of €0,60 for every share (2004: €0,65) which was paid on 30 June 2005.

For the year ended 31 December 2005 management intends to propose to the Annual General Meeting the
distribution of total dividends of €339.269 being €1,00 per share

NOTE 35: Cash and cash equivalents 31.12.2005  31.12.2004

For the purposes of the cash flow statement, cash and cash equivalent consist of the following
balances with less than three months maturity from the acquisition date.

Cash and balances with central banks ... 1.134.970 506.341
Due from banks ...t e, 1.511.524  3.764.098
TOtAL. ... .o 2.646.494 4.270.439
NOTE 36: Earnings per share 31.12.2005  31.12.2004
Net profit attributable to NBG ordinary shareholders ....................c.oveininon 474.314 234,901
Weighted average number of ordinary shares outstanding (no. of shares)..........  334.360.105  331.166.119
Earnings per share (in Euro)..................... €1,42 €0,71

page 46 out of 54




NOTE 37: Contingent liabilities and commitments

Legal proceedings

The Bank is a defendant in certain claims and legal actions arising in the ordinary course of business. In the
opinion of management, after consultation with legal counsel, the ultimate disposition of these matters is not
expected to have a material adverse effect on the financial condition of the Bank.

Pending Tax audits

The Bank has been audited by the tax authorities up to 2004 inclusive. The tax authorities have not yet audited
2005 and accordingly tax obligations for the current year not be considered final. Additional taxes and penalties
may be imposed as a result of such tax audit; although the amount cannot be determined at present, it is not
expected to be material.

Capital Commitments 31.12.2005 31.12.2004
Commitments to extend Credits ...........cociviiiiiiiiint s 10.386.660 8.010.737
Commercial letters of eredit ... 136.915 286.000
Standby letters of credit and financial guarantees written.......................c....ooeven, 2.615.411 2,223.953
TOtAL. ... e 13.138.986 10.520.690
Assets pledged 31.12.2005 31.12.2004
BONS. ..o 1.517.188 709.109
Operating lease commitments 31.12.2005 31.12.2004
No later than 1 Year..........oooii e, 17.609 16.969
Later than 1 year and no later than 5 years..............cccco i 56.570 51.314
Later than 5 YEarS.......ocovvrier oot 64.215 42.182

138.394 110.465

NOTE 38: Related —party transactions

The nature of the related party relationships for those related parties with whom the Bank entered into significant
transactions or had significant balances outstanding at 31 December 2005 and 31 December 2004 are presented
below. Transactions were entered into with related parties during the course of business at market rates.

Transactions with management

The Bank entered into banking transactions with members of the Board of Directors and General Managers of
the Bank in the normal course of business. The list of the members of the Board of Directors is shown under
Note 1 General Information. Loans and deposits as of 31 December 2005 amounted to €628.897 and €4.390.262
respectively. Letters of Guarantee in issue amounted to €2.310.

Other related party transactions

Receivables, payables, income and expenditure and other memo account balances with related entities, as of 31
December 2005, amount to €1.453 million (2004: €824 million), €3.004 million (2004: €113million)., €58
million (2004: €45 million)., €168 million (2004:€129 million) and €149 million (2004: €277 million)
respectively.

The most significant transactions relate to variable interest rate borrowed funds, amounts due to banks, amounts
due to customers, interest income from subordinated debt and commission fees and related expenses.

Board of Directors’ and General Managers’ fees

Board of Directors’ and General Managers’ fees for 2005 amounted to approximately €5.663.5 (2004: €
4.976,3). Respective fund contributions amounted to approximately € 909,6 thousand (2004: €811,2).
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NOTE 39: Post balance sheet events

Merger of National Bank of Greece and National Real Estate Company

The Boards of Directors of the Bank and National Real Estate Company decided the merger of the two
Companies effected through absorption of the latter by the former. The appropriate regulatory authorities
approved the merger of the two companies in October 2005 (Greek Government Gazette issue
11146/21.10.2005). The second repeat General Meeting of the Bank’s Shareholders of 2 February 2006 and the
General Meeting of the National Real Estate Company of 29 December 2005, approved the above merger. The
merger will be typically concluded following the issue of the relevant decision by the Ministry of Development.

PricewaterhouseCoopers and KPMG were appointed as auditors in order to certify the book value of National
Bank of Greece's and National Real Estate's assets, respectively, as at the transformation balance sheets date
(31.7.2005). They will also review the draft merger agreement and provide an opinion as to the fairness and
reasonableness of the share exchange ratio.

On completion of the merger, subject to the above conditions, and cancellation of National Real Estate shares
owned by National Bank, the Bank’s total number of shares will increase by 2.670.367 shares which, added to
existing shares pursuant to completion of its merger with National Investment Company (i.e. 336.599.045), will
raise the total number of the Bank’s shares to 339.269.412.

The amounts recognized at the acquisition date for each class of the acquiree’s assets, liabilities and contingent
liabilities are as follows:

31.07.2005
DUE oM DAIIKS ..o 6.098
Property and EQUIPIMENT. ..ottt e s 116.178
BT B8BTS, oo e, 204.183
O Al A S, . i 326.459
Total Habilities. ... 10.402
Shareholder’s equity..................o 316.057

Disposal of National Bank of Greece (Canada)

In November 2005, the Bank announced the signing of the agreement for the sale of its subsidiary National

Bank of Greece (Canada) to Scotiabank.

In February 2006, the Bank announced the conclusion of the agreement for the sale of its subsidiary National
Bank of Greece (Canada) to Scotiabank. The total consideration received reached the amount of CAD 71,3
million (equivalent €52 million.).

Astir Alexandroupolis

In November 2005, the Bank announced its intention to dispose of its 100% holding in Astir Alexandroupolis by
way of public competition.

In January 2006, the disposal of the subsidiary Astir Alexandroupolis was concluded. The total consideration
received reached the amount of approximately €6.530 million.

Banca Romaneasca

In December 2005 the Bank’s Board of Directors decided the Bank’s participation in the share capital increase of
its subsidiary Banca Romaneasca.

In January 2006, the Bank participated in the share capital increase of its subsidiary Banca Romaneasca for
109.802.021 out of 126.000.000 new shares amounting to RON 219,6 million (equivalent €63 million), with the
option to cover in full the share capital increase up to the amount of RON 252 million (equivalent €70 million).

NOTE 40: Acquisitions & Disposals

Acquisitions

National Investment Company S.A.
Following the announcement of the Boards of Directors of National Bank of Greece (the “Bank™) and National
Investment Company in June 2005, regarding the proposed merger through absorption of the latter by the
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former, the Bank’s second repeat General Meeting of its Shareholders held on 3 November 2005, passed the
following resolutions:

a) The merger through absorption of National Investment Company S.A. by the Bank, and specifically approved
the relevant Draft Merger Agreement (dated 2/6/2005), the individual and, in view of the absorption, combined
pro-forma transformation balance sheet and income statement of the Bank as at 31/5/2005, Emporiki Bank’s
valuation report as to the fairness and reasonableness of the share exchange ratio, PricewaterhouseCoopers
chartered auditors’ reports certifying the book value of the Bank’s fixed assets as at the transformation: date
(31/5/2005) and the fairness and reasonableness of the share exchange ratio (i.e. 12 shares of the absorbed
company to 1 share of the absorbing), and the Bank’s BoD report on the Draft Merger Agreement.

b) Cancellation, pursuant to Companies’ Act 2190/1920, of National Investment Company’s shares owned by
the absorbing Bank.

¢)Increase in the share capital of the Bank by €123,6 million approximately in total through the issue of
5.023.534 new shares of nominal value of €4,80 to be distributed to the remaining shareholders, other than the
absorbing Bank, of the absorbed National Investment Company S.A., and through an increase in the nominal
value of the existing shares by equivalent capitalization of the share premium account from €4,50 to €4,80.

Pursuant to the above and following completion of the merger, the Bank’s share capital shall amount to
€1.615.675.416 divided into 336.599.045 common registered shares of a nominal value of €4,80 each.

The amounts recognized at the acquisition date for each class of the acquiree’s assets, liabilities and contingent
liabilities are as follows:

31.05.2005
DUC FrOM DANKS. ... e et et 95.220
Property and EQUIPITIEIIT. ...ttt 35
L1 (1 g Lo U U T OO U U P OO P PP TR 195.422
TOtAL ASSOLS. ... i\ oo 290.677
Total Habilithes........ ... e e e e 1.088
Shareholder’s €QUILY...........ccoiiiiiiiii i e 289.589

EURIAL Leasing
In November 2005, the Bank signed an agreement for the acquisition of a majority stake (70%) of the share
capital of the Romanian leasing company EURIAL Leasing.

Disposals

Atlantic Bank of New York

In October 2005 the Bank announced the signing of the agreement for the sale of its subsidiary Atlantic

Bank of New York to New York Community Bancorp, Inc. the holding company for New York Community
Bank. The purchase price amounts to USD 400 dollars payable in cash.

Sale of own shares

Ethniki Kefaleou

In October 2005, National Bank of Greece ("NBG") and Ethniki Kefaleou announced the successful sale of
9.169.970 shares of NBG via an accelerated book build to international and domestic institutional investors via a
private placement. The final offering price was fixed at €32,90 per share.

Participation in share capital increase

Ethniki Hellenic General Insurance

The Extraordinary Shareholders’ General Meeting of Ethniki Hellenic General Insurance held on November 2,
2005, approved the share capital increase of the company in the form of a rights share issue by the amount of
€129,1 million (including share premium) through the issue of 43.035.600 new shares of a par value of €2,50
each and issue price of €3,00. Existing shareholders may exercise the preemption right in terms of 5 new shares
for every 10 old shares held between 21 November 20035 till 5 December 2005.
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NBG International Holdings BV

In September 2005, the Bank established NBG International Holdings BV in Netherlands as a 100% subsidiary

and contributed to NBG International Holdings BV its total shareholding of its subsidiary Atlantic Bank of New
York.

NOTE 41: Reclassifications

Certain amounts in prior periods have been reclassified in order to conform with current presentation.
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NOTE 42: Effects from transition to IFRS

Reconciliation of Income Statement: Greek GAAP to >IFRS
€000’s

Results, as previously reported under Greek GAAP ...
Transition adjustments due to adoption of IFRS:

Defined benefit plans: recognition of unfunded deficits ...........................
Commission income deferral. ...............oooiiiiiiii
Re-measurement of fixed assets and intangibles ....................ccocoii
Securities revaltlation .............oiiiiiiiii i
Recognition of tax related ProviSIons ............c..coeeviieriiiiiinianiiieeee e
Recognition of impairment losses on loans and advances ............................

Profit distribution ............c..cccoeiieiiiiiieiiieeei

Total adjustments ..............oooiiiiiiiini

Results reported under IFRS

Reconciliation of Equity: Greek GAAP to IFRS

€ 000°s

Total shareholders' equity, as previously reported under Greek GAAP ....

Transition adjustments due to adoption of IFRS:

Defined benefit plans: recognition of unfunded deficits ..........................
Commission income deferral. ...
Re-measurement of fixed assets and intangibles .....................
Securities revaluation ................iiriieiiiiiie e
Recognition of tax related provisions ...............coccoeeviiiiiiiniiiii
Recognition of impairment losses on loans and advances ............................

Profit distribution ...........ccoooviiiiii

Total adjustments ... .........cooiiiiiiii e

Equity reported under IFRS

1
2
3,7

31.12.2004
2.652.164
(50.438)

(32.861)
(17.382)

9 (131.098)

4
5
6

(5.795)
(13.301)
226.697

(4.713)

-

31.12.2004

294.854

1 (4.231)
1 (12.408)
7 16.458
9 (6.640)
4 3.021
5 (17.705)
6  (36.424)

. (2.024)

(59.953)
234.901

31.12.2003

2.544.282

(26.207)
(20.453)
(6.402)
(62.109)
(18.558)
(11.528)
180.833
3.533

(28.891)

39.109

2.623.273

2.583.391
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Income Statement under Greek GAAP and IFRS for the year ended 31.12.2004

€ 000’s IFRS GrGAAP Variation
Interest and similar income ..............ooviiinii 1.871.114 2.314.689 (443.575)
Interest expense and similar charges .....................ccooonn (712.699) (1.108.924) 396.225
Net Interest income........................ 1.158.415 1.205.765 (47.350)
Fee and commission iNCOME. ..........oeeeervirierecrierecriniieniiiiininn 286.910 325.083 (38.173)
Fee and commission eXPense. ... .......c.oovveiiieiioiiiieeiiiiiiinns (57.080) (106.822) 49.742
Net Fee and commission income....................................... 229.830 218.261 11.569
Dividend Income...........oooooiiiiiiiiiii i 80.102 20.102 -
Net trading inCOME. ........vviviiii i 73.877 63.713 10.164
Net result from investment securities..............ccccceeirinnieenine (352) - (352)
Other operating inCome. ... 44,949 46.122 (1.173)
Total operating income. ... 1.586.821 1.613.963 (27.142)
Personnel eXpenses..........ooioeiiiiiiiiiin i (791.119) (746.025) (45.094)
General & Administrative eXpenses .............ccovvvveeeienrneeinennnn (208.884) (207.028) (1.856)
Depreciation and amortization charges (79.720) (89.192) 9.472
Other operating eXpenses.........c.ocooeevvreeriininiennl S (22.272) (33.585) 11.313
Total operating eXpenses.................c....oc.ooeviiiineiiernne (1.101.995) (1.075.830) (26.165)
Impairment losses on loans and advances.............................. (137.679) (126.906) (10.773)
Profit before tax.....................oooi 347.147 411.227 (64.080)
Tax eXPense .......ooooiiiiii i (112.246) (116.373) 4.127
Net Profit...........ocoociiniiiiiiiiii 234.901 294.854 (59.953)
Balance Sheet under Greek GAAP and IFRS as at 31.12.2004

€ 000’s IFRS GrGAAP Variation
ASSETS »

Cash and balances with central banks.................................. 817.612 813.769 3.843
Treasury bills and other eligible bills............................... 118.674 118.689 (15)
Due from banks (net)..........co.cccviirriiniiriiiiici e 8.322.507 8.564.022 (241.515)
Trading portfolio assets .............coooiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiis e 11.293.119 11.311.257 (18.138)
Loans and advances to customers (net) ...............ooocccnnne 23.096.956 23.212.219 (115.263)
Investment securities - available forsale ............................ 339.648 323.332 16.316
INVeStmENt PrOPEILY ....c.uvviiiriiiiineieeeerieriiicc e 414 - 414
Investments in subsidiaries.................ccoooo 1.528.646 744.456 784.190
Investments in @SSOCIALES. ........oovvveererii it 280.593 1.287.772 (1.007.179)
Intangible assets ....................cocn. 28.717 76.453 (47.736)
Property & equipment .................oooiiiiiiiiiinn 1.060.862 1.018.441 42421
Deferred tax ASSELS .....c.vvvrvvrirriirrieeiaeiireiiiiereeraeeeae e 41.156 - 41.156
Other @SSELS ....oviieceiiiiiiiiieeeees ettt et e e e 1.218.530 831.668 386.862
Total assets ...t 48.147.434 48.302.078 (154.644)
LIABILITIES

Due to banks .......oovvieiiiiii 5.748.858 5.747.299 1.559
Due t0 CUSIOMETS .....icviiiii e 37.174.565 37.175.074 (509)
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Debt securities I iSSUE........ovviiiiiiit it - 10.862 (10.862)
Subordinated liabilities................ccooeiiiii 1.582.149 1.582.149 -
Other Liabilities ........coovvviviiiiiiiiiiieiie e 864.402 1.030.570 (166.168)
Current tax liabilities ...........cooiciiiiiiii e 108.872 103.960 4912
Deferred tax liabilities ...............ccoooviiii 4.348 - 4.348
Retirement benefit obligations ..............cccocoiiiiiiiii 40.967 - 40.967
Total liabilities ...............cccooocii 45.524.161 45.649.914 (125.753)
SHAREHOLDERS' EQUITY

Share capital ........oooiviiiii e, 1.492.090 1.492.090 -
Share premium ACCOUNT .........veuvuvreirneinerinneiiieerrsneraiinnns 32.393 32.393 -
Less: treasury Shares ........o...coeiiiiivieiioniiinieiineiee e (29.518) (29.518) -
Reserves and retained earnings ............ccocoeviiiiineiiniiiiines 1.128.308 1.157.199 (28.891)
Equity attributable to NBG shareholders ......................... 2.623.273 2,652.164 (28.891)
Total equity and liabilities ..............................coooooiiinn, 48.147.434 48.302.078 (154.644)
Cash flow statement under Greek GAAP and IFRS as at 31.12.2004

€ 000’s IFRS GrGAAP Variation
Cash flow from operating activities ..........c.cccccvreriiiiiiiriiiiiniennnnnnn (1.209.639) (546.027) (664.289)
Cash flow from investing activities ..............coooiiiiiinniiiiinnieiinn 6.873 13.814 (6.941)
Cash flow from financing activities ..............coccooivviniini 274.388 246.141 28.924
Effect of foreign exchange rate fluctuations on cash & cash equivalents (111.275) - (111.275)
Net increase/(decrease) in cash and cash equivalents....................... (1.039.653) (286.072) (753.581)
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of period.......................... 5.310.092 6.021900 (711.808)
Cash and cash equivalents at end of period............................... 4.270.439 5.735828  (1.465.389)

The main differences of the cash flow statement according to IFRS in comparison to the cash flow statement

under Greek GAAP result from:

a) Cash and cash equivalents included amounts due from central Banks and credit institutions that mature in

more than 90 days from date of acquisition.

b) The inclusion of foreign exchange fluctuations on cash and cash equivalents within the respective activities.

¢) The non-inclusion of cash flow equivalents and cash flow movements from non-finance sector subsidiaries.

d) Other balance sheet items reclassifications.
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1.Defined benefits plans (IAS 19)

All unfunded liabilities arising from defined benefit pension plans were recognised as a liability. Under Greek
GAAP provisions were based on labour law for staff retirement only.

2.Loan related fees and costs (TAS 18 & TAS 39)
All interest, interest-related fees and costs recognised at a constant rate to the expected maturity date. Under
Greek GAAP all fees were accounted for as commission income when incurred.

3.Tangible and intangible assets (IAS 16, IAS 38 & IFRS 1)

For tangible and intangible assets, the Bank applies the historic cost method of accounting. Under previous
GAAP, following Greek tax rules, property was revalued every 4 years based on indexed amounts. Such
revaluation, for Greek GAAP purposes, took place on 31.12.2004.

Property and equipment are depreciated on straight-line basis over their estimated useful lives. Under Greek
GAAP, depreciation was based on tax rates, which in general did not reflect the useful lives of tangible assets.
Intangible assets are recognised only when it is probable that future economic benefits will flow to the Bank.
Under Greek GAAP various costs and expenses were capitalised.

4.Tax provisions (IAS 37)
Tax provisions were raised for tax open years where the outflow was probable and an estimate could be made.
Under previous GAAP no such provisions were raised for these outflows.

5.Loans and receivables impairment (TIAS 36)
Sundry receivables with indications of impairment were written off.

6.Dividends (IAS 10)
Dividends are accounted for when declared (approved by the shareholders). Under Greek GAAP dividends
were accounted for when proposed.

7.Investment property (IAS 40)

Investment property owned by the Bank (or held through a leasing agreement, either finance or operating) is
accounted for at cost and it is depreciated on straight-line basis over its estimated useful life. Under Greek
GAARP, property that was held for investment purposes, was presented under own-used fixed assets.

8.Deferred taxes (IAS 12)

Under IAS 12, deferred income tax is fully provided by the Bank, using the liability method, on all temporary
differences arising between the carrying amounts of its assets and liabilities and their amounts as measured for
tax purposes. Under previous GAAP, there were no provisions for deferred taxes.

Adoption of IAS 32, 39

9.Financial instruments

Securities (excluding derivatives)

Under IAS 39, securities are initially recognized at cost, including transaction costs. Subsequent to their initial
recognition, trading and available for sale securities are measured at fair value, with fair value gains and losses
recorded in income statement and equity respectively, whereas securities held to maturity are carried at
amortized cost. Under previous GAAP, all securities were initially accounted for at cost and re-measured on an
aggregate basis at the lower of their cost or market value. In addition, the Bank, under IAS 39, recognizes all
securities on trade date, whereas under previous GAAP securities were recognized when settled.

10.Derivatives
In accordance with IAS 39, all derivatives are carried at fair value. Under previous GAAP, listed derivatives
were accounted for at fair value whereas all over-the-counter derivatives were carried at cost.
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Dividends are accounted for when declared (approved by the shareholders). Under Greek GAAP dividends
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differences arising between the carrying amounts of its assets and liabilities and their amounts as measured
for tax purposes. Under previous GAAP, there were no provisions for deferred taxes.
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9.Financial instruments
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Under IAS 39, securities are initially recognized at cost, including transaction costs. Subsequent to their
initial recognition, trading and available for sale securities are measured at fair value, with fair value gains
and losses recorded in income statement and equity respectively, whereas securities held to maturity are
carried at amortized cost. Under previous GAAP, all securities were initially accounted for at cost and re-
measured on an aggregate basis at the lower of their cost or market value. In addition, the Bank, under IAS
39, recognizes all securities on trade date, whereas under previous GAAP securities were recognized when
settled.
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SUMMARY FINANCIAL DATA AND INFORMATION AS AT AND FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2005

The financial dats and informationlisted below provide a summarized view of the finencisl position and results of National Bank of Greece and its Group. We thersfore suggestto
the user, befare procesding to any imvestrent decision ot other transaction with the Bank o its Group, o visit National Bunk of Greeoe's web-site (www.nbg.gr), where the

( Published in accordance with article 135 of Law 2190, for enterpises prepering smnual stand-2lone and consolidaed financial sistements in sccordance with [FRS )

( amounts in thousand EUR )

Company Information

Financial Statements as at 31 December 2005 prepared in accordance With IFRS have been published.

The Board of Directors

Headquarters:
Regtster Nawbers of SA.

Supervaing Prefectare:

Date of approval of Financisl Statements by Bop:
Certified Public Accountast - Arditor:

86, Aiolou Str, 102 32 Athens
SO6UOEBAESTL

Athens Prefecture
28 Febnuary 2006
Nicolaos C. Sofiuncs (RN SOEL 12231)

Executive Membery

Efstratios - Georgios (Takis) A. Arspoglou
Toannis G Pechlivazidis

‘Non executive Mepbers

George M. Athianasopoulos

f Executive Officer
Deputy Chief Executive Officer

Employees’ mpmmm

Andit Firm: Deloitiz, Hadjipavieu Sofisncs & Cambanis §.A. Assurknce & Advisory Services. Jabm P. Pansgopoulos Ermployees’
Avditars’s report Unqualified opiniem - Emphasis of manes Toaunis C. Yisnoidis Professor, University o s Law Seo
Lzzae Date of wuditors’s reparts 28 February 2006 dependent Nop Execytive
Webeite: WWWJ’IQQ.QT H.E. the Mewopalitan of loannina Theoklitos
Stefanos C. Vavalidis Member of the Bowrd of Directors, Bank for Reconsmuction & Deve
Dimitrios A. Daskalopoulos Chainman and Managing Disector, Delta S.A.., Vice Chuirman,
Federation of Greek Industrialists
Nikolsos D. Efthymiou Chairmen, Associstion of Greek Shipowners
Balance Sheet Goongt 2. Lasaras Shipowne
Group Bank Stefanos G. Pantzopoulos Business Consuhant, former Certified Auditor
Assets 2005 3122004 32005 31122004 Coustontinos D. Pilarimos Economist, Genera! Minager of Finznces znd Techaical Services, Church of Greece
Cash and balances with central banks 2431287 1.145.082 1.848.223 817612 Drakoulis K. Fountoukakos - Kyriakskos Entroprener, Chaiman of Athens Chamber of Commerte and Industry
Treasury bills and other eligible bills 177.023 150.400 36078 118674 Toannis Vartholomeos Professon, University of Piracus, Governor of [KA (Social Security Fund)
Due from bazks (pet) 4085204 8587378 4142623 8322507 Ploutarchos K. Sekelluris Professor, University of Athens, and Chairmus, Council of Econoenic Advisars.
Financial assets at fair value through P&L 12667471 11.615.5% 13409.663  11293.119 . .
Derivative financial instruments 309.030 283.500 Consolidated Companies
Loans aod advances to customers (ne29.328.178  26.052.758 27478 71521.096.956 i % Unaudited
Lovestment socurifies-available forsale2.812.7942.382.9412.153. 682339.648 Substdiartes (Fully contolidated) Hesdquurters Tax Yeans
Tnvestment securities-held to mararity20.86743.781-National Se Curitics 5.A Greece 100,00%2003-2005 —
Investment property 126506123742 416414Echniki Kefalsion S.A. Gresce 100.00% -
Tavestment in subsidiaries - - 1398.070 1528646 Diethniki Murua] Fund Menagement Groece 10000% 2008
lavesyents in associates 249.152 219671 278.025 280593 National Menagement & Orgenization Co - ETHNOCARTA Greece 100,00% 2004-2008
Goodwill & other intangible sssets 65511 72763 33.878 217 Ethaiki Leasing S.A. Greece 100,00% 2001-2005
Property & cquipment 1885713 1959.636 1142738 1.060.862 Nationa| Mutual Fund Management Greece 100,00% 2003-2005
Deferred tan assets 217417 75.022 148759 4L1S6 NBG Venture Capital 8.A Greece 100,00% 20032005
Insurance related assets and receivables 637916 492,904 - - NBG Balkan Fund Lid Cyprus 100,00% 19992005
Other assets 1479888 1.609.584 L111303 1.218.530 NBG Greek Fund Lid Cypras 100,00% 19992005
Assets classified as beld for sale 3 19,476 ETEBA Emerging Murkets Fund Lid Cypris 100,00% 1999-2005
Total nssets 53278930 48.147.434 ETEBA Estate Fund Lid 19992005
ETEBA Venture Capital Management Co Lid 19992005
Liabilites NBG Bancasswrance 5.4 20032005
Due to benks SD60BS0 6413741 4986420 5.748.858 Atlantic Bank of New York 20012005
Derivative financial insmiments 302698 303422 - National Bank of Greeoe (Cansds) 20012005
Due t0 customers 43350120 40865.1% 41060200 37174565 The South African Bank of Athens Lid 2005
Debt securities in issue 175.297 63,448 - - National Bank of Greece (Cyprus) Lid 1994-2005
Other borrowed funds 956,988 748642 2024051 1582 149 National Securities Co Lid
Insurapce related reserves and lisbilities 1734248 1326697 - - NBG Management Services Lid 2000-2005
Current tax lisbilities 177302 150328 139375 108.872 Stopanska Benka 4.D.. Skopje 2005
Deferred tax lisbilities 102359 10917 85.575 4348 United Bulgarian Bank A.D., Sofis (UBB) 20012005
Retirenent benefit obligatians 200.725 225331 62856 40967 NBG International Lt 2005
Otber lisbilities 1.783.399 1192924 1.644.542 264402 NBG International Inc (NY) 20012005
Libilities classified es held for sale2.259.165- - -NBGI Private Equity Ld
Total liabilities 56110457 50997204 50306441 4532461 NBG Finance Plc 2005
Interlease A.D., Sofia 2004-2005
Sharebolders’ Equity ETEBA Bulgaris A.D .
Share capital 1696347 1452090 1.696.347 1.492.090 ETEBA Romaztia S.A. 2000-2005
Share premsium account 32393 - 32393 ETEBA Advisary SRL -
Less: treasury shares (zz 680) (210.128) (1.085) (29.518) NBG Luxembourg Holding $.A. -
Reserves and retained camin, 1041348 R 1128308 NBG Luxfinance Holding S.A. -
Equity sttributable to NBG shareholders 2386703 2.972.489 2623273 Innovative Vennures 5.A (I-Ven) 20042005
NBG Funding Ltd -
Minority interest 302321 - - Banca Romancasca S.A. 20032005
Undated tier [ perpetual securifies 832 - - Ethnils Hellenic General Insurance 20032005
Total shareholders” equity 3.450. 2572.489 2623273 Ethnil losursnce (Cyprus) Lid 19982005
Ethniki Geners] Insurance (Cyprus) Ltd 19982005
Total equity and liabilities 0426560 54481377 53278930 48.047.434 Garaota S.A. 20032005
Audstex Hellas S.A. 20032005
ALPHA Insusance Brokerage 5.A. 20032005
ASTIR Palace Voulisgmenis 5.4 2004-2005
ASTIR Alexandroupolis S.A 2003-2005
Grand Hotel Summer Pelsce 5.4, 2005
Income Statement NBG Treining Center S.A. 2003-2005
Group Bank Ethnodata S.A, 2005
1131122005 131122004 (151122005 11311272004 KADMOL A, 2003-2005
taterest and similer income 2426266 2089.533 2153971 L8701 DIONYSOS S.A. Gresee 99.91% 2003-2005
Interest expense end similar charges (830.506) (755.137) 818.197) (712.699) EKTENEPOL Construction Compeny S.A. Greece 100,00% 2001-2005
Netinterest ncome 1595760 1333.9% 1338774 1158415 Martgege, Touristic PROTYPOS S.A Gresce 100,00% 2003-2005
Fee and commission income 455.810 414380 298729 286,910 Helleaic Touristic Constructions Greece 7796% 2003-2005
Fee and commission expense (30.759) (26.525) (51.756) (57.080) Ethaoplas S.A. Groeoe 100,00%2005
Net fee and commisssion income 425.051387.455240.973229.830 Ethniki Ktimatikis Ekmetalefsis S.A. Greece100,00% 19912005
Eamed premia net of reinisurance$51 990560.939-NBGI Private Eq uity Funds United Kingdom ~ 10,00% 20042005
Net claims incurred __(5L609) (478D . - NBG laternatiopel Holdings B.Y. Netherlands 100,00% -
Net premia from lnsurance contracts 100381 D092 - - EURIAL Leasing S.A Romania 70,00% 2003-2005
Dividend income 13760 17150 47.455 80.102
Net trading income 67522 106.750 11035 73877 Assoclated (eqaity method of eonsotidation) Hendquarters % Ugandited
Net result from investment securitics 12767 280 102.689 352) Tat Years
Other income 161,693 143.129 31,060 44949 Social Securitics Funds Mansgement Greece. 20002005
Total operating income 2451846 2078652 1768.986 1586.821 Phosphate Ferlizers Industry S.A. Greece 20012005
Personne| expenses (877.307) (995.972) (657.640) (791.119} Larko SA Greece 2002-2005
General & administrative e (34537 (329.965) @ (208.88¢) Siemens Industrial S.A. Gresce 2004-2005
Depreciati b (iassyy (2561 (72.146) 79.720) Eviop Tempo S.4. Greece 20022005
Other operating expenscy (22272, Teiresies S.A Greece 20032005
Total operating expenses % Y 101.595) Ellenikes Exoches S.A. Gresee 2003-200
Iempeimment losses on loans and advances (226259 (173.843) (191.421) (137679) AGET Heracies Cement Co. S.A. Greece 20032005
Share of profit of associates 43,00 25154 - - PellaS.A Greees 2001-2005
Profit before tax 943.089 428397 622867 EAT Plaget S.A. Gresee 2003-2005
Tex expense aisn (165400) ___ (14B383) _ (113.246) AgrisS.A N Gresce 29,34% 2000-2005
Profit for the year from continuing operations Tine32 262997 474314 234501 Katiera S.A. Greece 35,00% 2004-2008
Profit for the year from discontinuing operations 29.020 29351 - - ZymiSA Greeee 32,00% 2003-2005
Profit for the year 750.951 292348 474354 234,901
Attributable to:
Minericy iaerests 23550 2 Cash Flow Statement
NBG equity sharcbolders 727362 79.577 Group Bank
113111272005 1311212005 1/1-31/1212004
Earnings per thare Net Cash flow from:
Basic & Diluted from continuing & discontinued operations £2,08 €083 Operating activities (3.101.031} (2.766798) (1209639
Basic & Diluted from continuing operations €19 €074 €142 €071 Investing activities 526036 712.509 6873
Financing sctivities 642,502 306,573 274388
Proposed dividend per share for the year epded 31.12.2005 €100 Effect of foreign exchange rate changes on cash and cash equivalents 129.581 114078 a11.275)
Adjusted dividend per share for the year ended 31.12.2004 €058 Net increase / (decrease) In cash a0 cash equivalents (L.633.238) __ (1.039.653)
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of the year 4930173 4270439 5310092
Chsh and cash oquivalents at beginning of the year of merged companies - 9293 -
Cash and cosh equivalents at year end-discontinued operations (62.51%) - -
Cash and cash equivalents at end of year 3.054.746 2646434
Statement of Changes In Equity Nates
Grozp Dank 1) The secount Licies adopted are in accordamce with the provisions of nternatiogal Fi iy
1-3U122008 VIBUI12008 V122005 1/1-31/1212004 sudited by meh:f:‘mﬂumwmmmmzm 3] As af 31.12.2005, ﬁkﬁxdmafﬂ:&wmﬁuofﬁﬁsmm nc-,auadn
Balance at the beginaing af the year 3450173 2.847.966 2623273 2583351 itigation or in webitration a3 wail as pending cascs before the Courts or Asbitrusion Courts a7 not expactad to have the financial position or
Adoption of IAS 39 & IFRS 4 142.500) - 2.696 - operaticns of the Growp. i)mlmalmbdafempluyeaaﬁht(imrpmdvbeﬂmkun!lwmitullnsmdnﬂlrap«nv:ty 6) Amouns
Restated balance at the beginning of the year IMIGTI 2847966 7625963 2883391 due from end owedto as well a8 i the Gronp, 18 a 1AS 24, amotmted
10 €43 million, €4 million, €4 million, €20 million xnd €58 million respectively. Tbeemupﬂndmgh.\nszl reassctions for the Baak were €1.454 million,
Changes durtng the year: €.008 mlhm(sx ilon. €175 i ad €149 il espcively 1) The o adapdIAS 52 o 39, IFRS 4 on | ey 2005 Comsoqueny e
batances in i for sale’ the the
2004 fesoci ye yux 8 OF i cxmpenis comsoldsied o a1 31.12 2005, EURIAL Leuuing S A, NBG ettt Hokdiga B.V. 10 ALPHA Lussasce
Net profit far the year 727362 279.57 414314 234.901 Brokerage 5.A. we e fist tioe, aod of all & 31.12.2004, National lovesimess Company .A., tnd National Real
Net change in teasury shares 187,448 138.662 28433 (29.235) Estaze A, are 0 long Bk, whereas Ntional Developmentof Narthem Gresce S.A. zxd NBGI Jersey
Prior year dividends, merger by absorption of subsidieries, other changes @183 @17922) (156.227 (165.784) Lid ar 0 longe conslidscd s they bave beca paced (2 Uiudaion 9) Dring 2005, tb mergee between the Beak 08 Nasonal Compeay of Fortolio
Minority interests (192.324) (40.259) . Investments§.A. vummplndmmmenbwrphmnfwbehmbymefm Due to the merger, bhate capital mcreased by €123.585 thousand with the istue of
Hybrid expial 230432 452189 ) ) 5023534 shares 1 migority sharebol ders, (0) The Baak's financial Ggures for the year 2005 inchado the fnancist figures of Nationad Real Estae 5.A. 25 of the
—— Zhed — date of the merger 1.07.2005 and onwards. Due o the merger the thare capitel increased by €20.672 thonsand and there is an outstanding istue of
Balanee at the end of the year 4316408 3.490173 2972489 2623273 2670367 shares to minority shereholders. 11) Cereain amounts 88 st 31.12.2004 were reclassifed i ordet to rendes thet comparable 10 the respective amouatsof

THE €I
AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER

EFSTRATIOS - GEORGIOS A. ARAPOGLOU

31122005

Atheas, 28 February 2006

THE DEPUTY CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER

JOANNIS G. PECHLIVANIDIS

THE CHIEF FINANCIAL
AND CHIEF OPERATIONS OFFICER

THE CHIEF ACCOUNTANT

ANTHIMOS C. THOMCPOULOS IOANNIS P. K YRIAKOPOULOS




7 Intercompany transactions with consolidated
companies according to art. 2 par. 4 L.
3016/2002




Intercompany transactions as at 31.12.2005

oy Off balance
Company name Assets Liabilities Income | Expense sheet items
National Securities 5.4 22 146 5286 | 5293 121 29 446
Ethniki Kefalaiou S.A 2 283 052 189 1486 27 622
Diethniki Mutual Fund Management 16 735 1722 22128 351
National Management & Organization Co 320 20 000 620 56 285
Ethniki Leasing S.A 442 638 47 888 9264 140
National Mutual Fund Management 2
NBG Venture Capital S.A 10 1981 129 28
NBG Balkan Fund Ltd. 8 223 4
NBG Greek Fund Ltd. 1768 | 20
ETEBA Emerging Markets Fund Ltd 109
ETEBA Estate Fund Ltd 109
ETEBA Venture Capital Management Ltd 17
NBG Bancassurance S.A. 1595 50 35
Atlantic Bank of N.Y. 191 632 945 1 002 213
NBG Canada " 36 786 945
S.AB.A. 3411 878 193 99
NBG Cyprus Ltd 121 027 197 894 1955 5455 16 797
Stopanska Banka A.D. 15118 182 58
United Bulgarian Bank (UBB) 2950 338 12 80
NBG International Ltd 518 1364 1224 574
NBGI Inc. (NY) 29
NBG Finance plc 787 2 069 348 83 037
Interlease A.D. (Sofia) 65 488 563 3247 1
ETEBA Romania S.A 255
Innovative Ventures S.A (I-Ven) 3198 18
NBG Funding Ltd 123
Banca Romaneasca S.A. 362 952 146 5030 8
Ethniki Hellenic General Insurance 18 634 314 529 401 11 561
ASTIR Palace Vouliagmenis S.A 33 867 3480 1395 44
ASTIR Alexandroupolis S.A 51 72 26
Grand Hotel Summer Palace A.E. 4 883 259 224
NBG Training Center S.A 599 337 195 151
Ethnodata S.A. 2 691 118 2 344
KADMOZ S.A. 163
DIONYSOS S.A 93
EKTENEPOL Construction Company 2270 3861 518 51 490
Mortgage, Touristic PROTYPOS S.A 922 42
Hellenic Touristic Constructions 7 1
Ethnoplan S.A 1718 105
Ethniki Ktimatikis Ekmetalefsis A.E 3656 6 98 5
NBG I Private Equity Funds 81136
TOTAL 1427 625 2 967 814 53 369 162 543 74 355
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Date

17/1/2005
21/1/2005
25/1/2005

14/2/2005

28/2/2005
1/3/2005

4/3/2005

8/3/2005

23/3/2005

5/4/2005

6/4/2005

8/4/2005

11/4/2005

12/4/2005

12/4/2005

14/4/2005

14/4/2005

15/4/2005

21/4/2005

21/4/2005

27/4/2005
12/5/2005
13/5/2005
13/5/2005
16/5/2005
16/5/2005

17/5/2005
17/5/2005

17/5/2005

NBG’s Announcements

Announcement Website address

NBG share buy-back program http://www.nbg.gr/invest_press.asp?sel=2053
Treasury stock owned by NBG http://www.nbg.gr/invest_press.asp?sel=2052
Announcement Date for 2004 Annual Results http://www.nbg.gr/invest_press.asp?sel=2051

gigrsl 531?1125 ;xtll:::tlg [ihe share capital increase of http://www.nbg.gr/pr_releases_group.asp?page=1&sel=2007
Announcement http://www.nbg.gr/invest_press.asp?sel=2050

NBG Business Plan 2005-2007 Presentation http://www.nbg.gr/pr_releases_bank.asp?sel=2126

NBG’s participation in the share capital increase of

. Deal=
Ethniki Hellenic General Insurance SA http://www.nbg.gr/pr_releases_bank.asp?sel=2125

Corporate earnings: a pillar of the economic recovery in

the euro area in 2005 http://www.nbg.gr/pr_releases_bank.asp?sel=2124

Thessaloniki: NBG's centre for SE Europe http://www.nbg.gr/pr_releases_bank.asp?sel=2123
NBG SYNESIS Growth Strategy II

New capital-guaranteed investment product with high http://www.nbg.gr/pr_releases_bank.asp?sel=2121
return potential

NBG "Open Easter Holiday Loan" http://www.nbg.gr/pr_releases_bank.asp?sel=2120
Good times come to an end in the corporate euro-area and i _

US. bond market http://www.nbg.gr/pr_releases_bank.asp?sel=2119
Greek Banks: Positioned to Outperform http://www.nbg.gr/pr_releases_bank.asp?sel=2118

Announcement concerning Diethniki Mutual Funds
Management Company

INVITATION TO THE BANK'S ORDINARY
GENERAL MEETING OF SHAREHOLDERSto be held http://www.nbg.gr/invest press.asp?sel=2047
on Tuesday, 17 May 2005, at 12:00 noon

Completion of the hiring procedure for NBG’s 452 new
employees

NBG’s Annual General Meeting of Shareholders to be
held on 17 may 2005

National Bank’s top-quality offer to SMEs:50% interest
refund via the Open Business Plan

http://www.nbg.gr/pr_releases_group.asp?page=1&sel=2017

http://www.nbg.gr/pr_releases_bank.asp?sel=2113

http://www.nbg.gr/invest press.asp?sel=2046

http://www.nbg.gr/pr_releases_bank.asp?sel=2112

NBG’s new range of capital-guaranteed investment

: 7sel=
products http://www.nbg.gr/pr_releases_bank.asp?sel=2110

South Eastern Europe and Mediterranean Emerging
Market Economies Bulletin —~Economic & Financial http://www.nbg.gr/pr_releases_bank.asp?sei=2111
Market Developments and Prospects

Returns on even €1 of savings with National Bank http://www.nbg.gr/pr_releases_bank.asp?sel=2109
National Bank hosts the European Repo Council Meeting http://www.nbg.gr/pr_releases bank.asp?sel=2108
The euro-dollar exchange rate will rebound to $1.40 http://www.nbg.gr/pr_releases_bank.asp?sel=2106
Merger of National Bank and National Investment Co http://www.nbg.gr/invest_press.asp?sel=2045

New Advisor to the Management at the NBG Group http://www.nbg.gr/pr_releases_bank.asp?sel=2104
National Bank of Greece Annual General Meeting of
Shareholders, to be held tomorrow on 17 May 2005
National Bank of Greece Annual General Meeting of
Shareholders, 17 May 2005

Payment of 2004 dividend http://www.nbg.gr/pr_releases_bank.asp?sel=2102
National Bank of Greece Annual General Meeting of

Shareholders, 17 May 2005 Speech by the Chairman and  http://www.nbg.gr/invest_press.asp?sel=2040
CEO Mr Takis Arapoglou A

http://www.nbg.gr/pr_releases bank.asp?sel=2105

http://www.nbg.gr/pr_releases_bank.asp?sel=2099




17/5/2005

17/5/2005

 18/5/2005
23/5/2005

23/5/2005

26/5/2005
27/5/2005
1/6/2005
3/6/2005

3/6/2005
13/6/2005
21/6/2005

23/6/2005

28/6/2005
30/6/2005

1/7/2005
1/7/2005

1/7/2005

4/7/2005

4/7/2005

6/7/2005

7/7/2005

8/7/2005

14/7/2005

14/7/2005
15/7/2005

19/7/2005
22/7/2005

28/7/2005

Invitation to the Bank's repeat General Shareholders

Jwww ; 2epl=
Meeting to be held on Friday, 3 June 2005, at 12:00 noon hetp:// nbg gr/invest_press.asp?sel=2042

National Bank's Annual General Meeting held today http://www.nbg.gr/invest_press.asp?sel=2044

2005 Q1 Results Announcement Date http://www.nbg.gr/invest_press.asp?sel=2039
National Bank Sponsors Greek sports http://www.nbg.gr/pr_releases_bank.asp?sel=2095
NBG Chairman and CEQ Mr. Takis Arapoglou's address

to: "National Bank of Greece Sponsors Greek Sports" at  http://www.nbg.gr/pr_releases_bank.asp?sel=2096
the Mela Building, 23rd May 2005

Merger of NATIONAL BANK and NATIONAL http://www.nbg.gr/invest_press.asp?sel=2038

INVESTMENT Co

NBG's new investment - deposit product CAPITAL PLUS . 9eale
GLOBAL EQUITY MOVEMENT http://www nbg.gr/pr_releases_bank.asp?sel=2093
Forex Club Hellas held its annual ordinary generat . Deale
meeting (AGM) http://www.nbg.gr/pr_releases_bank.asp?sel=2092
Best shares portfolio mix under monetary restrictions http://www.nbg.gr/pr_releases_bank.asp?sel=2091

NBG's second repeat General Meeting of Shareholders to
be held on 22 June

Tourism: An Olympic Year in 2005 http://www.nbg.gt/pr_releases_bank.asp?sel=2089

http://www.nbg.gr/invest_press.asp?sel=2037

267 NBG branches available for salary, pension and http:// nbg.gr/pr_releases_bank.asp?sel=2088

OAED allowance payments

Natlonfll Bank of Greece's second repeat General Meeting htp:// nbg.gr/invest_press.asp?sel=2036
resolution

International award for National Bank of Greece http://www.nbg.gr/pr_releases_bank.asp?sel=2086
2005 Q1 Results http://www.nbg.gr/pr_releases_bank.asp?sel=2085

South Eastern Europe and Mediterranean Emerging
Market Economies Bulletin - Special Edition: Regional  http://www.nbg.gr/pr_releases_bank.asp?sel=2082
Banking Sectors (May/June 2005)

National Bank's business is back to normal as from Friday http:// nbg.gr/pr_releases_bank.asp?sel=2083
1 July 2005 WWW

Payment of the 2004 dividend http://www.nbg.gr/invest_press.asp?sel=2035
NBG Chairman and CEO Takis Arapoglou visited Ionian
and remote Aegean islands

Customers' outstanding obligations to National Bank are
not to be charged with interest as they are duly paid up by http://www.nbg.gr/pr_releases_bank.asp?sel=2081
12 July 2005

Weaker euro acts as a "cushion” to the slowdown in euro
area corporate earnings growth

NBG Open Vacation Loan 2005 http://www.nbg.gr/pr_releases_bank.asp?sel=2078

http://www.nbg.gr/pr_releases_bank.asp?sel=2080

http://www.nbg.gr/pr_releases_bank.asp?sel=2079

National Bank's special offer on housing loans up to €

W 75el=
1,650 free on housing loan applications by 10 August hitp:/f nbg gr/pr_releases_bank asp?sel=2076

Mr Takis Arapoglou, Chairman and CEO of National

Bank of Greece, held a series of meetings with http://www.nbg.gr/pr_releases_bank.asp?sel=2074
businessmen of Crete
National Bank's new financing product for SMEs http://www.nbg.gr/pr_releases_bank.asp?sel=2075

New capital-guaranteed deposit-investment product capital
plus "DUAL RANGE" launched by NBG

National Bank of Greece top Primary Dealer for the first

http://www.nbg.gr/pr_releases_bank.asp?sel=2073

http://www.nbg.gr/pr_releases_bank.asp?sel=2072

semester of 2005

National Bank recruits 106 new employees http://www.nbg.gr/pr_releases_bank.asp?sel=2071
Mr Takis Arapoglou, Chairman and CEO of National

Bank of Greece, held meetings with Karpathos and http://www.nbg.gr/pr_releases_bank.asp?sel=2070

Zakynthos businessmen and professionals




Summary of draft agreement for the merger through
29/7/2005 absorption of National Investment Company by National http://www.nbg.gr/invest_press.asp?sel=2033
Bank of Greece

Merger of National Bank of Greece and Ethniki Real

29/7/2005 Estate http://www.nbg.gr/invest press.asp?sel=2034
Mr Takis Arapoglou, Chairman and CEQ of National
Bank of Greece, celebrates the 100th anniversary of the . Fenle
4/8/2005 Bank’s incessant operation in the [onian Islands by http://www.nbg.gr/pr_releases_bank.asp?sel=2066
creating a new Branch in Lixouri
4/8/2005 2005 Q2 Results Announcement Date http://www.nbg.gr/invest_press.asp?sel=2032
19/2/2005 New range of "Capital plus" capital guaranteed investment http:/ nbg.gr/pr_releases_bank.asp?sel=2065

products

Certified Auditor's Report in connection with the proposed
30/8/2005 merger by absorption of National Investment Co SA http://www.nbg.gr/invest_press.asp?sel=2031
(ETHNEX) by National Bank of Greece SA.

31/8/2005 Real Estate Is Fairly-Valued And Still Supporting Activity http://www.nbg.gr/pr_releases_bank.asp?sel=2063

Invitation to the Bank's extraordinary General Meeting of
1/9/2005  Shareholder to be held on Monday, 3 October 2005, at  http://www.nbg.gr/invest_press.asp?sel=2026

13:00 hours
1/9/2005  Share Buy Back (1.6.2005 - 31.8.2005) http://www.nbg.gr/invest_press.asp?sel=2027
1/9/2005  Share Buy Back (6.9.2005 - 31.12.2005) http://www.nbg.gr/invest_press.asp?sel=2028
1/9/2005 geeslggrsgi?een National Bank of Greece and National http://www.nbg.gr/invest_press.asp?sel=2029
1/9/2005  Share Buy Back (1.6.2005 - 31.8.2005) http://www.nbg.gr/invest_press.asp?sel=2030
6/9/2005  Oil prices dampen euro area growth prospects further http://www.nbg.gr/pr_releases_bank.asp?sel=2057
12/9/2005 NBG at the 70th Thessaloniki International Fair http://www.nbg.gr/pr_releases_group.asp?page=1&sel=2008
South Eastern Europe and Mediterranean Emerging
Market Economies Bulletin - Economic- Banking & i el
15/9/2005 Financial Market Developments and Prospects http://www.nbg.gr/pr_releases_bank.asp?sel=2054
(July/August 2005)
19/9/2005 NBG top executives visiting the Balkans http://www.nbg.gr/pr_releases_bank.asp?sel=2053
21/9/2005 Day Conference of social security agencies http://www.nbg.gr/pr_releases_group.asp?page=1&sel=2027
23/9/2005 NBG offgrs investment options of deposit-investment http://www.nbg.gr/pr_releases_bank.asp?sel=2051
products in foreign currency - -
«TRIPLE JUMP» - A new investment program from ) enl
27/9/2005 National Bank of Greece http://'www.nbg.gr/pr_releases_bank.asp?sel=2050
29/9/2005 2005 H1 Results http://www.nbg.gt/pr_releases_bank.asp?sei=2049

INVITATION TO THE BANK'S REPEAT GENERAL
3/10/2005 MEETING OF SHAREHOLDERS TO BE HELD ON  http://www.nbg.gr/invest press.asp?sel=2022
TUESDAY, 18 OCTOBER 2005, AT 11:00 HOURS
Offering of Shares in National Bank of Greece S.A. Final

: i 9sel=
3/10/2005 Offering Price fixed at €32.90 per share http://www.nbg.gr/invest_press.asp?sel=2023
National Bank of Greece's Extraordinary General Meeting . . Tl
3/10/2005 of 3 October 2005 http://www.nbg.gr/invest_press.asp?sel=2024
3/10/2005 Offering of Shares in National Bank of Greece SA http://www.nbg.gr/invest_press.asp?sel=2025

7/10/2005 Néo Zteyaotkd npdypappa and v Edvikd Tparela http://www.nbg.gr/pr_releases_bank.asp?sel=2043

Long-term bond yields expected to rise by mid-2006 to
levels compatible with international condition

11/10/2005 NBG prize for the best Procedural Law Study http://www.nbg.gr/pr_releases_bank.asp?sel=2041
11/10/2005 Agreement for the sale of Atlantic Bank of New York http://www.nbg.gr/pr_reieases_bank.asp?sel=2042

Mr Takis Arapoglou, Chairman and CEO of National
12/10/2005 Bank of Greece and Mr loannis Pechlivanidis, Deputy http://www.nbg.gr/pr_releases_bank.asp?sel=2040
CEQ visited Patras

7/10/2005 http://www.nbg.gr/pr_releases_bank.asp?sel=2044




Summary of draft agreement for the merger through
13/10/2005 absorption of National Real Estate S.A. by National Bank http://www.nbg.gr/pr_releases_bank.asp?sel=2038
of Greece S.A.

13/10/2005 International Award for the National Bank of Greece http://www.nbg.gr/pr_releases_bank.asp?sel=2039
Programme of the conference held by the NBG Historical

. 2sel=
14/10/2005 Archive http://'www.nbg.gr/pr_releases_bank.asp?sel=2037
National Bank of Greece’s Repeat General Meeting of 18 . . 2eale
18/10/2005 October 2005 Ahttp.//www.nbg.gr/mvest__press.asp. sel=2019
19/10/2005 Ipoypappanicpuévn Srokonn diktoov ATM http://www.nbg.gr/pr_releases_bank.asp?sel=2035

NBG's "capital plus" deposit-investment products, both in
21/10/2005 EURO and FX, available from 24 through 31 October http://www.nbg.gr/pr_releases_bank.asp?sel=2034
2005

27/10/2005 Malicious e-mail messages from hackers http://www.nbg.gr/pr_releases_bank.asp?sel=2033

Certified Auditor's Report in connection with the proposed
merger by absorption of National Real Estate and General

: i 2sel=

31/10/2005 Warchousing SA (ETHNAK) by National Bank of Greece http://www.nbg.gr/invest_press.asp?sel=2017
SA. (.pdf)

31/10/2005 9-month 2005 results announcement date http://www.nbg.gr/invest_press.asp?sel=2018

National Bank of Greece’s second repeat General Meeting

3/11/2005 )
resolutions

http://www.nbg.gr/invest_press.asp?sel=2016

8/11/2005 National Bank supports SMEs Consultative Meeting http://www.nbg.gr/pr_releases_bank.asp?sel=2029

National Insurance Co. rights issue - Information

. i Yeal=
8/11/2005 memorandum http://www.nbg.gr/invest_press.asp?sel=2013
Agreement with the Romanian leasing company . . enl
8/11/2005 “EURIAL Leasing” http://www.nbg.gr/invest_press.asp?sel=2014
8/11/2005 Sale of National Bank of Greece (Canada) http://www.nbg.gr/invest_press.asp?sel=2015

10/11/2005 Emporiki bank rights issue Information memorandum http://www.nbg.gr/pr_releases bank.asp?sel=2025

14/11/2005 Post Olympic Growth remains strong http://www.nbg.gr/pr_releases_bank.asp?sel=2024
24/11/2005 2005 9-month Results http://www.nbg.gr/pr_releases_bank.asp?sel=2023
25/11/2005 gzvglfft‘;ge of "CAPITAL PLUS" and refum on previous o b orfor releases, bank.asp?sel=2022

29/11/2005 Interest-Free "CASH NOW" from NBG’s credit cards http://www.nbg.gr/pr_releases_bank.asp?sel=2020

29/11/2005 NBG extends its support to border guards’ families http://www.nbg.gr/pr_releases_bank.asp?sel=2021

17/12/2005 Interest Rates http://www.nbg.gr/pr_releases_bank.asp?sel=2019
Invitation to the Bank' Extraordinary General Meeting of

2/12/2005 Shareholders to be held on Thursday, 29 December 2003, http://www.nbg.gr/invest_press.asp?sel=2012

at 11:00 hours

South Eastern Europe and Mediterranean Emerging

Market Economies Bulletin - Economic - Banking -

Financial Market Developments and Prospects

(September/December 2005)

6/12/2005 http://www.nbg.gr/pr_releases_bank.asp?sel=2015

7/12/2005 Further gradual increase in ECB rates by 2007 http://www.nbg.gr/pr_releases_bank.asp?sel=2014

Annual General Meeting of the Institute for Corporate

: 2sel=
Culture Affairs in Athens http://www.nbg.gr/pr_releases_bank.asp?sel=2012

9/12/2005

With its new and smart “go” credit cards, NBG launches
“go National” a reward and premium programme

New range of "CAPITAL PLUS" and return on a previous
product

9/12/2005 http://www.nbg.gr/pr_releases bank.asp?sel=2013

20/12/2005 http://www.nbg.gr/pr_releases_bank.asp?sel=2011




28/12/2005 Announcement Date for 2005 Annual Results http://www.nbg.gr/pr_releases_bank.asp?sel=2009

29/12/2005 Resolutions regarding the Bank's Extraordinary General http://www.nbg.gr/pr_releases_group.asp?page=1&sel=2029
Meeting of Shareholders of 29/12/2005

Invitation to the Bank's Repeat General Meeting of
Shareholders to be held on Monday, 16 January 2006, at
11:00 hours

29/12/2005 http://www.nbg.gr/invest_press.asp?sel=2005

29/12/2005 Listing of new shares resulting from the merger with http://www.nbg.gr/invest_press.asp?sel=2006
National Investment Company

29/12/2005 National Bank of Greece’s Extraordinary General Meeting

. ; Yepl=
of Shareholders of 29 December 2005 http://www.nbg.gr/invest_press.asp?sel=2009

Quarterly fiancial statements

Date Announcement Website address

24/2/2005 2004 Results http://www.nbg.gr/investor.asp?P_ID=660
24/2/2005 NBG Finanial statements (solo) 31.12. 2004 http://www.nbg.gr/invest_acc_group.htm]
24/2/2005 NBG Consulding Financial Stattements 31.12.2004 http://www.nbg.gr/invest_acc_group.html
30/6/2005 2005 Q1 Results http://www.nbg.gr/investor.asp?P_ID=659
30/6/2005 NBG Financial Statements (solo) 31.03.2005 hitp://www.nbg.gr/invest_acc_group.html
30/6/2005 NBG Consulding Financial Statements 31.03.2005 http://www.nbg.gr/invest_acc_group.html
29/9/2005 2005 H1 Results http://www .nbg.gt/investor.asp?P_ID=658
29/9/2005 NBG Financial Statements (solo) 30.06.2005 http://www.nbg.gr/invest_acc_group.htm]
29/9/2005 NBG Consulting Financial Statements 30.06.2005 http://www.nbg.gr/invest_acc_group.html
24/11/2005 2005 9-month Results http://www.nbg.gr/investor.asp?P_ID=657
24/11/2005 NBG Financial Statements (solo) 30.09.2005 http://www.nbg.gr/invest_acc_group.html
24/11/2005 NBGConsulting Financial Statements 30.09.2005 http://www.nbg.gr/invest_acc_group.html

Annual reports and Bulletins

Date Repoprt Website address

17/5/2005 Annual Report 2004 http://www.nbg.gr/investor.asp?P_1D=547
17/5/2005  Annual Bulletin 2004 http://www.nbg.gr/investor.asp?P_ID=547
14/7/2005 Annual Bulletin 20F Report http://www.nbg.gr/investor.asp?P_ID=547
22/12/2005 Prospectus regarding the merger with National Investment http://www.nbg.gr/invest_press.asp?sel=2011

Company SA




9 Information displayed on the Bank’s website

The financial statements of the NBG Group companies for 2005, the accompanying auditors’ reports and the
management reports of their Boards of Directors will be available at NBG’s website www.nbg.gr upon
finalising.
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Message from the Chairman and CEO

National Bank of Greece has implemented a new, modern mode of management founded on
the values of corporate ethics, and it seeks to promote, in balanced measure, economic
growth, assistance to society and culture, and various actions related to environmental pro-
tection.

With sound values, which place an emphasis on progress and focus on keeping the Group at
the top of the league in Southeast Europe, our Bank incorporates into its business activities its
social and environmental concerns, forging them intfo meaningful action.

The Report. of Social Activities for 2005 presents social responsibility initiatives undertaken by
the Bank. Its contribution fo the sphere of learning. sports and the cultivation and dissemina-

tion of sporting ideals, arts and culture, and close involvement in environmental protection all
help to foster social cohesion and generate a climate of solidarity and security.

Takis Arapoglou

Chairman and Chief Executive Officer, National Bank of Greece
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THE BANK AND THE COMMUNITY

National Bank of Greece is fully aware of its
responsibilities to its fellow citizens, and in
particular the more vulnerable social groups.
In 2005, it contributed to efforfs to address
various social problems, supporting charity
work, providing assistance for emergency
needs arising from naotural disasters, and
backing the work of a number of key social
welfare bodies and organisations.

For many years now, NBG has demonstrated
its concern for the conservation of the
Greek cultural heritage and the cultivation
of cross-cultural awareness. In 2005, it
supported a host of theatre productions,
musical events, and exhibitions relating to
the visual arts. Via its sponsorship activities,
NBG has supported educational and
publishing initiatives aimed at safeguarding
and highlighting the historical and cultural
identity of Greece. It has dlso provided
material and moral support for individual
athletes as well as sporting organisations
and associations, while also supporting the
organisation of infernational athletics
meetings.

In the sphere of the environment, NBG
supported the work of various environmental
bodies and implemented, through diverse
actions, policies aimed at reducing the
environmental impact of its business
activities.

In 2005, NBG was awarded two important
distinctions. At the Economist Conference
held in February, the results of a survey on
Corporate Social Responsibility were
presented, according to which NBG was
ranked as a Gold Level corporation in
recognition of its actions in the sphere of
social responsibility. Furthermore, in November
the Bank was commended by the Hellenic
Advertisers Association for its "Exceptional
Conftribution" as a long-term supporter of
diverse community causes.

in 2005, sponsorship and donations by the
Bank fotdlied approximately €4.2 million,
covering a wide range of activities, while
other companies of the Group made
contributions for similar causes amounting o
€780,662. A breakdown of the Bank's
sponsorship activities is presented below:
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THE BANK AND THE COMMUNITY

SOCIAL

Support for social programmes and
contribution to work carried out by
widely respected bodies and
organisations that seek to address
problems experienced by both
individuals and social groups. For
instance, support was given to the
TV Marathon broadcast by Greek TV
for the countries affected by the
tsunami in SE Asiq; the "Solidarity”
Non-Profit Organisation of the Church
of Greece; the "Workshop"
association of Parents and Friends of
People with Special Needs; the
Hellenic Society for the Protection
and Rehabilitation of Handicapped
Children; the World Councii of
Hellenes Abroad; and the Society for
Children's Psychosocial Health.
Assistance to leading social welfare
bodies such as the Greek Committee
of Unicef, the World Wildlife Fund,
the Children’s Smile, and others,
whereby they can distribute their
printed material via the Bank’s
branches, in their fund raising
campaigns.

SCIENCE - RESEARCH - EDUCATION

Sponsorship for prizes, scholarships
and research grants, while supporting
scientific and academic work, chiefly
conferences, covering a wide range
of fields such as the Gaia Centie at
the Goulandris Natural History
Museum, the Foundation of the
Hellenic World, the Economic Policy
Studies Workshop of the Economics
University of Athens, the American
Farm School of Thessaloniki, and
universities and summer schools.
Support for the publication of books,
special editions and other prinfed
matter.

Distribution of publications of the
Bank, its Cultural Foundation, and
Historical Archives, as well as

publications of third parties to
schools of all levels, schools in
remote areas, and Greek community
schools abroad, for the enrichment
of their libraries.

Provision of books to social welfare
organisatfions for the purpose of
meeting language and research
needs.

Concession, via the Bank's
Procurements Division, of electronic
equipment to educational and social
institutions.

Promotion, jointly with the Ministry of
Education, of the Youth
Entrepreneurship Programme,
Support for practical training of
university and technical college
students.

Provision of training support for third
parties (companies-suppliers and
external partners of the Bank).
Provision of rooms for training and
teaching purposes for the Greek
Open University and the ALBA non-
profit educational institution,

CULTURE - HISTORY - ARTS

Support for activities and events
relating fo music and the visual and
performing arts. For instance, the
Athens Concert Hall, the National
Opera House, the Foundation of the
Hellenic World, and the Thessaloniki
Concert Hall,

Support for publishing initiatives of a
cultural and historical nature,
including publications by the Ministry
of Education.

Sponsorship of projects relating 1o
the safeguarding and promotion of
cultural life, conservation and
restoration of historical monuments,
and support for archaeological
excavations. This included assistance
for the excavation work being
carried ouf at the Minoan sife of
Akrotiri, Santorini by the Athens
Archaeological Society), the




restoration of the Great Temple of
Zeus by Opheltes - Friend of
Nemeal, and on the island of
Despotiko by the Ministry of Culture).

SPORT

Sponsorship for the Hellenic Volleyball
Federation, the Hellenic Olympic
Committee, and various individual
athletes who achieved distinctions in
the recent Athens Olympics, in
preparation for the World Athletics
Championships and the 2008 Beijing
Olympics.

Sponsorship in support of the
organisation of international athletics
meetings.

ENVIRONMENT

Support for organisations and bodies
working fo protect the envirocnment
and sustainable development.
Support for environmental fraining
and education programs.

ECONOMICS - EVENTS

In 2005, the Bank supported
conferences and other events on
investment and business issues, the
most important of which were as
follows:

Organisation, with the participation
of NBG executives, of a series of
one-day consultative conventions
with NBG customers and potential
customers, with a view to
disseminating knowledge and
creating a sound entrepreneurial

. environment for better operation and

further growth of their businesses.
The conventions, under the title "NBG
in support of SMEs" ook place in
Agrinio, Kalamata, Alexandroupoli,
Verroia, Samos, Lesvos, Chios and
Chalkida.

An event designed to update
Pension Funds on "Bonds/Mutual Funds
Management/Shares" at the Astir

Palace Vouliagmenis Hotel on 19
September 2005.

Event with business executives in the
framework of the annual meeting of
officers from the World Bank and the
International Monetary Fund held on
25 September 2005 in Washington.
Event presenting Sports Sponsorships
and funding for the National
Volleyball Teams, held on 23 May
2005,

AGM of the members of the Institute
for Corporate Culture Affairs, and of
the World Corporate Ethics Council,
at the Astir Palace Vouliagmenis
Hotel, 8 and @ December 2005,

WORKS OF ART

Lending of works of art of the Bank's
Art Collection to various cultural
bodies, both in Athens and the
regions of Greece, for inclusion in
exhibitions,

Lending of digital photos of works
from the NBG Art Collection, to
cultural bodies and individuals.
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ENVIRONMENTAL POLICY
HEALTH AND SAFETY IN THE WORKPLACE

Environment - Environmental
Management System

Since 2004, NBG has implemented its
Environmental Management System in
accordance with the ISO 14001
international standard, and reviews the
system reguiarly with a view to ensuring
its constant improvement. Moreover, the
Bank participates in the related
FTSE4Good Europe and FTSE4Good
Global indices.

In 2005, in the context of the
implementation of the System, the Bank
undertfook actions to achieve environmental
targets and implement the related programs.
The said programs are developed on an
annuadl basis, so as fo ensure greatest
effectiveness. The programs aim to:

Save energy and reduce dair pollution
Rationalise work related fravel
Efficiently manage paper and waste
Adopt environmental standards in
office supplies

Analyse and assess environmental
risks involved in credit operations

v VVVV

In order to implement the above, the Bank
is in constant communication with ifs staff,
which is informed of NBG's environmental
actions and programs, while the Bank also
encourages staff participation in these
programs, for example with its training of
429 newly hired employees.

Saving energy and reducing air
pollution

in the context of the "Saving energy and
reducing air pollution" program, the Bank
reduced the consumption of electrical
power in administration buildings in the area
of Attica by 467% (compared with 2003),
exceeding the target of 2%.

To achieve this, the Bank:

- Installed Building Management Systems
BMS) or simpler automation systems and
replaced high energy-consuming electrical
equipment in five administration buildings.
- Systematised the overall preventive
maintenance of NBG's building shells and
electromechanical installations, signing
additional integrated maintenance and
management agreements for 80% of the
administration buildings.
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ENVIRONMENTAL POLICY HEALTH AND SAFETY IN THE WORKPLACE

- Renovated existing, or constructed new,
facilities in 45 branches with the installation
of lower energy-consuming equipment
(ncluding lighting equipment, air-conditioning,
and air exchangers).

The use of naftural gas for heating and air-
conditioning, the installation of air
exchangers in the central air-conditioning
units, the use of inverters in engines, heat
insulation of structural elements in masonry,
doors and windows, floors and roofs, and the
incorporation of BMS in air-conditioning
systems are some of the new energy saving
technologies applied in two administration
buildings with a total surface area of 30,000
square metres, which are currently under
construction, These buildings will host services
that currently operate in older, higher energy
consuming buildings.

Moreover, condensers are being instalied in
administration buildings to improve the
electrical power factor.

In the context of alternative energy sources,
financial and technical surveys for the
substitution of heating oil with natural gas
were completed and are now in the
implementation stage in three administration
buildings in the centre of Athens, while new
surveys are now under way for two other
building complexes.

Rationalising work-related travel

In 2005, National Bank continued rationalising
work-related travel by its staff;

- It reduced travel fo a minimum for 412
employees and officers by holding 19
seminars in 13 regional cities, besides those
at the Bank’s training centres in Athens,
Thessaloniki, Patras and Larissa.

- It developed distance-learning programs
for 610 employees who thus avoided
travelling for the purposes of seminars.

- It limited commuting for safety
technicians and workplace doctors by 209%,
compared with the previous year, by
reducing the number of scheduled visits and
increasing the time they spent in each unit,
- It reduced by 15% the journeys of staff
occupied with fire safety at NBG's units.

Efficient management of paper and waste

In the context of the program designed to
promote efficient management of paper
and waste, the Bank:

o Increased the quantity of archive
material or wastepaper recycled. In
2005, 278 tonnes were recycled
21 kg per employee).

Recycling of wastepaper began in
January 2005 with the gradual
participation of 10 administration
units. Members of staff at these units
were updated with a view to
enhancing their awareness of the
issue.

The ratio of recycled paper to total
paper consumed is 30%.

o Reduced paper consumption.
In 2005, the consumption of photo
copy paper was reduced by 7% and
that of printed forms by 24% com
pared with 2004. Moreover, 10% of
printed forms were withdrawn
altogether.

°  Explored the possibility of using
recycled paper.

Effective management of equiprment and
office supplies

The Bank monitors the rational use and
disposal of electronic and other equipment
including office furniture, ciming at their
alternative management (euse or recycling)
aofter their primary use.

Moreover, the Bank harmonised procedures
for procuring electrical and electronic
equipment with the provisions of
environmental legisiation. Currently, five
tenders are in progress for the supply of
large quantities of telecommunications and
computing eqguipment, ATMs, computers,
photocopiers, fax machines and counter
devices, in line with environmental standards
regarding equipment specifications and
manufacturers and importers” obligations.
Thus, the Bank contributed to ensuring
compliance by its suppliers with the
environmental legislative framework, and by
its business partners with the environmental




policy it implements.

Computer equipment supplied to the Bank in
2005 is egquipped with energy saving and
noise reduction systems, as well as being
more economical in the consumption of
paper and other materials.

During the last two months of 2005, a pilot
application for the alternative management
of electrical and computer consumables was
compeleted. In line with this application, all
used consumables are subject to alfernative
management. In 2006, it is expected that
this application will be implemented at all
NBG units.

Furthermore, 20 ATMs were replaced,
pursuant to the contractual agreement with
NBG suppliers that the ATMs would be
disposed of in an environmentally friendly
way.,

in 2005 the Bank once more donated
computing and mechanical equipment worth
€82,570, as well as furniture worth
approximately €2,400 to various public
welfare institutions and schools. In other
words, 27% of the equipment and 95% of
the withdrawn furniture were offered to third
parties for reuse.

Credit policy

As part of our Credit Environment Policy, the
Bank assesses potential environmental
impacts deriving from ifs borrowers’ activities.
Therefore, in assessing customer credit risk
(which could affect our corporate image
and reputation), environmental risks deriving
from the customers activities are taken into
consideration.

The credit rating of medium-sized and large
enterprises (with over €25 million turnovern is
performed as per Moody's Risk Advisor model,
which includes environmental risk criteria in
accordance with the Environmental Impact
Sector Classification by EIRIS.

NBG is interested in financing investment
programs in the energy sector, and
particularly Renewable Energy Sources RES),
Driven by a specidlised team that works on
the processing and handling of financing
applications for RES investments, NBG's
Corporate Banking currently covers the
largest part of total banking credit in this
areaq.

The NBG Group collaborates on an ongoing
basis with bodies involved in RES (competent
Ministries, the Regulator for Energy, Centre
for Renewable Energy Resources, investors).
It encourages and supports serious RES
investment initiatives, endeavouring to
provide the appropriate guidance to
interested parties. Accordingly, it assesses (on
the basis of banking criterial the investment
proposals and offers the appropriate
financing tools. Total new approvals for
participation in financing of investments in
the field amounted to €66 million in 2005.
Last year, assisting environment-related
projects, the Bank supported and financed
private investments in environmental
protection systems, mostly in the context of
Community Support Framework Il and
Development Laws.

The Bank continued its activities in providing
finance to large and small-scale privately
financed developmental projects in Greece
and abroad. These projects aim at upgrading
infrastructures Goads, bridges, energy, and so
on) and improving conditions in urban areas
(for instance, parking lots), making an
important contribution to the protection of
the environment, mainly by saving energy
and reducing poliution,

In response to the general need to renew
the worlds shipping fleet, the Bank is also
concerned to make effective investments in
Greek shipping. It finances investments in the
building of new tankers in line with
infernational freaties and regulations on
environmental protection, focusing in
particular on quality shipping and preventive
pollution measures for tankers.

Financing sustainable development and the
environment

For yet another year, the Bank sponsored
organisations working for sustainable devel-
opment and environmental protection. These
included:

- The Gaia Center - Goulandri
Museum of Natural History, with the
implementation of a special
environmental program "Man and
Environment in the 21st Century -
The crucial problems".
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- Development Corporation of Kerkini
Municipality for the organisation of
the 5th ecology festival in Kerkini.

Health and safety in the workplace

In the context of a constantly changing,
competitive working environment, NBG
endeavours to ensure safe and headlthy
working conditions for its employees, taking
every precaution to eliminate occupational
hazards. Such a policy is fundamental for any
occupationadl field and necessarily reflects
the social attitfude and culture of the
organisation involved.

NBG's Internal Protection and Prevention
Service assigned full responsibility for the
Bank's Units to the External Protection and
Prevention Service. In 2005, Safety
Technicians and Workplace Doctors offered
their services to the Units through scheduled
visits, The compliance of all NBG units with
the Safety Technicians” and Workpiace
Doctors’ remarks and, above dll, with the
recommendations of the Labour Inspectorate
Office contributed to the prevention of
occupational hazards.

In 2005, pursuant fo the provisions of
legislative decree 17/1974, the Contingency
Planning Service drew up Regulations for the
organisation and operations of the Bank's
independent foundations that underwent
changes such as relocation, staff fransfer
etfc).

12







SECTION €4~ -




THE NATIONAL BANK CULTURAL FOUNDATION

For several decades now, the National Bank
Cultural Foundation MIET) has consistently
fostered creativity in letters, the arts and
sciences. In 2005, it remained true to its core
objectives, making a substantial contribution
to the country's culturdl life, receiving fund-
ing of €1.16 million from the Bank.

MIET's publications are recognised for the
quality of their editing and design, both in
Greece and abroad. In 2005, MIET brought
out 15 new publications, 1 republication and
21 reprints, while 89 ftitles in its catalogue
were selected as fextbooks by 75 Greek
university departments and distributed to

no less than 29,312 students,

Specifically, the following books were
released:

- Emmanuel Roidis, Previously
unpublished texts from "Rambagas”,
edited by P. Moullas,

- Candia/Crete. Space and Time,
16th - 18th century.

- Alexis Eudald Sola, Two essays on
Greek poetry.

- Dionysios Solomos, Autograph works.
Section 6: Notebook for the years
1829-1833, Academy of Athens No.1.

Annex: Ode on the Death of Lord
Byron, Zakynthos No. 20.

G.EM. de Ste Croix, Christianism and
Rome. Persecutions, Heresies and
Morals

Lament of the Holy Virgin, edited by
Wim F. Bakker. Critical edition.
Mariliza Mitsou - Stefanos A.
Koumanoudis, Stratis Kalopihefros
Volume | and 11).

G. Podskalsky, Griechische Theologie
in der Zeit der Turkenherrschaft,
Miguel de Cervantes, Before the Last
Journey (Dedication and
Infroduction from *Los trabagjos de
Persiles y Sigismunda”).

E. Auerbach, Mimesis.

A. Moles, Information Theory and
Esthetic Perception.

E. Sistakou, The geography of
Callimachus and the neoteric poetry
of the Hellenistic Period.

D. Watkin, A History of Western
Architecture.

Stefanos Koumanoudis, Pancrama of
Athens.

In 2005, MIET participated in two Book Fairs
with its own stand, while in December the
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Foundation launched the new bockstore on
Amerikis 13, which hosts additional
publications of University Library Foundations
and has proved popular with the reading
public.

MIET aiso held art exhibitions, presentations
and lectures in Greece and abroad,

Specifically the following exhibitions were
held:

- 50 years in the workshop of Joan
Barbara. Retrospective exhibition of
engravings by eminent artists who
worked with Joan Barbara, in Athens
and Thessaioniki, held in cooperation
with the Cervantes Institute.

- Robert A. McCabe, Greece: Images
of an Enchanted Land (1954-1965).
Photography Exhibition in Athens -
Eynard Building, in the MIET Cultural
Centres of Thessaloniki and Patras.

- Greek engravers of the 20th
century. Exhibition in the Municipal
Art Gallery of loannina.

- Empuries: A Journey of Return. An
exhibition of engravings by Joan
Barbara, dedicated to the memory
of the academic Eudald Sola. in
Athens and Thessaloniki.

- Demosthenis Kokkinidis, War and
Violence 1964-1967. An exhibition
of paintings in the MIET Culturcl
Centre in Patras.

- George Seferis, Photography.
Photography exhibition in Rafina and
the Romanian Institute of Vienna.

- Cervantes, Don Quixote on celluloid
and paper. Exhibition featuring
posters from films based on Don
Quixote, in Athens and Thessaloniki,

-  Georgis Dimou, Engravings and
drawings. A retrospective exhibition
of engravings in the Cultural Centre
of Thessaloniki,

- Andreas Vourloumis, The daily life of
a painter. A retrospective exhibition
of paintings in MIET Cultural Centre in
Patras, ’

- Candia/Crete, Space and Time, 16th
- 18th century. Third themed

exhibition, organised by the Map
Archive, dedicated to Crete,

- Visions of Don Quixote,
The exhibition of Alexis Kyritsopoulos’
paintings was inaugurated in the
facilities of the new bookstore.

Eminent writers and artists were invited to
speak at presentations of MIET publications:

- John M. Camp, the Athenian Agora

- Gunnar Hering, Die politischen
Parteien in Griechenland

- René e Hirschon, Heirs of the Greek
Catastrophe

- Christianism and Rome. Persecutions,
Heresies and Morals, by G.EM. de
Ste Croix.

Moreover, the following events were held:

- Autograph works, by Dionysios
Solomos. A night dedicated to
Dionysios Solomos, in celebration of
the 100-year presence of National
Bank of Greece in the Ionian Islands.
The event was held by MIET in
cooperation with Zakynthos
Municipality and the Museum of
Solomos.

- Dionysios Solomos. A Nikos Xidakis
concert held in the Benakis Museum
Amphitheatre.

Furthermore, as a trustee of the "Alexis
Minotis Bequest in Memory of Katina Paxinou”,
the Cultural Foundation announced and
awarded two scholarships abroad for the
period 2005-2006 for theatre lighting and
direction).

During 2005, the Historical and
Palaeographical Archive of MIET participated
in European scientific projects,
pclaeographical field trips and conferences,
as follows:

- Participated in the European Project 'l
Grandi Bizantini" organised by the Committee
for the Festival of the

Greco-Italian Monastery of Grottaferrata in
collaboration with the Torre Vergata




University of Rome and manuscript
con servators from Greece, Spain
and Bulgaria, focusing on resecrch in
manuscripts produced in the West
European Byzantine provinces
between the 10th and the 13th
centuries.

Participated in NOESIS, a European
Project organised by the School of
Computer Science of the University
of Westminster, London, for the pur-
poses of studying the compaosition of
inks through hyperspectral imaging of
manuscripts produced between the
10th and the 14th centuries.
Representatives from Greece, ltaly,
Cyprus, Egypt, the Greek Orthodox
Patriarchate of Jerusalem and the
Orthodox Metropolis of Amman aiso
participated in the project.
Organised a series of visits to
Bulgaria for members of the
Palaeographical Archive's research
fellows, in the context of scientfific
exchanges and a project conducted
by the General Secretariat of
Research and Technology jointly with
the Ivan Dujtev Centre for Slavo-
Byzantine studies, to photograph
manuscripts and Greek inscriptions
found in libraries, churches and
museums,

Visited the Greek Orthodox
Patriarchate of Jerusalem in an effort
to locate documents related to the
privileges of the Patriarchate
regarding the ceremony of the Holy
Fire.

Participated in the conference
organised by the Latsis Foundation
and Camberwell University in London
on the conservation of manuscripts
of Sinai Monastery.

Organised a palaeographical field
trip to the Patriarchate of Alexandria,
in order to photograph and record a
large part of its archive and pages
from approximately 500 early printed
books in its Library.

Participation in archive-related
conferences:

at the National Research Foundation,
on Byzantine book binding,

at NBG's Historical Archive, on archive
conservation,

at the Society for Achaean Studies, on
manuscripts from the Greek regions of
Achaia and llia, and

at the Centre for the Study and
Promotion of the Culture of Asia Minor.

Hosted scientific meetings at the
Archive’s main premises with the
participation of the Greek
Palaeographical Society, the Society
for Research on Ancient and
Medieval Alexandria, and the
Intfernational Study Group of the
Antikythera Astronomical Mechanism.

At the Archive's central premises, the
Palceographical Archive hosted
palaeography courses for
postgraduate students of the History
Department of Athens University and
the Byzantine Music Department of
the National Conservatory, while
aimost 100 students attended the
three-stage Palaeography course,
which was first launched 20 years
ago.

Several researchers visited and
consulted the film archive and the
Cultural Foundation's Library, which
has been enriched with the pur
chase of five early printed books,
while information and copies of
microfilmed manuscripts were sent to
researchers abroad.

in 2005, the Paper Conservation Laboratory
of MIET was involved in:

preserving printed matter, books,
archive material, drawings and plans
and engravings from the collection
of MIET and other institutions,
actively participating in all
exhibitions and events held by the
Cultural Foundation

participating in meetings, seminars
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and conferences in Greece and
abroad, on issues relating to
preservation and conservation of
archives and other collections,

- providing advice on paper
conservation to various institutions,
researchers and collectors, and

- updating and running its library.

in 2005, the Map Archive:

- held the third of its themed
exhibitions titled CANDIA/CRETE
devoted to cartographical material
relating to Crete,

- hosted primary school and technical
college students, who visited its
facilities,

- cooperated with Harokopio University
on subjects related to students doc
toral research and libraries, and

- organised tours for the scientific staff
of the Gennadius Library and the
Ethnological/History Museum.
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NBG's HISTORICAL ARCHIVES

In 2005, NBG's Historical Archives were
actively involved in scientific research and
the safeguarding and presentation of records
evidencing the Bank’'s leading role in the
history of the Modermn Greek state, virtually
from the first years of its existence onwards.
They presented to the public valuable
cultural records that the Bank had the
foresight to preserve over the years.

O NBG's Historical Archives focus on two
main areas of activity:

1. The collection, preservation and
utilisation of records in the form of
artefacts, printed matter, audio or
visual testimonies related to the
Bank's long-standing activity.

2. The provision of scientific and
cultural goods for the benefit of
society at large.

In the field of archival work, there was an
inflow of new material from the Bank's units,
and from donations and purchases. It is
worth pointing ouf that the promotion of
significant archival items and collections of
the Bank in the past years has motivated
NBG officers and retired employees, as well
as other individuals, to donate remarkable
archive and collector's material from their
private collections o the Histerical Archives,

The Historical Archives continued their work
of classifying records and other archival
tasks, as well as pursuing preventive
conservation and constant upgrading of
computer applications that support archive
related tasks and the presentation of the
material in its safekeeping.

O Specifically, in 2005, various records
were delivered fo the Historical Archives:

- The Consumer Credit Division and
the NBG branches of Trikala and
Chania delivered archive material
related to loans, deposits and shares.

- The Petrou Ralli branch delivered
archive material of the former
National Mortgage Bank of Greece,
and the Cash and Custody Division
delivered unclassified material of
the former Bank of Athens.

- The Secretariat Division delivered the
bust of Georgios Stavros, an original
work by . Kossos, to be placed in
the exhibition space of the Historical
Archives, and the Public Relations
department delivered
commemorative press papier from
the Bank branches in the islands of
Karpathos, Kephalonia, and
Zakynthos.

21




SECTION 4

22

NBG's HISTORICAL ARCHIVES

- Awards granted to the Chairman in
the past were delivered to the
Historical Archives for transfer to the
NBG Cultural Foundation.

o  The Historical Archives also received
printed and photographic records,
commemorative medals and other items of
interest donated by individuals - NBG
employees, retired employees and other
people supporting the work of the Historical
Archives.

- The Central Bank of Russia donated
to the Historical Archives an
anniversary publication on the issue
of Russian coins, as well as g
commemorative coin,

- In the context of archive material
clearance, classification and micro
filming tasks, 110,468 new record
cards were filed while addifional
entries and corrections were made
to 205,928 record cards of the
Electronic Historical and Archival
Data system of the Historical
Archives,

- In 2005, a purpose designed section
of the Historical Archives building
was allocated to host the Archive
Material Pathology Laboratory,
whose task is to separate infested
from clean material, to identify the
type of infestation, and then to
clean and disinfect the material in
specially desighed chambers, before
carrying out the final restoration. In
this laboratory, trainees from
technical college, under the
supervision of an external volunteer,
conducted precautionary controls
and carried out conservation of
archive material infested with
micro-organisms and insects.

- The Historical Archives also organised
exhibitions and actively participated
in exhibitions organised by third
parties:

In this context:
- They continued preparing the
facilities that will host the second

permanent exhibition of the
Historical Archives, on security
printing, bringing in old printing
machines, for the most part from the
ASPIOTI-ELKA company facilities,

- They contributed - by lending items
in its collection - to the exhibition of
the National Gallery on the Greek
painter G. lgkovidis.

- They published The Greek banknote.
A journey, 1822-2002, by
G. Notaras, Head of the Historical
Archives.

- They broadened their social offering
by further developing services to
third parties, scientific research,
culture and education. This was
reflected in the increased interest of
the public in the Archives new
premises on Tritis Septemvriou Str,

- In 2005, a total of 544 researchers
visited the NBG Historical Archive to
study its records, while many of
them also consulted its specialised
library holdings.

- Also, last year it received at its
premises 1,391 students from 31
schools.

O  The Historical Archives adhered to their
long-standing tradition of providing
specidlised training to students from Higher
Education Institutions. The Archives provided
fraining to 27 students of the departments
of Archive and Library Science, Maintenance
and Business Administration of Athens
Technical College and the department of
Economics and Political Science of the
University of Athens.

O The Historical Archives also hosted
important scientific events, such as:

- A lecture by professor Sevket Pamuk
titled "Galatas” Bankers, growth and
decline", in April 2005,

- A meeting on preventive
conservation of archive material, in
October.

O  Moreover, the Historical Archives held, at




Astir Palace Vouliagmenis Hotel, the Annual
Meeting of the Institute for Corporate
Culture Affairs and the World Corporate
Ethics Council, presided by the NBG
Chairman and CEO Takis Argpoglou.

T For the past fifteen years,

the Historical Archive have actively partici-
pated in events and international scientific
activities. This has led to the Bank's wider
recognition as a substantial contributor to
scientific knowledge. Historical Archive
officers participated in archival and related
scientific events in Greece and abroad,
including:

The AGM, and workshop that
followed, titled "Towards a Code of
Business Ethics”, run by the ICCA.

-  The AGM and "workshop" that
followed, titled "Corporate culture in
a globalised world", run by the SEBH,
during which the Head of the
Historical Archives presented a paper
on the Bank's practice in this field.

- The AGM of the EABH and the
annual conference that followed,
titled "The human factor in banking
operations", as well as the waorkshop
on "Archives and corporate culture®,

- The ordinary session of the EABH
commiftee and scientific council.

- A Historical Archives officer
participated in the scientific
conference organised by the
Hellenic Parlioment and the
Academy of Athens in February in
Athens, titled "The Union of the
lonian Isiands with Greece and the
banking system. Competition
between National Bank and lonian
Bank in the 19th century".

- The Historical Archives participated
in the 15th International Archive
Congress, which is held every four
years and was organised on this
occasion by the International
Archives Council in Vienna on 23-28
August 2005, tfitled "Archives, Memory
and Knowledge".

- The Bank and Company Archives

section of the Society of Hellenic

Archives (SHA), whose Head is an

NBG Historical Archives officer, held

an event designed fo encourage

competent employees at these
organisations to actively help
preserve and develop their archives,
The Head of the Historical Archives
was a speaker at the event.
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